## THE HANDBOOK OF ENVIRONMENTAL CHEMISTRY

## 08

## Volume Editors Sergi Sabater · Damià Barceló

# Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean

Perspectives Under Global Change



## The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Founded by Otto Hutzinger

Editors-in-Chief: Damià Barceló • Andrey G. Kostianoy

Volume 8

Advisory Board: Jacob de Boer, Philippe Garrigues, Ji-Dong Gu, Kevin C Jones, Thomas Knepper, Alice Newton, Donald L. Sparks

## The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Recently Published and Forthcoming Volumes

Polymers – Opportunities and Risks II: Sustainability, Product Design and Processing Volume Editors: P. Eyerer, M. Weller, and C. Hübner Vol. 12, 2010

**Polymers – Opportunities and Risks I: General and Environmental Aspects** Volume Editor: P. Eyerer Vol. 11, 2010

**Chlorinated Paraffins** Volume Editor: J. de Boer Vol. 10, 2010

**Biodegradation of Azo Dyes** Volume Editor: H. Atacag Erkurt Vol. 9, 2010

Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean: Perspectives Under Global Change Volume Editors: S. Sabater and D. Barceló Vol. 8, 2010

#### The Aral Sea Environment

Volume Editors: A.G. Kostianoy and A.N. Kosarev Vol. 7, 2010

#### Alpine Waters

Volume Editor: U. Bundi Vol. 6, 2010

**Transformation Products of Synthetic Chemicals in the Environment** Volume Editor: A.B.A. Boxall Vol. 2/P, 2009

Contaminated Sediments Volume Editors: T.A. Kassim and D. Barceló Vol. 5/T, 2009

#### Biosensors for the Environmental Monitoring of Aquatic Systems

Bioanalytical and Chemical Methods for Endocrine Disruptors Volume Editors: D. Barceló and P.-D. Hansen Vol. 5/J, 2009

Environmental Consequences of War and Aftermath Volume Editors: T.A. Kassim

and D. Barceló Vol. 3/U, 2009

#### The Black Sea Environment

Volume Editors: A. Kostianoy and A. Kosarev Vol. 5/Q, 2008

**Emerging Contaminants from Industrial and Municipal Waste** Removal Technologies Volume Editors: D. Barceló and M. Petrovic Vol. 5/S/2, 2008

**Fuel Oxygenates** Volume Editor: D. Barceló Vol. 5/R, 2007

**The Rhine** Volume Editor: T. P. Knepper Vol. 5/L, 2006

**Persistent Organic Pollutants in the Great Lakes** Volume Editor: R. A. Hites Vol. 5/N, 2006

Antifouling Paint Biocides Volume Editor: I. Konstantinou Vol. 5/O, 2006

**Estuaries** Volume Editor: P. J. Wangersky Vol. 5/H, 2006

# Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean

## Perspectives Under Global Change

Volume Editors: Sergi Sabater · Damià Barceló

With contributions by

J. Armengol · D. Barceló · A.R. Blanch · B. Bonet ·
F. Brissaud · J. Calbó · F. Chenini · J. Comas · N. Corcoll ·
C.N. Dahm · M.L. de Alda · A. Ginebreda · P. Gómez ·
M. Gros · H. Guasch · R. Ibáñez · J. Jofre · M. Leira ·
F. Lucena · R. Marcé · E. Martí · I. Ortiz · M. Petrovic ·
M. Poch · C. Postigo · J. Radjenovic · J.L. Riera · S. Sabater ·
F. Sabater · A. Serra · K. Tockner · A.M. Urtiaga



*Editors* Prof. Dr. Sergi Sabater Institute of Aquatic Ecology University of Girona Campus Montilivi 17071 Girona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit, 101 17003 Girona, Spain sergi.sabater@udg.edu

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC C/Jordi Girona 18–26 08034 Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit,101 17003 Girona, Spain dbcqam@iiqab.csic.es

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry ISSN 1867-979X e-ISSN 1616-864X ISBN 978-3-642-03970-6 e-ISBN 978-3-642-03971-3 DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-03971-3 Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

Library of Congress Control Number: 2010926025

#### © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: SPi Publisher Services

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

This volume is dedicated to the memory of Prof. François Brissaud.

## **Editors-in-Chief**

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC C/Jordi Girona 18–26 08034 Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit, 101 17003 Girona, Spain dbcgam@iiqab.csic.es Prof. Dr. Andrey G. Kostianoy

P.P. Shirshov Institute of Oceanology Russian Academy of Sciences 36, Nakhimovsky Pr. 117997 Moscow, Russia *kostianoy@mail.mipt.ru* 

## **Advisory Board**

Prof. Dr. Jacob de Boer IVM, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, The Netherlands Prof. Dr. Philippe Garrigues University of Bordeaux, France

Prof. Dr. Ji-Dong Gu The University of Hong Kong, China

Prof. Dr. Kevin C. Jones University of Lancaster, United Kingdom

Prof. Dr. Thomas Knepper University of Applied Science, Fresenius, Idstein, Germany

Prof. Dr. Alice Newton

University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal

Prof. Dr. Donald L. Sparks Plant and Soil Sciences, University of Delaware, USA

## The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry Also Available Electronically

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is included in Springer's eBook package Earth and Environmental Science. If a library does not opt for the whole package, the book series may be bought on a subscription basis.

For all customers who have a standing order to the print version of *The Handbook* of *Environmental Chemistry*, we offer the electronic version via Springer Link free of charge. If you do not have access, you can still view the table of contents of each volume and the abstract of each article on SpringerLink (www.springerlink.com/ content/110354/).

You will find information about the

- Editorial Board
- Aims and Scope
- Instructions for Authors
- Sample Contribution

at springer.com (www.springer.com/series/698).

All figures submitted in color are published in full color in the electronic version on SpringerLink.

## Aims and Scope

Since 1980, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* has provided sound and solid knowledge about environmental topics from a chemical perspective. Presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches, the series now covers topics such as local and global changes of natural environment and climate; anthropogenic impact on the environment; water, air and soil pollution; remediation and waste characterization; environmental contaminants; biogeochemistry; geoecology; chemical reactions and processes; chemical and biological transformations as well as physical transport of chemicals in the environment; or environmental modeling. A particular focus of the series lies on methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

## **Series Preface**

With remarkable vision, Prof. Otto Hutzinger initiated *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* in 1980 and became the founding Editor-in-Chief. At that time, environmental chemistry was an emerging field, aiming at a complete description of the Earth's environment, encompassing the physical, chemical, biological, and geological transformations of chemical substances occurring on a local as well as a global scale. Environmental chemistry was intended to provide an account of the impact of man's activities on the natural environment by describing observed changes.

While a considerable amount of knowledge has been accumulated over the last three decades, as reflected in the more than 70 volumes of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, there are still many scientific and policy challenges ahead due to the complexity and interdisciplinary nature of the field. The series will therefore continue to provide compilations of current knowledge. Contributions are written by leading experts with practical experience in their fields. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* grows with the increases in our scientific understanding, and provides a valuable source not only for scientists but also for environmental managers and decision-makers. Today, the series covers a broad range of environmental topics from a chemical perspective, including methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

In recent years, there has been a growing tendency to include subject matter of societal relevance in the broad view of environmental chemistry. Topics include life cycle analysis, environmental management, sustainable development, and socio-economic, legal and even political problems, among others. While these topics are of great importance for the development and acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, the publisher and Editors-in-Chief have decided to keep the handbook essentially a source of information on "hard sciences" with a particular emphasis on chemistry, but also covering biology, geology, hydrology and engineering as applied to environmental sciences.

The volumes of the series are written at an advanced level, addressing the needs of both researchers and graduate students, as well as of people outside the field of "pure" chemistry, including those in industry, business, government, research establishments, and public interest groups. It would be very satisfying to see these volumes used as a basis for graduate courses in environmental chemistry. With its high standards of scientific quality and clarity, *The Handbook of* 

Series Preface

*Environmental Chemistry* provides a solid basis from which scientists can share their knowledge on the different aspects of environmental problems, presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via www.springerlink.com/content/110354/. Articles are published online as soon as they have been approved for publication. Authors, Volume Editors and Editorsin-Chief are rewarded by the broad acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* by the scientific community, from whom suggestions for new topics to the Editors-in-Chief are always very welcome.

> Damià Barceló Andrey G. Kostianoy Editors-in-Chief

## **Volume Preface**

Water scarcity is a structural, persistent drought affecting resources and aquatic ecosystems, with implications in water quality and societal needs. Scarcity results in repeated drought episodes. While drought is a temporary (and often normally associated to climatic patterns) decrease in water resources, water scarcity occurs when water demand exceeds the water resources exploitable under sustainable conditions.

Terrestrial ecosystems (plants and animals) under water scarcity suffer from water stress, and aquatic ecosystems of intermittency in water flow. Water scarcity has implications on hydrologic resources and systems connectivity, as well as negative side-effects on biodiversity, water quality, and river ecosystem functioning. Finally, water scarcity has also direct impacts on citizens and economic sectors that use and depend on water, such as agriculture, tourism, industry, energy and transport.

The effects of water scarcity on drainage networks extend from its associated hydrological irregularity to variations in geomorphological dynamics (higher channel incision, habitat simplification). Water chemical quality is affected; higher nutrient and pollutant concentrations are expected under lower water flows. Biological communities respond to harsher environmental conditions with lower diversity, arrival of invasive species, as well as lower efficiency of biological processes (nutrient uptake, primary production, decomposition, etc.). The increased pressure on water resources will cause additional effects on aquatic ecosystems, some direct and some indirect, where the stress being produced by scarcity may sum up others, physical or chemical. Because freshwater ecosystems deliver services to society, water scarcity affects both the ecosystem and human beings.

The Mediterranean Basin is one of the regions most vulnerable to climate changes, as well as one of the most impacted because of human water demand. Most climate change models conclude that Mediterranean regions will be more affected by summer drought, higher flood frequency and higher temperatures. Further, overpressures on water resources are associated to water scarcity, thereby triggering stress on water quality and ecosystems. The two associated effects demand careful diagnoses that allow reliable predictions. These two should be at the base of wise management of water resources and ecosystems.

This book unites visions on the particular problems of water quality and resource scarcity in the regions belonging to Mediterranean climate. Some of the chapters were presented at the conference "Water scarcity and management under Mediterranean climate", which was held in Girona (NE Spain) from 24 to 25th November 2008. Other chapters include invited visions related to this particular topic.

This book provides an in-depth view of the water quality and quantity implications of water scarcity. It provides a diagnosis of the causes, and describes the effects of water scarcity in the Mediterranean Basin. This Basin encompasses the common history and common problems of all the neighbouring countries in the Mediterranean region. However, the observations are not applicable only to this region, but also to those other parts of the world with Mediterranean climate, such as California, Australia, South Africa and Chile, where issues regarding water scarcity are the common concern. We hope that this book will provide an adequate overview on the climate effects, water resources (use, storage, new sources), water quality (chemical, microbiological), and effects on the ecosystems under water scarcity. The book should be useful to people interested in this topic, students and scientists, but also to managers involved in the necessary decision-making process to face future drought episodes. It is well-known to all of us living in Mediterranean areas, that drought will return every 4–7 years, the next being even worse than the previous one. The more the scientific and technical clues provided, the more likely that solutions can be found by water managers to cope with water supply of the required quality to the whole population, as well as making water available for the ecosystems.

We thank all the contributors of the book for the quality of their chapters, and their patience. Special thanks are due to the editorial staff of Springer and especially to Andreas Schlitzberger, who helped us during the process.

Girona and Barcelona, Spain February 2010 Sergi Sabater and Damià Barceló

## Contents

Possible Climate Change Scenarios with Specific Reference           to Mediterranean Regions           Josep Calbó	1
Effects of Hydrologic Alterations on the Ecological Quality of River Ecosystems	5
Sergi Sabater and Klement Tockner	
Metal Ecotoxicology in Fluvial Biofilms: Potential Influence of Water Scarcity	1
Helena Guasch, Alexandra Serra, Natàlia Corcoll, Berta Bonet, and Manel Leira	
Consequences of Climate Variability and Human Water Demand on Freshwater Ecosystems: A Mediterranean Perspective from the United States	5
Water Quality in Reservoirs Under a Changing Climate7Rafael Marcé and Joan Armengol	'3
Technologies for Water Regeneration and Integrated Managementof Water Resources9François Brissaud	•5
<b>Reuse of Regenerated Waters Under Water Scarcity</b>	17
Decision Support Systems for Integrated Water ResourcesManagement Under Water Scarcity12Joaquim Comas and Manel Poch	:9
Water-Borne Infectious Disease Outbreaks Associatedwith Water Scarcity and Rainfall Events14Juan Jofre, Anicet R. Blanch, and Francisco Lucena	7

Implications of Water Quality on Irrigation Practices Under Water Scarcity	161
Faycel Chenini	
Effects of Wastewater Treatment Plants on Stream Nutrient Dynamics Under Water Scarcity Conditions Eugènia Martí, Joan Lluís Riera, and Francesc Sabater	173
Occurrence and Fate of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs Under Water Scarcity Mira Petrovic, Cristina Postigo, Miren Lopez de Alda, Antoni Ginebreda, Meritxell Gros, Jelena Radjenovic, and Damià Barceló	197
Index	229

## Possible Climate Change Scenarios with Specific Reference to Mediterranean Regions

Josep Calbó

Abstract The Mediterranean basin is one of the most sensitive areas of the world regarding possible consequences of the present, anthropogenic-induced climate change. Besides temperature increase, most models consistently project rainfall decreases both on annual basis and for all seasons. On the basis of results from general circulation models (as presented in the recent Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC) and also from results of several downscaling studies applied to Europe and the Mediterranean areas, some quantitative projections are summarized in this chapter. On average for the region, temperature is projected to increase about 3.5°C on an annual basis by the end of this century, with remarkable differences among specific areas. Precipitation could be reduced more than 10% (annual and regional average), the decrease being larger in summer and in the southern areas of the region. There are many uncertainties involved in these projections; basically, they derive from the unknown future emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols, from the knowledge gaps of the complex climatic system, and from limitations of models and downscaling techniques. Despite these uncertainties, it is highly probable that water availability will be reduced in the Mediterranean areas as a consequence of increased temperatures and decreased and more variable precipitation. This result should be taken into account by water management agencies, concerned stakeholders and society in general.

Keywords Climate change, Climate projections, Downscaling, Mediterranean, Uncertainties

J. Calbó

Department of Physics and Institute of the Environment, Universitat de Girona, EPS-II, Campus de Montilivi, 17071 Girona, Spain

e-mail: josep.calbo@udg.edu

#### Contents

Introduction	2		
Global Projections After the IPCC AR4			
Downscaling Projections to Mediterranean Regions			
3.1 Downscaling Techniques	7		
3.2 Results for the Mediterranean Area	8		
Discussion and Conclusions			
ferences	.12		
1	Introduction         Global Projections After the IPCC AR4         Downscaling Projections to Mediterranean Regions         3.1 Downscaling Techniques         3.2 Results for the Mediterranean Area         Discussion and Conclusions		

### **1** Introduction

Recent climatic change is a phenomenon of planetary scale, which has its effects at regional and local scales also. Given the dimension of the phenomenon and its causes, that is the introduction into the atmosphere of greenhouse gases as a result of the human activities, the study of climatic projections needs to derive from this same global scale. The recent Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) presents its conclusions first, on the global scale projections, followed by regional projections [1]. In discussing about climate projections, it should be understood that they are estimations about the future climate, in the next decades. These projections depend mainly on three factors: first, the future emissions of greenhouse gases (which depend on demographical, economical, and technological evolutions, and on future regulatory efforts that might be implemented); second, the understanding of the climate system, which continuously improves as a result of basic research efforts; third, the ability of numerical models in reproducing this climate system, in close connection with the capabilities of computation technologies.

Climate projections are mostly obtained as a result of climate models, in particular the so-called Atmospheric Oceanic General Circulation Models (AOGCM). These models are numerical tools that incorporate most of the knowledge about the climate system to produce climate scenarios depending on factors that affect the climate (i.e., climate "forcings"). These forcings are one of the main sources of uncertainty in climate projections, and are strongly linked with the emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols; the diversity of possible future evolution of emissions is addressed through the use of the so-called emission scenarios.

Indeed, the most important factor that affects the future estimates of climate is the (anthropogenic) emissions of greenhouse gases and all kind of aerosols. The amount of these products released into the atmosphere depends upon the socioeconomical and technological development of humankind. Thus, different hypotheses about these evolutions are assumed, resulting in several emission scenarios. The scenarios used in the IPCC AR4 derive from a Special Report on Emission Scenarios (SRES) published earlier [2]. All these scenarios can be grouped in four families (storylines) that are named A1, A2, B1, and B2. All predicted scenarios show that greenhouse gases emissions will keep growing, at least until the middle of the present century. Among these scenarios, A2 produces the maximum emissions along the twenty-first century, while B1 is the most optimistic, i.e., forecasts the lowest emissions. In general, most climate projections are based on intermediate scenarios, such as B2 or A1B (a particular case within the A1 scenarios that assumes that energy will be obtained from a variety of sources, including fossil fuels and renewable). Despite the assumption that emissions would start to decrease by the middle of the century in some scenarios, atmospheric concentrations would increase further, in all cases, until reaching a new equilibrium state. In scenario B1, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration reaches 500 ppm by 2100; in scenario A1, this concentrations is reached by 2050, and by 2100 the concentration is more than 800 ppm, i.e., far more than double the preindustrial amount of 280 ppm.

This chapter summarizes climate projections presented by the recent Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) of the IPCC, both for the global scale and for the so-called European and Mediterranean region. Besides the IPCC projections, other results regarding the Mediterranean area will be reviewed as well. The emphasis will be mostly placed on temperature and precipitation projections, while other variables, such as wind, solar radiation, or sea level, will not be commented in depth. Some attention will be paid to methodologies used to develop projections, and the corresponding uncertainties will be commented. In general, projections will be given for the end of the current century.

#### 2 Global Projections After the IPCC AR4

As a consequence of the continuous increase in concentration of greenhouse gases, global mean temperature will increase in the future [3], as it has been doing in recent years. Figure 1 shows this projected increase, for several emission scenarios and relative to the period 1980–1999 (recall that the average temperature in this period is at least  $0.5^{\circ}$ C higher than the mean temperature by the end of the nineteenth century). Depending on the emission scenario and on the model used, the temperature increase ranges between 1.1 and  $6.4^{\circ}$ C by the end of the twenty-first century. The best estimate for the most optimistic scenario included (B1) is an increase of  $1.8^{\circ}$ C, and the best estimate for the most pessimistic scenario (A1FI) is an increase of  $4.0^{\circ}$ C. For the most immediate decades, all scenarios show very similar temperature increases: for example, about  $1.2^{\circ}$ C by 2040.

Most models indicate a global increase of precipitation. Nevertheless, given the great disparity among models, and the great heterogeneity and variability of precipitation across the Earth, the AR4 does not produce global average values of precipitation changes. In general, most AOGCM generate precipitation increases within the intertropical area, and also at higher latitudes of both hemispheres, as well as precipitation decreases at subtropical latitudes. On the other hand, the AR4 indicates that an increase in the frequency of heavy precipitation events is very



Fig. 1 Global mean surface temperature evolution during the last century (observed) and projected for the next century. Bars on the right show the possible range of temperature increases from different AOGCM, and also from Simple Climate Models (SCM) and Earth Models of Intermediate Complexity (EMIC). Figure taken from IPCC [1]

likely over most areas, while the length and frequency of dry spells may likely increase in areas where they are currently usual.

According to the AR4, it is very likely that some currently semiarid areas will suffer a clear decline of water availability. Among these areas, the Mediterranean region is particularly highlighted. To illustrate this fact, Fig. 2 shows changes in surface runoff as a result of changes in precipitation and temperature (that induce evapotranspiration increases). It is apparent that the Mediterranean regions may suffer a significant decline of between 20 and 40%. These results, however, are not particularly robust: surface runoff models deviate from measurements in the present climate, so these projections must be taken with caution.

Figure 3 shows temperature and precipitation changes for Europe and the Mediterranean, according to the results of 21 global models included in the Program for climate models diagnostic and intercomparison (PCMDI) that produced the so-called "multimodel data set" (MMD). These results correspond to the A1B emission scenario and are given for the end of this century (2080–2099) with respect to the end of the previous century (1980–1999); values plotted are calculated as the average of the variations produced for each model. Results are presented both for the annual basis and for seasonal basis (summer, June–July–August; and winter, December–January–February).

On an annual basis, temperature increase will be between 2.5 and 3.5°C for this scenario, lower on the sea itself and in coastal areas, higher in the interior of Iberian and Balkan peninsulas and in Northern Africa. These increases are slightly lower in winter, and remarkably higher in summer, when temperature increases of more than









7

4°C are projected for most land areas in the Mediterranean region. Regarding precipitation, there is a clear latitudinal gradient within the analyzed area. Thus, in the South of the Mediterranean region (including part of the Iberian Peninsula and most of Northern Africa), the average precipitation decline in annual basis might be as large as 20%. All Mediterranean countries would suffer this or even stronger precipitation declines in summer, while in winter the change is lower, particularly in the northern half of the Mediterranean. Although these results carry some uncertainty, the Mediterranean region is one of the few areas in the World where most models, for all seasons, agree in the decreasing trend in rainfall [4].

#### **3** Downscaling Projections to Mediterranean Regions

### 3.1 Downscaling Techniques

Global models used so far to estimate climate projections such as those presented above, are based on numerical computations on a grid that typically has sizes of  $2-3^{\circ}$  both in latitude and longitude. Therefore, global models do not include a good description of orography or coastal lines, at least, not at the level required to obtain a reliable climate description for Europe or the Mediterranean. A possible solution for this issue would be to increase resolution of global climate models, but this is limited by the computing capabilities in practical applications. Therefore, as long as global models cannot work at finer resolutions (about 50 km or better), some technique for "regionalization" or "downscaling" is required to obtain more spatial detail of climate projections. Researchers have already established several downscaling methodologies in recent years; all of them, however, rely on results of global climate models, since downscaling methods do not really project the climate into the future, but convert global results into higher resolution results.

Broadly speaking, there are two main downscaling techniques, and some methodologies that are variations or combinations of these two. Firstly, dynamical downscaling consists in the use of regional climate models nested within global models. That is, a high resolution model is applied in a limited area of the world, while low-resolution AOGCM is applied globally and supplies the necessary boundary conditions to the former. Secondly, statistical downscaling consists in multivariable statistical regressions (or other statistical techniques) between climatic variables at a particular point (or small region) and the values obtained in one or several cells of a global model. Sometimes, the relationship is established between a particular point and some index that summarizes the synoptic state of the atmosphere. For example, several indices relative to the behavior of a low frequency synoptic pattern or a teleconnection mechanism are commonly used: the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), the Arctic Oscillation (AO), the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO), the Western Mediterranean Oscillation (WeMO) indices, among others. The analogues methodology is still a statistical technique, which is founded upon the clustering of all possible synoptic situations in a few typical cases; knowing the frequency (that might be changing) of each of these cases and the local behavior of the weather for each situation allows estimating the local climate.

Whatever is the methodology used, a regional climate projection is the result of combining a) an emission scenario, b) the output of a global model forced with these emissions, and c) a particular downscaling technique. Therefore, note that the number of uncertainties involved is huge: some arise from the human behavior (emissions), some from limitations in knowledge (for example, cloud physics) and due to the chaotic nature of the climate system, and some are a result of computing limitations or of the statistical method (for example, it is assumed that current relations between synoptic state and local weather will remain valid in the future). In this sense, some authors advocate for recognizing the fundamental, irreducible uncertainties that limit the accuracy of climate predictions [5].

As an attempt to provide climate projections for Europe and to assess the implicated uncertainties, the PRUDENCE project (Prediction of Regional scenarios and Uncertainties for Defining European Climate change risks and Effects, Christensen [7]) involved, during 2002–2005, more than 20 European research groups. The specific goal of the project was to obtain climate scenarios with high resolution, for Europe and for the end of the twenty-first century, by using dynamical downscaling. Experiments performed in the frame of PRUDENCE consisted of a control simulation for the period 1961-1990 (which was used to evaluate the ability of the regional models, i.e., to validate them) as well as other simulations for the future period 2071–2100. Most simulations were performed for the A2 scenario, and used the output of an atmospheric model (HadAM3H) which in its turn was initialized by the output of the HadCM3 AOGCM. Other simulations were performed for the B2 scenario or forced by the output of another global model (ECHAM4/OPYC3) [6]. Regarding the regional models, PRUDENCE used ten different models developed at several European institutions. All of them were run with a resolution of around 50 km, and applied for an area that covered most of Western Europe. The project produced a number of reports and peer-reviewed papers that may be considered the state-of-the-art regarding climate projections for Europe ([7–9]). More recent projects, however, are producing new results. In particular, the ENSEMBLES project deals with developing an ensemble prediction system for climate change based on the principal state-of-the-art, high resolution, global and regional Earth System models developed in Europe. The goal is to produce for the first time an objective probabilistic estimate of uncertainty in future climate at the seasonal to decadal and longer timescales [10].

#### 3.2 Results for the Mediterranean Area

On the basis of results from GCM (Fig. 3) the AR4 summarizes the projected changes for the Mediterranean region (Table 1, regarding temperature changes; Table 2 for precipitation), the moderate emission scenario A1B having been

**Table 1** Summary of projections from the 21 models included in the *MultiModel Data set*, for the Mediterranean region  $(30^{\circ}N, 10^{\circ}W-48^{\circ}N, 40^{\circ}E)$  and the A1B emission scenario. Temperature differences (°C) between 2080–2099 and 1980–1999. The table shows the minimum, maximum, median (50%), and 25 and 75% quartile values. The frequency of extremely warm, averaged over the models, is also shown. From Christensen et al. [4]

	,					
Season	Min.	P25	P50	P75	Max.	Warm seasons (%)
DGF	1.7	2.5	2.6	3.3	4.6	93
MAM	2.0	3.0	3.2	3.5	4.5	98
JJA	2.7	3.7	4.1	5.0	6.5	100
SON	2.3	2.8	3.3	4.0	5.2	100
Annual	2.2	3.0	3.5	4.0	5.1	100

Season Min. P25 P50 P75 Max. Wet seasons (%) Dry seasons (%) -16 -13 DGF -10-6 6 12  $^{-2}$ MAM -24-17-16-81 31 -53 -35-24-31 42 JJA -14SON -29-9 21 -15-12-21 0 Annual -27-16-12-9 -446

Table 2 As in Table 1, but for precipitation differences (%)

considered in both cases. On annual basis, the temperature is projected to increase in the range of 2.2–5.1°C (median of the 21 models, 3.5°C). Note that unlike most areas in the world, in the Mediterranean, the largest temperature increment is expected in summer. The average precipitation projected decrease, for the whole area and on annual basis, is in the range -16%, -9% (median of the 21 models, -12%); summer is the season with the largest expected precipitation decreases.

Combining an analysis of these results from GCM with results from the PRU-DENCE project, the AR4 also [4] presents some clear facts about the future climate in Europe and the Mediterranean:

- Annual mean temperatures in Europe are likely to increase more than the global mean. Seasonally, the largest warming is likely to be in northern Europe in winter and in the Mediterranean area in summer.
- Maximum summer temperatures are likely to increase more than the average in southern and central Europe.
- It is very likely that the mean annual precipitation will decrease in most of the Mediterranean region. The annual number of precipitation days is very likely to decrease in the Mediterranean area.
- It is likely that the risk of hydrological drought (as a result of precipitation and evaporation trends) will increase, in particular in summer in Southern Europe and the Mediterranean.
- It is very likely that the snow season will shorten in most of Europe. It is also very likely that the winter accumulation of snow will decrease.

Besides the IPCC AR4, several specific works make reference to climate projections for Europe and/or the Mediterranean, some being related with the PRU-DENCE project also. One particular study is that of Sánchez et al. [11] where they use one regional climate model (PROMES) to analyze and show changes of temperature and precipitation and their related extreme events by the end of this century for the scenario A2. They conclude that it is convenient to use a set of diagnostic indices for a correct analysis of climate extreme events, trends and changes, since frequency or intensity parameters separately cannot represent all the aspects of extreme processes. Intensity of extreme daily maximum temperatures will increase more than the average maximum temperatures. On the other hand, extreme daily minimum temperatures will increase less than the average of minimum temperatures. In terms of temperature ranges in the projected climate for the Mediterranean region, daily temperature range will be greater than current climate values. Changes in precipitation extremes are much more varied than maximum and minimum temperature extremes. Though a moderate to high decrease of annual precipitation in most of the Mediterranean region is projected, important seasonality changes are also possible [11]. An increasing trend in projected extreme precipitation events is expected in many Mediterranean areas. That increase of extreme events is mainly expected in the warmest seasons (summer and early autumn).

Gao et al. [12] utilized a regional model with a resolution of 20 km to analyze the changes of periods without precipitation (dry spells, DS) and with intense rainfall (defined as the maximum accumulated precipitation in five consecutive days, 5DP). They also used scenario A2 and gave results for the end of the twenty-first century. They found substantial (and seasonally dependent) fine scale topographicallyinduced structure in the climate change signal over a number of regions of the Mediterranean area (i.e., the Alpine and Balkan regions, the Iberian, Italian and Hellenic peninsulas, and the Northern African coastal regions). Similar to the changes in mean precipitation, the changes in extreme events also exhibit topographically induced fine scale structure. Gao et al. [12] also indicated that an increase in maximum 5DP and a decrease in maximum DS length over western and central European areas are to be expected in winter, implying stronger and more frequent storms. In summer and intermediate seasons, as well as in winter in some Mediterranean areas, increases in maximum DS length and areas of both increase and decrease for maximum 5DP can be expected. In general, the areas of increased maximum 5DP are more extended than the areas of increased mean precipitation, and the areas of increased DS length are more extended than those of decreased mean precipitation. This implies a widening of the precipitation distribution, with increased probability of both flood and drought events.

Beniston et al. [13] presented an overview of changes in the extreme events that may affect Europe in next decades, on the basis of regional climate model simulations produced by the PRUDENCE project. They concluded that the frequency, intensity and duration of heat waves will increase over Europe. They also found that in both winter and summer, intense precipitation may decrease in south Europe, while Mediterranean droughts may start earlier in the year and last longer. Diffenbaugh et al. [14] combined temperature and relative humidity to define a heat index, and assess the probability that a certain warming threshold be reached in the future climate. Diffenbaugh et al. [14] determined that days with high values (dangerous or extremely dangerous heat index) are projected to increase under an A2 emission scenario, in particular in the coastal areas of northern Africa, the Iberian Peninsula and south Italy. Christensen and Christensen [15] analyzed the summer precipitation, and concluded that a decrease of mean precipitation may be compatible with an increase in extreme precipitation events. Lehner et al. [16] analyzed the risk of both droughts and floods, and obtained reduced return periods for both phenomena in many areas in Europe, from simulations of global models (HadCM3 and ECHAM4) and the scenario A1B.

#### 4 Discussion and Conclusions

Climate projections, in particular regarding mean or extreme precipitation over limited areas of the World, carry remarkable uncertainty. This is reflected in some contradictory results mentioned in the previous section. The uncertainty has many different causes, the future evolution of the climate forcings (greenhouse gases emissions, land use changes,...) being the most relevant. There are, however, several physical mechanisms of the climate system that are not yet fully understood. Most of them concern feedback mechanisms, which are processes that may amplify or reduce the response of the climate system for a given forcing. The main positive climate feedback is the water vapor feedback: when temperature increases, water vapor content also increases in the atmosphere, which produces an enhanced greenhouse effect. This mechanism is nowadays much better understood than in previous IPCC reports. Contrarily, feedbacks involving clouds and aerosols are still poorly described, and mean an important cause of uncertainty in the climate projections by global models.

Therefore, as it is mentioned in the AR4, climate projections for the end of the century depend on the scenario and the particular model used to develop them. Temperature changes, and especially precipitation changes, show, for such temporal horizon, a broad range of values. On the other hand, projections for the next 2–4 decades are quite robust, since they depend less on long-term feedbacks and also on future greenhouse gases emissions. In fact, the climate of the next few years is tightly determined by past and recent emissions (climate commitment).

Regional climate models use high resolution grids (20–50 km) to simulate the evolution of the atmosphere in a particular region of the Earth by applying the output of a global model as boundary condition. This methodology, however, increases the number of uncertainties involved; besides the already mentioned emission scenario and global model uncertainty, regional models carry their own issues related with the parameterization physical processes and other approximations. For example, the PRUDENCE project has shown that several regional models, even if forced by the same global model and by the same emission scenario, produce quite diverse results. This is an interesting fact, since the range of results may be understood as a measure of the uncertainty over the significant signal [17]. In fact, the European project ENSEMBLES, still under development, is trying to

perform climate projections of a probabilistic nature, based upon an ensemble of simulations obtained by combining several scenarios, global models, and regional models and downscaling techniques. This methodology is expected to produce a remarkable improvement in the regional climate projections. In fact, there is a general consensus among the scientific community that a step further in climate modeling is necessary, particularly for regional scales [18].

Despite the uncertainties discussed in previous paragraphs, it is highly probable that water availability can be reduced in the Mediterranean areas as a consequence of increased temperatures and decreased and more variable precipitation. Specifically, besides the lowered precipitation, higher temperatures will enhance evaporation rates from reservoirs and the potential evapotranspiration rates from land areas in general, thus further reducing available water for human uses. This result is confirmed by the recent IPCC technical paper on climate change and water [19], where it is stressed that many semiarid and arid areas (e.g., the Mediterranean Basin, among others) are projected to suffer a decrease of water resources due to climate change. These projections are to be taken into account by the water management agencies, the concerned stakeholders and the society in general.

Acknowledgments This contribution derives from a previous work [20]. Additional parts have been developed in the frame of an assessment report requested by the Catalan Water Agency (ACA); some colleagues contributed to that report: Jordi Cunillera (Servei Meteorològic de Catalunya), Carme Llasat (Universitat de Barcelona), Josep Enric Llebot (Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona) and Javier Martín-Vide (Universitat de Barcelona). Rosana Rel also contributed to the bibliographic search.

#### References

- IPCC 2007: Climate change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri RK and Reisinger A (eds)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 104 pp
- Nakicenovic N, Swart R (eds) (2000) IPCC Special report on emission scenarios. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 570 pp
- 3. Meehl GA, Stocker TF, Collins WD, Friedlingstein P, Gaye AT, Gregory JM, Kitoh A, Knutti R, Murphy JM, Noda A, Raper SCB, Watterson IG, Weaver AJ, Zhao Z-C (2007) Global climate projections. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M. Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (eds) Climate change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA
- 4. Christensen JH, Hewitson B, Busuioc A, Chen A, Gao X, Held I, Jones R, Koll RK, Kwon W-T, Laprise R, Magaña Rueda V, Mearns L, Menéndez CG, Räisänen J, Rinke A, Sarr A, Whetton P (2007). Regional climate projections. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (eds) Climate change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA
- 5. Dessai S, Hulme M, Lempert R, Pielke R Jr (2009) Do we need better predictions to adapt to a changing climate? EOS Trans Am Geophys Union 90(13):111–112

- Déqué M, Jones RG, Wild M, Giorgi F, Christensen JH, Hassell DC, Vidale PL, Rockel B, Jacob D, Kjellström E, de Castro M, Kucharski F, van den Hurk B (2005) Global high resolution versus limited area model climate change projections over Europe: quantifying confidence level from PRUDENCE results. Clim Dyn 25:653–670 doi:10.1007/s00382-005-0052-1
- Christensen JH, coordinator (2005) Prediction of Regional scenarios and uncertainties for defining European climate change risks and effects (PRUDENCE) Final Report. Available at http://prudence.dmi.dk
- Frei C, Schöll R, Fukutome S, Schmidli J, Vidale PL (2005) Future change of precipitation extremes in Europe: an intercomparison of scenarios from regional climate models. J Geophys Res 111, D06105, doi:10.1029/2005JD005965
- Rowell DP (2005) A scenario of European climate change for the late twenty-first century: seasonal means and interannual variability. Clim Dyn 25:837–849. doi:10.1007/s00382-005-0068-6
- Hewitt C (2005) The ENSEMBLES Project Providing ensemble-based predictions of climate changes and their impacts. The EGGS, EGU Newsl 13:22–25
- 11. Sánchez E, Gallardo C, Gaertner MA, Arribas A, Castro M (2004) Future climate extreme events in the Mediterranean simulated by a regional climate model: a first approach. Glob Planet Change 44:163–180
- Gao Xuejie, Pal JS, Giorgi F (2006) Projected changes in mean and extreme precipitation over the Mediterranean region from a high resolution double nested RCM simulation. Geophys Res Lett 33, L03706, doi:10.1029/2005GL024954
- Beniston M, Stephenson DB, Christensen OB, Ferro CAT, Frei C, Gollete S, Halsnaes K, Holt T, Jylhä K, Koffi B, Palutikof J, Schöll R, Semmler T, Woth K (2007) Future extreme events in European climate: an exploration of regional climate model projections. Clim Change 81:71–95. doi:10.1007/s10584-006-9226-z
- Diffenbaugh NS, Pal JS, Giorgi F, Gao X (2007) Heat stress intensification in the Mediterranean climate change hotspot. Geophys Res Lett 34:L11706. doi:10.1029/2007GL030000
- Christensen OB, Christensen JH (2004) Intensification of extreme European summer precipitation in a warmer climate. Glob Planet Change 44:107–117
- Lehner B, Döll P, Alcamo J, Henrichs T, Kaspar F (2006) Estimating the impact of global change on flood and drought risks in Europe: a continental, integrated analysis. Clim Change 75:273–299. doi:10.1007/s10584-006-6338-4
- Déqué M, Rowell DP, Lüthi D, Giorgi F, Christensen JH, Rockel B, Jacob D, Kjellström E, de Castro M, van den Hurk B (2007) An intercomparison of regional climate simulations for Europe: assessing uncertainties in model projections. Clim Change 81:53–70 doi:10.1007/ s10584-006-9228-x
- Shukla J, Hagedorn R, Hoskins B, Kinter J, Marotzke J, Miller M, Palmer TN, Slingo J (2009) Revolution in climate prediction is both necessary and possible. Bull Am Meteorol Soc 175–178. doi:10.1175/2008BAMS2759.1
- Bates BC, Kundzewicz ZW, Wu S, Palutikof JP (eds) (2008) Climate change and water. Technical Paper VI. IPCC Secretariat. Geneva, 210 pp
- 20. Calbó J (2005) Projeccions futures sobre el clima a Catalunya. In: Llebot JE (ed) Informe sobre el canvi climàtic a Catalunya. Institut d'Estudis Catalans, Barcelona

## **Effects of Hydrologic Alterations on the Ecological Quality of River Ecosystems**

Sergi Sabater and Klement Tockner

**Abstract** In most of the world's watercourses, dramatic modifications have occurred as a consequence of intensive use by human societies. The simplification of the channel network and the alteration of water fluxes have an impact upon the capacity of fluvial systems to recover from disturbances, because of their irreversible consequences. However, human impacts on river hydrology, such as those that derive from regulating their flow or by affecting their channel geomorphology, affect the functional organisation of streams, as well as the ecosystem services that derive from them, and lead to the simplification and impoverishment of these ecosystems.

Keywords Biodiversity, Biogeochemistry, Drought, Intermittent, Stream

#### Contents

1	Water Scarcity, Water Stress and Drought, Expressions of Change in River Ecosystems	. 16
2	The Alteration of Water Flows in the Context of Climatic and Global Changes	. 18
	2.1 Potential Effects in Temperate Systems	. 21
	2.2 Relevance in Mediterranean Ecosystems	. 22
3	Effects of Temporality on In-Stream Biogeochemical Processes and the Structure of	
	Freshwater Communities	. 24
	3.1 Changes in Biogeochemical Processes	. 24
	3.2 Changes in Biological Community Structure	. 27

S. Sabater (🖂)

K. Tockner

Institute of Aquatic Ecology, University of Girona, Girona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), 17003 Girona, Spain e-mail: sergi.sabater@udg.edu

Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, IGB, Berlin, Germany e-mail: tockner@igberlin.de

4	Relevance of Water Interruption on Aquatic-Terrestrial Linkages	. 30	
5	Functional Alterations in River Ecosystems Associated		
	with Water Scarcity and Temporality	. 31	
6	Conclusions	. 34	
Re	References		

### 1 Water Scarcity, Water Stress and Drought, Expressions of Change in River Ecosystems

In most of the world's watercourses, dramatic modifications have occurred as a consequence of their intensive use by human societies [1]. Pollution, water abstraction, riparian simplification, bank alteration, straightening of watercourses, dam construction, and species introduction are widespread perturbations in river ecosystems. These human-driven alterations are part of *global changes*. The simplification of the channel network and the alteration of water fluxes reduce the capacity of fluvial systems to recover from natural disturbances. Hydrologic alterations affect the functional organisation of streams and rivers, and lead to a simplification and impoverishment of the biota within these ecosystems.

These effects add to the ongoing *climate change*, which results in altered temperature and rainfall in all biomes [2]. Though mostly human-driven, these changes do refer exclusively to the climate. The direct implications of climate change on flow regime are certain. Barnett et al. [3] documented a decrease in water flow of the NW America watercourses and related it to the increase in late winter temperature as well as to the associated lower thickness of the snow pack. Globally, the Mediterranean Basin is one of the regions most vulnerable to climate changes. The Mediterranean climate is subject to complex planetary scale processes and teleconnections, but also to local processes, which are induced by the complex physiography of the region and the influence of the Mediterranean Sea. Consequently, the Mediterranean basin is one of the most prominent "hot spots" for potential changes [4]. Most climate change models indicate that Mediterranean regions will be affected by summer drought and high temperatures. These changes will probably not be limited to the catchments draining into the Mediterranean Sea, but will affect all Mediterranean-type regions worldwide. The relation of these climate alterations to the fate of Mediterranean-type aquatic ecosystems will be expressed in altered flow regimes, increasing frequency and magnitude of floods and enduring and unexpected droughts [99] which will affect the distribution and survival of unique biota, and the associated ecosystem functions.

Nevertheless, the response of water resources will be more complex, as human activities will also change in response to altered climates. The intensity of the pressure put on water resources and aquatic ecosystems by external drivers is related to higher economic income (e.g. expressed by electricity production and consumption) of human societies [5]. The limitation of resources can be qualified by a diversity of terms, varying somewhat in intensity: drought, temporality, and



Fig. 1 Water flow dynamics in the Llobregat River (NE Spain) close to its mouth. (a) Monthly average flow rates between 1968 and 2008. (b) Daily average flow rates in 2007–2008 during a remarkably dry period (data: Catalan Water Agency data base)

water scarcity. Droughts are here defined as persistent periods when the river discharge is below a reference minimum. Droughts can be characterized by the time of occurrence, duration, the minimum flow recorded, and the deficit volume during that episode [6]. Water scarcity is a more structural, persistent drought; it can be properly defined only on the basis of reliable records of drought situations, as well as consistently establishing a drought threshold line. This is a relevant issue to define repetitive drought situations that therefore can be indicative of structural effects. Drought varies in space and time, and therefore the rainfall threshold used to define drought is dependent on the location [7]. Available long-term records can be particularly useful to define these thresholds. Long-term records are available in Mediterranean countries because these events have affected daily life for a long time. Several indicators can be useful to derive this information: tree ring chronology, documentary data (administrative, from local government institutions, both civil and ecclesiastical [8], and even data from rogation ceremonies [7]. To sum up, while *drought* means a temporary decrease in water availability, due for instance to rainfall deficiency, *water scarcity* means that water demand exceeds the water resources exploitable under sustainable conditions (COM2007-414 final).

A mixture of natural and human-driven components causes water temporality. It is obvious that natural influences may be particularly relevant in systems where the seasonal and interannual variability is high, as in the Mediterranean systems; [9]. In the Mediterranean Basin, as well as in many arid or semi-arid areas, temporality naturally associated to the climate leads to drought most usually in summer, followed by extreme autumnal flood episodes (so-called first flush events). For example, the Llobregat River (NE Spain) has an average mean annual discharge of 14 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 1a), but a monthly range from <2 to 130 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. The diel water flow rate is even more variable (Fig. 1b). The hydrological year 2007–2008 was one of the driest years recently recorded, and during 86% of the time the river carried less than the average water flow. During that year, flashy episodes reaching 100–180 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> occurred, and flow returned very quickly to baseflow afterwards. Catastrophic flood events with 1,500–2,000 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> can occur on average every 9-20 years in the Llobregat River [10]. The most painful event occurred on 25th September, 1962 and caused 441 human casualties. These drought-flood patterns have been documented over a long period of time. Thorndycraft et al. [11] analysed paleoflood deposits in the Llobregat River and described that the largest flood in a mid-river location ever recorded in modern times (1971; 2,300 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) was exceeded on five occasions in the past 2,700 years, reaching maximum discharges of 3,700–4,300 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Therefore, the Llobregat flood events exceed baseflow by up to a factor of 100-300.

## 2 The Alteration of Water Flows in the Context of Climatic and Global Changes

Global change is an expression of the human footprint on resources, energy and soil uses, directed to larger and less efficient agglomerations, higher use of resources, and a potential higher pressure towards natural ecosystems. As an expression of this global change, ecosystem and societal requirements compete for water resources,

Global		~20%
USA	3.2 mill km	~60%
France	70,000 km	25-35%
Tagliamento	1,300 km	~50%
Chatooga	2,800 km	70%
Albujon	820 km	99%
Val Roseg	26 km	80%

 Table 1
 Spatial extent of temporary watercourses. Data: Larned et al. (in review), among other sources

and this competition increases with increasing water scarcity. Aquatic ecosystems are impacted in a nonlinear way with increasing water withdrawal. The effects of drought and water scarcity on river ecosystems are evidenced by an extended duration of dry periods as well as by a growing proportion of watercourses being affected (Table 1).

Current estimates predict that on average, the global annual runoff is increasing [12]. However, remarkable variations occur at the regional and local scales. While high-latitude catchments may experience an increase in runoff, tropical and mid-latitude watercourses are expected to experience a reduction in flow. The predictions of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [2, 13] indicate that annual average river runoff might increase by 10–40% at higher latitudes, and may decrease by 10–30% in dry regions. An increase in flow has already been noticed for Scotland [14]. In Europe, the southern and south-eastern regions already suffer most from water stress and will see a further increase in the frequency and intensity of droughts [15].

The potential impact of water withdrawal on river ecosystems is indicated by the ratio between water demand and available water resources. Though the ecological relevance of this ratio could be stronger if the Q<sub>90</sub> was used instead of the more general estimate of total resources, it is a simple index easily applicable, using public data sets. For the Iberian Peninsula, the potential ecological effects are demonstrated in Fig. 2. The northern part of the Peninsula exhibits an Atlantic climate with sufficient water supply; the use of water accounts for 4–7% of the total resource available, though this does not prevent severe local shortages in large cities. However, demands increase to 30-80% of the total resource in the remaining catchments of the Peninsula, following the gradient of decreasing precipitation from NW to SE. In the Segura basin, located in the SE corner of the Iberian Peninsula, current demands exceed the supply by 224%, which requires an interbasin transfer of water (especially from the Tajo River). The downstream channel network of the Segura River dries up for several months during summer. When water flows, it consists of treated sewage effluents and, hence, is of poor chemical and biological quality. Figure 2 shows that the quantity attributed to the river (the so-called *minimum flow*) is far from being reasonable where water demand is high [16]. The application of a minimum flow (also called *ecological flow*) regime requires guaranteeing resources to make the ecosystem function. In short, very low water flow implies the inability to carry on with essential ecosystem processes, and complete water absence inhibits even minimum ecosystem function.



Fig. 2 Relative proportion (%) of water demand in relation to available resources in the main catchments of the Iberian Peninsula (data: derived from Libro Blanco del Agua en España, Spanish Ministry of Environment 2000)

Water withdrawal and scarcity are related to water flow regulation and dam construction. The regions suffering most from water scarcity are those which have a large number of big dams and reservoirs [17]. The global figures are also impressive. About 15% of the world's total runoff (40,000 km<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) is retained in 45,000 large dams higher than 15 m [18]. From this retained volume, a further 10% is abstracted [19]. As a result of these manipulations and subsequent irrigation, up to 6% of the resources evaporate [20]. A total of 52% of the surface area connected by large river systems (with a discharge of over 350 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) is heavily modified, Europe containing the highest fraction of altered river segments.

Arid and semi-arid regions are particularly water-thirsty, further increasing the pressure on water resources and causing extended dry river networks. However, this is already a global phenomenon. The Yellow River in China, for example, ceases to flow along extensive reaches [21]. In 1997, during a particularly dry year, more than 700 km of river channel remained dry for 330 days. Similarly, sections of the Lower Colorado and Rio Grande Rivers in SW USA remain dry at the surface for extended periods [22], thereby affecting the ecosystem viability. In the former water-spotted area of Central Spain (La Mancha), the only option for the Tablas de Daimiel wetlands to survive is to transfer water from the distant Tajo River that is hydrologically disconnected from these wetlands. The Tablas de Daimiel wetlands were once fed by ground water that is now exploited for corn production. The steadily increasing water abstraction has caused a decline in the aquifer by up to 35 m [23]. Legal regulations are difficult to enforce because of the resistance by the farmers who exploit ground water for irrigation.
#### 2.1 Potential Effects in Temperate Systems

A recent assessment by the European Environmental Agency indicated that high levels of water stress, both in quantity and quality, exist in many areas throughout Europe, and identified several significant ongoing pressures on water resources. The annual water withdrawal in Europe is projected to rise from 415 km<sup>3</sup> today to ~660  $\text{km}^3$  by 2070 (for comparison: the total annual discharge of the Rhine River is 73 km<sup>3</sup>). Overall, the area with severe water stress is predicted to increase from 19% today to 34–36% of entire Europe by 2070. At present about 45% of this water is used for industry, 41% for agriculture, and 14% for domestic needs [24–27]. High water stress and an increase in temporary water are already characteristic phenomena in the Mediterranean area. In Turkey, for example, a significant decrease in discharge has been detected during the past 30 years [100]. The minimum flow during the dry summer months (July to September) is particularly affected by increasing water demands and climate change [28]. Many Balkan rivers have undergone even more dramatic annual discharge reduction during the past 40-45 years; e.g. a 79% discharge reduction for the Evrotas, a 57% reduction for the Axios, and a 48% reduction for the Sperchios [29].

However, the spatial and temporal extent of temporary rivers will not only increase in regions where water is already scarce, but this increase will become a more global phenomenon, mainly as a consequence of climate and land-cover change, increased demand for freshwater for agriculture, and of increasing hydro-power generation. Permanent water bodies are shrinking even in areas devoid of human population. Smol and Douglas [30], for example, showed that many shallow ponds in the Arctic region are disappearing, mainly because of increased evaporation/precipitation ratios. For natural ecosystems such as the Yellowstone National Park (USA), Mcmenamin et al. [31] have shown that during the last 16 years the number of permanently dry ponds has increased fourfold, leading to dramatic declines in amphibian population density and species richness. Shallow water bodies and headwater streams are particularly sensitive to small changes in flow alterations; at the same time they are hot spots of biodiversity [32], and their desiccation will have severe ramifications for their structure and function.

In many parts of Europe, dramatic hydrological modifications have occurred during the last few centuries. In the central and eastern plains, for example, the total river network length has increased mainly due to the creation of artificial drainage canals. In addition, a 35,000 km long network of navigation canals in the EU (www. inlandnavigation.org/en/factsandfigures.html) now connects most large rivers across all Europe, from the Rhone River in the west to the Volga River in the east, thereby facilitating the rapid spread of nonnative species. While river basins remain hydrologically separated, they become ecologically more and more connected. At the same time, former permanent rivers are becoming temporary, mainly as a consequence of increasing variation in precipitation and domestic and agricultural use. The Spree River in NE Germany, for example, exhibited a sharp decrease in mean and low discharge during the last decade because of an increase in



Fig. 3 The hydrological alteration of the river network of the Upper Rhone catchment in Switzerland that drains into Lake Geneva (data: Swiss Federal Hydrological Office)

water abstraction and a decrease in groundwater input. The transformation of permanent waters to temporary waters can be seen as an ultimate threshold for the diversity and the functioning of river ecosystems.

In Alpine countries such as Switzerland, water abstraction for hydropower production creates a network of residual flow channels. Almost all the main rivers in Switzerland and in the Alps are hydrologically altered. For example, the Upper Rhone catchment in Switzerland is extensively exploited for hydropower generation (Fig. 3). Hydropeaking is predominant along the main stem, water abstraction and residual flow conditions are typical for most tributaries, while hydrologically unaffected river segments are fragmented in nature and restricted to the low order sections. As a consequence of flow alteration, biodiversity decreased dramatically along the Rhone River corridor [33].

#### 2.2 Relevance in Mediterranean Ecosystems

Though extremes are part of the normal hydrologic behaviour in Mediterraneantype rivers, a consistent trend of water flow decrease has been described in many of these systems. The Ebro is the largest Iberian river flowing into the Mediterranean Sea. The flow records at its mouth (mean annual runoff 13,408 Mm<sup>3</sup>) show a decrease of nearly 40% in mean annual flow in the last 50 years. The forces behind these flow decreases are multiple. Higher water withdrawal, climate change and land use changes have all had an effect [34]. For example, illegal groundwater pumping can be excessive in many areas of the dry Mediterranean (estimated as one million wells in Spain). These practices obviously affect the hydrological behaviour of river systems, and may add an unexpected element for model previsions.

Under these circumstances it is essential to determine the causes of water flow decrease. The *naturalized flow* can be defined as the flow expected under non-direct human influence (e.g. abstraction). This is a useful parameter to be applied in areas subject to strong water withdrawal. One tool to estimate the deficiency of water flow due to human effects is the sacramento soil moisture accounting (SAC–SMA) model, which is based on a rainfall–runoff interaction. Using this model Benejam et al. [35] determined that the Mediterranean river Tordera (NE Spain) dried out for more days (76 per year) than those corresponding to the rainfall–runoff relationship (2 per year). This contrast to the long-term rainfall records in the Tordera watershed, do not show any pattern of decrease that could be causative of the enhanced temporality. The cause of the decrease may be found in the large number of industries and human settlements, which have increased enormously in the basin. More than 30% of the runoff of the Tordera is used by humans (irrigation, urban settlements, industry).

It might be derived from previous suggestions that the river sections below dams can experience even higher stress than those upstream. In the case of the Ter River (NE Spain) during the unusually dry 2007–2008 period, differences were not high



Fig. 4 River Ter (NE Spain) during the dry period 2007–2008. *Grey dots*: River Ter at Ripoll, upstream from the reservoirs of Sau and Susqueda. *Black dots*: River Ter at Girona, downstream from the reservoirs

between the sections upstream and downstream in a series of three reservoirs; however, as soon as rains began, differences rose sharply. The rains in the higher basin (Fig. 4) caused the return of water flow to the river. These waters were stopped by the reservoirs that transferred them to thirsty cities. The river section below the reservoirs was almost not flowing (Fig. 4).

## **3** Effects of Temporality on In-Stream Biogeochemical Processes and the Structure of Freshwater Communities

Alterations of water flow, independent of the cause, impact the structure and function of aquatic ecosystems. Extended drought produces the loss of hydrologic connectivity between stream compartments, and affects the biota. Therefore, flow cessation triggers a chain of cascading effects, eventually affecting community structure and ecosystem functioning.

The residence time of surface water increases when the discharge decreases, thereby leading to an average "ageing" of water [19]. Alteration of natural hydrological conditions includes reducing the strength and frequency of flooding and of meander migration, abnormally extending the periods of hydrological stability, and lowering the incidence of post-disturbance succession [36], and the opportunities for colonist species to re-establish from elsewhere. Water scarcity may therefore lead to the transformation of the habitat character of rivers in the direction from lotic (moving waters) to lentic (standing waters). This process is known as *lentification* [37], and may promote higher water temperature, with greater evaporative losses, that may be particularly relevant in arid and semi-arid areas [38]. Overall, this produces changes in the biogeochemical processes, as well as in the biological community inhabiting the river.

#### 3.1 Changes in Biogeochemical Processes

The first change produced by decreased flow is the enhanced in-stream retention of particulate organic matter. In forested Mediterranean streams, for example, the falling leaves accumulate on the streambed for 1–3 months until first flooding. During the first flush events, a mass downstream transport of dissolved and particulate material (mainly organic) occurs. In the rehydration of a temporary stream after summer leaf fall deposition, nitrate did not remarkably increase, but the DOC concentration increased two to fourfold [39]. The influence of the pulse of dissolved organic matter extended to baseflow conditions during late summer and autumn. In these pulses after the restart of the flow, the proportion of readily available DOC (BDOC) can be very high (mostly attributed to carbohydrates and peptides; [40]).

Water quality descriptor	Effect of low flow	Effect on biota	Affected process
Temperature	Lower oxygen content	Invertebrates	Decrease in oxygen
	Higher metabolic rates	Fish	availability
	Combined effects with	All groups	Higher primary
	toxicants and nutrients	All groups	production
			Higher respiration rates
			General effects on
			structure and
			metabolism
Conductivity	Enhanced water salinity	All groups	Physiological regulation
			Changes in community composition
Organic matter	Accumulation of organic matter	Bacteria	Slowed down
		Primary producers	decomposition?
			High oxygen
			consumption
			High mineralization
Sediments	Siltation	Primary producers	Reduced production
		Invertebrates Fish	Changes in community composition
			Difficulties in gas
Nutriant	Higher concentration.	Drimory producers	diffusion Uigher gross primary
Nutrient	eutrophication;	Potential bottom	production
		up-effects	Lower efficiency on
			materials processing
Pollutants	Increase of pollutant	All groups	Diversity decrease?
	concentration and	Complex food	Effects on metabolism
	enhanced effects on	web effects	Effects on material
	the biota		processing

Table 2 Summary of effects caused by water scarcity

This high availability of materials can also be related to the high enzymatic activities in the water as well as relevant organic carbon uptake by the benthic microorganisms [40, 41].

A subsequent consequence of altered hydrological conditions is the export of solutes, as well as changes of the biogeochemical processes (Table 2) that derive from drought and rewetting. It has been observed that antecedent droughts in wetlands contribute to the oxidation of sulphides stored in the sediment to sulphates, which are mobilized after rewetting [42]. Pinay et al. [43] indicated that the surface area of the water-substratum interface (water-sediment or water-soil interface) is positively correlated with nitrogen retention and uptake rates. This applies both for the sediments in the stream channel as well as for the soils in the floodplain and riparian zones. The stream surface; Fig. 3). This compartment is highly reactive for nutrient cycling [44] because of the hydrated, porous medium that provides exchange and reaction surfaces for the microbes involved in C, N and P

cycling. The active riparian area is larger during high flows, but it contracts during the drying periods [45].

The oxic and anoxic phases occurring in the riparian soil and in the hyporheos are therefore related to the variations of flow [43]. Regarding the nitrogen cycle, ammonification can occur during aerobic and anaerobic conditions, while nitrification requires aerobic conditions, and denitrification is favoured by alternating aerobic and anaerobic cycles. Water table fluctuations associated with these processes do not occur during permanently dry conditions; hence the biogeochemical cycle of nitrogen can be expected to be altered with respect to steady flow conditions. Nitrogen processing is limited during the transport from upland to riparian zones in arid areas [46]. Nitrogen processing shifts from the soil (denitrification) to the riparian vegetation (plant uptake) [47], but even this shift can be interrupted under water stress.

Aerobic penetration increases in previously dry sediments, because of better oxygen diffusion compared to saturated conditions; hence, when sediments are exposed to the air, anaerobic zones become aerobic [48]. The oxidation and desiccation affect the microbial assemblages in previously reduced sediments. Drying of sediments will result in an increased sediment affinity for P with reduced availability to biota. The return of the water to a previous dry stream bed is a "hot biogeochemical moment" [49]. Biogeochemical reactions and biological processes; (see Sect. 3.2) restart or accelerate after long quiescent periods. Re-wetted sediments liberate phosphorus and nitrogen, as a consequence of dying-induced microbial cell lysis, that again may enhance in-stream primary productivity. However, opportunistic organisms may be favoured by repeated drying–wetting cycles, which again affect nutrient cycling. In particular, the combined nitrification–denitrification may be severely limited by repeated wetting–drying [48].

Water scarcity increases the concentration of nutrients and pollutants which therefore exert a stronger effect on organisms [50]. Shallow water columns, and higher nutrient concentrations, together with higher temperatures and light availability (these conditions occurring in disturbed watercourses), trigger eutrophic conditions in rivers and coastal zones. An example of these complex relationships was seen in the Oria River (N Spain), where nutrient rich sites with poor riparian cover exhibited high water temperature, high algal biomass, and large dissolved oxygen oscillations [51]. Dissolved oxygen concentrations varied during a diel cycle from 0 to 13 mg O<sub>2</sub> L<sup>-1</sup>, compared to 8–9 mg O<sub>2</sub> L<sup>-1</sup> in an adjacent forested site with lower nutrient concentration. The impacted site had a fish community, dominated by cyprinids, more tolerant to hypoxia, while in the forested section salmonids occurred. Occasional fish killings occurred in the eutrophic site because of oxygen fluctuations.

Higher salt concentrations (enhanced water conductivity) from urban and industrial waste waters result in lower dilution. Salinity limits the distribution of sensitive plant and animal taxa, and triggers the abundance of others. The presence of the shrub *Tamarix canariensis* has increased in the saline soils of the low flow affected Tablas de Daimiel (Spain), while the once dominant *Populus alba* retreated.

#### 3.2 Changes in Biological Community Structure

Abnormal hydrological stability homogenizes river habitats, and this obviously affects the performance and distribution of organisms. In some semi-arid and arid-zone streams and rivers, water extraction for human activities may lead to complete and extended dewatering during low flow years, dramatically impairing the freshwater biota [38]. However, many organisms inhabiting naturally temporary rivers have adaptive mechanisms that allow them to survive droughts and to quickly recover after water returns [52]. Microorganisms exhibit physiological adjustments during the gradual drying from permanent to temporal waters. Algal taxa, for example, synthesize energy-storage or osmotically active molecules [53]. Other algae are able to produce resistant structures such as akinetes, cysts, or zygotes, which can reactivate and grow upon rewetting [54]. The physiological plasticity of many of these taxa is remarkable. For example, desiccated cyanobacterial mats, collected from an intermittent Mediterranean stream, started to photosynthesize in the laboratory within 2 h after rewetting [55]. The extracellular enzymes associated to the cell wall allow an immediate use of dissolved organic matter [40]. The excretion of extracellular muccopolysaccharides by algae and cyanobacteria facilitates cellular water retention and therefore results in quicker rehydration. However, human-caused rapid or unpredicted drying does not provide sufficient time for the production of desiccation-resistant structures or physiological adjustments [56]. The ability to recover after drought also depends on the existence of reservoirs of propagules, stored in areas that did not dry out, or in the sediments, which facilitates recolonization processes [57].

When rivers begin to dry out, and consequently to fragment, the biota concentrates in the remaining pools leading to very high densities of invertebrates and fish [58]. Life in these pools is harsh because the accumulation of detritus increases nutrient concentrations that lead, together with the concurrent reduction of reaeration from the atmosphere, to decreased oxygen concentration. Leachates from decomposing leaves, which can be toxic to some organisms, accumulate in these ponds [59]. Fragmentation affects the entire trophic web. Algae growing on riffles disappear during the drying up process; grazers therefore decrease in numbers, while other feeding groups may benefit. Filter density may also be reduced because of the decrease of transported material [60], while collector-gatherers may increase in numbers in these pools. Predation pressure increases in pools. Acuña et al. [61] showed that the drying up of a Mediterranean stream caused an increase in macroinvertebrate density in isolated pools soon after flow ceased. Afterwards, when the pools shrank further, the invertebrate density rapidly decreased. In this Mediterranean stream, there was a difference in the macroinvertebrate community at the end of the summer dry phase (when flow resumed) compared to that present before drying began. High availability of food (detritus) for invertebrates during flow reduction in pools led to a considerable increase in invertebrate density and biomass. The taxa that increased significantly as flow decreased had low dissolved oxygen requirements (e.g. Lumbriculidae, Chironomideae), or were adults that



breathe atmospheric oxygen directly (e.g. beetles). At the same time, taxa with high DO requirements (e.g. snails) were absent during this phase.

Droughts and floods have similar consequences on biota survival. Although floods may cause a complete resetting of the physical habitat, as well as the downstream drift of many individuals, the effects may be less persistent than those produced by droughts. As drying proceeds (Fig. 5), shallow surface habitats such as riffles disappear first, and a series of fragmented pools remain, together with a low water flow in the hyporheos [52]. This is called *superficial drought*. During a subsurface drought even the hyporheic zone can dry out [62], affecting the potential refuge of many organisms (see below). In an even more advanced step, deep drought implies that the phreatic layer can descend, which may cause early leaf abscission of riparian woody plants [63]. This extended decrease of the water table in the riparian zone may even impair riparian vegetation, trees being replaced by shrubs and later by herbs, with lower leaf litter input and allowing higher light penetration. In some areas of the Mediterranean where the phreatic level has decreased, riparian vegetation has disappeared, and with it has gone the function the riparian exerts as a nutrient buffer, as the refuge of species and a biological corridor [64]. This may have definite effects on moisture retention in the soil, as vegetation controls permeability near the surface. The riparian strips of headwaters and the main river sections play an essential role in the regulation of greenhouse gases  $(CO_2, N_2O)$  [65]. Riparian areas may protect against flood events and help in establishing biological corridors between polluted and unpolluted sections. In many areas of the Rivers Ter and Llobregat (NE Spain) the riparian area has been seriously damaged by overexploitation, groundwater extraction and subsequent phreatic decrease.

The fauna of seasonally intermittent streams have acquired, through evolution, a range of adaptations, such as specific life-history strategies, physiological mechanisms, and specific behaviours to search for refugia [66]. There are two major classes of refugium use strategies [67]. The most common type is refugium use within a given generation. It consists mostly of actively changing the habitat when the drought proceeds. Invertebrates may shelter below cobbles, among debris or macrophytes [66], and the most mobile seek refuge in the hyporheic (subsurface) sediment, as well as in the remaining pools [52]. This variability emphasizes the value of a well-preserved river habitat, which offers a greater variety of shelter [62] than physically disturbed reaches. A more specialized type of refugium-seeking occurs between generations, as happens when there are complex life cycles or changes in habitat use. This can be seen in some caddisflies, which lay terrestrial eggs [68], thus protecting their offspring from floods. Similarly, during droughts, some fish retreat to safe places like backwaters, or to permanent tributaries, and recolonize the stream with juveniles after the drought [56, 69].

However, other taxa do not show these adaptations, and may suffer from changing conditions. This may be seen in groups that are intolerant to desiccation or are relatively immobile (e.g. Unionid mussels; [70]). More difficulties in dispersal are faced by many groups of organisms [71], as they cannot circulate along intermittent watercourses. Water abstraction has been identified as one of the most detrimental factors for fish assemblages in Mediterranean watercourses. Fish can respond by changing their community composition, as well as their abundance, and condition [72]. The least exigent species survive these unstable conditions [73]. Droughts reduce the survival and reproduction rate of fish, and promote emigration towards other areas [58]. Some fish populations can even disappear when the frequency of drought is higher than in natural conditions.

Other consequences of decreasing water flow on biota are related to indirect effects on physical and chemical parameters (Table 2). Temperature may increase as a result of slow-moving, thinner water layers. Warmer waters and other stresses increase the possibility of fungal, viral and bacterial infections on fish. Certain invasive species can also take advantage of higher average temperatures and/or stabilized hydrological conditions. As an example, in the lower River Ebro (N Spain), reduced flow has favoured the proliferation of the mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*, the trematode *Phyllodistomum folium* that infects zebra mussels, and the Asian bivalve, *Corbicula fluminea*. Higher temperature reduces the solubility of gases in water, as in the case of oxygen. Lower oxygen may limit fish and invertebrate distribution. Temperature change and water flow changes can promote changes in the regional distribution of some taxa. Several insects [74] are sensitive

to differences of only  $3^{\circ}$ C of mean summer temperature. Key life-history parameters of many species, such as egg dormancy and life cycle plasticity, may be affected by these temperature changes. Hence, increasing temperatures may support eurythermic species and generalists, resulting in less specialized communities. It is also true that the impacts of climate change might be reduced by catchment and floodplain land use; at least regionally, riparian forests may contribute to buffer future water temperature increases.

The extension of the dry period is also a critical factor. Dry periods longer than the generation times of the biota reduce the efficacy of potential adaptations. Larned et al. [75] observed that the total invertebrate richness decreased linearly while the invertebrate density decreased exponentially with increasing duration of the dry period. This is most possibly caused by dying or dispersal of the invertebrates, while few pre-adapted species remain. Drought may cause long-term effects. Although species are able to persist during droughts during their early stages, they may not recruit successfully during the next year. This lag effect in response to a drought [62] is most obviously for long-living biota (invertebrate and fish). Analogously, repeated episodes of drought can have cumulative effects on fish populations, which are not obvious at the reach scale but detectable at the watershed scale [76]. The amount and quality of fish refugia in a given summer would be dependent on the rain falling in the preceding years. Measurable changes in abundance are only apparent after several dry years with unusually high mortality or reduced recruitment [76].

## 4 Relevance of Water Interruption on Aquatic–Terrestrial Linkages

Rivers and their terrestrial realms are tightly linked by reciprocal flows of matter, energy and organisms [77]. The flow of material and energy is generally from the more productive to the less productive habitat. For example, a drought-induced decrease in in-stream productivity may reduce the energy flow from emerging aquatic insects into the adjacent riparian ecosystem, thereby affecting the composition and density of riparian predators. On the other hand, water stress may cause early leaf litter abscission, alter leaf litter quality (e.g. through photo degradation), and may lead to an accumulation of coarse particulate organic matter (CPOM; e.g. leaves) at the dry stream surface [78, 101]. Results from decomposition experiments along the Tagliamento River demonstrated that alterations of the inundation regime directly influenced decomposition processes [79]. After 30 days of exposure, the mean percentage of the remaining leaf litter (as AFDM) ranged between 51% (permanent wet) and 88% (permanent dry). Decomposition was significantly affected by the duration of inundation whereas frequency played a subordinate role in controlling leaf breakdown. Unexpectedly, leaf-shredding macro invertebrates played a lesser role for leaf breakdown except in the permanent wet treatment.

More generally, changing flow alters the relative proportion of input, storage, transfer, and transformation processes for organic matter and nutrients. Hence, the relative extent and the dynamics of the temporary channels within a catchment may control the capacity of a river network to produce, transform, and store nutrients and organic matter.

Dry river beds are considered temporal ecotones that shift between an aquatic and a terrestrial phase. While we are well aware of the aquatic life during the wet phase, there is a general lack of information on biodiversity patterns and ecosystem processes during the dry period and how wet and dry phases are linked to each other. We may expect that dry channels provide important habitats for terrestrial organisms [80]. However, they remain open if dry channels contain a unique fauna or just a subset of upstream communities. Further, do rivers that naturally fall dry contain a terrestrial fauna that differs from artificially dry channels? Finally, we may expect a strong functional linkage between aquatic and terrestrial organisms. Terrestrial organisms are expected to quickly react to available resources and exploit stranded aquatic organisms [81]. On the other hand, allochthonous detritus, despite a relatively high C:N ratio, provides a basal resource for intermittent stream food webs [82]. In Cooper Creek, Central Australia, fishes appeared to feed on potentially lower value resources such as detritus during the dry period, but were able to exploit the booming aquatic production during episodic flooding [83]. These boom and bust cycles are characteristic of arid and semi-arid river systems, whereas busts for the aquatic assemblages may be booms for the terrestrial assemblages. However, water management plans in many Mediterranean and dryland river systems may alter this sensitive balance between boom and bust periods, leading to the observed decline in ecosystem health.

## 5 Functional Alterations in River Ecosystems Associated with Water Scarcity and Temporality

Ecosystem functioning includes a variety of processes that involve the transference of matter and energy throughout the different compartments. Among these processes, the most relevant are nutrient turnover, decomposition and respiration of decaying organic matter, primary production, secondary production and respiration, and the resistance and resilience after disturbance. These processes are translated into visible entities for human societies [37], understood as goods and services. Among those, there is flood protection, improved water quality, food and timber production, maintenance of biodiversity, etc [84]. As structure and function within an ecosystem are tightly linked, it might be expected that a shift in the former implies a change in the latter.

River functioning (globally expressed as metabolism) does not often show unidirectional responses to stress, and therefore makes difficult the prediction of changes. Gross Primary Production (GPP) may be first enhanced because the decrease of water flow may result in shallower water depths and lead to more underwater light



Fig. 6 Processes occurring along with drought in a river channel. Connectivity is lost, while water temperature and nutrient concentration increase in the remaining water. The efficiency of nutrient processing decreases, as well as it does the dissolved oxygen in the water and in the sediments

penetrating to the bottom. Altogether, higher nutrient concentrations and hydrological alteration may favour a shift towards autotrophy in aquatic ecosystems [85]. However there is a threshold of increase, as complete flow reduction may cause GPP to sharply decrease and finally stop during the drying phase [61].

The efficiency in many processes is expected to decrease, leading to undesired consequences (Fig. 6). The high nutrient content as well as the hydrological stability in the Llobregat River [86] favoured the massive growth of cyanobacteria during winter and early spring. These growths were associated with odours in the river caused by geosmin production. Respiration is also affected by lower flow and drought. Pinna and Basset [87] observed that the highest effects of summer drought on organic matter decomposition occurred in the headwater streams. The lesser effect detected in larger sections was mostly because the drought conditions were less intense there. Larned et al. [75] observed that the respiration rates in sediments declined rapidly with the onset of the dry period. Lower microbial biomass and sediment organic matter are found in ephemeral river sediments; there is therefore lower respiration than in wetter conditions. Claret and Boulton [88] suggested that there is threshold moisture for the sediment microbial activities, below which it might sharply decrease. In a forested Mediterranean stream, Acuña et al. [89] determined that the high accumulation of BOM during low flow caused extremely high ecosystem respiration (ER), though this depended on the intensity of the drought period in the stream which varied interannually.

Water fluctuations in Mediterranean rivers seriously affect fish production and droughts put important selective forces on fish communities [73] by reducing population density and species richness [58]. Fish also suffer from chemical and organic pollution affecting their physiological abilities [90].

Drought can increase the effect of other stressors such as pollutants, UV-impact, and thermal stress [27]. In the Llobregat River, for example, a wide range of human pharmaceuticals of high biological activity are present in low but ecologically relevant concentrations [91]. Their occurrence often coincides with low flow conditions and intensive water use, which increases their environmental risk. Multivariate analyses revealed a potential causal association between the concentration of some anti-inflammatories and  $\beta$ -blockers and the abundance and biomass of several benthic invertebrates (*Chironomus spp.* and *Tubifex tubifex*). Determining the relevance of the altered hydrological conditions on the multistress being suffered by organisms and ecosystems in polluted areas is an ultimate challenge.

Flooding is the predominant variable along large alluvial rivers, and as such triggers multiple functional processes. Floods not only increase the aquatic surface area but also reshape aquatic and terrestrial habitats, maintain its complexity, facilitate the dispersal of aquatic and terrestrial organisms, and provide key resources, thereby stimulating productivity and biodiversity. Recently, Bertoldi et al. [92] analysed oblique air-photos, sequentially taken at different water levels in a floodplain segment along the Tagliamento River (NE Italy). On the basis of these photos, various hydrological thresholds were identified, with lower water level thresholds nested within higher water levels. For example, an elimination of annual flood events may lead to an increase in vegetated areas, therefore altering the flow-inundation regime of the entire river-floodplain complex.

The predictions of the area-richness relationship indicate that a reduction in inundation area and duration will lead to a decrease in biodiversity, as well as in productivity [93–95]. A trait-based assessment might help to predict the species that will disappear as a consequence of flow alteration. We may speculate that the biota in Mediterranean rivers, adapted to naturally high seasonal and interannual flow variability, are less sensitive to flow reduction than biota in more temperate rivers. Evanno et al. [96] studied the effect of a severe drought on the genetics and species diversity of gastropods along the Ain River (France). They found that a natural disturbance leads to a decline in local ( $\alpha$ ) diversity and to an increase in regional ( $\beta$ ) diversity, indicating that disturbances can lead to similar changes in genetics and community structure through the combined effects of selective and neutral processes. Thomaz et al. [97] observed that flooding increased species similarity among floodplain habitats.

There is a great need to identify and to quantify the multiple effects of duration, intensity, time, and frequency of surface flowing and drying, single and in concert, on both biodiversity and ecosystem processes. For example, the effect of inundation duration, following a rainfall pulse, controls process diversity in dry floodplains. Very short pulses, as typical for low order stream segments (or human altered ecosystems) release nutrients, which again increases in-stream productivity in adjacent permanent water bodies. Hence, the relative extent and the dynamics of the temporary channel network, as well as its spatial distribution within a catchment, may therefore influence the capacity of an entire river network to produce, transform, and store nutrients and organic matter as well as maintain its biodiversity.

## 6 Conclusions

Disturbances that increase water scarcity promote the physical uniformity of river systems and the decrease of biological diversity in streams and rivers. The structure and functioning of heavily impacted river systems become mutually and strikingly similar, irrespective of the river's origin and the climate. The more intense and persistent the disturbance, the greater is the resemblance. On the other hand, river organisms use resources most efficiently in spatially heterogeneous channels, and under moderate disturbance frequencies, rather than in steady conditions, to which they are not adapted.

Disturbances (both natural and anthropogenic) that increase nutrient concentration may cause the river biological components and metabolism to shift from natural heterotrophy toautotrophy, even in relatively pristine rivers. Enforced hydrological stability or increased nutrient loading, among many other disturbances, may cause pronounced changes in system metabolism.

Rising human pressure on water resources and the likely effects of climate change will probably affect the hydrological and geomorphological state of river systems in many areas of the globe. Hydrological variations will lead to a chain of effects in the structure and functioning of river systems and will make the estimation of the ecosystem services that they can sustain difficult. This will be especially relevant in arid and semi-arid areas and in those systems where water use is very intense. Decreasing flow leads to an increased exposure to UV, higher water temperature variation, further concentrations of nutrients and pollutants, and spreading of nonnative species, with cascading effects on aquatic and terrestrial biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. Further, we may anticipate a future global increase in pulsed events due to climate and land use changes; at the same time, major attempts are underway to reduce pulses by river regulation and impounding [27, 98]. Hence, a major challenge is to separate trend from event effects (e.g. gradual change in flow and temperature compared to pulsed events), and the timing and sequence of individual pulsed stressors (e.g. flood pulses, heat waves, disease outbreaks) that may shape ecosystem processes.

Acknowledgements This review has been funded through projects of the Spanish Ministry of Science and Technology (CGL2007-65549/BOS), the VIECO programme (009/RN08/011) of the Spanish Ministry of the Environment and Rural and Marine Affairs, the Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria Foundation project GLOBRIO, and by the EC project MODELKEY (Contract 511237-2).

#### References

- Sala OE, Chapin FS, Armesto JJ et al (2000) Biodiversity–global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science 287:1770–1774
- 2. IPCC (2007) Climate change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Working Group II. Fourth Assessment Report, UNEP

- Barnett TP, Pierce DW, Hidalgo HG et al (2008) Human-induced changes in the hydrology of the Western United States. Science 319:1080–1083
- 4. Giorgi F, Lionello P (2008) Climate change projections for the Mediterranean region. Glob Planet Change 63:90–104
- Alcamo J, Flörke M, Märker M (2007) Future long-term changes in global water resources driven by socioeconomic and climatic change. Hydrol Sci J 52:247–275
- 6. Lehner B, Döll P, Alcamo J et al (2006) Estimating the impact of global change on flood and drought risks in Europe: a continental, integrated analysis. Clim Change 75:273–299
- 7. Domínguez-Castro F, Santisteban JI, Barriendos M et al (2008) Reconstruction of drought episodes for central Spain from rogation ceremonies recorded at the Toledo Cathedral from 1506 to 1900: a methodological approach. Glob Planet Change 63:230–242
- Rodrigo FS, Barriendos M (2008) Reconstruction of seasonal and annual rainfall variability in the Iberian peninsula (16th–20th centuries) from documentary data. Glob Planet Change 63:243–257
- 9. Gasith A, Resh VH (1999) Streams in Mediterranean climate regions: abiotic influences and biotic responses to predictable seasonal events. Ann Rev Ecol Syst 30:51–81
- Llasat MC, de Batlle J, Rigo T et al (2001) Las inundaciones del 10 de junio del 2000 en Cataluña. Ingen del Agua 8:53–66
- 11. Thorndycraft VR, Benito G, Rico M et al (2005) Long-term flood discharge record derived from slackwater flood deposits of the Llobregat River, NE Spain. J Hydrol 313:16–31
- Labat D, Godderis Y, Probst JL et al (2004) Evidence for global runoff increase related to climate warming. Adv Water Pollut Res 27:631–642
- Milly PCD, Dunne KA, Vecchia AV (2005) Global pattern of trends in streamflow and water availability in a changing climate. Nature 438:347–350
- 14. Werritty A (2002) Living with uncertainty: climate change, river flows and water resource management in Scotland. Sci Total Environ 294:29–40
- Environmental European Agency (2008) Impacts of Europe's changing climate–2008 indicator-based assessment. EEA Report 4/2008 & JRC Report JRC47756, Copenhagen
- Arthington AH, Bunn SE, LeRoy Poff N et al (2006) The challenge of providing environmental flow rules to sustain river ecosystems. Ecol Appl 16:1311–1318
- Tharme RE (2003) A global perspective on environmental flow assessment: emerging trends in the development and application of environmental flow methodologies for rivers. River Res Appl 19:397–441
- Nilsson C, Reidy CA, Dynesius M et al (2005) Fragmentation and flow regulation of the world's large river systems. Science 308:405–408
- Vörösmarty CJ, Sahagian D (2000) Anthropogenic disturbance of the terrestrial water cycle. Bioscience 50:753–765
- Dynesius M, Nilsson C (1994) Fragmentation and flow regulation of river systems in the Northern third of the World. Science 266:753–762
- Fu GB, Chen SL, Liu CM et al (2004) Hydro-climatic trends of the Yellow River basin for the last 50 years. Clim Change 65:149–178
- 22. Molles MC Jr, Crawford CS, Ellis LM et al (1998) Managed flooding for riparian ecosystem restoration. Bioscience 48:749–756
- 23. Bromley J, Cruces J, Acreman M et al (2001) Problems of sustainable groundwater management in an area of over-exploitation: the upper Guadiana catchment, central Spain. Int J Water Resour Dev 17:379–396
- 24. Henrichs T, Alcamo J (2001) Europe's water stress today and in the future. (http://www.usf. unikassel.de/usf/archiv/dokumente/kwws/5/ew\_5\_waterstress\_low.pdf)
- 25. Eisenreich SJ, et al (2005) Climate change and the European water dimension: a report to the European Water Directors, Ispra, Italy. http://natural-hazards.jrc.it
- 26. Tockner K, Robinson CT, Uehlinger U (2009) Rivers of Europe. Academic, New York
- 27. Tockner K, Lorang MS, Borchardt D, et al (2009) Multiple stressors in coupled river-flood plain ecosystems. Freshw Biol (in press)

- 28. Topaloğlu F (2006) Regional trend detection of Turkish river flow. Nord Hydrol 37:165-182
- 29. Skoulikidis NT, Economou AN, Gritzalis K et al (2009) Rivers of the Balkans. In: Tockner K, Robinson CT, Uehlinger U (eds) Rivers of Europe. Academic, New York, pp 421–466
- Smol JP, Douglas MSV (2007) Crossing the final ecological threshold in high Arctic ponds. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:12395–12397
- Mcmenamin SK, Hadly EA, Wright CK (2008) Climatic change and wetland desiccation cause amphibian decline in Yellowstone National Park. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105: 16988–16993
- Meyer JL, Strayer DL, Wallace JB, Eggert SL, Helfman GS, Leonard NE (2007) The contribution of headwater streams to biodiversity in river networks. J Am Water Resour Assoc 43:86–103
- Karaus U (2005) The ecology of lateral aquatic habitats along river corridors, PhD Dissertation, ETH Zurich, Switzerland
- 34. Gallart F, Llorens P (2004) Observations on land cover changes and the headwaters of the Ebro catchment, water resources in Iberian Peninsula. Phys Chem Earth 29:769–773
- Benejam L, Aparicio E, Vargas MJ et al (2008) Assessing fish metrics and biotic indices in a Mediterranean stream: effects of uncertain native status of fish. Hydrobiologia 603:197–210
  Margalef R (1997) Our biosphere. Ecology Institute, Oldendorf
- Sabater S (2008) Alterations of the global water cycle and their effects on river structure, function and services. Freshw Rev 1:75–88
- Hamilton SK, Bunn SE, Thoms MC et al (2005) Persistence of aquatic refugia between flow pulses in a dryland river system (Cooper Creek, Australia). Limnol Oceanogr 50:743–754
- Bernal S, Butturini A, Sabater F (2002) Variability of DOC and nitrate responses to storms in a small Mediterranean forested catchment. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 6:1031–1041
- 40. Romani AM, Vazquez E, Butturini A (2006) Microbial availability and size fractionation of dissolved organic carbon after drought in an intermittent stream: biogeochemical link across the stream–Riparian interface. Microb Ecol 52:501–512
- 41. Artigas J, Romani AM, Gaudes A, et al (2009) Benthic structure and metabolism in a Mediterranean stream: from biological communities to the whole stream ecosystem function. Fresh. Biol. 54: DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02140.x
- 42. Mitchell MJ, Bailey SW, Shanley JB et al (2008) Evaluating sulfur dynamics during storm events for three watersheds in the northeastern USA: a combined hydrological, chemical and isotopic approach. Hydrol Process 22:4023–4034
- Pinay G, Clement JC, Naiman RJ (2002) Basic principles and ecological consequences of changing water regimes on nitrogen cycling in fluvial systems. Environ Manage 30: 481–491
- 44. Triska FJ, Kennedy VC, Avanzino RJ et al (1989) Retention and transport of nutrients in a third-order stream: hyporheic processes. Ecology 70:1892–1905
- Beven KJ, Kirkby MJ (1979) A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology. Hydrol Sci Bull 24:43–69
- Holmes RM, Fisher SG, Grimm NB (1994) Parafluvial nitrogen dynamics in a desert stream ecosystem. J North Am Benthol Soc 13:468–478
- Sabater S, Vilalta E, Gaudes A et al (2003) Ecological implications of mass growth of benthic cyanobacteria in rivers. Aquat Microb Ecol 32:175–184
- Baldwin DS, Mitchell AM (2000) The effects of drying and re-flooding on the sediment and soil nutrient dynamics of lowland river-floodplain systems: a synthesis. Regul Rivers Res Manage 16:457–467
- 49. McCclain ME, Richey JE, Pimentel TP (2003) Biogeochemical hot spots and hot moments at the interface of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Ecosystems 6:301–312
- 50. Biggs BJ, Close ME (1989) Periphyton biomass dynamics in gravel bed rivers: the relative effects of flows and nutrients. Freshw Biol 22:209–231
- Sabater S, Armengol J, Sabater F et al (2000) Algal biomass in a disturbed Atlantic river: water quality relationships and environmental implications. Sci Total environ 263:185–195

- 52. Lake PS (2003) Ecological effects of perturbation by drought in flowing waters. Freshw Biol 48:1161–1172
- Morison MO, Sheath RG (1985) Responses to desiccation stress by Klebsormidium rivulare (Ulotricales, Chlorophyta) from a Rhode Island stream. Phycologia 24:129–145
- 54. Margalef R (1983) Limnología. Omega, Barcelona
- 55. Romaní AM, Sabater S (1997) Metabolism recovery of a stromatolitic biofilm after drought in a Mediterranean stream. Arch Hydrobiol 140(2):261–271
- 56. Stanley EH, Fisher SG, Jones JB (2004) Effects of water loss on primary production: a landscape-scale model. Aquat Sci 66:130–138
- 57. Robson BJ, Matthews TG, Lind PR et al (2008) Pathways for algal recolonization in seasonally-flowing streams. Freshw Biol 53:2385–2401
- Matthews WJ, Marsh-Matthews E (2003) Effects of drought on fish across axes of space, time and ecological complexity. Freshw Biol 48:1232–1253
- 59. Chergui H, Haddy L, Markaoui M et al (1997) Impact des produits de lessivage de feuilles mortes sur la teneur en oxygène de l'eau et sur la survie d'un gastéropode. Acta Oecologica 18:531–542
- Boulton AJ, Lake PS (1992) The ecology of two intermittent streams in Victoria, Australia. II Comparisons of faunal composition between habitats, rivers and years. Freshw Biol 27:99–121
- Acuña V, Muñoz I, Giorgi A et al (2005) Drought and postdrought recovery cycles in an intermittent Mediterranean stream: structural and functional aspects. J North Am Benthol Soc 24:919–933
- Boulton AJ (2003) Parallels and contrasts in the effects of drought on stream macroinvertebrate assemblages. Freshw Biol 48:1173–1185
- 63. Sabater S, Bernal S, Butturini A et al (2001) Wood and leaf debris input in a Mediterranean stream: the influence of riparian vegetation. Arch Hydrobiol 153:91–102
- 64. Pinay G, Décamps H, Chauvet E et al (1990) Functions of ecotones in fluvial systems. In: Naiman RJ, Décamps H (eds) The ecology and management of aquatic-terrestrial ecotones. Parthenon, Carnforth, UK, pp 141–169
- 65. Pinay G, O'Keefe T, Edwards R et al (2003) Potential denitrification activity in the landscape of a western Alaska drainage basin. Ecosystems 6:336–343
- 66. Williams DD, Hynes HBN (1977) The ecology of temporary streams. II. General remarks on temporary streams. Int Revue ges Hydrobiol 62:53–61
- 67. Lancaster J, Belyea LR (1997) Nested hierarchies and scale-dependence of mechanisms of flow refugium use. J North Am Benthol Soc 16:221–238
- Towns DR (1983) Terrestrial oviposition by two species of caddisfly in South Australia (Trichoptera: Leptoceridae). J Aust Entomol Soc 22:113–118
- 69. Balcombe SR, Arthington AA (2009) Temporal changes in fish abundance in response to hyrological variability in a dryland floodplain riber. Mar Freshw Res 60:146–159
- Strayer DL (2006) Challenges for freshwater invertebrate conservation. J North Am Benthol Soc 25:271–287
- Pringle CM (1997) Exploring how disturbance is transmitted upstream: going against the flow. J North Am Benthol Soc 16:425–438
- 72. Mas-Martí E, García-Berthou E, Sabater S, Tomanova S, Muñoz I (2009) Effects of flow temporality on fish assemblage and trophic ecology, Hydrobiologia (in press)
- Magoulick DD, Kobza RM (2003) The role of refugia for fishes during drought: a review and synthesis. Freshw Biol 48:1186–1198
- 74. Haidekker A, Hering D (2008) Relationship between benthic insects (Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Coleoptera, Trichoptera) and temperature in small and medium-sized streams in Germany: a multivariate study. Aquat Sci 42:463–481
- Larned ST, Datry T, Robinson C (2007) Invertebrate and microbial reponses to inundation in an ephemeral river reach in New Zealand: effects of preceding dry periods. Aquat Sci 69:554–567

- 76. Magalhaes MF, Beja P, Schlosser IJ et al (2007) Effects of multi-year droughts on fish assemblages of seasonally drying Mediterranean streams. Freshw Biol 52:1494–1510
- 77. Ballinger A, Lake PS (2006) Energy and nutrient fluxes from rivers and streams into terrestrial food webs. Mar Freshw Res 57:15–28
- Schief J, Mutz M (2009) Effects of sudden flow reduction on the decomposition of alder leaves (Alnus glutinosa L (Gaertn.)) in a temperate lowland stream. A mesocosm study. Hydrobiologia 624:205–217
- Langhans SD, Tockner K (2006) The role of timing, duration, and frequency of inundation in controlling leaf-litter decomposition in a river-floodplain ecosystem (Tagliamento, NE Italy). Oecologia 147:501–509
- 80. Wishart MJ (2000) The terrestrial invertebrate fauna of a temporary stream in southern Africa. Afr Zool 35:193–200
- Paetzold A, Bernet J, Tockner K (2006) Rapid response of riparian arthropods to aquatic subsidy pulses. Freshw Biol 51:1103–1115
- Reid DJ, Quinn GP, Lake PS et al (2008) Terrestrial detritus supports the food webs in lowland intermittent streams of south-eastern Australia: a stable isotope study. Freshw Biol 53:2036–2050
- Balcombe SR, Arthington AA, Bunn SE et al (2005) Variability of fish diets between dry and flood periods in an arid zone river. J Fish Biol 67:1552–1567
- 84. Millenium Assessment (2005) Ecosystems and human well-being. Synthesis, Millenium ecosystem assessment
- 85. Kemp WM, Smith EM, Marvin-DiPasquale M et al (1997) Organic carbon balance and net ecosystem metabolism in Chesapeake Bay. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 150:229–248
- Sabater S, Butturini A, Clement JC et al (2003) Nitrogen removal by riparian buffers along a European climatic gradient: patterns and factors of variation. Ecosystems 6:20–30
- 87. Pinna M, Basset A (2004) Summer drought disturbance on plat detritus decomposition processes in three river Tirso (Sardinia, Italy) sub-basins. Hydrobiologia 522:311–319
- Claret C, Boulton AJ (2003) Diel variation in surface and subsurface microbial activity along a gradient of drying in an Australian sand-bed stream. Freshw Biol 48:1739–1755
- Acuña V, Giorgi A, Muñoz I et al (2004) Flow extremes and benthic organic matter shape the metabolism of a headwater Mediterranean stream. Freshw Biol 49:960–971
- Vives I, Grimalt JO, Ventura M et al (2005) Age dependence of the accumulation of organochlorine pollutants in brown trout (Salmo trutta) from a remote high mountain lake (Redó, Pyrenees). Environ Pollut 133:343–350
- Muñoz I, López-Doval J, Ricart M, et al (2009) Bridging levels of pharmaceuticals with biological community structure in the Llobregat river basin (NE Spain) Environ Toxicol Chem 28, 12. DOI: 10.1897/08-486.1
- 92. Bertoldi W, Gurnell AM, Surian N, et al (2009) Linking hydrology, geomorphology and ecology of a multi-thread river: time scales of variability and change on the Tagliamento River as a reference for river restoration. River Res Appl 25:501–516
- Bronmark C, Herrman J, Malmqvist B et al (1984) Animal community structure as a function of stream size. Hydrobiologia 112:73–79
- 94. Welcomme RL (1979) Fisheries ecology of flood plain rivers. Longman, London, UK
- Xenopoulos MA, Lodge DM (2006) Going with the flow: using species-discharge relationships to forecast losses in fish biodiversity. Ecology 87:1907–1914
- 96. Evanno G, Castella E, Antoine C et al (2009) Parallel changes in genetic diversity and species diversity following a natural disturbance. Mol Ecol 18:1137–1144
- 97. Thomaz S, Bini L, Bozelli R (2007) Floods increase similarity among aquatic habitats in river-floodplain systems. Hydrobiologia 579:1–13
- Pusch M, Andersen HE, Bäthe J et al (2009) Rivers of the Central European highlands and plains. In: Tockner K, Robinson CT, Uehlinger U (eds) Rivers of Europe. Academic Press, New York, pp 525–576

- European Environment Agency (EEA) (2008) Impacts of Europe's changing climate–2008 indicator-based assessment. EEA Report 4/2008 & JRC Report JRC47756, Copenhagen, p. 244
- 100. Akbulut N, Bayari S, Akbulut A (2009) Rivers of Turkey. In: Tockner K, Robinson CT, Uehlinger U (eds) Rivers of Europe. Academic, New York, pp 643–672
- 101. Busch DE (1995) Effects of fire on southwestern riparian plant community structure. Southwestern Naturalist 40:259–267

# Metal Ecotoxicology in Fluvial Biofilms: Potential Influence of Water Scarcity

Helena Guasch, Alexandra Serra, Natàlia Corcoll, Berta Bonet, and Manel Leira

Abstract Human activity is responsible for the entrance of toxic substances into aquatic ecosystems. These substances entail a risk for the components of the ecosystem (toxicological stress). As a result of global change, aquatic ecosystems are under strong environmental stress due to changes in water flow or nutrient concentration among others. This chapter presents a review of experimental and field studies addressing metal effects on fluvial biofilms and their implications for understanding the potential influence of water scarcity on the fate and effects of metals in fluvial systems. Water scarcity might increase metal exposure (due to low dilution), uptake (due to higher retention under low flow), toxicity and/or accumulation (depending on the dose and time of exposure) but may also cause opposite effects depending on the source of pollution. In addition, the influence that water scarcity might have on nutrient loads will also modulate the fate and effects of metals. Future studies addressing the role of environmental stress on the effects of toxicants at a community scale will be fundamental to predict the impact of toxicants in the aquatic ecosystems.

**Keywords** Community ecotoxicology, Fluvial biofilm, Metal pollution, Nutrients, Water scarcity

H. Guasch (Z), A. Serra, N. Corcoll, and B. Bonet

Facultat de Ciències, Institut d'Ecologia Aquàtica, Campus Montilivi, 17071, Girona, Spain e-mail: helena.guasch@udg.es

M. Leira

Faculty of Sciences, University of A Coruña, Campus da Zapateira, 15071, A Coruña, Spain

#### Contents

1	Introduction	42	
2	Linkage Between Hydrology and Metals in Rivers	43	
3	Biofilms and Metals: A Community Level Ecotoxicology Approach 44		
4	Environmental Factors Influencing Metal Retention, Availability and Toxicity	45	
	4.1 Metal Bioavailability	45	
	4.2 Metal Toxicity	46	
	4.3 Influence of Nutrients on Metal Availability and Toxicity	48	
	4.4 Metal Retention	48	
5	Metal Fate and Effects in Different Metal Exposure Scenarios	48	
6	Conclusions and Perspectives	50	
Ret	ferences	. 50	

### 1 Introduction

Aquatic systems are affected by many disturbances driven by local and global changes giving rise to dramatic variations in flow, light regime, water temperature or nutrient concentration [1]. For instance, water scarcity might be very critical in terms of water pollution due to the lowered dilution capacity of chemicals ([2,3]. This situation is of special concern in the Mediterranean region where scenarios of water scarcity are predicted for areas where human pressure is also high and is responsible for the entrance of many substances to the aquatic environment. In fluvial systems, these substances could be transported and/or retained in the sediment, affecting other components of the ecosystem [4].

In aquatic ecosystems, the elevated concentrations of metals are cause for environmental concern because of their potential toxicity and trophic transfer. Metal concentration is variable in time and space depending on the source of pollution (diffuse or point-source), the hydrological regime and the processes affecting their transfer from the water phase to other compartments. Based on this framework, it might be expected that water scarcity, understood as the period when surface water flow is well below average flow conditions, will also cause remarkable changes on the fate and effects of heavy metals at the ecosystem scale. Furthermore, the duration and frequency of water scarcity episodes is also important since metal bioaccumulation and toxicity are strongly influenced by the time of exposure.

In this chapter we present a review of experimental and field studies addressing metal effects on fluvial biofilms in relation to the potential influence of water scarcity on the fate and effects of metals in fluvial systems. Four aspects are specifically addressed: (1) the influence of discharge on metal pollution, (2) the use of biofilms to investigate the fate and effects of metals on fluvial systems, (3) the environmental factors influencing metal toxicity, and (4) the prediction of metal fate and toxicological effects under different heavy metal exposure scenarios differing in their origin, magnitude and duration.

#### 2 Linkage Between Hydrology and Metals in Rivers

Metal concentration can vary due to several chemical, biological and hydrological processes. Based on recent modeling of metal fate and transport in streams [5], higher metal concentration is predicted during low flow (mostly for Zn). This tendency is common in mining areas where metal concentration is in general lowest at highest discharges due to dilution. The river Nent in UK [2], the riou Mort in France [6], streams draining the Cu-Zn belt of Sierra Nevada in California [7] and the North Fork Clear Creek in Colorado [8] fit into this category. Differences in metal concentration between the dry and rainy season in other stream types (such as those influenced by urban and agricultural activities, [9]) have also been attributed to dilution, although other studies report no linkage between discharge and metal pollution (i.e. [10]).

Sediments have a key role in metal transport and deposition. In the study of suspended sediment yield and metal contamination in a catchment affected by gold mining activities (Puyango river, Ecuador), Tarras-Wahlberg and Lane [11] provided evidence that environmental impacts of mining-related discharges are more likely to be severe during dry years compared to wet years, since metal-contaminated sediments are stored in the river bed during low flow periods. Besser et al. [12] indicated sediment transport as the main reason why lead bioaccumulation was highest in drought years in streams from the New Lead Belt in Missouri.

Metal fate and transport models [5] predict maximum concentration peaks in the early high flow period of a storm event and also predict that large metal loads might be transported during extreme events (floods). The first prediction is usually observed in urban areas in the so-called urban runoff [13]. In the Santa Monica Bay, California, storm water inputs are a large source of pollutants (also metals) discharged to receiving waters around the country [14, 15]. Meylan et al. [16] reported a marked increase in dissolved metal concentration (Zn, Cu) after rain events in the Furtbach stream in Switzerland. This increase was attributed to the release of historically contaminated sediments.

The second prediction reported above has been described in a study of metal contamination in sediments of the river Odra in Germany [17], where the highest metal levels were measured in the flood year (1997). In this case the flood had mobilized heavily contaminated sediments in upstream reaches, and transported them downstream where parts were settled. Butler et al. [8] observed that storm events may cause either decreases in dissolved metal concentration due to dilution, or increases due to flushing of acid mine drainage. Conversely, the particulate fraction usually increased after storm events due to scouring and resuspension of bed sediments and/or washing of bank materials. The same study reported that the relevance of a flow increase on metal transport was much higher after a drought. These predictions and the related results suggest that the expected effects of rising global change on fluvial hydrology will also cause remarkable changes on the fate and effects of heavy metals at the ecosystem scale.



Fig. 1 Scheme illustrating the influence of water discharge (y axis) and solute concentration (metals and nutrients on the x axis) on in-stream retention efficiency measured on the basis of the nutrient spiraling concept. The most remarkable Metal (M) effects on biofilms are indicated in the boxes

The linkage between hydrology and metal retention in fluvial systems has been poorly addressed. Some studies have indicated that water velocity may influence Cu toxicity [18]. Cu retention was investigated by Serra et al. [19] applying the concepts and methodologies of nutrient dynamics in rivers based on the nutrient spiraling theory. Cu retention at subtoxic concentrations (to avoid negative/lethal effects on biota) was compared with phosphate dynamics. Higher retention efficiency was observed for  $PO_4^{3-}$  than for Cu. The biota played a key role in retaining both solutes, but, its influence was more pronounced for  $PO_4^{3-}$  Finally, the retention efficiency for both solutes was influenced by the hydrology of the system, lower retention efficiencies occurring under higher flow conditions (Fig. 1). These results highlight that metal dynamics in fluvial systems may be strongly influenced by the prevailing environmental conditions, especially water hydrology, which modulate significantly their transport and biotic retention.

## **3** Biofilms and Metals: A Community Level Ecotoxicology Approach

Fluvial biofilms (also known as phytobenthos or periphyton) are attached communities consisting of bacteria, algae and fungi embedded within a polysaccharide matrix [20]. In rivers, these communities are the first to interact with dissolved substances such as nutrients, organic matter, and toxicants. Biofilms can actively influence the sorption, desorption and decomposition of pollutants [21]. Fluvial biofilms, despite being relatively simple and easy to investigate compared to other communities (i.e. macroinvertebrate or fish communities), provide a perspective of community ecotoxicology [22, 23]. In contrast to single-species tests, ecotoxicological studies with fluvial biofilms involve a higher degree of ecological realism, allowing the simultaneous exposure of many species [24]. It is possible to investigate acute effects [21, 25]; and also the response after chronic exposure [26, 27], including the evaluation of direct and indirect toxic effects [28]. Exposure might be done under controlled experimental conditions in micro/ mesocosms [29] or in the field where the response can be evaluated under real exposure conditions [30, 31].

Fluvial biofilms have a high capacity to accumulate heavy metals from the surrounding environment [32, 33]. In general, the kinetics of metal accumulation involves two main processes: a rapid adsorption of the metal ions to the polysaccharide matrix and the surface of cells, which is a metabolism-independent step, and slower intracellular uptake, which depends on the metabolism of the organism [34, 35]. Once entering the cell, the heavy metal ions may either be detoxified or adversely affect cell processes such as photosynthesis and cell division [36]. Control of metal uptake, excretion of accumulated metals and intracellular or extra cellular immobilization of accumulated metals are the main mechanisms that may operate alone or in concert to protect algae from toxic effects [37]. Metals, once inside the cells, may be detoxified by accumulation in polyphosphate bodies and in intracellular metal-binding proteins [38], and within the vacuoles of some eukaryotic algae [32]. Moreover, not only can heavy metal accumulation exert numerous toxic effects on the individual organism itself, but it may also give rise to effects community-wide or in populations . Through the accumulation of metals in fluvial biofilms, metals may be transferred to higher trophic levels of the fluvial food webs [39].

## 4 Environmental Factors Influencing Metal Retention, Availability and Toxicity

#### 4.1 Metal Bioavailability

Several factors can influence metal uptake by stream autotrophic biofilms in fluvial systems. These include chemical factors (pH, salinity, phosphate concentration) which affect metal bioavailability by either altering the speciation of the metal or by complexing it at the biofilm's matrix and cell surfaces [18, 40], and also other biological and physical factors.

The chemical speciation of the metal is defined as its distribution among different phases and different dissolved forms. When heavy metals enter aquatic

systems, they can stay in several phases; in solution as free ions, as soluble salt, be associated with dissolved inorganic or organic ligands, or can be bound to particulate matter. All these metal species are following chemical equilibria that regulate the concentration of the free metal ion as well as all the metal complexes [16]. Metal speciation determines bioavailability and toxicity of trace metals to aquatic microorganisms [41].

Among the physical factors, current velocity has a special significance for benthic biofilms because it can modulate the diffusion of metals through the biofilm and their effects [18, 40]. pH and organic complexation are particularly significant for metal bioavailability [42]. Therefore, metal toxicity will also depend on the influence that environmental variability has on its bioavailability.

#### 4.2 Metal Toxicity

Sensitivity of biofilms to metals will vary in a wide range depending on many environmental conditions and biotic factors. The thickness and nature of the biofilms (biomass accumulation, polysaccharide abundance in the matrix) is of considerable significance ([43, 44]) for metal toxicity. Furthermore, the duration and frequency of high metal concentration episodes is of great relevance since metal bioaccumulation and toxicity are strongly influenced by the time of exposure. Acute metal toxicity on biofilms is usually found at concentrations higher than those described in free-living organisms (Table 1). This difference relies on the structure of biofilms, that reduces the penetration of solutes into the cells [45, 46]. On the other hand, longer metal exposures will allow the metals to reach the different types of organisms embedded in the biofilm, increasing metal toxicity [47]. Since the different species of algae and bacteria found in a biofilm may differ in their metal sensitivity, it is also expected that chronic exposure to low metal concentrations may lead to changes in their competitive interactions producing community changes (Table 1).

The influence of the exposure time on Cu accumulation kinetics and toxicity in fluvial biofilms was experimentally investigated [35]. Biofilms differing in their Cu-exposure history (unexposed, acute exposure and chronic exposure) were investigated. Marked differences between the effects of pulsed and chronic exposure were observed. Biofilms that had been continuously exposed to Cu (ca. 30  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> Cu), differed from those being unexposed and those receiving pulses in their species composition (due to the replacement of sensitive algal classes by tolerant ones) and also on their metal content, which was several orders of magnitude higher after chronic exposure. The nonexposed and the acutely exposed communities were more sensitive to Cu than the chronically exposed community. It was concluded that acute exposure may lead to transitory inhibitory effects if the community had not been previously adapted. On the other hand, chronic exposure may lead to high metal bioaccumulation and community adaptation.

Metal	Test	Effects	Source
Cu	Acute toxicity on biofilms	EC <sub>50</sub> ( <sup>14</sup> C): 20–50 (spring) 100–350 (summer)	Field samples Ter river <sup>a</sup>
		EC <sub>50</sub> (Y): 230 (low P) 718 (high P)	Fluvial microcosms <sup>b</sup>
		EC <sub>50</sub> (Fo) 56–92 (low P) 196–206 (high P)	Field samples <sup>c</sup>
	Chronic effects on biofilms	EC <sub>50</sub> (Fo): 57–90 EC <sub>50</sub> (Y): 290–390	Fluvial microcosms (high P) <sup>d</sup>
		$EC_{50}$ (biovolume): 16 $EC_{50}$ (chl-a): 9.7	Fluvial microcosms (low P) <sup>e</sup>
		63.5 change spp. Cu, Zn, Ni, Ag tolerance	Outdoor fluvial mesocosms, (low P) <sup>f</sup>
	Algal cultures	21–207	Toxicity standards <sup>g</sup>
Zn	Acute toxicity on	Effect $>65 \times 10^3$	Field samples Dommel, metal
	biofilms	Bacteria more sensitive than algae	polluted river <sup>h</sup>
		EC <sub>50</sub> ( <sup>14</sup> C): 19–195 × 10 <sup>3</sup> EC <sub>50</sub> (thym): 7–17 × 10 <sup>3</sup>	Field samples <sup>1, J</sup>
	Chronic effects on biofilms	EC <sub>50</sub> : 6–25 indirect effects EC <sub>50</sub> : 50–2500 direct effects	Fluvial microcosms (low P) <sup>k</sup>
		Changed algal species >50	Experimental stream <sup>1</sup>
	Algal cultures	15	Toxicity standards <sup>g</sup>
Cd	Acute toxicity on biofilms	$EC_{50}$ (Y): 3.4 × 10 <sup>3</sup> high UVR 9 × 10 <sup>3</sup> low UVR	Fluvial microcosms <sup>1</sup>
	Chronic effects on biofilms	10 effects on settlement 100 biomass, change spp.	Fluvial microcosms (high P) <sup>n, o</sup>
	Algal cultures	13–341	Toxicity standards <sup>g</sup>
<sup>a</sup> [31] <sup>b</sup> [51]			
<sup>c</sup> [48]			
<sup>d</sup> [52]			
<sup>e</sup> [53]			
<sup>f</sup> [54]			
<sup>g</sup> [55]			
<sup>n</sup> [44]			

Table 1 Summary of metal concentrations (in  $\mu g L^{-1}$  of total metal concentration) causing toxicity on fluvial biofilms (in terms of effective concentrations:  $EC_{50}$ ) after acute exposure (of faw hours of exposure) and chronic exposure (of several weeks of ex

<sup>i</sup>[47] <sup>j</sup>[25] <sup>k</sup>[28] <sup>1</sup>[56]

<sup>m</sup>[57] <sup>n</sup>[26]

 $^{o}[34]$  \*Measured end points are photosynthesis as the incorporation of radiolabelled  $\rm H^{14}CO3~(^{14}C)$  and bacterial activity as the incorporation of radiolabelled thymidine (thym); fluorometric measurements: basal fluorescence (Fo) and photon yield (Y); chlorophyll-a concentration (chl-a); species composition (spp) and the biovolume of algae obtained after algal counting (biovolume)

#### 4.3 Influence of Nutrients on Metal Availability and Toxicity

Since metal pollution is often associated with eutrophic conditions in the aquatic ecosystems, it is relevant to understand the interaction between nutrients and metal toxicity. Differences in sensitivity to metals obtained in different field and experimental studies highlight the significance of phosphate (P) on metal toxicity on fluvial biofilms (Table 1). The interaction between nutrients and copper (Cu) toxicity was investigated in field and laboratory experiments [48]. It was shown that the sensitivity of fluvial biofilms to Cu followed the gradient of eutrophy (basically driven by phosphate). Communities from oligotrophic sites were more sensitive to Cu than communities developed under more eutrophic conditions. Furthermore, P supply increased the tolerance of the communities developed under low P conditions, but did not enhance the tolerance of those developed under higher P conditions. Additional experiments performed with algal cultures showed that high P conditions during growth, as well as the presence of P in the media during the toxicity tests led to an increase in copper tolerance of the algae of the same magnitude as the previously studied field communities. These results indicated that P is one of the main factors determining Cu toxicity on fluvial biofilms. It is expected that accidental or point-source metal pollution in fluvial systems will have greater negative impact in pristine rivers, since Cu toxicity is expected to be maximum due to P-limitation.

#### 4.4 Metal Retention

In addition to water discharge, pre-exposure conditions are also expected to modulate solute biotic retention (Fig. 1). The results obtained using constant-rate additions [49], showed that in-stream metal retention was reduced after chronic Cu exposure of the community and this was explained by the possible saturation of metal binding sites produced by the Cu pre-exposure. Similar results have been described for phosphate. Nutrient dynamics studies [50] concluded that phosphate was retained more efficiently in oligotrophic than eutrophic systems. If metals are entering the fluvial systems together with nutrients (as is the case of urban and industrial watersheds) Cu toxicity is expected to be counterbalanced by phosphate contributing to metal adaptation and high bioaccumulation. On the other hand, sensitivity to metals and retention efficiency are expected to be maximum in unpolluted areas under low flow conditions (Fig. 1).

## 5 Metal Fate and Effects in Different Metal Exposure Scenarios

The relationship between discharge and metal pollution may differ depending on the type of pollution, whether it originates from point sources or whether it is diffuse. Two hypothetical cases addressing the influence of hydrology on the fate **Table 2** Fate and effects of metals in a stream receiving a point-source of metals (upper part of the table) or diffuse input via urban runoff (lower part of the table). Summary of the expected influence of four different hydrological situations: base-flow in a rainy period; a flood after a rainy period; low-flow after a long period of low rainfall (water scarcity) and a flood produced after this drought. Metal concentration (M); metal retention efficiency (measured on the basis of the nutrient spiraling concept); exposure (dose and duration); bioaccumulation (in fluvial biofilms) and metal sensitivity (of biofilms)

		After high rainfall		After low rainfall	
		Base-flow	Flood	Low-flow	Flood
Point-source: stream receiving	Metals (M) Metal retention	$\uparrow\uparrow\\\uparrow$	$\begin{array}{c} \downarrow \downarrow \\ \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \\ \end{array}$	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow *$	$\stackrel{\downarrow}{\downarrow}\stackrel{\downarrow}{\downarrow}\downarrow\downarrow$
a metal polluted	Exposure	Chronic	Short	Chronic	Short
tributary		Low dose	Very low dose	Higher dose	Very low dose
	Bioaccumulation	High	No	Very high*	No
	Metal sensitivity	Low	Low	Very low	Very low
Diffuse source: stream receiving	Metals (M) Metal retention	(adaptation) Variable ↑	(adaptation) ↑ ↓	$\begin{array}{c} (adaptation) \\ \downarrow \downarrow \\ \uparrow \uparrow \end{array}$	(adaptation) $\uparrow \uparrow *$
urban runoff	Exposure	Variable	Short High dose	No-exposure	Short Very high dose
	Bioaccumulation	High	Medium	No	Medium
	Metal sensitivity	Low (adaptation)	Low (adaptation)	High	High*

<sup>\*</sup>Highlights the worst scenario in terms of metal pollution effects on fluvial biofilms

and effects of metals in fluvial systems are presented in Table 2. In each case, four different scenarios are theoretically explored: base-flow in a rainy period; a flood after a rainy period; low-flow after a long period of low rainfall (water scarcity) and a flood produced after this drought.

The first case is based on a hypothetical stream receiving a metal-polluted source (for instance the outlet of a metal factory). In this case, metal concentration is expected to be driven by dilution, being higher under low-flow than under base-flow conditions and minimum during floods. Metal accumulation is expected to be maximum under low-flow conditions and proportional to the duration of this water scarcity situation. Chronic exposure will lead to community adaptation, which is often related to changes in species composition. Metals will therefore be bioaccumulated in fluvial biofilms and transferred to higher trophic levels in the fluvial food web.

The second case (Table 2) illustrates a hypothetic urban stream receiving both metals and nutrients mainly via urban runoff. Since urban runoff is directly linked with rainfall episodes, metal inputs and exposure will be variable under base-flow during a rainy period and very low under a situation of water scarcity (low rain and low-flow). In this case, a sudden flow increase after strong rains may cause contrasting effects on water metal transport depending on the previous situation. If previous rains have already washed the metals retained in land and sediments, the

subsequent discharge increase will transport only low amounts of suspended and dissolved metals. After a long drought, a flood will mobilize the accumulated metals and dissolved metal concentration in water may also increase. In this specific scenario, metal toxicity can be very high since periphyton growth in the previous water scarcity period was under low metal exposure (no adaptation) and low nutrient availability (no nutrient-metal interaction).

#### 6 Conclusions and Perspectives

Human activity is responsible for the entrance of toxic substances into the aquatic ecosystems. These substances entail a risk for the components of the ecosystem (toxicological stress). As a result of the global change, aquatic ecosystems are under strong environmental stress due to changes, among others, in water flow or nutrient concentration. This makes new assessment methods to balance these stresses necessary. At present, the environmental risk assessment of these toxic compounds is based mostly on results obtained from standardized toxicity tests, having low ecological relevance. Development of in situ community-level bioindication (as for example, based on biofilms) is a relevant and complementary way for risk assessment.

Overall the results reported in this review indicate that water scarcity might increase metal exposure (due to low dilution), metal uptake (due to higher retention under low flow), and metal toxicity and/or accumulation (depending on the dose and time of exposure), but also might cause opposite effects depending on the source of pollution. In addition, water scarcity will influence nutrient loads and will also modulate the fate and effects of metals. Thus, future studies addressing the role of environmental stress on the effects of toxicants at community scale are key to predict the impact of toxicants in the aquatic ecosystems.

Acknowledgments The "Serveis Científics i Tècnics" at the University of Girona provided its facilities and technical help for ICP-MS metal analysis. The research was funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Education (FLUVIALFITOMARC CGL2006-12785), and the EC Sixth Framework Program (MODELKEY 511237-2 GOCE and KEYBIOEFFECTS MRTN-CT-2006-035695).

#### References

- 1. Allan JD (2004) Landscapes and riverscapes: the influence of land use on stream ecosystems. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 35:257
- Armitage PD, Bowes MJ, Vincet HM (2007) Long-term changes in macroinvertebrate communities of a heavily metal polluted stream: the river Went (Cumbria, U.K.) after 28 years. River Res Appl 23:997

- 3. Sanchez E, Gallardo C, Gaertner MA, Arribas A, Castro M (2004) Future climate extreme events in the Mediterranean simulated by a regional climate model: a first approach. Global Planet Change 44:163
- Guo L, Kelley K, Goh KS (2007) Evaluation of sources and loadings of pesticidas to the Sacrameto river, California, USA, during a storm event of winter. Environ Toxicol Chem 26:2274
- Caruso BS, Cox LTJ, Runkel RL, Velleux ML, Bencala KE, Nordstrom DK, Julien PY, Butler BA, Alpers CN, Marion A, Smith KS (2008) Metals fate and transport modelling in streams and watersheds: state of the science and SEPA workshop review. Hydrol Process 22:4011
- Coynel A, Schäfer J, Dabrin A, Girardot N, Blanc G (2007) Groundwater contributions to metal transport in a small river affected by mining and smelting waste. Wat Res 41:3420
- 7. Bambic DG, Alpers CN, Green PG, Fanellid E, Silo WK (2006) Seasonal and spatial patterns of metals at a restored copper mine site. I. Stream copper and zinc. Environ Poll 144:774
- 8. Butler AB, Ranville JF, Ross PE (2008) Observed and modeled seasonal trends in dissolved and particulate Cu, Fe, and Zn in a mining-impacted stream. Wat Res 42:3135
- Fianko JR, Osae S, Adomako D, Adotey DK, Serfor-Armah Y (2007) Assessment of heavy metal pollution of the iture estuary in the central region of Ghana. Environ Monit Assess 131:467
- Benson NU, Etesin UM (2008) Metal contamination of surface water, sediment and *Tympanotonus fuscatus* var. *radula* of Iko River and environmental impact due to Utapete gas flare station, Nigeria. Environmentalist 28:195
- Tarras-Wahlberg NH, Lane SN (2003) Suspended sediment yield and metal contamination in a river catchment affected by El Niño events and gold mining activities: the Puyango river basin, southern Ecuador. Hydrol Process 17:3101
- Besser JM, Brumbaugh WG, May TW, Schmitt CJ (2007) Biomonitoring of lead, zinc, and cadmium in streams draining lead-mining and non-mining areas, Southeast Missouri, USA. Environ Monit Assess 129:227
- Brown JN, Peacke BM (2006) Sources of heavy metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban stormwater runoff. Sci Tot Environ 59:145
- Bay S, Jones HB, Schiff K, Washburn L (2003) Water quality impacts of stormwater discharges to Santa Monica Bay. Mar Environ Res 56:205
- Schiff K, Bay S, Diehl D (2003) Stormwater toxicity in Chollas Creek and San Diego Bay, California. Environ Monit Assess 81:119
- 16. Meylan S, Behra R, Sigg L (2003) Accumulation of Cu and Zn in periphyton in response to dynamic variations of metal speciation in freshwater. Environ Sci Technol 37:5204
- Muller A, Heininger P, Wessels M, Pelzer J, Grünwald K, Pfitzner S, Berger M (2002) Contaminant levels and ecotoxicological effects in sediments of the river Odra. Acta Hydrochim Hydrobiol 30:244–255
- Sabater S, Navarro E, Guasch H (2002) Effects of copper on algal communities at different current velocities. J Appl Phycol 14:391
- Serra A, Guasch H, Martí E, Geiszinger A (2009) Measuring in-stream retention of copper by means of constant rate additions. Sci Tot Environ 407:3847
- Boeije GM, Schowanek DR, Vanrilleghem A (2000) Incorporation of biofilm activity in river biodegradation modeling: a case study for linear alkylbenzene sulphonate (LAS). Wat Res 34:1479
- 21. Behra R, Landwehrjohann R, Vogel K, Wagner B, Sigg L (2002) Copper and Zinc content of periphyton from two rivers as function of dissolved metal concentration. Aquat Sci 64:300
- 22. Clements WH, Newman MC (2002) In: Newman MC (ed) Community ecotoxicology, hierarchical ecotoxicology series. Wiley, New York, p 336
- 23. Sabater S, Guasch H, Ricart M, Romaní AM, Vidal G, Klünder C, Schmitt-Jansen M (2007) Monitoring the effect of chemicals on biological communities. The biofilm as an interface. Anal Bioanal Chem 387:1425

- McClellan K, Altenburger R, Schmitt-Jansen M (2008) Pollution-induced community tolerance as a measure of species interaction in toxicity assessment. J Appl Ecol 45:1514
- 25. Blanck H, Admiraal W, Cleven RFMJ, Guasch H, van den Hoop MAGT, Ivorra N, Nyström B, Paulsson M, Petterson RP, Sabater S, Tubbing GMJ (2003) Variability in zinc tolerance, measured as incorporation of radio-labeled carbon dioxide and thymidine, in periphyton communities sampled from 15 European river stretches. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 44:17
- Gold C, Feurtet-Mazel A, Coste M, Boudou A (2003) Effects of cadmium stress on periphytic diatom communities in indoor artificial streams. Freshw Biol 48:316
- 27. Pesce S, Fajon C, Bardot C, Bonnemoy F, Portelli C, Bohatier J (2006) Effect of the phenylurea herbicide diuron on natural riverine microbial communities in an experimental study. Aquat Toxicol 78:303
- Paulsson M, Månsson V, Blanck H (2002) Effects of zinc on the phosphorus availability to periphyton communities from the river Göta Älv. Aquat Toxicol 56:103
- 29. Schmitt-Jansen M, Altenburger R (2005) Predicting and observing responses of algal communities to photosystem II-herbicide exposure using pollution-induced community tolerance and species-sensitivity distributions. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:304
- 30. Guasch H, Leira M, Montuelle B, Geiszinger A, Roulier JL, Tornés E, Serra A (2009) Use of multivariate analyses to investigate the contribution of metal pollution to diatom species composition: search for the most appropriate cases and explanatory variables. Hydrobiologia 627:143
- Navarro E, Guasch H, Sabater S (2002) Use of microbenthic algal communities in ecotoxicological tests for the assessment of water quality: the Ter river case study. J Appl Phycol 14:41
- 32. Mehta SK, Gaur JP (2005) Use of algae for removing heavy metal ions from wastewater: progress and prospects. Crit Rev Biotechnol 25:113
- Newman MC, McIntosh AW (1989) Appropriateness of aufwuchs as a monitor of bioaccumulation. Environ Pollut 60:83
- Morin S, Duong TT, Herlory O, Feurtet-Mazel A, Coste M (2008) Cadmium toxicity and bioaccumulation in freshwater biofilms. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 54:173
- 35. Serra A, Guasch H, Corcoll N (2009) Copper accumulation and toxicity in fluvial periphyton: the influence of exposure history. Chemosphere 74:633
- Stauber JL, Davies CM (2000) Use and limitations of microbial bioassays for assessing copper bioavailability in the aquatic environment. Environ Rev 8:255–301
- Soldo D, Hari R, Sigg L, Behra R (2005) Tolerance of *Oocystis nephrocytioides* to copper: intracellular distribution and extracellular complexation of copper. Aquat Toxicol 71:307
- Zhang W, Majidi V (1994) Monitoring the cellular response of *Stichococcus bacillaris* exposure of several different metals using in vivo 31P NMR and other spectroscopic techniques. Environ Sci Technol 28:1577
- 39. Fisher NS, Reinfelder JR (1995) The trophic transfer of metals in marine systems. In: Tessier A, Turner DR (eds) Metal speciation and bioavailability in aquatic systems. Wiley, Chichester, p 363
- 40. Hill WR, Bednarek AT, Larsen IL (2000) Cadmium sorption and toxicity in autotrophic biofilms. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 57:530
- 41. Meylan S, Odzak N, Behra R, Sigg L (2004) Speciation of copper and zinc in natural freshwater: comparison of voltammetric measurements, diffusive gradients in thin films (DGT) and chemical equilibrium models. An Chim Acta 510:91
- 42. Meador JP, Sibley TH, Swartzman GL, Taub FG (1998) Copper tolerance by the freshwater algal species *Oocystis pusilla* and its ability to alter free-ion copper. Aquat Toxicol 44:69
- 43. Loaec M, Olier R, Guezennec J (1997) Uptake of lead, cadmium and zinc by a novel bacterial expolysaccharide. Wat Res 31:1171
- 44. Admiraal W, Blanck H, Buckert-de Jong M, Guasch H, Ivorra N, Lehmann V, Nyström BAH, Paulsson M, Sabater S (1999) Short-term toxicity of zinc to microbenthic algae and bacteria in a small polluted stream. Wat Res 33:1989

- Lau YL (1990) Uptake of lead, cadmium and zinc by a novel bacterial expolysaccharide. Wat Res 24:1269
- Liehr SK, Chen H-J, Lin S-H (1994) Metals removal by algal biofilms. Water Sci Technol 11:59
- 47. Guasch H, Admiraal W, Sabater S (2003) Contrasting effects of organic and inorganic toxicants on freshwater periphyton. Aquat Toxicol 64:165
- Serra A (2009) Fate and effects of copper in fluvial ecosystems: the role of periphyton. PhD Thesis, University of Girona
- Serra A, Guasch H (2009). Effects of chronic copper exposure on fluvial systems: linking structural and physiological changes of fluvial biofilms with the in-stream copper retention. Sci Tot Environ 407:5274
- 50. Martí E, Aumatell J, Godé L, Poch M, Sabater F (2004) Nutrient retention efficiency in streams receiving inputs from wastewater treatment plants. J Environ Qual 33:285
- Guasch H, Navarro E, Serra A, Sabater S (2004) Phosphate limitation influences the sensitivity to copper in periphytic algae. Freshw Biol 49:463
- 52. Barranguet C, Plans M, Van der Grinten E, Sinke JJ, Admiraal W (2002) Development of photosynthetic biofilms affected by dissolved and sorbed copper in a eutrophic river. Environ Toxicol Chem 21:1955
- 53. Guasch H, Paulsson M, Sabater S (2002) Effect of copper on algal communities from oligotrophic calcareous streams. J Phycol 38:241
- 54. Soldo D, Behra R (2000) Long-term effects of copper on the structure of freshwater periphyton communities and their tolerance to copper, zinc, nickel and silver. Aquat Toxicol 47:181
- Posthuma L, Suter GW, Traas TP (eds) (2001) Species sensitivity distributions in ecotoxicology. CRC press, Boca Raton, FL
- 56. Genter RB, Cherry DS, Smith EP, Cairns J Jr (1987) Algal-periphyton population and community changes from zinc stress in stream mesocosms. Hydrobiologia 153:261
- Navarro E, Robinson CT, Behra R (2008) Increased tolerance to ultraviolet radiation (UVR) and cotolerance to cadmium in UVR-acclimatized freshwater periphyton. Limnol Oceanogr 53:1149

# **Consequences of Climate Variability and Human Water Demand on Freshwater Ecosystems: A Mediterranean Perspective from the United States**

#### **Clifford N. Dahm**

**Abstract** Climate variability, climate change, climate risk, and climate adaptation are topics of great interest worldwide. Mediterranean climates are particularly vulnerable to these climate-related issues because of the strong seasonality of precipitation, high human demand for water, and predicted increasingly variable worldwide climate. I will address some of these issues in Mediterranean climates from research on the Sacramento River, the San Joaquin River, and the California Bay-Delta in the western USA. The Sacramento River and San Joaquin River converge to form the California Delta. Waters from these catchments, which drain 40% of the landmass of California and discharge about 47% of the available water from California, are extensively dammed, diverted, and exported. Exports from the Delta provide a portion of the drinking water for  $\sim 25$  million people and sustain more than a million hectares of irrigated agriculture. Interannual variability in river discharge is linked to Pacific climate forcing in the late fall, winter, and early spring with peak discharge from rainstorms and snowmelt in the winter and spring. Warming coupled with drought has caused substantive change in the timing of runoff and in the composition of upland vegetation in large areas of the catchment. Human adaptation to water supply risks involves shifts to groundwater supplies, increased conservation, and water reuse or desalinization. Many of the indicator variables used to assess the ecological condition of aquatic ecosystems are highly sensitive to drought and climate change. Factoring variability and climate change into integrated ecological assessments is an ongoing challenge and effort. Finally, some of the insights from managing and researching these river ecosystems and the Delta in California, USA are discussed in the context of water resource challenges in Mediterranean climates in general.

C.N. Dahm

Delta Science Program, 650 Capitol Mall, 5th floor Sacramento, CA 95814, USA e-mail: cdahm@calwater.ca.gov; cdahm@sevilleta.unm.edu

S. Sabater and D. Barceló (eds.), *Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean:* 55 *Perspectives Under Global Change*, Hdb Env Chem (2010) 8: 55–71, DOI 10.1007/698\_2010\_54, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010, Published online: 10 March 2010

**Keywords** Adaptive management, Aquatic ecosystems, Climate, Water quality, Water supply

#### Contents

1	Introduction	56
2	Site Description	57
3	Water Supply	59
4	Water Quality	60
5	Aquatic Ecosystems	62
6	Integrated Assessments/Monitoring	63
7	Adaptive Management	64
8	Water Conservation	66
9	Alternative Water Sources	66
10	Climate Variability, Climate Change, and Climate Adaptation	67
11	Summary and Conclusions	69
Refe	erences	.70

## Abbreviations

BDCP	Bay Delta Conservation Plan
CALSIM	California Water Resources Simulation Model
CALVIN	California Value Integration Network
CDEC	California Data Exchange Center
CVP	Central Valley Project
DDT	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
DOC	Dissolved organic carbon
Hg	Mercury
IEP	Interagency Ecological Program
$kW h m^{-3}$	Kilowatt hours per cubic meter
MW-h	Megawatt hour
RO	Reverse osmosis
Se	Selenium
SWP	State Water Project
TDS	Total dissolved solids
USGS	United States Geological Survey

## **1** Introduction

Mediterranean climates are found around the world in addition to the region bordering the Mediterranean Sea. More than half of the Mediterranean-climate regions do occur around the Mediterranean Sea. Other regions with Mediterranean climates include southern and southwestern Australia, central Chile, the Western Cape of South America, and coastal California in the USA. Major cities outside of the Mediterranean area with a Mediterranean climate include Perth and Adelaide in Australia, Cape Town in South Africa, Santiago in Chile, Tijuana in Mexico, and San Diego, Los Angeles, San Francisco, and Sacramento in California, USA.

The climate of Mediterranean regions is characterized by warm-to-hot dry summers and cool wet winters. Mediterranean-climate regions are found, generally speaking, between about 31 and 40 degrees latitude north and south of the equator usually on the western side of continents. Mediterranean climate zones are linked to large subtropical high pressure cells that shift poleward in the summer and equatorward in the winter. Typical of Mediterranean climates is to receive the vast majority of yearly rainfall during the winter season with prolonged (from 4 to 6 months) summer periods without significant precipitation. Climatic changes within the year are pronounced, and winter rainfall can vary considerably from year-to-year. Biotic communities found in Mediterranean climates have many adaptations to survive long, hot summer droughts and prolonged wet periods in winter.

The area of California influenced by a Mediterranean climate is home to over 30 million people. Climate variability and human water demand make freshwater a very precious resource. Allocations of water to cities, agriculture, and the environment create continual tension as demands for this vital and over-allocated resource grow. This paper presents a brief overview of water resource science and policy in a Mediterranean climate with substantial challenges from climate variability, climate change, and increasing human need.

#### **2** Site Description

Two major rivers in California influenced by a Mediterranean climate are the Sacramento River and the San Joaquin River. The Sacramento River drains 72,132 km<sup>2</sup> with a relief of 4,317 m. Mean discharge is  $\sim$ 650 m<sup>3</sup>/s with peak flows in the winter and early spring and with minimum flows in the late summer and early fall. The San Joaquin River drains 83,409 km<sup>2</sup> with a relief of 4,418 m. Mean discharge is  $\sim$ 130 m<sup>3</sup>/s with peak flows in spring and low flows in late summer and fall. Population density is  $\sim$ 24 people/km<sup>2</sup> in the Sacramento River basin and  $\sim$ 29 people/km<sup>2</sup> in the San Joaquin basin. Agriculture in the Central Valley of California that encompasses parts of both basins is the primary user of water in both basins [1].

The two rivers meet in the area between the cities of Sacramento and Stockton to form the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, hereafter referred to as the Delta (Fig. 1). The Delta is a complex network of interconnected canals, river channels, sloughs, marshes, and subsided islands. The area of the Delta is  $\sim 2,880 \text{ km}^2$ . Approximately half-million people live in the Delta and agriculture is the primary economic activity with annual gross value at about two billion US dollars. Tourism is the second largest economic activity with  $\sim 12$  million visitors annually. The Delta also



Fig. 1 Map of the Delta in central California, USA with the California state map inset to show location within the state. The Delta is formed at the confluence of the Sacramento River and the San Joaquin River. Export of water from the Delta occurs mainly from the State Water Project pumping plant and the Central Valley Project pumping plant in the south Delta
is the heart of the water supply system for the State of California. Water exported from the Delta provides part of the water needs for 25 million people and irrigates 45% of the fruits and vegetables grown in the US on approximately 1.2 million ha of irrigated farmland [2]. The focus of this paper will be on the two rivers as they enter the Delta and on the Delta.

#### **3** Water Supply

The water supply to the Delta comes predominantly from the Sacramento River ( $\sim$ 80%) with lesser amounts from the San Joaquin River ( $\sim$ 15%) and rivers on the east side of the Delta ( $\sim$ 5%). Year-to-year variability in water supply is large. Combined average annual unimpaired runoff (an estimate of flows without upstream dams or diversions) for the Sacramento and San Joaquin rivers for the past century ranges from 6.2 km<sup>3</sup> in 1977 to 68 km<sup>3</sup> in 1983 [2]. The percentage of freshwater flows that go to San Francisco Bay are estimated to be 87% in wet years, 69% in average years, and 51% in dry years. Climate variability associated with the Mediterranean climate of the region is an essential component of the Delta ecosystem.

Total storage in the major reservoirs of the Sacramento and San Joaquin basins is about 35 km<sup>3</sup>. This is comparable to average annual freshwater flows [3]. Freshwater withdrawals in recent decades have averaged about 6 km<sup>3</sup> annually. Reservoir operations within the catchments have altered the timing of freshwater flows into the Delta. Flows are attenuated from historical conditions from January through June, and flows are enhanced from July through October.

California has an advanced water supply system to move water from the Delta to southern California cities and central California farmlands. The heart of this water transfer system is located at the southern end of the Delta (Fig. 1). Two major projects, the California State Water Project (SWP) and the Central Valley Project (CVP), transfer water from the Delta to the agricultural region of California's Central Valley and to the cities of southern California. The SWP is the largest publicly built and operated water conveyance system in the world. The project also is the largest single consumer of power in the State of California with net usage  $\sim 5.1$  million MW-h. The initial transfer of water from the Delta starts at the Banks Pumping Station where up to  $\sim 300 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$  of water is lifted about 73 m to begin traveling through the 710 km of canals, tunnels, and pipelines that make up the California aqueduct (Fig. 2).

Water supply measurement and forecasting is a critical component for operations of this system. The California Data Exchange Center (CDEC) provides a wide variety of hydrological and meteorological data on precipitation, snow conditions, and riverflow, and the United States Geological Survey (USGS) maintains realtime and historical streamflow data including flow for many of the diversions facilities and canals. Water supply forecasting and water allocation decisions are based on these forecasts with particular interest in the April-to-June water supplies each year. This involves an extensive network of gauges to determine



Fig. 2 The Harvey O. Banks pumping plant, which pumps Delta water into the California aqueduct, is shown. The plant can pump up to  $\sim 300 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$  and lifts the water about 73 m to begin the transit southward through the 710 km of canals, tunnels, and pipelines that constitute the California aqueduct

snow-water equivalents in the Sierra Nevada Mountains, streamflow gauges on the major mountain rivers, and computer modeling to predict spring and summer flows.

Managing distribution and allocation of water for various beneficial uses (e.g., agriculture, urban uses, and the environment) is done using computer models. Two models, CALSIM and CALVIN, are widely applied to water operations in California. CALSIM is a generalized water resource planning model that evaluates water supply and is critical to planning for future conditions that reflect interannual supply variability, shifting water demands, environmental regulations, and climate change. CALVIN is an integrated economic-engineering optimization model that explicitly represents waters of the entire Central Valley including imports into the system. Science through monitoring, research, planning, and computer modeling plays a crucial role in water supply decisions under an expanding population, evolving economy, and changing climate [4].

#### 4 Water Quality

Water quality issues for the lower Sacramento and San Joaquin rivers and for the Delta include salinity, dissolved organic carbon (DOC), suspended sediment, mercury (Hg), selenium (Se), pesticides, and nutrients. Some of the pollutants are legacy pollutants from mining in the nineteenth century (e.g., mercury), while others are byproducts of land use changes, altered hydrodynamics, and increased human population in the region. Poor water quality is recognized as a problem both for water supply issues and as important stressors of the ecological problems that exist in the Delta [5, 6].

Salinity or total dissolved solids (TDS) is generally thought to have the greatest influence on drinking water, agricultural water, and environmental conditions in the Delta [7]. Sources of salinity include San Francisco Bay and salinization of return flow waters from agriculture, particularly in the western San Joaquin Valley. Impacts on drinking water include increased costs of treatment and the formation of disinfection byproducts, especially from interactions between bromide, DOC, and disinfection processes. The USGS has made considerable recent progress on identifying the sources, transport, and fate for DOC in the Delta. The Delta is a source of DOC that stimulates microbial production within the Delta and San Francisco Bay but adds drinking water disinfection and treatment costs for water used for human consumption.

Suspended sediment is a changing variable within the waters of the Delta. The gold rush of the nineteenth century led to substantive increases in suspended sediment delivered to the Delta and the lower reaches of the Sacramento River and San Joaquin River. The dam building period in the twentieth century has brought declining suspended sediment concentrations [8]. Declining suspended sediment concentrations are thought to contribute to (1) reduced sediment supply for wetland restoration, (2) erosion and exposure of contaminated sediments deposited in the estuary in the past, (3) accelerated growth of aquatic plants and nuisance algal blooms, and (4) greater predation and less suitable habitat for native fish species [7]. Sediment supply will be an important issue as ecosystem restoration moves forward in the Delta.

Mercury contamination occurs throughout much of northern California [9]. Water quality concerns with regards to Hg include the high toxicity of methyl Hg to foodwebs, biomagnification of Hg into long-lived fishes of the Delta that are consumed by humans, bird reproduction, and the possibility that wetland restoration might enhance methyl Hg production and foodweb biomagnifications. The degree of Hg contamination varies among different habitat types, and the spatial pattern of Hg contamination will be a factor in planning and implementing future restoration projects within the Delta.

Another contaminant of concern for the Delta is Se. Selenium occurs in high concentrations in the soils of the western San Joaquin Valley associated with salts that have accumulated in this region [10]. Selenium is recycled through agricultural return flows to the river and transported to the Delta and San Francisco Bay. The Se is transformed into a more bioavailable form by microbial communities and aquatic plants. The Se is passed through the foodweb with particular concern for bottom-feeding migratory waterfowl and predatory fishes. The hydrodynamics of water from the San Joaquin River is an important consideration in the intensity and distribution of Se contamination within the Delta.

California has one of the largest agricultural economies in the world. Pesticides are a byproduct of the large agricultural economy with the focus of pesticide application being in the Central Valley. Impacts result both from legacy pesticides that are recalcitrant to degradation (e.g., DDT) and commonly stored in the sediments as well as modern pesticides that enter waterways in runoff from rainfall events. Recent research is pointing to the potential role of pyrethroids in aquatic foodwebs of the Delta and major rivers of the region [11–15]. Pyrethroids are exceeding concentrations acutely toxic to sensitive benthic organisms in areas affected by agriculture and in urban areas. Toxicities were particularly high in streams and rivers in residential areas particularly associated with stormflow events [14]. Implications of pesticide mixtures for populations of native species in the Delta is an important research need [7].

Nutrient loading to the Delta is another emerging area of water quality concern. Jassby [16] has shown increased loading of ammonium-nitrogen (N) into the Delta from wastewater treatment plants in the region with load linked to increasing human population. The impact of ammonium-N on phytoplankton production and harmful algal blooms is an active area of research. Recent research in San Francisco Bay has shown an inhibition in diatom primary production, an important source of food for zooplankton in this ecosystem, when ammonium-N levels are elevated [17, 18]. In addition, potential links between ammonium-N loading and harmful algal blooms (e.g., *Microcystis aeruginosa*) are presently being explored [19, 20]. Nutrient enrichment may be playing a more important role in ecosystem structure and productivity than has been previously recognized.

#### **5** Aquatic Ecosystems

The aquatic ecosystems within the Delta are changing rapidly and are certainly going to change substantively in the next few decades. There also is broad agreement that the ecosystem is in poor condition [21–23]. Stressors on the aquatic ecosystems of the Delta include (1) habitat changes due to wetland reduction and river channelization, (2) nutrient and contaminant loading, (3) altered aquatic foodwebs due to nonnative species and changes in primary producers, and (4) modified hydrodynamics and physical/chemical conditions due to export pumping and human engineering. The precipitous decline of several open-water fishes (Delta smelt – *Hypomesus transpacificus*, longfin smelt – *Spirinchus thaleichthys*, juvenile striped bass – *Morone saxtilis*, and threadfin shad – *Dorosoma pretense*) plus ongoing declines of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*), Central Valley steelhead (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), and green sturgeon (*Acipenser medirostris*) are indicative of the decline in overall ecosystem conditions [24].

Foodwebs of the Delta have been altered in many ways through the multiple changes that have occurred within the Delta in recent decades. For example, the turbidity and organic matter supply to the Delta have been generally decreasing due to land use changes and upstream reservoirs. Phytoplankton populations also have been changing in recent decades with decreased productivity from 1975–1995 [25] and the emergence of a colonial cyanobacteria, *M. aeruginosa*, forming strong blooms during summer months in the past decade. The zooplankton population also has undergone major changes in the past few decades. Rotifers and larger zooplankton have declined in parallel with the phytoplankton and introduced new species from Asia such as the tiny copepod, *Limnoithona tetraspina*, have become abundant. Benthic communities also have shifted markedly with the Asian clam, *Corbicula fluminea*, dominant in freshwaters and the overbite clam, *Corbula amurensis*, dominant in the Delta [26, 27]. Half of the 32 commonly captured species in the Delta are presently nonnative with nonnative largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*), bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*), redear sunfish (*Lepomis microlophus*), common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), and inland silverside (*Menidea beryllina*) particularly abundant. All components of the present aquatic foodwebs are highly altered compared to historical conditions.

Mediterranean climates produce a significant mismatch between times of peak human demand and peak riverflow. Key challenges facing managers of the Delta include meeting water demands and sustaining desired ecological services. Altered flows that result from meeting human demands enhance the invasion and success of nonnative species and modified foodwebs [28]. The aquatic ecosystems of the Delta show this strongly modified structure, and considerable effort is ongoing on planning for the future Delta with the mix of native and nonnative species and altered foodwebs that presently dominate much of the aquatic habitat.

#### 6 Integrated Assessments/Monitoring

The Interagency Ecological Program (IEP) is a long-term effort to provide necessary scientific information concerning the Delta (http://www.water.ca.gov/iep/). The IEP has provided cooperative ecological investigations of the San Francisco estuary, including the Delta, since 1970. The IEP involves nine agencies working cooperatively from the United States Federal Government and the State of California. The IEP provides a wide variety of biological, hydrodynamic, and water quality data for the Delta. Many of these data sets now exceed three decades in duration and provide an invaluable database for evaluating the status and trends of the Delta. The vision of the IEP is to help manage and protect the San Francisco estuary with good science. Monitoring, integrated assessments, and research are critical elements of effective overall evaluation efforts to track the status and condition of aquatic ecosystems in Mediterranean climates.

The IEP provides the monitoring framework to characterize the status and trends of Delta aquatic ecosystems. The IEP strives to provide information on the many factors that affect ecological resources in the Delta. Key near-term goals for the IEP include (1) collecting and analyzing data needed to understand factors controlling the distribution and abundance of selected fish and wildlife resources, (2) complying with permit terms requiring ecological monitoring in the Delta, (3) identifying human impacts on fish and wildlife, (4) interpreting information on adverse effects of human activities within the Delta, (5) assessing interannual and long-term trends on aquatic species, and (6) providing an organizational structure to assist in planning, integration, and cooperation across agencies. The long-term data sets provided by IEP monitoring have more recently been combined with problem-focused research and analysis. The combination of monitoring and research has greatly increased our understanding of the Delta [29].

Mediterranean climates are known for their variability both at interannual and at longer time scales. Extended periods of drought and extended periods of abovenormal precipitation have occurred multiple times during the thirty-plus years of monitoring in the Delta. Biological communities that evolved under these climatic conditions are adapted to the natural flow regimes associated with the Mediterranean climate [28]. Sustained long-term monitoring with a robust research program are keys to understanding and managing aquatic ecosystems in Mediterranean climates where human population pressure and climate change are major stressors.

#### 7 Adaptive Management

The concept of adaptive management has become a focal point for current and future management of the Delta. There are various definitions of adaptive management that have been promulgated and applied over the past two decades. One widely accepted definition is that adaptive management is decision making that is flexible in the face of uncertainties both from management actions and scientific understanding of the ecosystem. Careful monitoring of management actions is critical to the success of the application of adaptive management. Recognizing the importance of natural variability in aquatic ecosystems argues that monitoring and research must be both long-term and interdisciplinary. Ongoing real-time learning and knowledge creation are crucial to successful application of adaptive management.

The BDCP is an ongoing collaborative approach to restore the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta's ecosystem and provide reliable water supplies (http://baydeltaconservationplan.com/default.aspx). A key component of BDCP is to restore about 9% of the Delta ( $\sim$ 26,000 ha) from farmland and hunting preserves to freshwater tidal marsh, salt marsh, and riparian woodland (Fig. 3). The steering committee for BDCP recently convened an expert advisory panel to prepare an independent science report on adaptive management needs for the Delta. The advisory panel provided guidance for a robust adaptive management program for the Delta. Key elements of the adaptive management program are (1) formal setting of goals, (2) establishment of objectives, (3) use of conceptual and simulation models to synthesize the knowledge base, (4) clearly and formally designed monitoring to measure criteria to evaluate effectiveness, (5) analyses, syntheses, and evaluation protocols to provide necessary feedback for management decisions, and (6) ongoing



Fig. 3 The upper panel (a) shows a segment of a waterway in the California Delta that is bounded by levees and channelized. Farmland is the primary land-use in the Delta. The BDCP is calling for a conversion (restoration) back to freshwater tidal marsh (panel b), salt marsh, and riparian woodland of approximately 9% of the land in the Delta ( $\sim 26,000$  ha) over the next few decades

refinement of the knowledge base, models, objectives, and problems. The report strongly recommended institutionalizing an entity specifically tasked with assimilating the knowledge base and recommending adaptive changes to goals, objectives, models, monitoring, and conservation measures to a governing body that could implement these recommendations. Such an adaptive management strategy requires substantial investment in time, people, and resources (http://www.baydel-taconservation plan.com/bdcppages/BDCPInfoBackgroundDocs.aspx).

#### 8 Water Conservation

Water conservation has become an increasing area of emphasis in the Mediterranean climate of California. A firmly established goal of 20% reduction in urban water use by 2020 has become the policy of the present administration. Cities and suburbs in California used approximately 10.7 km<sup>3</sup> of water in 2000. The goal is to reduce urban water use by 2.1 km<sup>3</sup> by the year 2020 through an aggressive plan developed by numerous state agencies. Recent legislation also has established penalties that restrict water resource development grants to those municipalities who fail to achieve the targeted savings in urban water use. The State of California sees urban water conservation as a key component in achieving a sustainable water supply in the twenty-first century.

The largest user of water in California is agriculture. California irrigated an estimated 3.9 million ha of cropland with 42.2 km<sup>3</sup> of applied water in 2000. This is equivalent to the application of about 1.1 m of water to crops growing with irrigated agriculture. Agricultural use efficiency has increased from 1980 to 2000 with inflation-adjusted gross crop revenue per unit of applied water increasing by 11% from 1980 to 2000. Agriculture remains a major focus for water conservation with the 20% reduction by 2020 a goal for the agricultural sector as well. Recent legislation, however, did not mandate the 20% reduction by 2020 as required for urban users, but incentives for agricultural water savings were included in the legislation. Increased water use efficiency in agriculture is a crucial component in achieving long-term sustainable water use in the Mediterranean climate in California.

#### **9** Alternative Water Sources

Problems with lack of available and dependable supplies of freshwater in the Mediterranean climate of much of California have generated great interest in alternative water sources. The focus has been both on wastewater reuse and reclamation and on desalination. Research has focused on new methods of purifying water at lower costs and with less energy [30]. Alternative water supplies for California are being put online for certain urban areas of California with much additional investment in these technologies being planned for the coming decades.

The goal of wastewater reuse and reclamation is to capture water from nontraditional sources such as municipal or industrial wastewaters and treat the water to potable quality. Much of the water used in agriculture, industry, power generation, and urban uses is returned to the environment. One example of water reuse is the application of low-pressure reverse osmosis (RO) membranes for desalination of agricultural drainage water in the San Joaquin Valley [31]. RO membrane fouling and fluctuating composition of the agricultural feedwaters are two major challenges to the use of this technology for agricultural drainage water. A second example of water reuse is groundwater recharge with reclaimed municipal wastewater [32]. The State of California has taken a cautious approach for the criteria for groundwater recharge with reclaimed wastewater, but this technology offers assistance in recharging depleted groundwater aquifers in the region.

Desalination seeks to increase the fresh water supply through generating potable water from saline aquifers and seawater. Desalination is a capital-intensive and energy-intensive process. Major desalination technologies currently in use are based on membrane separation via RO or thermal distillation. Reduction in energy consumption used for RO desalination has lowered energy costs from >10 kW h m<sup>-3</sup> to <4 kW h m<sup>-3</sup> in the past two decades, and further reductions in energy consumption to <1.5 kW h m<sup>-3</sup> is theoretically possible [30]. Desalination is likely to become an increasing alternative water source in Mediterranean regions worldwide, especially for urban water use.

## 10 Climate Variability, Climate Change, and Climate Adaptation

Mediterranean climates are characterized by their strong interannual variability in the strength of winter precipitation and for their hot, dry summers. Climate variability and the low flow conditions during predictably hot and dry summers, when human water demand is high, has led to human development of advanced water supply systems. This involves the construction of storage reservoirs and utilization of groundwater reservoirs. This also involves conveyance conduits (canals, aqueducts, and pipes) to carry water supplies from areas with greater available water to regions with insufficient local water supplies to meet local demands. The State of California has invested considerable sums of money into this type of distribution system so that  $\sim 25$  million people and more than a million hectares of farmland now depend to some extent on water from the Delta.

Climate change is already having discernable impacts on the Delta. Sea level has risen 20 cm in the past century at the Golden Gate Bridge in San Francisco [35]. This rise in sea level leads to increased salinity in the western Delta, especially during times of low river flows and strong high tides (Fig. 4). The specter of sea level rise will loom large in the Delta for the rest of this century. Planning efforts currently acknowledge future sea level rise by 2100 of between 55 and 145 cm. The deeply subsided Delta, with most of the Delta below sea level and much of the



**Fig. 4** Maximum salinity intrusions into the Delta at five year time intervals from 1945 to 1990 are shown. Drought conditions and rising sea level from climate change are predicted to increase salinity intrusions eastward into the Delta in the future

central Delta more than 6 m below sea level, is particularly vulnerable to future sea level rise.

Another manifestation of climate warming can be seen in the timing and volume of spring runoff from the Sacramento River [4, 33]. River flows are peaking earlier in the year compared to the early twentieth century (about 3 weeks earlier on

average) and the percent of water runoff for the April-to-July time period has dropped from about 45% to below 35% [4, 33]. More precipitation also is falling as rain in the mountains of California and projections for inflows to the Delta predict an ongoing shift in runoff timing toward winter with an increase in intensity and frequency of winter runoff events and an extended period of dry summer low-flow periods [34]. Conservative estimates of snowpack loss by 2050 predict a one-third loss of snow at the beginning of April when spring runoff is normally estimated. These effects will be particularly strong in the middle montane elevations where winter temperatures are near  $0^{\circ}$ C.

A climate adaptation strategy for California has recently been issued (http:// www.climatechange.ca.gov/adaptation/). Strategies for adapting to future climate change are actively being considered in the Mediterranean regions of California. Key recommendations that involve the Delta include (1) a statewide 20% reduction in per capita water use by 2020, (2) expanded surface and groundwater storage, (3) enhanced agricultural water use efficiency, (4) improved water quality, and (5) improved Delta ecosystem conditions and water supplies exported from the Delta as developed by BDCP. The adaptation strategy also calls for identifying key aquatic habitats sensitive to climate change and expanding protected areas and altering land and water management practices. Strategies for climate adaptation in Mediterranean regions of the world are undergoing accelerated development and information sharing across the various regions with Mediterranean climates that may prove very valuable and useful.

#### **11** Summary and Conclusions

Mediterranean climates are magnets for human population but present considerable challenges for sustaining aquatic ecosystems and meeting human demands for freshwater. The Delta of California is a prime example where conflicting demands of water for the environment, water for agriculture, and water for urban uses play out in a Mediterranean climate. The confluence of two large rivers, the Sacramento and the San Joaquin, in the Delta has become the nexus for competing demands for freshwater in California. Critical issues include water supplies for competing interests, water quality for human users and the environment, and revitalizing degraded aquatic ecosystems.

Long-term monitoring, integrated assessments of Delta ecosystems, and restoration design have become central tenets in management and planning for the Delta of the future. Multiple stressors such as subsidence, seismicity, nonnative species, sealevel rise, global warming, altered water movement, habitat alteration, toxicants, and nutrient loading ensure that the Delta of the future will not be the Delta of the past. Adaptive management is viewed as the tool that will assist in planning and management for the Delta of the future.

Planning for the future in Mediterranean climates requires serious investments in water conservation and consideration of alternative freshwater sources. Alternative

freshwater sources include desalination and wastewater reuse. These technologies come with a high energy cost but will inevitably become an important part of the overall freshwater portfolio in Mediterranean climates throughout the world. Those living in Mediterranean climates also must cope with the pressures of climate variability and the strong likelihood of significant climate change in this century. This will require that adaptive strategies be put in place to deal with water shortages, altered timing of water supply inputs, and more intense floods during the wet seasons and droughts during the dry season. The future of freshwater ecosystems in Mediterranean climates of the world will depend upon resolving these complex issues of supply and allocation in a variable and changing climate.

#### References

- 1. Carter JL, Resh VH (2005) Pacific coast rivers of the coterminous United States. In: Benke AC, Cushing CE (eds) Rivers of North America. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, pp 541–590
- Culberson C, Bottorff L, Roberson M, Soderstrom E (2008) Geophysical setting and consequences of management in the Bay-Delta. In: Healey MC, Dettinger MD, Norgaard RB (eds) The State of Bay-Delta Science. CALFED Science Program, Sacramento, pp 37–54
- Knowles N (2002) Natural and management influences on freshwater inflows and salinity in the San Francisco Estuary at monthly to interannual scales. Water Resour Res 38(12):1289. doi:10.1029/2001WR000360
- Healey M, Dettinger M, Culberson S, Bottorff L (2008) Water supply. In: Healey MC, Dettinger MD, Norgaard RB (eds) The State of Bay-Delta Science. CALFED Science Program, Sacramento, pp 121–138
- Bennett WA (2005) Critical assessment of the Delta smelt population in the San Francisco Estuary, California. San Francisco Estuary Watershed Sci 3(2) Article 1. http://repositories. cdlib.org/jmie/sfews
- Kimmerer WJ (2004) Open water processes of the San Francisco Estuary: from physical forcing to biological responses. San Francisco Estuary Watershed Sci 2(1) Article 1. http:// repositories.cdlib.org/jmie/sfews
- Luoma S, Anderson S, Bergamaschi B, Holm L, Ruhl C, Schoellhamer D, Stewart R (2008) Water quality. In: Healey MC, Dettinger MD, Norgaard RB (eds) The State of Bay-Delta Science. CALFED Science Program, Sacramento, pp 55–72
- Wright SA, Schoellhamer DH (2004) Trends in the sediment yield of the Sacramento River, California, 1957–2001. San Francisco Estuary Watershed Sci 2(2) Article 2. http:// repositories.cdlib.org/jmie/sfews
- Alpers CN, Hunerlach MP, May JT, Hothem RL (2005) Mercury contamination from historical gold mining in California. United States Geological Survey Fact Sheet 2005-3014, Sacramento, California.
- Presser TS, Luoma SN (2006) Forecasting selenium discharges to the San Francisco Bay-Delta Estuary: ecological effects of a proposed San Luis drain extension. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 1646, Menlo Park, California.
- Amweg EL, Weston DP, Ureda NM (2005) Use and toxicity of pyrethroid pesticides in the Central Valley, California, USA. Environ Toxicol Chem 24(4):966–972
- Weston DP, You J, Lydy MJ (2004) Distribution and toxicity of sediment-associated pesticides in agriculture-dominated water bodies of California's Central Valley. Environ Sci Technol 38(10):2752–2759

- Weston DP, Holmes RW, You J, Lydy MJ (2005) Aquatic toxicity due to residential use of pyrethroid insecticides. Environ Sci Technol 39(24):9778–9784
- Weston DP, Holmes RW, Lydy MJ (2009) Residential runoff as a source of pyrethroid pesticides to urban creeks. Environ Pollut 157(1):287–294
- You J, Pehkonen S, Weston DP, Lydy MJ (2008) Chemical availability and sediment toxicity of pyrethroid insecticides to *Hyalella azteca*: Application to field sediment with unexpectedly low toxicity. Environ Toxicol Chem 27(10):2124–2130
- Jassby AD (2008) Phytoplankton in the upper San Francisco Estuary: recent biomass trends, their causes, and their trophic significance. San Francisco Estuary Watershed Sci 6(1) Article 2. http://repositories.cdlib.org/jmie/sfews
- 17. Dugdale RC, Wilkerson FP, Hogue VE, Marchi A (2007) The role of ammonium and nitrate in spring bloom development in San Francisco Bay. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 73(1–2):17–29
- Wilkerson FP, Dugdale RC, Hogue VE, Marchi A (2006) Phytoplankton blooms and nitrogen productivity in San Francisco Bay. Estuaries Coasts 29(3):401–416
- Lehman PW, Boyer G, Waller C, Gehrts K (2005) Distribution and toxicity of a colonial Microcystis aeruginosa bloom in the San Francisco Bay Estuary. Hydrobiologia 541:87–99
- Lehman PW, Boyer G, Satchwell M, Waller S (2008) The influence of environmental conditions on the seasonal variation of Microcystis cell density and microcystins concentration in San Francisco Estuary. Hydrobiologia 600:187–204
- Kimmerer W, Brown L, Culberson S, Moyle P, Nobriga M, Thompson J (2008) Aquatic ecosystems. In: Healey MC, Dettinger MD, Norgaard RB (eds) The State of Bay-Delta Science. CALFED Science Program, Sacramento, pp 73–102
- 22. Lund J, Hanak E, Fleenor W, Howitt R, Mount J, Moyle P (2007) Envisioning futures for the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta. Public Policy Institute of California, San Francisco
- 23. Lund J, Hanak E, Fleenor W, Bennett W, Howitt R, Mount J, Moyle P (2008) Comparing futures for the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta. Public Policy Institute of California, San Francisco
- 24. Sommer T, Armor C, Baxter R, Breuer R, Brown L, Chotkowski M, Culberson S, Feyrer F, Gingras M, Herbold B, Kimmerer W, Mueller-Solger A, Nobriga M, Souza K (2007) The collapse of pelagic fishes in the upper San Francisco Estuary. Fisheries 32:270–277
- Jassby AD, Cloern JE, Cole BE (2002) Annual primary production: patterns and mechanisms of change in a nutrient-rich tidal estuary. Limnol Oceanogr 47:698–712
- Brown LR, Michniuk D (2007) Littoral fish assemblages of the alien-dominated Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, California, 1980–1983 and 2001–2003. Estuaries Coasts 30:186–200
- 27. Moyle PB (2002) Inland fishes of California, 2nd edn. University of California Press, Berkeley
- Bunn SE, Arthington AH (2002) Basic principles and ecological consequences of altered flow regimes for aquatic biodiversity. Environ Manage 30(4):492–507
- Healey MC, Dettinger MD, Norgaard RB (eds) (2008) The State of Bay-Delta Science. CALFED Science Program, Sacramento, 174 pp
- 30. Shannon MA, Bohn PW, Elimelech M, Georgiadis JG, Mariñas BJ (2008) Science and technology for water purification in the coming decades. Nature 452:301–310
- Lee RW, Glater J, Cohen Y, Martin C, Kovac K, Milobar MN, Bartel DW (2003) Low-pressure RO membrane desalination of agricultural drainage water. Desalination 155(2):109–120
- 32. Asano T, Cotruvo JA (2004) Groundwater recharge with reclaimed municipal wastewater: health and regulatory considerations. Water Res 38(8):1941–1951
- Knowles N, Dettinger MD, Cayan DR (2006) Trends in snowfall versus rainfall for the western United States. J Clim 19(18):4545–4559
- 34. Knowles N, Cayan DR (2004) Elevational dependence of projected hydrological changes in the San Francisco Estuary and watershed. Clim Change 62:319–336
- Cayan DR, Bromirski PD, Hayhoc K, Tyree M, Dettinger DD, Flick RE (2008) Climate change projections of sealevel extremes along the california coast. Clim Change 87(Suppl 1):S57–S73

# Water Quality in Reservoirs Under a Changing Climate

#### **Rafael Marcé and Joan Armengol**

**Abstract** The importance of water resources stored in reservoirs on a global scale is not matched with a sound knowledge of the possible impacts of climate change on reservoir water quality. This is especially relevant in the Mediterranean regions, where most countries rely on reservoirs to fulfill their water supply needs, and virtually all climate models predict increasing water shortage in the next 20 years. In this chapter, we summarize recent findings that will help to fill this gap in knowledge. Recently, a close coupling between streamflow entering reservoirs and its hypolimnetic oxygen content has been empirically established for a wide range of systems. In brief, high streamflow maintains anoxia at comparatively low levels. Therefore, we can expect a reduction in water quality following future reductions in runoff. To illustrate these effects, we analyzed a 44 year data set of oxygen measurements from Sau Reservoir in Spain to detect possible effects of climate variability on the extent of deep-water anoxia. In addition, we show that a trend of decreasing streamflow, related to climate change, has increased the risk of anoxia in the reservoir during the last decade. From these results, we propose a framework for climate change impact studies on reservoir water quality using streamflow and labile organic matter as master drivers. Finally, we identify the research required to improve our understanding of how reservoirs will behave in a changing climate, and give some guidelines on how to manage Mediterranean reservoirs under future "scarcity" conditions.

R. Marcé (🖂)

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona, 17003 Girona, Spain

Fluvial Dynamics and Hydrological Engineering (FLUMEN), Department of Ecology, University of Barcelona, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

e-mail: rmarce@icra.cat

J. Armengol

Fluvial Dynamics and Hydrological Engineering (FLUMEN), Department of Ecology, University of Barcelona, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

**Keywords** Climate change impacts, Anoxia, Anoxic Factor, ENSO, Streamflow, Sau Reservoir

#### Contents

1	Some Remarks on Reservoir Limnology	74
2	The Importance of Reservoirs in a Global Context	75
3	Profiling Reservoirs: Key Ecological Processes Concerning Climate Change	78
4	Detecting and Predicting Climate Change Effects in Reservoirs Using	
	Instrumental Data	82
5	Best Management Practices in Mediterranean Reservoirs Under Scarcity Conditions	86
6	Potential Risks and Management Opportunities: A Research Agenda	90
Re	ferences	.91

### 1 Some Remarks on Reservoir Limnology

The reservoir is a hybrid between river and lake, and its study must be founded on a complete picture of limnology.

On the other hand, reservoirs are ecosystems strongly linked with the surrounding terrestrial ecosystems, and it is hardly useful to model them independently.

Ramón Margalef [1]

The above statements come from the chapter devoted to reservoirs in Margalef's [1] Limnología, and summarize two important topics in reservoir limnology. Firstly, they reflect the long recognized influence of river inflows on reservoir dynamics [2] that fueled the interest of limnologists in the gradients associated with advection. This reached its maximum with the seminal work by Kimmel et al. [3], who defined three theoretical zones in reservoirs (i.e., riverine, transitional, and lacustrine) depending on the expected interaction between the river inflow and some commonalities in the geomorphologic traits of reservoirs. The merit of Kimmel's characterization was to include in a common framework many observations concerning a variety of processes, including hydrology, light ambient, chemical longitudinal gradients, metabolic balances, and water quality issues. Although not exactly equivalent, this characterization could be compared with the River Continuum Concept [4]. In particular, it offered to reservoir limnologists a useful and convenient explanatory framework within which new observations and test hypotheses can be placed. Like any generalization, Kimmel's zonation has its drawbacks (e.g., only canyon-shaped, single inflow reservoirs are prone to follow expectations). It has, however, motivated much of the subsequent research on biological heterogeneity in reservoirs, in conjunction with the theoretical ideas advanced by Straškraba et al. [5]. Secondly, these quotations emphasize the fact that the same river input that fuels longitudinal heterogeneity in reservoirs also forms a strong link between the reservoir and its watershed (e.g., [6]). This link has been conceptualized mostly in the form of load-response empirical models [7, 8], or mass-balance approaches [9]. Curiously, empirical modelers usually consider reservoirs as stirred reactors, ignoring the longitudinal spatial heterogeneity present in most situations and processes.

Thus, whereas longitudinal heterogeneity in reservoirs has been considered as a new standard in limnology (i.e., as suggested in Kimmel's theoretical framework), the relationship between reservoirs and their surroundings has usually been quantified using models based on natural lakes [10, 11]. In our opinion, this promotes a structural bias in the way limnologists approach reservoirs. For some reason, the mystic of heterogeneity focuses the attention of researchers, and key limnological features like residence time or the river inflow [12] are often invoked only as generators of heterogeneity (e.g., [13]). In this way, and despite warnings by Margalef [1], Uhlmann [8], Straškraba [14], Straškraba and Tundisi [15], Tundisi et al. [16], and Kennedy [17], researchers tend to take lakes as models for reservoirs. However, this is a misconception because the comparison with a river is equally justified and pertinent. A reservoir is a river undergoing very profound changes in its geomorphologic settings. When we consider material and energy flows, it is often difficult to decide whether a reservoir is working as a slow moving river or a short residence time lake. Is the reservoir a subsidized ecosystem like a river, or are the energy flows dominated by autochthonous production of organic matter? These kinds of questions have received much less attention than heterogeneity related issues, and, to our knowledge, they remain mostly unanswered. We agree with the view of Kennedy et al. [18] and Kennedy [17], who pleaded that one of the most important research needs in reservoir limnology is a catchment or system-level understanding of the role of reservoirs on the dynamics of landscapes. So yes, reservoirs are hybrid systems, but not in the Manichaean sense that they are rivers "becoming" lakes. Reservoirs are hybrid systems in a much more profound sense, probably also reflected in its functioning as a whole ecosystem. This is at the core of Kennedy's plea: we need a theoretical framework to push reservoir limnology beyond the heterogeneity issue and to define reservoirs as a unique, idiosyncratic trait of hydrological landscapes.

#### **2** The Importance of Reservoirs in a Global Context

Nowadays, we have more than 500,000 reservoirs in the world covering at least 0.1 km<sup>2</sup> [19], and an indeterminate number of smaller agricultural ponds. This is a huge number of aquatic systems, especially considering the water volume they store [19]. Although this is far from figures corresponding to lakes, reservoirs have an enormous social and financial interest since man-made lakes are usually located near human settlements. Moreover, distribution of reservoirs is highly heterogeneous and often concentrated where lakes are scarce [20]. In some semi-arid areas, like Mediterranean Spain and Italy, virtually all lowland still water systems are reservoirs: lakes are exceptional landscape features, and reservoirs and rivers replace them as the basic emotional link between people and freshwater.

Compared with the second half of the twentieth century [21], the rate of dam construction in developed countries has slowed in recent years [22]. This could be

the result of an enhanced social perception of the ecological and social impacts of large dams, but we also must consider that available floodable land in these countries is now scarce [19]. However, there may now be resurgence in dam construction due to future dependences on water supply and economic growth in developing countries [23]. The spectacular rate of dam construction in China and the World Bank's decision to fund more dams are good indicators of such resurgence.

Thus, reservoir limnology and management is a promising research field. In this respect, Kennedy et al. [18] made an observation that summarizes the main weaknesses and opportunities of reservoir limnology today. On one side, developing regions have the greatest potential for hydropower development, while semiarid regions between  $30^{\circ}$  and  $40^{\circ}$  latitudes include a high proportion of the dams already built [20]. On the other hand, this is at odds with the fact that our understanding of reservoir limnology and ecology is mainly based on data collected on lakes from the North temperate region. That is, we are using data from the wrong systems to explain the ecological dynamics of reservoirs situated in very different climatic areas. Considering the wide differences between the limnological behavior of reservoirs and lakes [24], this is a far-from-optimum situation for the correct management of water resources in the present and in the future.

However, not only future dam construction and the structural deficiencies of reservoir science will place reservoir limnologists in a very demanding situation, we also lack studies of climate change impacts based on instrumental data collected in reservoirs. To date, the effect of climate change on reservoirs have been tested almost exclusively with modeling exercises [25–27] but these studies have yet to demonstrate that recent changes in the climate have already had an effect on ecological behavior of reservoirs. This could encourage researchers to take results coming from lakes as the starting point again for climate impact prospecting. Without doubt, any prediction of climate change impact on reservoir limnology, based on processes described for lakes, would be unreliable (see the example presented later for temperature trends). Thus, reservoir limnologists should try to move away from too close a comparison with lakes to find their own way in the climate change science.

One of the most important conclusions of the last IPCC report [28], was the very marked reductions in the run-off projected for the Mediterranean regions by the end of the twenty-first century (see estimates presented elsewhere in this book). Reductions of at least 20% are projected in all Mediterranean region and most current models converge on these predictions. If we then compare the global distribution of reservoirs with the predicted changes in runoff the answer is clear: the main challenge related to climate change that will face reservoir limnologists in the future is water scarcity in reservoirs located in the Mediterranean areas.

The future runoff scarcity has two conflicting implications: water supply systems that rely on reservoirs will increase their dependence on dams, but reservoirs will have less water volume available. Thus, an increasing pressure on water resources



Fig. 1 The tower of the eleventh century Romanesque church breaking the surface of Sau Reservoir (Spain). In 1963 the old town of Sant Romà de Sau and its church were flooded by the construction of the Sau Dam. However, water level never suffices to completely submerge the prominent tower, which became an unofficial monitor of the water supply available for the city of Barcelona. When the doors of the church emerge, drought is there ... Photo by Joan Armengol

stored in reservoirs, and a growing social perception of problems related to water quantity and quality in reservoirs is expected. Just as an example, the recurrent drought episodes suffered by the Barcelona metropolitan area (Spain) in recent years placed reservoirs at the center-stage : since then people are regularly informed about water resources stored in nearby reservoirs in newspapers and TV, and an iconic view from a reservoir has become a nonofficial monitor of the water supply volume available for the city (Fig. 1).

In future, reservoir limnologists working in the Mediterranean region will be asked a number of searching questions. How much water will we have? What quality can be expected? Will treatment costs increase? However, our ability to correctly answer these questions in a changing climate is dubious. There is clearly an urgent need for a theoretical framework for reservoir limnology, grounded in observations recorded at reservoirs, analyzed in ways that are not unduly influenced by the lake-view of the problem [18].

## **3** Profiling Reservoirs: Key Ecological Processes Concerning Climate Change

In lakes, several studies based on field data have demonstrated climate effects on water quality variables, including modifications in stratification [29, 30], oxygen content [29, 31], primary production and algal biomass [31, 32], water transparency [30, 32], phenological patterns [33, 34], and occurrence of harmful algal blooms [35]. Williamson et al. [36] suggested that the metabolic balance in freshwater systems provides the best integrator of global change impacts, but in fact there is little consensus about the best variables to monitor in order to built a network of "sentinel" systems. In any case, climate change studies in reservoirs using instrumental data are still very rare, and it is frequently assumed that results obtained in natural lakes will be directly applicable to reservoirs.

Here we revisit two important topics in limnology just to show that climate change studies that only include data from lakes are not applicable to reservoirs. Firstly, we show that temperature trends in reservoirs and lakes cannot be interpreted in the same way. Secondly, we show that drivers of the deep-water oxygen content in reservoirs and lakes can be very different. This last analysis will be used in the following section as the starting point for a new framework for climate change impact studies in reservoirs.

In lakes, climate change impact studies have primarily been focused on increasing water temperatures and associated hydraulic and ecological consequences. The rationale is obvious: the continuous and direct heat exchange between atmosphere and the water surface make lakes ideal integrators of climate trends. Usually, mean water temperatures or the degree of stratification are the variables used as a measure of the climate-ecosystem coupling. Then, cascade effects of increasing temperatures and gradients have both direct and indirect effects on the chemistry and biology.

What about reservoirs? A priori reservoirs are a lot like lakes: a mass of still water with a surface in direct contact with atmosphere. The logical expectation is that both their temperature and intensity of stratification will increase in a warmer climate [29, 30]. However, the situation in reservoirs is complicated by human interventions in their water balance which greatly alters both the heat flux and the hydraulic properties of the water mass. Here, we use data collated for Sau Reservoir (Spain) to illustrate this point (Fig. 2). The records show that mean water temperature in the reservoir underwent a steady increase during the period 1964–1990 (with intriguing oscillations with period around 6 years). This coincided with an increase in the mean air temperature in the watershed upstream Sau Reservoir. However, after 1990, the mean water temperature dramatically dropped to attain values similar to those measured in the 1960s. Paradoxically, mean air temperatures continued to increase during this period. Thus, it is evident a decoupling between climate and the reservoir dynamics related to temperature. If we try interpreting this picture with the lake tool-kit the answer is not straightforward.



Fig. 2 Time-series of annual mean water temperature in the Sau Reservoir (Spain) and air temperature in the Ter River watershed. The series start in 1964, after the first filling of the reservoir. Annual means are based on monthly measures of the volume weighted mean temperature. Only years with at least 10 temperature profiles were included in the figure. The air temperatures are annual means for the whole Ter River watershed, calculated from data collected in several meteorological stations in the basin, and weighted according to their area of influence



**Fig. 3** The annual development of the seasonal thermocline (expressed as temperature gradients) (**a**) for a selected set of years when hypolimnetic withdrawal resulted in a deep thermocline and an extensive metalimnion, and (**b**) for a selected set of years when epilimnetic water flowed through the intermediate outlet inducing the development of a shallower thermocline. The *solid black line* shows the daily development of the withdrawal depth and the *gray areas* the bottom of the reservoir. Modified from Moreno-Ostos et al. [37]

The reason for this decoupling between climate and water temperature in the reservoir is explained in Fig. 3. Moreno-Ostos et al. [37] demonstrated that the degree of stratification and the location of the thermocline both depended on

the depth of water withdrawal. Sau Reservoir, like most reservoirs devoted to water supply, has several water outlets located at different depths. The consequence is that water managers (consciously or unintentionally) modify the physical characteristics of the reservoir, introducing severe noise in the relationships between heat exchanges, hydrodynamics, and climate. In this case, water withdrawals were switched from deep to surface outlets during the early 1990s (Fig. 3). Since water extraction promotes a strong hydraulic stratification [38] that counters the stratification pattern driven by meteorology, the depth of the water extraction becomes the principal driver defining the position of the thermocline and the depth of the mixing layer. This, in turn, has a major effect on the heat balance of the system and hence water temperature: when water leaves the reservoir from surface layers a considerable amount of heat is also lost. Thus, the switch between deep and surface withdrawal caused a sharp relative cooling of the reservoir (Fig. 2).

The corollary is that we cannot blindly apply to reservoirs conclusions obtained for lakes. In the case of temperature variability, the "signal" that appears in a reservoir often owes just as much to the inner functioning of the system as to external drivers. Lakes are widely regarded as good "sentinels" of climate change but the temperature trends observed in data recorded in reservoirs must be handled with extreme care. Also important, reservoir limnologists should be skeptical about studies extrapolating lake results to explain or forecast reservoir behavior in the presence of atmospheric temperature changes.

The second process we review is the empirical modeling of the anoxic conditions that develop in the bottom layers of lentic systems. Although both lake morphometry and hydrology are represented in the equations predicting oxygen content or oxygen deficit, the key factor is the biomass of phytoplankton, which consumes the oxygen when it sinks into deep water and decays. The epilimnetic productivity can be incorporated in the equations using different proxies, including photosynthetic pigments concentration [39] in-lake phosphorus content [40, 41], phosphorus retention [42, 43], or the phosphorus content of the inflows [44, 45]. In consequence, hypolimnetic oxygen content in lakes has traditionally been modeled as a function of variables that are either measured in the epilimnion or are known to drive epilimnetic processes. However, customary empirical equations, developed mainly in North temperate natural lakes, usually fail when applied to reservoirs [46, 47].

Recently, Marcé et al. [48] demonstrated that the development of deep-water anoxia in reservoirs depends on the load of labile organic materials from the river input and the water load. With the exception of brownwater lakes [49, 50], and lakes receiving significant humic and fulvic acids inputs [44], no significant role on the hypolimnetic oxygen consumption has typically been assigned to the input of allochthonous oxidable substances. The key difference is that while runoff penetration into the hypolimnion is small and dispersive in lakes [24], in man-made reservoirs the river inflow can plunge into deep layers, directly linking the hypolimnion with the surrounding watershed. In these circumstances, organic matter carried by the river can influence the hypolimnetic oxygen content without the intervention of epilimnetic processes. Another significant difference between lakes



**Fig. 4** Predicted versus observed summer Anoxic Factor (AF) in (**a**, **b**) Foix Reservoir (Spain), (**c**, **d**) Sau Reservoir (Spain), (**e**, **f**) Brownlee Reservoir (USA), and (**g**, **h**) Pueblo Reservoir (USA). The results have been arranged to place the systems along a gradient of relative human impact (Foix Reservoir at the *top*, Pueblo Reservoir at the *bottom*). Predictions are based on linear models using different independent variables (in *brackets*): Inflow = streamflow entering the reservoir during the period; DOC<sub>inflow</sub> = mean summer river DOC concentration measured upstream the reservoir; and  $Chl_{epi}$  = mean summer chlorophyll-a concentration measured in the epilimnion of the reservoir. The symbol ? after a variable denotes a nonsignificant effect at the 95% level. *Solid lines* represent the perfect fit, and were added for reference. Modified from Marcé et al. [48]

and reservoirs is the mean water residence time [51]. Reservoirs tend to show relatively short water residence time (weeks to months) compared to lakes (years), and only dissolved materials that decay in a time scale equal to or shorter than that of the retention time will be relevant for carbon and oxygen cycling. Therefore, the lability of the incoming organic material plays a key role in regulating the oxygen content of reservoirs.

In their analysis, Marcé et al. [48] showed that streamflow is always a significant predictor of anoxia, except in hypereutrophic and small systems like Foix Reservoir (Fig. 4). The river DOC concentration (or the Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration as a proxy of labile DOC, see Marcé et al. [48]) was a significant variable in all the selected systems except the pristine Pueblo Reservoir (Fig. 4), where the epilimnetic chlorophyll-a concentration was a significant variable. That is, in reservoirs receiving DOC load mainly from human origin (i.e., labile) its effect on the oxygen content is significant. Systems receiving DOC load from terrestrial ecosystems (i.e., refractory) do not show dependence on the allochthonous sources, and the autochthonous production of organic matter becomes increasingly important. Therefore, although autochthonous production of plankton biomass must play a role on oxygen deficit, especially in pristine reservoirs located in remote areas, this study clearly showed that the assumptions made by classical models regarding the oxygen content in the hypolimnion do not necessarily hold in reservoirs. Again, reservoirs prove to be reluctant to follow the lake pattern.

From results presented so far we can draw two important lessons: first, reservoir dynamics can be dramatically different from that showed by lakes even in processes that are classical topics in limnological research. Thus, a link between climate and a process observed in lakes cannot be supposed to be applicable to reservoirs. Simply, we need ad-hoc studies using data from reservoirs to test effects of climate change on these systems. The second lesson is less obvious. In lakes, climate change impact studies are typically focused on increasing water temperatures and the associated hydraulic and community-level consequences. In reservoirs, where climate-driven water temperature trends are difficult to detect, the focus should be on streamflow and the associated human interventions in the hydraulics. Changing runoff patterns and magnitude is an expected outcome of global warming and, in our opinion, successful climate change impact studies in reservoirs should be focused on this. We acknowledge that increasing temperatures have impacted and will have an impact on reservoir processes, but for detection of recent effects of climate change, researchers must avoid processes mainly governed by temperature.

## 4 Detecting and Predicting Climate Change Effects in Reservoirs Using Instrumental Data

The dependence of the oxygen content in reservoirs on the hydrological input to the system opens the interesting possibility of using long-term hydrological data to quantify the impact of recent climate change. Since precipitation and river runoff

Series	Main oscillation peaks (cycles month <sup><math>-1</math></sup> )
Niño 3.4 index	0.021, 0.035
Streamflow	0.016, 0.031
Anoxic Factor	0.016, 0.031

 Table 1 Spectral analysis for Niño 3.4 index, streamflow, and AF using the Maximum Entropy Method. Only results for the low frequency band are showed

are directly linked to climate oscillations like the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) [52] it is highly probable that a link could exist between such climate modes and the oxygen content in reservoirs. Moreover, the decline in river runoff detected in many rivers worldwide could impose a clear trend in the oxygen content of bottom layers in reservoirs, producing an additional climate change effect on freshwater ecosystems [53–55]. We used a long-term database from Sau Reservoir (Spain) to demonstrate all these oxygen content effects. The data consisted of 44 years of monthly measurements of oxygen profiles, water load to the reservoir and we used the Niño 3.4 index as a time-series of ENSO. We expressed the monthly oxygen content of the reservoir using the Anoxic Factor (AF), which is a volume-standardized measure of the anoxia extent in a water body [44].

We started by analyzing the dominant modes of oscillation showed by oxygen content, streamflow, and ENSO using the Maximum Entropy Method (MEM) (Table 1). It is remarkable that both the streamflow to the reservoir and the AF showed common oscillations with ENSO at frequencies between 0.016 and 0.035 cycles month<sup>-1</sup>. These frequencies are very close to the two main periods of ENSO (the quasi-biennial and quasi-quadrennial periods) [56]. Although we do not have a mechanistic explanation for this teleconnection (in fact the extratropical influence of ENSO is a hot topic in climate research, Merkel and Latif [57]), it is certainly difficult to propose an alternative explanation for the oscillations in AF and streamflow observed at these frequencies.

The common oscillations were consistent during the whole 45 years period, as revealed by cross-wavelet analysis (Fig. 5). Analysis for streamflow, ENSO index, and AF indicates a persistent common power for oscillations with period between ~30 and 65 months, which appears to vary according to the intensification and weakening of the quasibiennial and quasiquadrennial band of ENSO.

In addition to the teleconnection between ENSO and the AF in Sau Reservoir, we investigated the effect of a decreasing streamflow trend on the development of the AF. This was assessed by fitting an empirical model to the time series for the annual AF, using the streamflow and a proxy of the load of labile organic matter as independent variables [48]. The model explained 85% of AF variance, and both independent variables were highly significant (n = 29, p < 0.0001). Once this model was fitted, we recalculated the output of the model using a synthetic streamflow series that did not show any trend. The difference between results obtained with the original model and the model solved with the synthetic streamflow series can be considered as the effect of the decreasing streamflow trend on the AF.



Fig. 6 Comparison of results of the AF model solved with and without streamflow trend for wet and dry years, expressed as years above and below the mean water residence time in the reservoir (0.25 years)

Results showed that in Sau Reservoir, the effects of decreasing streamflow are already measurable and especially conspicuous during dry years (Fig. 6). Note that during the dry years of the last decade the effect of the trend on the AF was an increase by 35%.



Fig. 7 Comparison of observed present AF in the Sau Reservoir and results of the AF model solved assuming a decrease in surface runoff by 20–40% during the present century, and an additional effect of lack of dilution of labile DOC in the tributary. Shaded areas represent uncertainty of predictions

We can take the analysis of the effects of decreasing streamflow trends a step further. Solving the empirical model fitted above using a mean streamflow decreased by 20–40% (that is, the prediction of the IPCC for the Mediterranean regions), produces mean annual AF increases of between 13 and 32%. This is a first approximation of future effects of climate change on the oxygen content of Sau Reservoir. However, this figure must be considered a conservative prediction, because no changes in the labile organic matter load were considered. Increasing the labile organic matter by a modest 15% (to account for the dilution effect) increases the AF by as much as 41% (Fig. 7).

Obviously, this is a crude approximation and should only be considered a rough estimate of climate change effects on future water quality. However, in view of the simplicity of the empirical equations and its robustness (due to the high interannual variability of the Mediterranean climate any modeling forecast uses independent variables beyond ranges of the calibration data), our procedure offers a new framework for testing impacts of future climate scenarios on water quality in reservoirs. In any case, our results emphasize that streamflow should be considered a climate signal that is just as important as temperature in climate change impact studies in freshwater.

Such results constitute a warning for the management of water supply systems based on reservoirs. Considering the major role of streamflow on controlling oxygen levels, water scarcity should be viewed as a threat not only for the quantity of resource, but also for its quality and the cost of treatment. All these considerations are especially relevant in Mediterranean areas, where many water supply systems rely on reservoirs, and where most climatic models predict a marked decrease in streamflow within the next 20 years. This is even more important if drought episodes become more frequent, because it is in these periods when the reduction of the oxygen content in reservoirs can be more pronounced.

## 5 Best Management Practices in Mediterranean Reservoirs Under Scarcity Conditions

Water managers in charge of water supply systems that include reservoirs are well aware of the relationship that exists between water scarcity and the deterioration in the quality of the water stored in reservoirs. The above considerations regarding the drivers of anoxia in reservoirs could thus prove very useful both for planning remediation measures at broad temporal and spatial scales and for predicting the impact of projected changes in the climate on the quality of water. However, once the drought is there, managers need specific solutions to avoid supplying water that pose a threat to water treatments and plumbing. In this section, we exemplify how wise limnological monitoring can help managers using real cases from Catalan reservoirs devoted to water supply.

In the Iberian Peninsula, the number of reservoirs devoted to water supply has increased steeply during the last decades. This is especially true for main urban settlements, where the fluctuating river flows and overexploited groundwater aquifers do not suffice to provide the required volume. The paradigmatic case is the Barcelona Metropolitan Area, which needs around 500 hm<sup>3</sup> a year, 65% coming from five reservoirs located in the Llobregat River (La Baells, La Llosa del Cavall, and Sant Pons) and the Ter River (Sau and Susqueda). Water from these reservoirs arrives in the treatment plant through a complex network of pipes, where water is treated and delivered to the end-users distribution network.

Water supply is a complex process, but for the sake of simplicity we can divide it in two main steps: storing and treatment. These two steps can be entirely independent, and in fact the treatment process was totally independent of storage in Spanish reservoirs until a few decades ago. The water was treated at the plant regardless of the quality of the incoming resource. Nowadays, the trend is to integrate the management of the resource from the origin to the treatment plant i.e., by promoting in the reservoir chemical, physical, and biological processes that improve water quality, so as to minimize the costs of any subsequent treatment.

Within this framework, the role of reservoir managers is not just to periodically check the water level, but also to understand the physical and ecological processes that drive water quality and manage the resource using this information. Although each reservoir is idiosyncratic, and hence needs managing in a particular way, it still is possible to provide some general rules. From the perspective of water quality, all situations must be faced assuming the same criteria: we must facilitate all processes that maximize the self-purifying capacity of the reservoir. In short, we want better quality in the outflow than in the inflow. Catalan water supply reservoirs are managed following this rule. In the next section, we describe some of the management strategies implemented during the last few years, when the area also experienced a number of severe droughts.

Reservoirs in the Ter River are eutrophic, and water management has been based on three processes: (1) wastewater treatment plants upstream of the first reservoir in the chain (Sau), (2) increasing water column stability in order to enhance epilimnetic self-purifying processes [37, 58], and (3) selection of the appropriate spillway in Sau (out of three) and Susqueda (out of four) [59]. During average years with respect to the volume of water stored in reservoirs, water has typically been withdrawn through the surface spillways, to avoid anoxic and metal and ammonia rich hypolimnetic waters reaching the treatment plant. However, during dry years a different approach has to be adopted since most spillways are then above the water surface. This was the case during extreme droughts in 2005 and 2007–2008, when huge amounts of sediments were carried from the riverine and littoral zones of the reservoirs, increasing nutrients, organic matter, and dissolved metals in water. Such problems are usually at their worst when the water level drops, so the best option in a chain of reservoirs is to keep the level of the last reservoir in the chain as high as possible (assuming the last reservoir is the final step before supplying water to the treatment plant). In our case, we tried to maintain high water levels in Susqueda, which is the downstream reservoir. This implied an acute deterioration of Sau Reservoir water quality, but water quality for supply was maintained at reasonable levels. One factor that helped this strategy was the fact that Sau Reservoir water enters Susqueda Reservoir at an intermediate level during stratification months and remains in a narrowly delimited layer on account of its density. Figure 8 shows an example of this interflow, recorded during October 2005, when 30 hm<sup>3</sup> of water were withdrawn from the only spillway available in Sau to Susqueda. As a result, one more spillway was available in Susqueda due to the improvement in water level, and the well oxygenated layer in Susqueda reached 35 m, 5 m more than at the beginning of the water transfer. During the drought of 2007–2008 a similar strategy was implemented, with a very conspicuous intermediate circulation of Sau Reservoir water in Susqueda (Fig. 9).

In the Llobregat River the situation is quite different. There, reservoirs are located in headwaters, where human impacts are lower and their trophic state is oligo-mesotrophic. In these reservoirs the favorable trophic state suffices to maintain a reasonable water quality throughout the year, and a spillway-based management is not worthwhile. In these reservoirs, the management strategy is the reverse of that already described with water being withdrawn from the deepest outlet available, thus considerably decreasing hypolimnetic water residence time. This effectively limits the development of anoxic layers during the stratification period (which last for 8–9 months in the Mediterranean area). Figure 10 shows profiles of temperature, conductivity, and dissolved oxygen measured in the three reservoirs located in the Llobregat basin. These profiles were recorded at the most acute period of the worst drought during the last decades (September 2005), but the



Fig. 8 Temperature, dissolved oxygen saturation, and conductivity profiles in the Sau and Susqueda reservoirs during a water transfer in 2005. *Gray* banners indicate the depth of the spillways (actual withdrawal depth indicated as an *arrow*). The path of the Sau Reservoir water inside Susqueda is indicated as a *black thick arrow* 

only reservoir with even moderate deep-water hypoxia was La Baells. This is very different from the situation that developed in the Ter River reservoirs for the same period (Fig. 8). In short, in oligotrophic and mesotrophic Mediterranean reservoirs, deep water withdrawal is effective at maintaining water quality for supply during both wet and dry years.

Obviously, these examples do not cover all possible management options, but they highlight the fact that a sound knowledge of the hydrodynamics is of paramount importance for a proper water quality oriented management. Reservoirs are very dynamic systems that often stratify in a multilayered fashion to produce layers of water with huge differences in their residence time [60]. In impaired reservoirs, the best option is to increase residence time of anoxic layers, and reduce it for surface water. The presence of outlets at different depths is essential in reservoirs devoted to water supply.



Fig. 9 Temperature, dissolved oxygen saturation, turbidity, and conductivity profiles in the Susqueda water in Spring 2008. The path of the Sau Reservoir water inside Susqueda is shown by the thick arrows. The *thin gray lines* indicate the depth of the available spillways



Fig. 10 Temperature, dissolved oxygen saturation, and conductivity profiles recorded in reservoirs from the Llobregat basin during the summer of 2005. Despite 6 months of stratification, oxygen saturation still showed high values except in La Baells. Compare these profiles with those from the Ter River reservoirs in Fig. 8

## 6 Potential Risks and Management Opportunities: A Research Agenda

All the above considerations have important implications for the management of reservoirs in the Mediterranean region, bearing in mind the decreasing runoff scenarios. Since human spills (sensu lato, including point and nonpoint sources) are usually loaded with labile organic matter (e.g., effluents from WWTP), decreasing streamflows would also diminish the dilution capacity of running waters, implying higher labile organic matter concentrations. Thus, both hydrology and organic matter changes in rivers would impact water quality in reservoirs located in Mediterranean areas.

Thus, we can expect a cascade effect driven by rainfall reduction and increased evapotranspiration (Fig. 11). However, the ways climate change will modify these processes are difficult to predict and involve high degree of uncertainty. Although climate models predict less runoff in Mediterranean countries during the present century, much more research is needed on the local and regional impacts of warming and precipitation changes. Reservoirs are very dynamical systems with very short water residence time, so we need more than uncertain annual forecasts to predict the likely outcome. The effect of increasing temperatures on the intensification and extension of the stratification period may also be less important in reservoirs than in lakes, since these may be countered by human intervention in their hydraulics. We also need to understand the causal mechanism explaining the empirical link observed between streamflow and the oxygen content of reservoirs.

Another fundamental question to be addressed by limnologists is the effect of climate change on labile DOC, because most of this organic matter comes from human activity in human populated watersheds. In particular, the relationships with streamflow and their effect on the metabolic balance of reservoirs should be established using methods that go beyond empirical analyses. In general, we lack a deep characterization of DOC quality in rivers, and its fate and potential degradability in receiving lentic ecosystems. This information is of vital importance to



Fig. 11 Schematic representation of cascade effects of climate change on reservoir water quality (expressed as anoxia extent)

understand the role of these substances on water quality stored in reservoirs. Moreover, we need to allocate sources of labile DOC and describe the main pathways to river systems. This is crucial to implement remediation measures, which, in the case of reservoirs, must be applied at a watershed scale.

Nevertheless, we should not ignore the possibility of some temperature effects, such as those associated with the increase in evaporation and the timing and intensity of thermal stratification. It is also important to establish how these factors might interact so that we can offer managers the right knowledge to apply the right remediation measures. However, in our opinion, this is best approached within a dynamical modeling framework, since most processes involved in hydrodynamics are already well represented in many established models. In any case, we first need to solve the dependence of reservoir metabolism on streamflow and allochthonous organic matter. Until then, we can obtain preliminary guesses using empirical relationships similar to those presented in this chapter, and then use the dynamic models to test some of the hypothesis described.

Finally, a relevant question is whether there is some room for management to prevent future water quality deterioration in reservoirs. The preceding section is a good example of how ad hoc solutions based on the hydraulic management of the system can help prevent the deterioration of water quality during extreme climatic events. Of course, these remedial measures should be based on a deep knowledge of the system, and here reservoir limnologists should play a prominent role. Research efforts in this area must place more emphasis on developing expert systems for short term management [59]. This will require the simultaneous development of on line, reliable automatic data collection systems working at sub-daily time steps. However, considering the dynamic nature of reservoirs, only extensive monitoring programs can guarantee that limnologists will be there before the system crashes. Thus, managers should valuate such field programs if they want to take advantage of the answers reservoir limnology can give them.

However, in a broader context and avoiding site-specific solutions, the control of labile DOC loadings seems the only realistic option. Human intervention on stream-flow can only be an alternative in specific cases. By contrast, most labile DOC in rivers comes from human activities: it is in our hands to decrease those loads through a more efficient industrial processes and wastewater treatments. This would not only improve water quality in reservoirs, but also in stream ecosystems receiving human spills. In our opinion, control of labile DOC loadings from human origin (maybe also rethinking present regulation on contaminants in rivers) should be prioritized in the present and in the future.

#### References

- 1. Margalef R (1983) Limnología. Ediciones Omega, Barcelona
- Imberger J (1979) Mixing in reservoirs. In: Fisher HG, List EJ, Koh RCY, Imberger J, Brooks NH (eds) Mixing in inland and coastal waters. Academic, New York
- Kimmel BL, Lind OT, Paulson LJ (1990) Reservoir primary production. In: Thorton KW, Kimmel BL, Payne FE (eds) Reservoir limnology: ecological perspectives. Wiley, New York

- 4. Vannote RL, Minshall GW, Cummins KW, Sedell JR, Gushing E (1980) The river continuum concept. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 37:130–137
- Straškraba M, Tundisi JG, Duncan A (1993) State-of-the-art of reservoir limnology and water quality management. Hydrobiologia 504:213–288
- 6. Matias NG, Boavida MJ (2005) Effects of catchment development on the trophic status of a deep and a shallow reservoir in Portugal. Lake Reserv Manage 21:350–360
- Kennedy RH (1999) Basin-wide considerations for water quality management: Importance of phosphorus retention by reservoirs. Internat Rev Hydrobiol 84:557–566
- 8. Uhlmann D (1998) Reservoirs as ecosystems. Internat Rev Hydrobiol 83:13-20
- 9. Tomaszek JA, Koszelnik P (2003) A simple model of nitrogen retention in reservoirs. Hydrobiologia 504:51–58
- 10. Istvánovics V, Somlyódy L (1999) Limnological differences between a shallow prereservoir and a shallow lake. A case study of the Upper Kis-Balaton Reservoir and Lake Balaton. In: Tundisi JG, Straškraba M (eds) Theoretical reservoir ecology and its applications. International Institute of Ecology, Brazilian Academy of Sciences and Backhuys Publishers, Leiden
- Vidal A, Om J (1993) The eutrophication process in Sau reservoir (NE Spain): A longterm study. Ver Internat Verein Limnol 25:1247–1256
- 12. Straškraba M (1999) Retention time as a key variable of Reservoir limnology. In: Tundisi JG, Straškraba M (eds) Theoretical reservoir ecology and its applications. International Institute of Ecology. Brazilian Academy of Sciences and Backhuys Publishers, Leiden
- Mašín M, Jezbera J, Nedoma J, Straškrábová V, Hejzlar J, Šimek K (2003) Changes in bacterial community composition and microbial activities along the longitudinal axis of two canyon-shaped reservoirs with different inflow loading. Hydrobiologia 504:99–113
- 14. Straškraba M (1999) Self-Organization, direct and indirect effects. In: Tundisi JG, Straškraba M (eds) Theoretical reservoir ecology and its applications. International Institute of Ecology. Brazilian Academy of Sciences and Backhuys Publishers, Leiden
- 15. Straškraba M, Tundisi JG (1999) Reservoir ecosystem functioning: theory and application. In: Tundisi JG, Straškraba M (eds) Theoretical reservoir ecology and its applications. International Institute of Ecology. Brazilian Academy of Sciences and Backhuys Publishers, Leiden
- 16. Tundisi GJ, Matsumura-Tundisi T, Rocha O (1999) Theoretical basis for reservoir management. In: Tundisi JG, Straškraba M (eds) Theoretical reservoir ecology and its applications. International Institute of Ecology. Brazilian Academy of Sciences and Backhuys Publishers, Leiden
- 17. Kennedy RH (2005) Toward integration in reservoir management. Lake Reserv Manage 21:128–138
- Kennedy RH, Tundisi JG, Straskrabova V, Lind OT, Hejzlar J (2003) Reservoirs and the limnologist's growing role in sustainable water resource management. Hydrobiologia 504:xi–xii
- 19. Downing JA et al (2006) The global abundance and size distribution of lakes, ponds, and impoundments. Limnol Oceanogr 51:2388–2397
- Lehner B, Döll P (2004) Development and validation of a global database of lakes, reservoirs and wetlands. J Hydrol 296:1–22
- 21. Shiklomanov IA, Rodda JC (2003) World water resources at the beginning of the twenty-first century. Cambridge Univ Press, Cambridge
- Gleick PH (2003) Global Freshwater Resources: Soft-Path Solutions for the 21st Century. Science 302:1524–1528
- 23. World Commission on Dams (2000) Dams and development: a new framework for decisionmaking. Earthscan Publication, London
- Wetzel RG (1990) Reservoir ecosystems: Conclusions and speculations. In: Tundisi JG, Straškraba M (eds) Theoretical reservoir ecology and its applications. International Institute of Ecology. Brazilian Academy of Sciences and Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, pp 195–208
- 25. Fang X, Stefan HG, Alam SR (1999) Simulation and validation of fish thermal DO habitat in north-central US lakes under different climate scenarios. Ecol Model 118:167–191

- 26. Hurd BH, Callaway M, Smith J, Kirshen P (2004) Climatic change and US water resources: from modeled watershed impacts to national estimates. J Am Water Resour As 40:129–148
- Meyer JL, Sale MJ, Mulholland PJ, Poff NL (1999) Impacts of climate change on aquatic ecosystem functioning and health. J Am Water Resour As 35:1373–1386
- IPCC (2007) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- 29. Jankowski T, Livingstone DM, Bührer H, Forster R, Niederhauser P (2006) Consequences of the 2003 European heat wave for lake temperature profiles, thermal stability, and hypolimnetic oxygen depletion: implications for a warmer world. Limnol Oceanogr 51:815–819
- Verburg P, Hecky RE, King H (2003) Ecological consequences of a century of warming in Lake Tanganyika. Science 301:505–507
- O'Reilly CM, Alin SR, Plisnier PD, Cohen AS, McKee BA (2003) Climate change decreases aquatic ecosystem productivity of Lake Tanganyika, Africa. Nature 424:766–768
- Hampton SE, Izmest'eva LR, Moore MV, Katz SL, Dennis B, Silow EA (2008) Sixty years of environmental change in the world's largest freshwater lake – Lake Baikal, Siberia. Global Change Biol 14:1947–1958
- Magnuson JJ et al (2000) Historical trends in lake and river ice cover in the Northern Hemisphere. Science 289:1743–1746
- Winder M, Schindler DE (2004) Climatic effects on the phenology of lake processes. Global Change Biol 10:1844–1856
- 35. Paerl HW, Huisman J (2008) Blooms like it hot. Science 320:57-58
- 36. Williamson CE, Dodds W, Kratz TK, Palmer MA (2008) Lakes and streams as sentinels of environmental change in terrestrial and atmospheric processes. Front Ecol Environ 6:247–254
- Moreno-Ostos E, Marcé R, Ordoñez J, Dolz J, Armengol J (2008) Hydraulic management drives heat budgets and temperature trends in a Mediterranean reservoir. Internat Rev Hydrobiol 93:131–147
- Tundisi JG (1983) A review of basic ecological processes interacting with production and stan-ding-stock of phytoplankton in lakes and reservoirs in Brazil. Hydrobiologia 100: 223–243
- Charlton MN (1980) Hypolimnion oxygen consumption in lakes: discussion of productivity and morphometry effects. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 37:1531–1539
- Cornett RJ, Rigler FH (1980) The areal hypolimnetic oxygen deficit: an empirical test of the model. Limnol Oceanogr 25:672–679
- Molot LA, Dillon PJ, Clark BJ, Neary BP (1992) Predicting end of summer oxygen profiles in stratified lakes. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 49:2363–2372
- 42. Cornett RJ (1989) Predicting changes in hypolimnetic oxygen concentrations with phosphorus retention, temperature, and morphometry. Limnol Oceanogr 34:1359–1366
- Cornett RJ, Rigler FH (1979) Hypolimnion oxygen deficits: their prediction and interpretation. Science 205:580–581
- 44. Nürnberg GK (1995) Quantifying anoxia in lakes. Limnol Oceanogr 40:1100-1111
- 45. Reckhow KH (1979) Empirical lake models for phosphorus: development, applications, limitations and uncertainty. In: Scavia D, Robertson A (eds) Perspectives on lake ecosystem modeling. Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan
- Nürnberg GK (2002) Quantification of oxygen depletion in lakes and reservoirs with the hypoxic factor. Lake Reserv Manage 18:299–306
- 47. Ortiz JL, Peña R, Lee GF, Jones RA (1983) Aportación de nutrientes y eutrofización de embalses. CEDEX, Madrid
- Marcé R, Moreno-Ostos E, Lopez P, Armengol J (2008) The role of allochthonous inputs of dissolved organic carbon on the hypolimnetic oxygen content of reservoirs. Ecosystems 11:1035–1053

- Houser JN, Bade DL, Cole JJ, Pace ML (2003) The dual influences of dissolved organic carbon on hypolimnetic metabolism: organic substrate and photosynthetic reduction. Biogeochemistry 64:247–69
- 50. Hutchinson GE (1957) Treatise on limnology. Volume 1: geography, physics and chemistry. John, New York
- Straškraba M (1998) Limnological differences between deep valley reservoirs and deep lakes. Int Rev Hydrobiol 83:1–12
- 52. Lopez-Moreno JI, Beguera S, Vicente-Serrano SM, Garca-Ruiz JM (2007) Influence of the North Atlantic Oscillation on water resources in central Iberia: Precipitation, streamflow anomalies, and reservoir management strategies. Water Resour Res 43:W09411
- Carvalho L, Kirika A (2003) Changes in shallow lake functioning: response to climate change and nutrient reduction. Hydrobiologia 506:789–796
- George DG, Maberly SC, Hewitt DP (2004) The influence of the North Atlantic Oscillation on the physical, chemical and biological characteristics of four lakes in the English Lake District. Freshw Biol 49:760–774
- 55. Straile D, Adrian R (2000) The North Atlantic Oscillation and plankton dynamics in two European lakes two variations on a general theme. Global Change Biol 6:663–670
- 56. Fedorov AV, Philander SG (2000) Is El Niño changing? Science 288:1997–2002
- 57. Merkel U, Latif M (2002) A high resolution AGCM study of the El Niño impact on the North Atlantic/European sector. Geophys Res Let 29. doi: 10.1029/2001GL013726
- 58. Armengol J, García JC, Comerma M, Romero M, Dolz J, Roura M, Han BP, Vidal A, Simek K (1999) Longitudinal processes in canyon type reservoirs: the case of Sau (NE Spain). In: Tundisi JG, Straškraba M (eds) Theoretical reservoir ecology and its applications. International Institute of Ecology, Brazilian Academy of Sciences and Backhuys Publishers, Leiden
- 59. Armengol J, Dolz J (2004) Short term water management in reservoirs. Ponencias del II Congreso Internacional de Ingeniería Civil, Territorio y Medio Ambiente. Santiago de Compostela, pp 875–889 (in Spanish)
- Rueda F, Moreno-Ostos E, Armengol J (2006) The residence time of river water in reservoirs. Ecol Model 191:260–274

## **Technologies for Water Regeneration and Integrated Management of Water Resources**

F. Brissaud<sup>†</sup>

**Abstract** The contribution of water reuse to water resource management is still greatly undeveloped in the Mediterranean. The reasons for this gap are not only technological. They can be found in the long lasting absence of common regulations, in the slow acceptation to shift from agricultural irrigation to other more economically efficient applications such as urban and industrial uses, as well as in the real or assumed public reluctance and in the socio-economic hurdles that must be overcome to integrate water reuse in global water resources management.

**Keywords** Integrated water management, Public acceptance, Reclamation technology, Regulations, Water reuse applications

#### Contents

1	Introduction	95
2	Regulations	96
3	Water Reuse Applications	97
4	Technological Options	. 98
5	Public Acceptance	. 102
6	Integrated Water Management	. 103
7	Conclusion	. 104
Ref	erences	105

Hydrosciences, MSEM, Université Montpellier II, 34095 Montpellier Cedex 05, France

F. Brissaud
# 1 Introduction

Chronic water scarcity has urged looking for new and alternative sources of water in many Mediterranean regions. Long distance transfers are very expensive and face increasing opposition from the populations threatened to be deprived of what they consider their inalienable inheritance. Consumption restrictions are not easily enforced except during extreme drought periods. Attempts are being made to develop water saving and pricing policies but, until now, they seem to have limited impacts. Therefore, the use of marginal water resources, including brackish water, sea water and reclaimed wastewater, appears as the most effective means to satisfy the water needs of many Mediterranean areas, particularly in coastal regions. This has resulted in a growing interest for water reuse. However, though it offers a lower cost of recovered water, water reuse often expands more slowly than seawater desalination in Euro-Mediterranean countries and important amounts of water resources are dumped to the sea and jeopardized.

Several reasons may explain why water reuse expansion lags far behind the needs. Though water reuse provides an alternative water supply that is consistently available even in drought periods, it faces unique hurdles. In the Mediterranean, the most important are the relative lack of experience of these countries in water reuse, regulations' uncertainties, the difficult choice of efficient and cost-effective water reuse applications, the choice of technological options, real or assumed public reluctance and the hard task of involving water reuse within integrated water management frameworks.

## 2 Regulations

In many Mediterranean countries, water reuse regulations to be applied have long been uncertain. Several countries have not yet set up their own water reuse regulations. This raises doubts about the credibility of water reuse criteria and thus about the treatment technologies to be used and the reliability and appropriateness of those already implemented. The result is that in several countries, a number of planned water reuse projects are getting postponed.

In the early nineties, three Spanish autonomous governments enacted their own standards in order to allow water reuse to develop. The government of Balearic Islands issued water reuse regulations in 1992, while governments of Andalusia and Catalonia set up guidelines in 1994 [1]. It was not before December 2007 that a Spanish national regulation was issued [2]. In the meantime, the volume of treated reused wastewater in Europe has increased enormously to more than 600 Mm<sup>3</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>. The recent national regulation is expected to comfort the spreading of projects that should save thousands of Mm<sup>3</sup> of tertiary treated wastewater per year in the near future. The set of microbial parameters to be monitored include *Legionella*. The number of the parameters to be checked and the required frequency

of the analysis will not preclude the economy of big reuse projects. Some amendments will be necessary in order not to undermine the feasibility of useful water reuse projects planned by small and middle-size communities.

In France, guidelines were issued in 1991 [3]. Surprisingly, enacting recommendations in an international controversial environment resulted in a dramatic slowing down of water reuse development. Since then, several national committees have been commissioned to review and update these recommendations. Reports and drafts have been issued, but the decree expected to be published since more than 15 years is not yet ready. Italian regulations were issued on June 12<sup>th</sup>, 2003, (Ministry Decree, D.M. n. 185/03). Microbiological targets are stringent, with an E. coli content of less than 10 UFC/100 mL. These specificities are to be implemented whatever the plants irrigated or the irrigation system used; Salmonella should not be found in the water used for irrigation. Moreover, a long series of physical and chemical parameters should be monitored, the criteria for many of them being surprisingly similar to the requirements for potable water. Indeed, water reuse regulations and guidelines around the world, and particularly in the Mediterranean, suffer from severe discrepancies that do not give them high credibility [4]. Regulations and guidelines are rooted in two benchmark standards, the WHO guidelines (1989), [5] and the California regulation known as Title 22 [6]. Impressive differences in the respective microbial criteria have been, for years, a matter of international controversy. These two standards have their supporters, which led, taking Spain as an example, to regional regulations on line with the WHO guidelines and projects closer to the California standards.

The effects of the recently revised WHO guidelines for the safe use of wastewater in agriculture [7] are not yet foreseeable. The revision process of these guidelines has been characterized by an innovative scientifically-based approach for setting health-related guidelines partly based on the methodology developed for the elaboration of Australian guidelines ([8] and by important steps towards a harmonization of guidelines related to different water uses. The methodology that has been used to revise these guidelines should help the Mediterranean countries, still devoid of regulations, to elaborate national guidelines more rational and close to each other [9].

# **3** Water Reuse Applications

Traditionally, the most popular application of water reuse has been agricultural irrigation. This application is often the continuation of long time unplanned urban wastewater reuse, but with major improvement of the quality of the irrigation water. In the Mediterranean, it accounts for a large majority of the reuse projects. As reported by [10], the selection of reuse applications has not always been made on a rational basis. Enough consideration has not always been given to cost recovery and the economic efficiency of reuse projects aimed at agricultural irrigation. This may be related to the status of agriculture in Mediterranean societies and to subsidy

policies. Considering the construction, operation and maintenance costs of the additional wastewater treatment and of the storage and distribution facilities versus the income of the cultivated crops, the economic efficiency of water reuse is doubtful, especially as farmers are not prone to pay for reclaimed water. It most often remains doubtful even if the environmental benefit resulting from the reduction of wastewater discharge to the environment is taken into account. The irrigation of high income crops, such as vegetables or fruit trees, cultivated in the vicinity of the wastewater treatment plant, constitute an economically sound exception, provided that farmers are ready to pay for the water.

Therefore, sound policies should be reluctant to invest in agricultural water reuse schemes. Other options, such as urban or industrial uses as well as indirect potable reuse are much more likely to be economically justified.

Reclaimed water is a valuable but limited water resource. With respect to the limited reclaimed water volumes, transportation costs must be reduced as much as possible and reuse sites located close to the places where wastewater is produced, treated and stored. More projects to come should be devoted to town or not-far-from-town applications. The reclaimed water applications that should be preferred are (a) urban uses such as irrigation of public parks and lawns, landscape and golf courses, street cleaning, which often means offsetting potable water for non-potable purposes and maximizing the efficiency of reuse projects, (b) industrial uses, mainly cooling systems and (c), as mentioned above, vegetable crops and orchards, often located in the vicinity of towns [11]. Though these applications require high quality reclaimed water, particularly as regards microbiology, they are likely to be competitive when considering the marginal cost of the supply of conventional water resource. Otherwise, reclaiming wastewater, even to a very high quality, is cheaper than desalination; therefore, cost considerations should not hinder the development of urban and industrial water reuse.

Figure 1 shows that in the developed countries (USA, Europe, Australia, Japan), the number of urban reuse schemes is as high or much higher than the number of agricultural irrigation schemes while in the least developed regions (North Africa, Middle East, South America), agricultural irrigation is the favored reuse application. Though local situations are diverse, integrating economic considerations should contribute to revise reuse policies and turn them to applications more profitable for the communities. Moreover, the review made by the Aquarec European program shows that indirect potable reuse, mainly through ground water recharge, is developing in the USA and Europe [12, 13]. Indirect potable reuse schemes include at least one environmental barrier, such as aquifer or reservoir providing at least 1 year retention time, that serves to isolate and protect consumers of potable water.

## 4 Technological Options

A wide range of technologies for the reclamation of wastewater for reuse is available (Fig. 2). The choice of the appropriate technology for a given project



North America

0

300 200 100

400



Latin America

Not available

4

8 0

Agriculture Application

ndustr Irban

Mixed



Fig. 2 Examples of treatment trains including disinfection through intensive or extensive processes for water reuse in agriculture and other applications implemented in different countries [16]

depends on the reuse application and enforced regulations. In most cases, a tertiary stage must be added to the existing wastewater reuse treatment facility, the main aim of it being the removal of pathogenic micro-organisms. Two main types of techniques can be considered: conventional or intensive technologies and natural or extensive systems.

Intensive technologies are derived from the processes used for the treatment of potable water. Chemical methods include chlorination, peracetic acid, ozonation. Ultra-violet irradiation is becoming a popular photo-biochemical process. Membrane filtration processes, particularly the combination microfiltration/ultrafiltra-tion are rapidly developing (Fig. 3). Membrane bioreactors, a relatively new technology, look very promising as they combine the oxidation of the organic matter with microbial decontamination. Each intensive technique is used alone or in combination with another intensive technique or an extensive one. Extensive



Fig. 3 Treatment train including membrane filtration for microbial decontamination

technologies, such as waste stabilization ponds, constructed wetlands or infiltration percolation are adaptations of processes occurring in the nature. They can be used either as the main treatment or as a tertiary one and, if required by the disinfection criteria, in combination with an intensive disinfection technique.

The choice among these techniques depends not only on the water reuse application and the microbial quality that must be achieved but also on several other factors such as the land availability, the respective investment, operation and maintenance costs, the process reliability, the skills required from the operation staff and the options taken to reduce health-related risks. The experience is that subjective factors also play a part in the decision process. As they originate from the treatment of potable water, intensive disinfection techniques have an image of high reliability while the potential of extensive techniques is often underestimated. However, adapting techniques originally designed for the treatment of potable water to the treatment of secondary effluent means that a number of difficulties must have been overcome. Low turbidity is a prerequisite to reach high microbial quality; therefore filtration before disinfection is a key component of intensive treatments. On the other hand, technological innovation and transfer of recent research findings to engineering practice have enhanced the potential performances of extensive techniques [4].

Extensive technologies are likely to be preferred to intensive processes for those facilities that are to serve small and medium-sized communities. Investment costs of extensive wastewater treatment techniques are not much lower than those related to intensive technologies. Most low technology systems require large areas of available land and cannot be applied in areas that are too densely populated. However, extensive techniques do offer decisive advantages: very low costs, easy operation and maintenance and high microbial decontamination potential. When the need for imposing very restrictive water quality criteria is demonstrated, combining low technology and conventional systems can be an option, particularly when a high microbial decontamination is required. As an example, combining infiltration percolation and ultra-violet irradiation is very effective and at a relatively low cost [14].

Intensive methods are preferred for big size water reuse schemes, not only for their reduced footprint but also because high technology systems, when implemented by skilled staffs, are assumed to allow higher microbial performance predictability. Moreover, designers and engineers are confident in techniques that allow calculations certified by the manufacturers and the assurance they provide. They are more reluctant to deal with natural systems, the performance of which may depend on climate and meteorological conditions.

#### 5 Public Acceptance

Using wastewater for the irrigation of food crops has been a long tradition in the Mediterranean. Fortunately, thanks to the Directive 91/271 EEC and the healthrelated standards recommended or enforced in the countries of the region, this practice has dramatically improved. In the Euro-Mediterranean countries, it is now planned and implemented in a safe way. So far, populations have not expressed any noticeable opposition against water reuse, because either the projects meet the needs of the farmers or they are considered as a sound management of the water resources. For instance, using reclaimed water for golf course irrigation saves potable water, involves low degree of potential contact with the reclaimed water and is already widespread in Spain and also in France, where 45 golf courses use recycled water. An agreement encouraging this practice has been passed in 2006 between the Ministry of Environment and the French golf federation. Irrigation with reclaimed water has become mandatory in the Balearic islands and Catalonia wherever feasible. More than 2000 golf courses are irrigated with reclaimed water in the Unites States, where this application was approved by a large majority of respondents to public surveys [20]. Very few investigations of the public acceptance have been undertaken in the Mediterranean. A poll conducted in 2006 by the SOFRES Company on a 1000 people sample representative of the French population older than 17 years showed that 82% of the population considers reusing treated wastewater for non-potable applications as a priority.

Water reuse appears to meet the approval of most of the public as far as nonpotable applications, such as agricultural and landscape irrigation, industrial cooling and even toilet flushing in large commercial buildings, are considered (Asano et al. 2007). Indirect potable reuse raises more concerns, mainly related to subjective perceptions of recycling treated wastewater for such purpose, to the safety and the reliability of the recycling scheme. However, public acceptance may be greatly influenced by recurrent droughts and water supply failures. Gaining the endorsement of a project by local communities may require many years of planning with great emphasis on public involvement [15].

Administrative representatives are often shy about developing water reuse projects. Evaluations of the risks related to water reuse have been twisted so as to be employed in political arguments during election campaigns, which may explain the reluctance of politicians. Examples of failure and success of indirect potable reuse projects in the United States are provided by [13]. Such experiences point out the importance of public education as regards the human interaction with the water cycle and the management of water resources. The population should be aware that

the very common situation of discharge of a wastewater treatment plant in a river, and the subsequent downstream pumping from the river itself or from a connected aquifer (even after an appropriate treatment for potable water supply), results in direct/indirect water reuse. This common situation, which is increasing by population growth, has not raised much public concern until now. Instead, it seems to be well received because of its long-standing nature [13]. Droughts are appropriate periods to launch educational programmes.

## 6 Integrated Water Management

The water supply of Palma de Mallorca (Balearic Islands, Spain) is an example of how integrating water reuse within a water management global scheme can help saving water resources and water supply costs. Mallorca suffers from serious water scarcity. There are no permanent surface water bodies, except two runoff collection reservoirs in the mountain range in the N of the island. At least 95% of potable water supply is obtained from groundwater. Annual potable water demand in Palma area is about 44 Mm<sup>3</sup>, which is met by exploiting 17 sources from 7 hydrologic units. Most of these aquifers are over-exploited and water quality is deteriorated by seawater intrusion. The water pumped from two main aquifers (Llano de Palma and Na Burguesa) must be desalinated in a 30,000 m<sup>3</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> reverse osmosis treatment plant (Son Tugores) operating since 1995. Thus new resources were needed. A seawater desalination plant, named Bahia de Palma, was put into operation in 1999 with a daily capacity of 42,000 m<sup>3</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> and enlarged to 60,000 m<sup>3</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> afterwards. In peak period demand, about 50% potable water demand is met through seawater desalination.

Farmers in Mallorca based in the Llano de Palma, a traditional agricultural area, used to pump water for irrigation from the coastal aquifer. As the population of the island soared, this resulted in seawater encroachment and agricultural land loss. From 1975, secondary effluents were used to irrigate at first 250, 500 later on, then up to 1100 ha. This allowed growing alfalfa and cereals and recharging the aquifer with low salt content water; thus the salinity of the aquifer water decreased gradually. The quality of the wastewater reclaimed for irrigation has been recently upgraded to a tertiary treatment of the Title 22 type, including coagulation, flocculation, dual media filtration and hypochlorite disinfection. About 15 Mm<sup>3</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> effluents are used this way for agricultural over-irrigation and subsequent aquifer recharge [17].

The total capacity of the two wastewater treatment plants serving the urban area of Palma is now about 40 Mm<sup>3</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, i.e. much more than actually used for irrigation. At the same time, farmers of the Llano de Palma are continuing pumping into the aquifer up to 30 Mm<sup>3</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> of good quality water. Thanks to the installation of a network of distribution pipes, they could use high quality reclaimed water, thus preserving the aquifer that could be extracted for potable supply [18, 19]. This would allow a significant reduction in desalination needs and cost of potable water supply to the Great Palma. However, the local authority will have

to persuade the farmers to give up with groundwater irrigation and shift to reclaimed water. At present, most farmers still use their private wells for irrigation. Groundwater is a free and convenient water supply in Llano de Palma, although, due to over pumping by farmers, the salinity may rise and may eventually have an adverse effect on yields of irrigated crops. The farmers have obtained high quality reclaimed water, but it is difficult to convince them to abandon their rights to pump groundwater. This example shows how integrating water reuse in a rational water management scheme could benefit the population, improving the security and decreasing the cost of water supply in a water scarce island. However, it also demonstrates that sound technical policies may encounter strong reluctance among a fraction of the population, leading to investments in underutilized wastewater reclamation facilities and costly desalination.

On the other hand, Palma de Mallorca is also a successful example of urban water reuse within an integrated water management framework. Since the end of the nineties, tertiary treated (coagulation, flocculation, sand filtration and gaseous chloride disinfection) water is used for public parks, landscape and golf courses irrigation. About 7 Mm<sup>3</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> are currently used, thus saving equal amounts of potable water. This is the most efficient water reuse application in Palma.

#### 7 Conclusion

The potential contribution of water reuse to the integrated management of water resources still remains considerably undeveloped, though a wide range of reliable, efficient and cost effective technical solutions are available for each type of reuse application.

Economic considerations will inevitably lead the decision makers to opt for economically efficient reuse applications, i.e. urban and industrial water reuse in the short term and indirect potable reuse in the long term. Tourist resorts offer excellent opportunities for urban reuse, which should have a bright future in Spain and many other Mediterranean countries where tourism is a major component of the gross national product. Comparing the treatment costs of seawater desalination with wastewater reclamation using the same technology (reverse osmosis) to produce potable water shows that potable water reuse will eventually be considered as a wise option even if, for public acceptance considerations, this reuse will be indirect, through aquifer recharge or reservoir replenishment.

As for any project which has or might have an environmental impact, a number of socio-economic hurdles are in the way. Environmental issues are often put forward to hide private economic interests, often jeopardizing excellent reuse projects. The only way to cope with this kind of an obstacle is public education. Landscape and agricultural irrigation are likely to be well accepted, when indirect potable reuse requires sophisticated approaches. Literature stresses the importance of involving all stake holders from the very beginning of project design. However, there is little evidence that this approach is always successful. Well planned water reuse integrated in a global water management scheme is economically sound and results in significant water savings but may be difficult to implement for socioeconomic reasons. The result is that desalination, a much more costly method, develops more rapidly than water reuse in the Mediterranean.

## References

- 1. Salgot M, Pascual A (1996) Existing guidelines and regulations in Spain on wastewater reclamation and reuse. Wat Sci Tech 34(11):261–267
- 2. BOE 294 (2007) Real Decreto 1620/2007, de 7 de diciembre, por el que se establece el régimen jurídico de la réutilización de las aguas depuradas
- CSHPF (1991) Recommandations sanitaires concernant l'utilisation, après épuration, des eaux résiduaires urbaines pour l'irrigation des cultures et des espaces verts. Minist. en charge de la Santé, Paris 40 p
- Brissaud F (2007) Low technology systems for wastewater treatment: perspectives. Wat Sci Tech 55(7):1–9
- 5. World Health Organization (1989) Health guidelines for the use of wastewater in agriculture and aquaculture, Tech. Bull. Ser. 77. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland
- 6. State of California (2000) Title 22, Code of regulations, 24 p. November 2000
- 7. World Health Organization (2006) Guidelines for the safe use of the wastewater, excreta and grey water; vol. 2: Wastewater use in agriculture. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland
- NRMMC-EPHC (2006) Australian guidelines for water recycling: Managing health and environmental risks. Natural Resource Management Ministerial Council and Environment Protection and Heritage Council – Australia. ISBN 1 921173 07 6
- Brissaud F, Bahri A (2008) Trying to set a common framework to rule water reuse in the Mediterranean region. In: Jimenez, B, Asano T (eds) Water reuse: An international survey. Contrasts, issues and needs around the world. IWA Publishing
- Bahri A (1999) Agricultural reuse of wastewater and global water management. Wat Sci Tech 40(4–5):339–346
- Brissaud F, Xu P, Auset M (2003) Extensive reclamation technologies for irrigation reuse. Wat Sci Tech/Wat Supply 3(4):209–216
- 12. Bixio D, Witgens T (2006) Water Reuse System Management Manual. AQUAREC. European Commission. ISBN 92 79 01934 1, 646 p
- 13. Jansen HP, Stenstrom MK, de Koning J (2007) Development of indirect potable reuse in impacted areas of the united states. Wat Sci Tech 55(1–2):357–366
- Salgot M, Folch M, Huertas E, Tapias J, Avellaneda D, Girós G, Brissaud F, Vergés C, Molina J, Pigem (2002) Comparison of different advanced disinfection systems for wastewater reclamation. Wat Sci Tech/Wat Supply 02(03):213–218
- 15. Anderson J, Baggett S, Jeffrey P, McPherson L, Marks J, Rosenblum E (2008) Public acceptance of water reuse. In: Jimenez B, Asano T (eds) Water reuse: An international survey. Contrasts, issues and needs around the world. IWA Publishing
- CatchWater (2001) Final report, Methodology guidelines. Planning and implementation of water reuse projects. European program ENV4-CT98-0790
- Brissaud F (2008) Criteria for water recycling and reuse in the Mediterranean countries. Desalination 218(1–3):24–33
- European Union (1991) Council Directive Concerning Urban Wastewater Treatment. 91/271 EEC of May 21, 1991, OJ NO L135/40 of May 30, 1991
- 19. Xu P, Brissaud F, Salgot M (2003) Facing water shortage in mediterranean tourist. Area: seawater desalination or water reuse? Wat Sci Tech/Wat Supply 3(3):63–70
- Asano et al. (2007) Water Reuse: Issues, Technologies, and Applications. Asano T, Burton F, Leverenz, H. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., New York

# **Reuse of Regenerated Waters Under** Water Scarcity

#### I. Ortiz, R. Ibáñez, A.M. Urtiaga, and P. Gómez

Abstract Mediterranean countries face water supply challenges due to water scarcity. Water regeneration, recycling and reuse address these challenges by resolving water resource issues and creating new sources of high-quality water supplies. Among others, industrial activities worldwide account for about a quarter of all water consumption and there is hardly any industry that does not use large amounts of water. Water standards related to industrial activities may vary in a large range of parameters and limit values. In this context the future potential for regenerated treated water is enormous. This contribution reflects the potential of advanced technologies to produce regenerated water offering specific solutions to industrial reuse needs. A general example is illustrated by a case study representative of the ability of using WWTP effluents as regenerated water sources. Appropriate combination of advanced technologies allows the production of customized regenerated water according to the standards of the potential reuse industrial activities.

Keywords Disinfection, Industry, Membrane technology, Regenerated water, Water reuse

#### Contents

1	Water Scarcity, an Increasing Global Problem	108
2	Water Reuse as an Efficient Tool Against Water Scarcity	109
2		100

I. Ortiz (🖂), R. Ibáñez, and A.M. Urtiaga

Department of Chemical Engineering y Q.I. ETSIIyT, Universidad de Cantabria, Avda.de los Castros s/n, 39005 Santander, Spain

e-mails: ortizi@unican.es; ibanezr@unican.es; urtiaga@unican.es

P. Gómez

APRIA Systems S.L., Edificio CDTUC, Avda. de los Castros s/n, 39005 Santander, Spain e-mail: consultec@apriasystems.es

New	Trends in the Production of Regenerated Waters for Reuse	. 111
4.1	Reuse of Secondary Treatment Wastewaters	111
4.2	Reuse of Regenerated Waters	111
4.3	Membrane Separation Processes in Water Regeneration	113
Indu	strial Reuse of Regenerated Waters. A Case Study	116
5.1	Evaluation of WWTP Water Source	117
5.2	Microfiltration, UV Disinfection, Nanofiltration	118
5.3	Ultrafiltration and Reverse Osmosis	120
Cone	clusions	123
erenc	es	124
	New 4.1 4.2 4.3 Indu 5.1 5.2 5.3 Cond	New Trends in the Production of Regenerated Waters for Reuse         4.1       Reuse of Secondary Treatment Wastewaters         4.2       Reuse of Regenerated Waters         4.3       Membrane Separation Processes in Water Regeneration         Industrial Reuse of Regenerated Waters. A Case Study         5.1       Evaluation of WWTP Water Source         5.2       Microfiltration, UV Disinfection, Nanofiltration         5.3       Ultrafiltration and Reverse Osmosis         Conclusions       Serences

## Abbreviations

COD	Chemical oxygen demand (mg $l^{-1}$ )
LSI	Langelier saturation index
NTU	Nephelometic turbidity units
SDI	Silt density index
TDS	Total dissolved solids (mg $l^{-1}$ )
TMP	Transmembrane pressure (bar)
TOC	Total organic carbon (mg $l^{-1}$ )
TSS	Total suspended solids (mg $l^{-1}$ )
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

# 1 Water Scarcity, an Increasing Global Problem

Water scarcity corresponds to the mismatch between demand and supply of water resources. The risks of water shortage in the Mediterranean countries are generally associated to the high water demand despite the limited renewable water resources and the irregular and unequal qualities [1].

The demand of water resource all over the world has increased considerably. This demand increased 600% in Europe during second half of the twentieth century and reached 660 km<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> at the end of the century [2]. On the other hand the renewable water resources have changed worldwide. Abstracted water rates must be sustainable in order to ensure the management and protection of water resources and related ecosystems. The sustainable use of water resources implies that the annually abstracted water should not exceed a certain ratio of the annual renewable water resources. The warning threshold for water exploitation index (WEI) being around 20%; this distinguishes a non stressed region from a stressed one. Severe water stress can occur for WEI > 40%, which indicates strong competition for water. In the major part of the European continent the

amount of available water largely exceeds its demand. Mediterranean countries are among those with higher WEI indexes. Four countries in southern Europe, representing 18% of the population, are water stressed (Cyprus, Italy, Malta, and Spain). Other Mediterranean countries, like Romania, Turkey, Bulgaria or even Portugal are moderately water stressed [3]. WEI has decreased in countries like France, Malta and Spain, mostly due to the implementation of sustainable water use programs. Other Mediterranean countries like Turkey, Portugal or Greece have however increased on their WEI.

#### 2 Water Reuse as an Efficient Tool Against Water Scarcity

Water reuse is a solution for water scarcity and the issues concerning the same are amongst the biggest drivers in the *water framework directive* (WFD) [4]. The water reuse benefits have been summarized by the *Mediterranean Water Scarcity and Drought Working Group* [1]. Nowadays treated wastewater in Europe is reused for agricultural irrigation, landscape irrigation, industrial recycling and reuse, groundwater recharge, non-potable urban uses and indirect potable use. Spain is at this moment perhaps the most important water reuser among the western European countries [5] with a total volume of 368 Hm<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> of reuse of regenerated water in 2006 [6]. Of this amount, 71% was dedicated to agricultural irrigation, 17% for environmental purposes, 7% for recreation including golf, 4% for municipal uses, and only 0.3% was employed by industry. However, industrial reuse potential is actually growing in the most industrialized regions located in N Spain, where 73% of the total water demand is assigned for industrial supply and this use accounts for 50% of the total water consumption [7].

In this context, the *European Legal Framework* promotes the use of regenerated wastewater "*whenever appropriate*" by means of the EU water framework directive [4] and other related regulations as the EU *urban wastewater treatment directive* [8]. However, there is a lack of quality standards for regenerated wastewater that are actually being solved by regional initiatives in Spain, France, Belgium, Italy, Greece, Portugal and the UK [9]. Recent efforts were carried out in 2007 by the Spanish authorities with the new regulation of regenerated wastewater [10] that introduced specific standards for industrial reuse of regenerated wastewaters.

#### **3** Reuse of Regenerated Water in Industrial Activities

Industry accounts for about a quarter of all water consumption and there is hardly any industry that does not use large amounts of water. Much of the water used in industry is taken from public water supplies and has therefore been treated to potable standards. This means that it is often of a better quality with respect to microbiological levels but still needs further treatment to reduce the mineral and organic contents according to the different specifications of use [11]. Different quality standards, from natural to ultrapure are required for specific duties in industrial activities as summarized in Table 1.

This high water consumption demands the use of new water sources apart from the natural and potable ones. The implementation of water reuse concepts is becoming an important operational and environmental issue in the industrial sector [12]. Industrial use of water encompasses quantity and quality requirements that range from the use of large volume of low-quality water for cleaning applications to the use of high-quality process water for manufacturing or boiler feed water, e.g., utility power plants are ideal facilities for reuse due to their large water requirements for cooling, ash sluicing, red-waste dilution, etc. Petroleum refineries, chemical plants and metal working facilities are among other industrial facilities benefiting from regenerated water not only for cooling, but for process needs as well, e.g., the viability of utilizing regenerated water in the electronics industry which requires water of almost ultrapure quality for washing circuit boards and other electronic components (Gagliardo et al. 2002). On the other hand, the tanning industry can use relatively low-quality water. Requirements for textiles, pulp and paper and metal manufacturing are intermediate, e.g., the textile industry, of great importance in the Mediterranean region, uses  $60-100 \text{ m}^3 \text{ t}^{-1}$  finished textile [13]. Thus, the study of feasibility of industrial reuse of regenerated water must include an early stage on the definition of the needs of the potential users in order to determine the specific utilization.

Parameter	Softened	Dealkalized	Dionized	Purified	Apyrogenic	High purity	Ultrapure
Conductivity (µs cm <sup>-1</sup> )			20	5	5	0.1	0.06
Resistivity (MΩ cm)			0.05	0.2	0.2	10	18
TDS (mg $l^{-1}$ )			<10	<1	<1	0.5	0.005
Hardness (mg $l^{-1}$ CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	<20		0.1	< 0.1	<0.1		0.001
Alkalinity		<30					0.001
Turbidity (NTU)			< 0.5				
SDI			<5	<3	<3	<1	< 0.5
Micro organisms (CFU ml <sup>-1</sup> )				<10	<1	<1	<1
$COD (mg l^{-1})$				< 0.1	< 0.1		
Silica (mg $l^{-1}$ )			0.5	0.1	0.1	< 0.01	0.002
TSS (mg $l^{-1}$ )			< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	ND
LSI	-1 to $+1$	-1 to $+1$					
Particle amount $(n.q. ml^{-1})$				1.0	1.0	1.0	0.1

Table 1 Generalized industrial water quality standards

# 4 New Trends in the Production of Regenerated Waters for Reuse

Potential contribution of regenerated water for the alleviation of stress on fresh water resources under water scarcity has been described in previous sections. Case studies considering the use of regenerated water contributing to the ecological flow in rivers, irrigation of farm areas or ameliorating salt intrusion problems in some delta aquifers can be found in the literature [3, 14–16]. However, industrial reuse potential is actually growing as these activities are increasing the water demand in Mediterranean countries, like Italy, Spain, France or others.

Multiple technologies are used to regenerate wastewater. The technologies are selected depending on the initial pollutant type and concentration, and treated water quality to be achieved. Stringent control of water quality and operational reliability are the main requirements which drive the technological choices.

## 4.1 Reuse of Secondary Treatment Wastewaters

One third of the water reclamation schemes rely on secondary treatment of municipal sewage. Municipal wastewaters are commonly treated by activated sludge systems that use suspended microorganisms to remove organics and nutrients, and large sedimentation tanks to separate the solid and liquid fractions. This level of treatment [17, 18], produces wastewater effluent that usually fulfils the requirement of cooling water in the industry, or irrigation water where the food crops are consumed after cooking [19]. The conventional activated sludge technology is being substituted by the so-called membrane bioreactors (MBRs), based on the combination of a suspended biomass reactor and separation step on porous membrane filtration. MBRs can produce high-quality effluent that is suitable for unrestricted irrigation and other industrial applications [20]. A MBR can also operate successfully where there are significant seasonal variations in load, for example tourist resorts, and can also be used to relieve overloading of existing sewage works [21]. In countries with limited water resources, the market for MBR technology is increasing considerably [15, 22].

# 4.2 Reuse of Regenerated Waters

Tertiary treatment is required often to meet the industry or irrigation standards, especially when disinfection is needed. This step is known as water regeneration. Typical tertiary treatment proposed in the literature [23] is composed of the following stages: low pressure membrane filtration (e.g., MF) followed by disinfection stage and finally high pressure membrane filtration (e.g., RO). Industrial

quality standards and regulations for regenerated water reuse limit the presence of pathogens. Disinfection may be achieved by means of (1) chemical agents, e.g., chlorine and its compounds, ozone, hydrogen peroxide, and various alkalies, (2) physical agents, e.g., heat or sound waves and (3) radiation, e.g., ultraviolet irradiation [9, 24] and more recently advanced oxidation processes (AOP) such as electrochemical disinfection [25].

Chlorination, or the use of chlorine in various forms, is the most commonly practiced wastewater disinfection technology and is fully described in the open literature [24, 26]. Chlorination and chloramination are well-established technologies with well-known inactivation mechanisms and are relatively easy to apply and often less expensive than other alternatives, regardless of the size of the system. They provide a residual, which is useful for operational monitoring and control, as well as preventing growth in the distribution systems during reuse. Free chlorine is an effective biocide and virucide that may remove some emerging compounds of concern. Monochloramines are more stable and longer lasting than free chlorine, and have much less potential to form THMs, HAAs, cyanide and cyanogen chloride than free chlorine [27]. Considering water reuse processes, oxidizing disinfectants like chlorine may help to remove pharmaceutical and endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) which are of growing concern for the wastewater treatment industry [28].

Ozone can provide smaller footprint than chlorine in the treated water due to its rapid decomposition. Other advantages lie in the ability to inactivate parasites not previously inactivated by chlorination, and the absence of THMs and HAAs formation. This technology presents some disadvantages, like being more energy intensive and high capital costs and the risk of generation of disinfection by-products, some of which (e.g., bromate and aldehydes) are potentially harmful to human health. Due to these disadvantages ozone disinfection is less implemented than chlorination in conventional wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), but applications in industrial wastewater regeneration can be found in literature [29, 30].

Ultraviolet light (UV) is a valuable alternative for disinfection of treated wastewater because it forms no or very low levels of disinfection by-products. UV inactivation of microorganisms is considered to be a physical or biophysical process. The germicidal wavelength lies between 220 and 320 nm in the region of UV-B and UV-C [24]. The use of UV light in regenerated water disinfection either alone or combined with other disinfection technologies is increasing [31]. Pretreatment is needed in order to reduce turbidity, SS and some other industrial discharges that reduce UV transmittance causing ineffectiveness when UV disinfection is applied to wastewater [32].

AOPs are valuable tertiary treatments allowing not only inactivation of a wide spectrum of pathogens but also the removal of a great number of the so-called emerging pollutants (pharmaceutical, personal care products). These are not totally removed during conventional treatment, but remain in the wastewater effluents [33]. Among different alternatives electrochemical oxidation with born doped diamond electrodes (BDD) has been reported to be effective on eliminating a wide spectrum of microorganisms, although disinfection mechanisms have not been yet clearly identified [25, 34].

#### 4.3 Membrane Separation Processes in Water Regeneration

Low pressure membrane processes of microfiltration (MF) and ultrafiltration (UF) are used for the removal of turbidity, pathogenic microorganisms and organic matter. MF refers to filtration processes that use porous membranes to separate suspended particles with diameters between 0.1 and 10  $\mu$ m. UF uses a finely porous membrane to separate water and microsolutes from macromolecules and colloids. The average pore diameter of the membrane is 10–1000 A range [35]. MF and UF are mostly employed as pretreatments for wastewater desalination using reverse osmosis (RO) [36]. MF/UF systems for pretreatment comprise 35–40% of all pretreatment installations and they are expected to replace over 80% of the existing conventional/other pretreatment systems by 2012. These treatments are also the favorite technologies on sewage for the removal of suspended solids, particles, bacteria and parasites.

MF presents high efficiency eliminating turbidity and suspended solids but the MF effluent does not present standard characteristics for reuse in most industrial applications. So MF is usually used as UF pretreatment.

UF is increasingly used as a complete or intermediate water purification technique. Compared to conventional treatments UF offers several advantages such as: superior quality of treated water, a much more compact system, easier control for operation maintenance, fewer chemicals and less production of sludge [37]. UF membranes are attractive as a pretreatment prior to RO for regeneration of secondary treated sewage effluent, because permeate qualities are high and constant despite widely changing raw water quality [38]. UF is very efficient for removing different parameters, e.g., a noticeable elimination of suspended solids and turbidity is achieved; metals like Fe, Zn, Al, Cr, Cu and Mn are significantly eliminated; microbial pollution is totally eliminated; Fecal coliforms, total coliforms, fecal streptococcus, protozoan cysts (Giardia and Cryptosporidium), and even viruses are totally removed by UF [39–41]; reduction in the concentration of organic matter occurs when the organic fraction is mostly in the suspended form. No clear effect is produced on inorganic salts abatement, and consequently conductivity values are not affected by UF.

Avoiding and mitigating fouling related problems is one of the most important targets whenever membrane processes is considered in water regeneration research and development. A commonly used approach to mitigate fouling is feed pretreatment to remove/modify the components with high fouling potential [42]. The most usual pretreatment method in order to improve low pressure membrane performance includes prefiltration (MF) or others like chemical coagulation and anion exchange resins [43]. Chemical coagulation is widely used as a simple and effective means for the removal of particulates, colloids and high molecular weight organic

Table 2 A	application of advanced technolog	gies for water reuse in indus	strial activi	ties, examples of R&D	in countries facing water scarcity
Reference	Wastewater source	Proposed industrial reuse	Country	Technologies considered	Highlights
[29]	Poultry process	Poultry process	Greece	MBR/UF	Demonstrates the potential for the use of UF for recycling process wastewater and recovery of value added products
[59]	Digital textile printing (DTP)	DTP Direct discharge	Korea	Ozone/MF/RO	The proposed hybrid system met criteria of direct discharge or reuse
[09]	Secondary effluent from mechanical factory treatment plant	Plating wastewater reutilization	China	(MF/UF)/ED/(RO/ NF)	New results of multiple membrane separation are presented, which showed a possible feasibility for industrial application in the near future
[61]	Wastewater from a cotton thread factory	Textile industry activities	Spain	UF/NF	The NF permeate obtained (membrane NF90) could meet specifications for water reuse in the textile industry
[62]	Effluent for a denim textile mill	Denim textile wastewater reuse	Turkey	Activated sludge/ MF/NF	Demonstrates that NF after biological treatment can be applied to meet reuse criteria in denim textile wastewaters
[63]	Secondary effluent of a textile industry	Textile industry reuses	Spain	UF + NF UF + RO	The combined hybrid systems met criteria for reuse in the textile industry. Differences in performance are discussed
[12]	Industrial laundries wastewater	Rinsing and washing water in industrial laundries	Germany	MBR/RO	The high-quality of the reverse osmosis permeate meets the demands of the rinsing processes for industrial laundries
[64]	Car-washing wastewater	Carwash water	Kuwait	Separation tank/oil: water separator/ filters	75% of the water can be recycled and reused for further local usages such as performing new carwashes
[65]	Print dying wastewater	Carpet manufacturing processes	Turkey	Different pretreatments/NF	A two stage process, optimum dose CP/NF successfully treated the print dying wastewaters of carpet manufacturing industry for the purpose of reuse
[99]	Olive mill wastewater	Water for irrigation and/ or as herbicides	Greece	UF/NF/RO	More than $97\%$ of colloidal particles were remove Fouling reduction found to be coagulant dependent

114

$\frac{1}{2}$ Reclamation objectives reached at laboratory scale. Preliminary techno-economic evaluation for 1,200 m <sup>3</sup> per day treatment plant concluded that the cost of the treatment of 1 m <sup>3</sup> wastewater was 0.22	Process was suitable for the reuse of water in the desired industrial applications	The final permeate is a clear transparent wastewater which may be disposed in landfills or used for irrigation without environmental risks	F/ The reuse objectives were reached with the obtained regenerated water
Coagulation/UF/NF RO	UF/RO	Coagulation/UF	Activated sludge/N RO
Egypt	Taiwan	Korea	Finland
Low and high pressure boilers	Cooling and low pressure boiler applications	Textile wastewater reclamation	Paper production
Food processing	Industrial park WWTP	Textile industry wastewater	Pulp and paper wastewater
[67]	[68]	[69]	[70]

materials from water and wastewater [44]. However three are some cases where coagulation has had negative effects on membrane performance [45, 46] Anion exchange resin has been used as a means of improving membrane performance by removing a significant faction of organic matter from drinking water sources [47] but few applications have been reported where anion exchange resins are used in wastewater treatment [43].

Several cleaning methods are used to remove the densified gel layer of retained material from the membrane surface. Alkaline solutions followed by hot detergent solutions are indicated for organic polymer colloids and gelatinous materials fouling. Ferrous deposits, typical in water treatments, are usually removed with a citric or hydrochloric wash. [35].

Backflushing is another way of cleaning heavily fouled membranes. During back flushing a slight overpressure is applied to the permeate side of the membrane forcing solution from the permeate side to the feed side of the membrane. The flow of solution lifts deposited materials from the surface. Typical back flushing pressures are 5–15 psi [48].

When high-quality water is required, an additional step apart from MF/UF treatment is necessary. High pressure membrane technologies, nanofiltration (NF), membrane pore size 0.001  $\mu$ m, and RO, membrane pore size 0.0001  $\mu$ m, appear as potential treatments which allow the obtention of high-quality water. RO results demonstrate the capacity of this technology for reducing and eliminating several parameters such as TDS, alkalinity, hardness, TOC, BOD<sub>5</sub>, anions like chloride, nitrate, and phosphate, and different metals, like calcium, magnesium, chromium and iron in order to achieve ultrapure water quality for specific industrial applications [38].

Considering the high variability in the wastewater sources, the specific standards of the different industrial activities, and the broad possibilities that are technically available according to the state of the art, a combination of different centralized or decentralized technical solutions can be applied to reach the specific objectives when considering the local water cycle. The issue is not the availability of technology but the vision, experience and institutional infrastructure needed to recognize and implement reuse solutions. Table 2 compiles some representative examples of the R&D in reclamation strategies with industrial reuse purposes being developed in countries suffering some grade of water scarcity.

#### 5 Industrial Reuse of Regenerated Waters. A Case Study

The viability of producing regenerated water for industrial reuse purposes by means of tertiary treatment of WWTP effluents is illustrated in this section, through examples in N Spain. The demonstration has been performed in Spain. The industrial activities in the selected region showed that the potential industrial demand of regenerated wastewater accounted for 5.2 Hm<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> which could be obtained from WWTP facilities located 5 km away of the industrial consumers,

after appropriate treatments. The uses of this water demand are cooling water (47%), process water (26%), cleaning water (26%) and vapor production (1%).

This case study defines the sustainable processes through the optimum combination of innovative and efficient technologies that after application to WWTPs effluents allow producing enough regenerated water that could be reused to satisfy the industrial needs. Suspended solids, turbidity, *E. coli*, intestinal nematodes, and *Legionella* are the main regulated standards, and the limits are defined as a function of the final industrial use of water, e.g., *E. coli* in Process and Cleaning Water (10,000 CFU per 100 ml); Process and Cleaning Water for Food Industry (1,000 CFU per 100 ml); Cooling Towers and Evaporative Condensers (0 CFU per 100 ml) [10].

#### 5.1 Evaluation of WWTP Water Source

The WWTP *Vuelta Ostrera*, located within 5 km distance from potential industrial water reusers and designed on the basis of an equivalent population of 310,000 equivalent inhabitants (EI) that treats an average flow rate of inlet water of 109,382 m<sup>3</sup> per day has been selected for this demonstration. Table 3 shows average values of the physico-chemical parameters of the effluent from the secondary treatment. The data are average values from four mixed samples (collected during 24 h); in different seasons (spring, summer, autumn, winter) along 1 year. Data (Table 3) lie within the average range reported in the literature for similar characteristics WWTP in the Mediterranean Region [49–51].

As expected for a WWTP effluent, turbidity and *E. coli* are higher than the specific standards for industrial wastewater reuse included in the new Spanish Regulation of Regenerated Wastewater (RD 1620/2007). Other parameters, such as conductivity or TDS may result in too much high level considering some specific industrial uses of water [11]. Therefore further treatment of the WWTP effluent is needed before reuse.

Parameter	Value	Units	Parameter	Value	Units
	MinMax.			MinMax.	
pН	6.6–7.6		TDS	268–738	$mg l^{-1}$
Temperature	12.0-20.0	°C	Salinity	0.3–0.6	0/00
Conductivity	495–1,485	$\mu S \text{ cm}^{-1}$	Bicarbonates	61–262	$mg l^{-1}$
Turbidity	5.5-30.0	NTU	Κ	4.5-20.5	$mg l^{-1}$
TSS	1.0-42.0	$mg l^{-1}$	Ca	65-105	$mg l^{-1}$
COD	1.8-16.2	$mg l^{-1}$	Mg	12-14	$mg l^{-1}$
Chloride	33.1-114.0	$mg l^{-1}$	Silica	6.8-8.0	$mg l^{-1}$
Sulfate	52.1-140.4	$mg l^{-1}$	Alkalinity	125-225	mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> $l^{-1}$
Phosphate	0.7-8.6	$mg l^{-1}$	Escherichia Coli	$1.3 \times 10^{4}$ -6.9 × 10 <sup>5</sup>	CFU per 100 ml
Nitrate	0.5-1.1	$mg l^{-1}$	Legionella	<1.0	CFU $\overline{l}^{-1}$

Table 3 Vuelta Ostrera WWTP effluent characterisation



Fig. 1 Integral hybrid process flow diagram MF/UV/NF for regeneration of WWTP effluents

#### 5.2 Microfiltration, UV Disinfection, Nanofiltration

Typical tertiary treatment proposed in the literature [23] is composed of MF, disinfection and high pressure membrane filtration (NF/RO). Figure 1 summarizes the flow diagram of a hybrid tertiary treatment combining the former technologies that can be used to obtain regenerated water from a WWTP effluent. The treatment includes removal of macro-pollutants by means of MF, followed by inactivation of *E. coli* in order to reach regenerated water standards (RD 1620/2007), and a final treatment by means of an advanced membrane technology in order to reach reuse standards for specific industrial uses like cooling and boiler feedwater [11].

#### 5.2.1 Microfiltration Removal of Macro-Pollutants

Removal of macro-pollutants is a necessary pretreatment whatsoever disinfection is used. Suspended solids and turbidity reduce the efficiency of disinfection technologies like UV by reducing the light transmission through the solution [52]. Different technologies, like coagulation, sedimentation or filtration [53], can be used as pretreatment technologies. The performance of filtration though a 5  $\mu$ m membrane module (Polygard, Millipore) is evaluated by the reduction of suspended solids concentration and turbidity.

Table 4 summarizes the efficiency of membrane filtration as preliminary treatment in the hybrid process to obtain regenerated water for industrial reuse. Working with the adequate cleaning cycle to avoid fouling and to keep a constant flux (10 1 min<sup>-1</sup>) important reduction in suspended solids (90%) and turbidity (60%) of the wastewaters is achieved but there is no significant reduction of other chemical or physical parameters, e.g., conductivity, alkalinity or TDS, or inactivation of *E. coli*.

#### 5.2.2 UV Disinfection

Disinfection is a necessary step not only to reduce the *E. coli* concentration according to the regulation requirements but also to remove other pathogens non

Parameter	WWTP effluent average value	MF effluent	UV effluent	Regenerated water average value	Average reduction (%)
Turbidity (NTU)	5.5-30.0	2.0-2.5	2.0-2.5	1.20-1.22	70-80
TSS (mg $l^{-1}$ )	1.0-42.0	< 0.01		_	100
E. coli (CFU per	$1.3 \times 10^{4}$ -	$1.3 \times 10^{4}$ -	<100.0		99
100 ml)	$5.2 \times 10^{5}$	$5.2 \times 10^{5}$			
TDS (mg $l^{-1}$ )	268-738	268-738	268-738	90-110	75
Conductivity ( $\mu$ S cm <sup>-1</sup> )	495–1,485	495–1,485	495–1,485	213–230	74
Salinity (‰)	0.4-0.6	0.4-0.6	0.4–0.6	0.1	75
Alkalinity TAC (mg l <sup>-1</sup> )	125–225	125–225	125–225	45–46	74.5

Table 4 Efficiency of the hybrid system MF/UV/NF in the reclamation process of WWTP wastewater for industrial reuse

desirable in specific industrial uses and to avoid bio-fouling in membrane steps such as RO or NF, e.g., *Legionella* [54].

The use of UV light has been selected as disinfection agent in this case study. The advantages of this technique have been explained previously [27]. Total inactivation of the *E. coli* present in the WWTP effluent was achieved, as can be seen in Table 4 and pressure drop in the water line was increased in 0.1 bar.

#### 5.2.3 Nanofiltration as Final Treatment Before Specific Industrial Reuse

The effluent obtained after solids removal and microbiological disinfection could be reused as cooling water, cleaning water or industrial process water in many industrial uses. A final polishing step may be necessary if higher quality requirements are needed in some specific industrial uses, e.g., cooling and boiler feedwater. Membrane processes such as NF or RO eliminate inorganic ions and reduce parameters like conductivity, alkalinity or salinity, etc.

The effluent from the disinfection step was flowed through a polysulfone spiral wound NF Pilot Plant with 0.7 m<sup>2</sup> of membrane (DSS TEST UNIT M20-0, 72-PSO, ALFA-LAVAL) working at room temperature and at 20 bar operation pressure.

Table 4 summarizes the efficiency of this hybrid MF/UV/NF process. Reduction of conductivity, turbidity, suspended solids and TDS was close to 100%. Conductivity values were reduced down to average values of 200  $\mu$ S cm<sup>-1</sup> while turbidity and TDS reached 1.2 NTU and 102 mg l<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Thus, regenerated water could meet the standards for cooling and boiler feedwater [11].

Although certain variability in the quality of the WWTP effluent was found, regenerated wastewater by the selected process resulted of a good constant composition in the measured parameters, with important reduction of all the measured pollutants. Disinfection by UV achieved almost 100% of effectiveness in the destruction of microorganisms (*E. coli*). Conductivity, turbidity or TDS parameters



FT: Feed Trank, MF: Microfiltration module, UV: ultraviolet Lamp, NF: Nanofiltration module.

Fig. 2 Individual effect on the normalized concentration of selected parameters in the effluents for the technologies used in this study. *Red line* indicates the decreasing concentration evolution. *Circles* remark the most efficient technology in each target

were reduced up to 70% after NF treatment meeting the quality standards for different industrial uses even for cooling or boiling feedwater.

Figure 2 summarizes the individual steps in the proposed hybrid system showing the obtained reduction in normalized concentration (MF, UV, and NF) effluent. Figure 2 illustrates the concept of customized regeneration process according to the reuser needs.

## 5.3 Ultrafiltration and Reverse Osmosis

According to Lesli et al.[55]) and Lubello et al. [56], a combined membrane process using either MF or UF hollow fiber membranes followed by RO spiral wound membranes is recognized as a low cost alternative for municipal wastewater reuse plants. UF/MF ensures that significantly higher fluxes are obtained from the RO unit, with much less fouling, reduced chemical usage, and better on-stream time [36]. Regeneration of the effluent from a WWTP, *Vuelta Ostrera*, by means of a hybrid process UF/RO is illustrated in this section. Figure 3 represents a schematic diagram of the proposed regeneration system.



Fig. 3 Integral hybrid process flow diagram MF/UF/RO for regeneration of WWTP effluents

#### 5.3.1 Ultrafiltration Pretreatment

Effluent pretreatment is necessary when RO is used as tertiary treatment in order to prevent membranes filters form being blocked or abraded. UF offers a powerful tool for the reduction of fouling potential of RO/NF membranes [57]. A typical pretreatment consist of a MF allowing the removal of the large suspended solids form the WWTP effluent followed by UF unit which removes thoroughly suspended solids, colloidal material, bacteria, viruses and organic compounds from the filtrated water. The UF product is sent to the RO unit where dissolved salts are removed.

A typical UF pilot plant has been used in this study. Examples of application for these membranes can be found in the literature [40, 58]. The UF unit woks in deadend mode ( $2.5 \text{ m}^3 \text{ h}^{-1}$ ) and it can be operated in filtration, backwash and chemically enhanced backwash (CEB) modes as described in the literature for similar UF systems [40]. The specifications of the hollow fiber UF modules and the operating conditions are summarized in Table 5.

A 99% permeate recovery is obtained working under filtration mode although global recovery decreases down to 90–80% as permeate is used in backwash operation. The permeate quality of UF membrane and the efficiency of this stage are reported in Table 6. High-quality water ready to be used in many industrial applications and below regulation standards for regenerated water reuse (RD 1620/2007) is provided; e.g., turbidity and pathogens are fully eliminated. The former indicated the membrane had excellent performance for removal of pathogens and colloidal substances causing turbidity. The UF permeate was also suitable for feeding the RO unit.

#### 5.3.2 Reverse Osmosis as Final Treatment for Industrial Reuse

A RO stage can be used to reduce salinity and related parameters for high standard industrial reuse using the former UF effluent as feed stream. A pilot plant with 0.4 m<sup>3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> constant permeate flux capacity has been used in this demonstration. Table 7 summarizes the main technical characteristics of this plant. In order to increase the overall system recovery ratio while maintaining an acceptable

Hollow fiber UF membr	rane specifications	UF pilot plant operation conditions			
Module	SLX-225 FSFC PVC	Parameter	Units	Value	
Membrane	HDG 4000XF	Feed flow rate	$m^3 h^{-1}$	2.5	
Manufacturer	X-flow (Norit)	Backwash flow rate	$m^3 h^{-1}$	25	
Membrane material	PES/PVC	Backwash duration			
Pore size (µm)	0.02-0.0025	Forward flush	S	60	
Fiber inner diameter (mm)	0.8	Air flush	S	10	
MWCO (kDa)	150	Back flush	S	70	
Membrane surface (m <sup>2</sup> )	40 (per element)	Backwash frequency	m	45-60	
Module length (mm)	1,537	CEB duration			
Module diameter (mm)	200	Flush	S	60	
Capacity $(m^2 h^{-1})$	2–5	Chemical dosing	S	120	
Membrane thickness (mm)	0.25	Soak period	m	15	
		Chemical flush	n	2	
		CEB interval	h	24	
		TMP	mbar	0–400	

 Table 5
 Membrane specifications and operation conditions for UF stage in WWTP hybrid process for industrial reuse water reclamation

 Table 6 Efficiency of the hybrid system UF/RO in the reclamation of WWTP wastewater for industrial reuse

Parameter	Average concentration			UF	RO	
	WWTP	UF permeate	RO permeate	efficiency	efficiency	
	effluent	-	-			
Turbidity (NTU)	4–10	0	0	$\checkmark$		
TDS (mg $l^{-1}$ )	30-500	30-500	3–7		$\checkmark$	
TSS (mg $l^{-1}$ )	5-15	0	0	$\checkmark$		
Bicarbonate (mg $l^{-1}$ )	200	200	10-20		$\checkmark$	
Conductivity $(\mu S \text{ cm}^{-1})$	600–800	600-800	5-30			
Salinity (‰)	0.4-0.5	0.4-0.5	0			
Total coliforms	$0 - 10^{6}$	0	0	$\checkmark$	•	
(CFU per 100 ml)						
<i>E. coli</i> (CFU per 100 ml)	$0-5 \times 10^{5}$	0	0	$\checkmark$		
Nematodes		<1		$\checkmark$		
Chlorine (mg $l^{-1}$ )	0-1	0-1	0			
$SiO_2 (mg l^{-1})$	7–9	7–9	0			
TOC $(mg l^{-1})$	10-20	10-20	2			

concentrate flow, a part of the concentrate stream is returned to the suction of the high pressure pump. Due to blending of the feed with concentrate stream, the average feed salinity is increased. Therefore, both the feed pressure and the permeate salinity are higher as well.

Table 6 shows the efficiency of the RO unit. 99.9% salt retention is reached; additionally reduction efficiencies of 99% for TDS, silica and conductivity, 95% for

			5	Series configurat working paramet	ion ers
Туре	Configuration	Spiral wound	Stream	Flow $(m^3 h^{-1})$	Pressure (bar)
	Material	Composite polyamide neutrally charged	1	0.80	0.0
	Membrane surface	$7.905 \text{ m}^2$	2	1.20	0.0
	Nominal pore size		3	1.20	10.8
Performance	Permeate flow	8.7 m <sup>3</sup> per day	4	0.86	10.5
	Salt rejection (minimum)	99%	5	0.40	0.0
Application data	Maximum applied pressure	41.6 bar	6	0.46	0.0
	Maximum operating temperature	45°C	7	0.34	0.0
	Feed water pH range	3–10			
	Maximum feed water turbidity	1 NTU			

Table 7 LFC1-4040 RO pilot plant characterization and working parameters

Details from Nitto Denko Hydranautics data sheet

bicarbonates, 81% for COT are achieved. Considering the former average removal efficiencies of 100% for turbidity, TDS, total coliforms and *E. coli* obtained with the UF unit, it is concluded that the hybrid UF/RO process can provide a reliable tool for the use of WWTP as regenerated water source for industrial reuse.

## 6 Conclusions

The capability of advanced technologies in the production of regenerated water for industrial reuse has been illustrated in this chapter. The reuse of regenerated water in industrial activities has been demonstrated as an effective tool for sustainable industrial development under water scarcity conditions as it can provide a big deal of the large amounts of water needed in those activities and moreover it can customize the regenerated water characteristics to the water standards required in different industrial activities by means of adequate combination of available advanced technologies.

The opportunities offered by the state of the art in the development and application of advanced technologies for water reclamation have been presented and illustrated by means of a general example representative of the ability of using WWTP effluents as regenerated water source by means of combination of advanced technologies. Although certain variability in the quality of the WWTP effluent was found, regenerated wastewater by the selected process resulted of a good constant composition in the measured parameters, with important reduction of all the pollutants considered. Selection of the most suitable combination of advanced technologies should be addressed taking into account the final reuse needs.

Acknowledgments Financial support from projects *Consolider CSD2006-44*, and *CTQ2008-00690/PPQ* from Spanish Ministry of Science, and *062/SGTB/2007/3.1* from Spanish Ministry of Environment are gratefully acknowledged

## References

- Blinda M, Boufaroua M, Carmi N et al (2007) Mediterranean water scarcity and drought report. Technical report on water scarcity and drought management in the mediterranean and the water framework directive. Produced by the Mediterranean Water Scarcity & Drought Working Group (MED WS & D WG)
- 2. Estrela T et al (2001) Sustainable water use in Europe. Part 3: Extreme hydrological events: floods and droughts. European Environmental Agency, Copenhagen
- Marecos do Monte MH (2007) Water reuse in Europe, E-water. Official Publication of the European Water Association (EWA), 1–18
- EC (2000) European parliament and the council of the European union. Directive 2000/60/EC establishing a framework for the community action in the filed of water policy. Official Journal of the European Communities L32, 1–72
- Kolodziejski J, Gasson C (2007) Water reuse markets 2005–2015. A global assessment and forecast. Global Water Intelligence, Oxford, UK
- CEDEX (2006) Centro de Estudios Hidrográficos del Centro de Estudios y Experimentación de obras Públicas. http://hercules.cedex.es/FMA/BBDD.pdf. Accessed 30 July 2008
- INE (2006) http://www.ine.es/inebmenu/mnu\_medioambiente.htm. Accessed 30 July 2008. Instituto Nacional de Estadística, Spain
- 8. EEC (1991) Council Directive
- MEDAWARE (2005) Technical guidelines on wastewater utilisation (task 5). Development
  of tools and guidelines for the promotion of the sustainable urban wastewater treatment and
  reuse in the agricultural production in the mediterranean countries. MEDAWARE ME8/
  AIDCO/2001/0515/59341-P033
- 10. Spanish Royal Decree 1620/2007. BOE 294, 8 December 2007
- 11. Judd S, Jefferson B (2005) Membranes for industrial wastewater recovery and reuse. Elsevier Advanced Technology, Oxford
- Hoinkis J, Panten V (2008) Wastewater recycling in laundries-from pilot plant to large scale plant. Chem Eng Process 47:1159–1164
- Li Rosi O, Casarci M, Mattioli D, De Florio L (2007) Best available technique for water reuse in textile SMEs (BATTLE LIFE Project). Desalination 206:614–619
- Angelakis AN, Marecos Do Monte MHF, Bontoux L, Asano T (1999) The status of wastewater reuse practice in the Mediterranean Basin: need for guidelines. Wat. Res. 33(10): 2201–2217
- Cazurra T (2008) Water reuse of south Barcelona's wastewater reclamation plant. Desalination 218:43–51
- Esteban RI, Ortega de Miguel E (2008) Present and future of wastewater reuse in Spain. Desalination 218:105–119

- 17. Degrémont O (ed) (2007) Water treatment handbook, 7th edn. Lavoisier, Rueil-Mamaison Cedex, France
- Metcalf & Eddy (2003) Wastewater engineering treatment and reuse, 4th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 19. Russell DL (2006) Practical wastewater treatment. Wiley, New York
- Shannon MA, Bohn PW, Elimelech M et al (2008) Science and technology for water purification in the coming decades. Nature 452(20):301–310
- 21. Hunter N (2007) Water reuse: making use of wastewater. Filtration Separation 44(7):24-27
- 22. Halalsheh M, Dalahmeh S, Sayed M et al (2008) Grey water characteristics and treatment options for rural areas in Jordan. Biores Technol 99:6635–6641
- 23. Lazarova V, Levine B, Sack J et al (2001) Role of water reuse for enhancing integrated water management in Europe and Mediterranean countries. Water Sci Technol 43:25–33
- 24. Leong LYC, Kuo J, Tang C (2008) Disinfection of wastewater effluent-comparison of alternative technologies. IWA, OH, USA
- 25. Polcaro AM, Vacca A, Mascia M et al (2007) Characterization of stirred tank electrochemical cell for water disinfection processes. Electrochim Acta 52:2595–2602
- 26. Connell GF (2006) Key operation strategies for chlorine disinfection operating systems. Proceedings of WEFTEC, Water Environment Federation
- Xie YF (2004) Disinfection by-products in drinking water. Formation, analysis and control. Lewis, Boca Raton, FL
- Snyder SA, Wert EC, Lei H et al (2007) Removal of EDCs and pharmaceuticals in drinking and reuse treatment processes. Report no 2758 (AWWARF)
- 29. Avula RY, Nelson HM, Singh RK (2009) Recycling of poultry process wastewater by ultrafiltration. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 10:1–8
- 30. Petala M, Tsiridis V, Zouboulis A, Sakellaropoulos GP (2006) Wastewater reclamation by advanced treatment of secondary effluents. Desalination 195:109–118
- Montemayor M, Costan A, Lucena F et al (2008) The combined performance of UV light and chlorine during recalimed water disinfection. Water Sci Technol 57(6):935–940
- 32. Mamane H (2008) Impact of particles on UV disinfection of water and wastewater effluents: a review. Rev Chem Eng 24:67–157
- 33. Ternes TA, Joss A (2006) Human pharmaceuticals, hormones and fragrances. The challenge of micropollutans in urban management. IWA, London, UK
- 34. Rychen P, Pupunat L, Haenni W, Santoli E (2003) Water treatment applications with BDD electrodes and the DiaCell concept. New Diam Front Carbon Technol 13(2):109–117
- 35. Baker RW (2004) Membrane technology and applications. Wiley, West Sussex, England
- 36. Pearce GK (2008) UF/MF pretreatment to RO in seawater and wastewater reuse applications: a comparison of energy costs. Desalination 222:66–73
- Abdessemend D, Nezzal G, Ben Aïm R (1999) Treatment of wastewater by ultrafiltration. Desalination 106:1–5
- Kim SL, Chen JP, Ting YP (2002) Study on feed pre-treatment for membrane filtration of secondary effluent. Sep Purif Technol 29:171–179
- 39. Alonso E, Santos A, Solís GJ, Riesco P (2001) On the feasibility or urban wastewater tertiary treatment by membranes: a comparative assessment. Desalination 141:39–51
- 40. Qin J, Oo MH, Lee H, Kolkman R (2004) Dead-end ultrafiltration for pre-treatment of RO in reclamation of municipal wastewater effluent. J Memb Sci 243:107–113
- 41. Ravazzini AM, Nieuwenhuijzen AF, van der Graaf JHMJ (2005) Direct ultrafiltration of municipal wastewater: comparison between filtration of raw sewage and primary clarifier effluent. Desalination 178:51–62
- 42. Shon HK, Vigneswaran S, Snyder SA (2006) Effluent organic matter (EfOM) in wastewater: constituents, effects, and treatment. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 36:327–374
- 43. Fan L, Nguyen T, Roddick FA et al (2008) Low-pressure filtration of secondary effluent in water reuse: pre-treatment for fouling reduction. J Memb Sci 320:135–142
- Chen Y, Dong BZ, Gao NY, Fan JC (2007) Effect of coagulation pre-treatment on fouling of an ultrafiltration membrane. Desalination 204:181–188

- 45. Shon HK, Vigneswaran S, Ngo HH et al (2005) Is semi-flocculation effective as pre-treatment to ultrafiltration in wastewater treatment? Water Res 39:147–153
- 46. Shorney HL, Vernon WA, Clune J et al (2001) Performance of MF/UF membranes with in-line ferric-salt coagulation for removal of arsenic from a southwest surface water. In: Proceedings of the 2001 AWWA membrane technology conference, San Antonio, TX
- 47. Fabris R, Lee EK, Chow CWK et al (2007) Pre-treatment to reduce fouling of low pressure micro-filtration (MF) membranes. J Memb Sci 289:231–240
- 48. Kim HG, Park Ch, Yang J et al (2007) Optimization of backflushing conditions for ceramic ultrafiltration membrane of disperse dye solutions. Desalination 202:150–155
- Glueckstern P, Priel M, Gelman E et al (2008) Wastewater desalination in Israel. Desalination 222:151–164
- de Koning J, Bixio D, Karabelas A et al (2008) Characteristics and assessment of water treatment technologies for reuse. Desalination 218:92–104
- Petta L, Kramer A, Al Baz I (2007) The EM water project promoting efficient wastewater management and reuse in Mediterranean countries. Desalination 215:56–63
- 52. Pera-Titus M, Garcia-Molina V, Baños MA et al (2004) Degradation of chlorophenols by means of advanced oxidation processes: a general review. Appl Catal B 47:219–256
- Gómez M, Plaza F, Garralón G et al (2007) A comparative study of tertiary wastewater treatment by physico-chemical-UV process and macrofiltration-ultrafiltration technologies. Desalination 202:369–376
- Delaedt Y, Daneels A, Declerck P et al (2008) The impact of electrochemical disinfection on Escherichia coli and Legionella pneumophila in tap water. Microbiol Res 163(2):192–199
- 55. Lesli GL, Mills WR, Dunivin WR et al (1998) Performance and economic evaluation of membrane processes for reuse application. In:Proceedings of water reuse conference, Lake Buena Vista, FL, USA
- Lubello C, Gori AM, de Bernardinis M et al (2003) Ultrafiltration as tertiary treatment for industrial reuse. Water Sci Technol 3(4):161–168
- 57. Rosberg R (1997) Ultrafiltration (new technology), a viable cost-saving pretreatmen for reverse osmosis and nanofiltration a new approach to reduce costs. Desalination 110:107–114
- Janssen AN, van Agtmaal J, van den Broek WBP et al (2008) Monitoring of SUR to control and enhance the performance of dead-end ultrafiltration installations treating WWTP effluent. Desalination 231:99–107
- Chang IS, Lee SS, Choe EK (2009) Digital textile printing (DTP) wastewater treatment using ozone and membrane filtration. Desalination 235:110–121
- 60. Zuo W, Zhang G, Meng Q, Zhang H (2008) Characteristics and application of multiple membrane process in plating wastewater reutilization. Desalination 222:187–196
- Gonzálvez-Zafrilla JM, Sanz-Escribano D, Lora-García J et al (2008) Nanofiltration of secondary effluent for wastewater reuse in the textile industry. Desalination 222:271–279
- 62. Sahinkaya E, Uzal N, Yetis U et al (2008) Biological treatment and nanofiltration of denim textile wastewater for reuse. J Hazard Mater 153:1142–1148
- 63. Arnal JM, León MC, Lora J et al (2008) Ultrafiltration as a pre-treatment of other membrane technologies in the reuse of textile wastewaters. Desalination 222:405–412
- 64. AL-Odwani A, Ahmed M, Bou-Hamad S (2007) Carwash water reclamation in Kuwait. Desalination 206:17–28
- 65. Capar G, Yetis U, Yilmaz L (2007) The most effective pre-treatment to nanofiltration for the recovery of print dyeing wastewaters. Desalination 212:103–113
- 66. Paraskeva CA, Papadakis VG, Kanellopoulou DG et al (2007) Membrane filtration of olive mill wastewater and exploitation of its fractions. Water Environ Res 79:79–85
- Hafez A, Khedr M, Gadallah H (2007) Wastewater treatment and water reuse of food processing industries. Part II: Techno-economic study of a membrane separation technique. Desalination 214:261–272

- Juang LC, Tseng DH, Lin HY (2007) Membrane processes for water reuse from the effluent of industrial wastewater treatment plant: a study on flux and fouling of membrane. Desalination 202:302–309
- 69. Choo KH, Choi SJ, Hwang ED (2007) Effect of coagulant types on textile wastewater reclamation in a combined coagulation/ultrafiltration system. Desalination 202:262–270
- Mänttäri M, Nyströn M (2007) Membrane filtration for tertiary treatment of biologically treated effluents from the pulp and paper industry. Water Sci Technol 55(6):99–107
- Council Directive (1991) 91/271/EEC of 21 May 1991 concerning urban waste-water treatment. Official J European Communities L134/40, Luxembourg, 30 June 1991

# **Decision Support Systems for Integrated Water Resources Management Under Water Scarcity**

Joaquim Comas and Manel Poch

Abstract Environmental decision support systems (EDSS) can be defined as intelligent information systems that are able to integrate numerical models (linear or nonlinear) with artificial intelligence (AI) techniques, together with geographical information and environmental ontologies. EDSS emulate the expert's reasoning processes in decision making, integrating geographical information and environmental ontologies, reducing the time in which decisions are made, as well as improving the consistency and quality of those decisions. EDSS can be useful to cope with the complexity and multidisciplinary nature of Integrated Water Resource Management (IWRM). Besides, the Drought Management Plan Report written by the Water Scarcity and Droughts Expert Network (November 2007) states the "Development of decision support systems for the best exploitation of all information available, including drought forecasts, in order to optimize drought management and mitigation measures" as one of the main needs for advances in drought research. The necessity to confront complexity when dealing with IWRM is first stated in the paper. Then an EDSS as a promising tool to cope with this complexity is introduced, putting special emphasis in a proposal for EDSS development. Next the paper reviews the more relevant decision support systems (DSS) published for IWRM under water scarcity. Classical DSS to model environmental systems as well as those DSS including knowledge-based or AI techniques (i.e., EDSS) are reviewed. Open questions related to the EDSS development and

J. Comas (🖂)

Laboratory of Chemical and Environmental Engineering (LEQUIA), Universitat de Girona, Campus Montilivi s/n, E-17071 Girona, Catalonia, Spain e-mail: quim@lequia.udg.cat

e-mail: quini@iequia.udg.ca

M. Poch

Catalan Institute of Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, Edifici H<sub>2</sub>O Emili Grahit 101. E-17003 Girona, Catalonia, Spain e-mail: mpoch@icra.cat

S. Sabater and D. Barceló (eds.), *Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean:* 129 *Perspectives Under Global Change*, Hdb Env Chem (2010) 8: 129–146, DOI 10.1007/698\_2009\_32, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, Published online: 4 December 2009

application include improvement of data and knowledge acquisition and knowledge implementation methods, better integration of numerical models and AI techniques (both in simulation and real applications), evaluation of EDSS (lack of benchmarks), protocols to facilitate sharing and reuse of knowledge, involvement of end-users, and probably others.

Keywords Decision support systems, Integrated water resources management, Water scarcity

## Contents

1	Com	plexity in Water Management	130
2	EDS	S: A Promising Tool	133
	2.1	A Procedure for EDSS Development	134
3	Clas	sical DSS for IWRM	135
	3.1	DSS for the WRM Based on Quantity Criteria	136
	3.2	DSS for the WRM Based on Quality Criteria	136
4	Exis	ting or Proposed EDSS for IWRM	137
	4.1	EDSS for IWRM in Catalonia	138
5	Disc	ussion	140
6	Furt	her Research in EDSS for Integrated Water Resources Management	141
	6.1	Integration of Several Sources of Data and Knowledge (Numerical Models	
		and AI Techniques, Both in Simulation and Real Applications)	142
	6.2	Improvement of Data and Knowledge Acquisition and Knowledge	
		Implementation Methods	142
	6.3	Elaborate Protocols to Facilitate Sharing and Reuse of Knowledge	143
	6.4	Involvement of End-Users in EDSS Development	143
	6.5	Development of Benchmarks for the Validation of EDSS	143
Ret	ference	2	144

# 1 Complexity in Water Management

"(regarding water management)... today a linear approach is not useful anymore. It is not helpful to look for a solution for each problem."

F. Baltasar. Ministry of Environment, Catalan Government.

Water scarcity is defined as a situation where insufficient water resources are available to satisfy long-term average requirements. It refers to long-term water imbalances, where the availability is low compared to the demand for water, and means that water demand exceeds the water resources exploitable under sustainable conditions.

Like any other environmental problems, dealing with integrated water resources management (IWRM) under water scarcity is not simple. There are at least five important factors for this complexity:

• Temporal dynamics. Processes take place in different time scale and dynamics:

- Minutes/hours: for example, storms affecting sewer systems, punctual discharges, river flow rate variations due to hydroelectric plants, residence time in a WWTP, etc.
- Days/weeks: for example, algal growth, variations of water demand, news on newspapers, residence time in a river flow, etc.
- Months/years: elicitation of works, percolation of spills into the soil, WWTP building/upgrading, annual rainfall regime, etc.
- Several years: large infrastructures, aquifer recharges, settlement of new water cultures, climate change, etc.

While some of these dynamics are natural, others are due to technological systems, or to cultural/social behavior or changes. While some of them can be described with high precision (e.g., fluid dynamics in a pipe or WWTP efficiencies), others can be approached (e.g., prevision of water demand) or estimated with low precision (e.g., rainfall regime of next years).

- Spatial scale variability. According to the "Water scarcity and droughts expert" • network (1), the development of a drought plan (linked to the River Basin Management Plan) should be done at different levels. At national level, the focus should be on policy, legal, and institutional aspects. National level measures should determine drought onset conditions through a network of global basin indices and indicators at the national or regional level. Plans at the river basin scale are mainly intended to identify and schedule onset activation measures to delay and mitigate the impacts. At the local scale, tactical and response measures to meet and guarantee essential public water supply as well as awareness measures are the main issues. It is important to notice that interactions between these scales are becoming increasingly clear. Therefore, advocating a single perspective that encompasses everything in a system is becoming increasingly difficult as well as ineffective. Moreover, each River Basin is a unit (according to the Water Framework Directive, WFD) and has its own pluviometric, hydrologic, and water demand behavior and the interrelation among River Basins has to be considered: definition of limits for each management unit, analysis of its problems (pressures and impacts) and where they take place, identifying the programme of measures and where to apply them and considering the interrelation among River Basins.
- Uncertainty, or approximate knowledge. Decisions in this field imply high uncertainty. Water scarcity (especially in a Mediterranean climate) is characterized by a variable natural dynamics, and on top of this uncertainty, interactions between bio-geophysical and social phenomena need to be integrated. Ecological theory has been mostly developed in pristine or undisturbed systems, while the intricate ways in which humans interact with ecological systems have been seldom considered. Some of the sources of this uncertainty can be corrected with additional data or further investigation. Such is the case of uncertainty arising from random processes or from deficiencies in knowledge (lack of data, unsuitable datasets, etc.). However, in other cases uncertainty is insurmountable. This is the case of socio-ecological systems like the one being considered, where numerous agents are involved, each with their own goals.

- Involvement of different agents/stakeholders. Integrated water resources management requires the participation of several agents, from the water administration at different levels (which not always are in agreement), the civil society (with different type of organizations, ecologists, farmers, scientists, etc. as can be stated in the Council for Sustainable Water Use, CUSA in Catalonia), the mass media and, according to the WFD, a new one, "the receiving media", which can have quite different interests than all the others. The coordinating agent in Catalonia is the Catalan Water Agency (ACA), responsible for collecting information and knowledge, digesting and processing it, proposing the River Basin management plans (including the programme of measures), reasoning and reaching agreements on them, and finally applying them.
- *Need of sustainable management (ecological, economical, and social).* There is a need for sustainable water resources management, but this can also be the most difficult to recognize. Management should be respectful with the environment, but not at any economical and social prize; economically affordable, but not at any environmental and social cost; and finally, must seek for social equity (personal and territorial), but not at any environmental and economical cost. Besides there is an interrelation among the different problems related to IWRM, each problem can have different causes and each solution may affect to different problems.

To include these factors in the proper management of water scarcity, it must be considered in terms of complex systems. However, not all environmental systems present the same level of complexity in terms of the degree of uncertainty and the risk associated with decisions.

- The *first level* of complexity corresponds to simple, low uncertainty systems, where the issue to be solved has limited scope. Single perspective and simple models would be sufficient to warrant with satisfactory descriptions of the system. Regarding water scarcity, this level corresponds, for example, to the description of precipitation using a time-series analysis or a numerical mathematical model to analyze water consumption evolution. In these cases, the information arising from the analysis may be used for more wide-reaching purposes beyond the scope of the particular researcher.
- The *second level* involves systems with uncertainty, where simplified models no longer provide satisfactory descriptions. Acquired experience then becomes more and more important, and the need to involve experts in problem solving is advisable. In the case of water scarcity, this level would correspond to a general model of water infrastructures management (reservoirs, water reuse...), where the need to establish which factors are the most important arises. In this case, the goals for the quality of the output are well established, but these can be reached through different schemes, and it is the responsibility of the decision maker to choose the most appropriate configuration.
- The *third level* corresponds to truly complex systems, where much epistemological or ethical uncertainty exists and where uncertainty is not necessarily associated with a higher number of elements or relationships within the system. Moreover, the issues at stake reflect conflicting goals. For this reason it is crucial to consider

the need to account for a plurality of views or perspectives. Here, a variety of factors (economical, technical, ecological, etc.) are involved, and associated with each factor is a different set of criteria. Thus, different kinds of expertise need to be taken into account. In addition to the role of the experts, it becomes increasingly important to consider the role of widespread public participation in the decision-making processes. Policy makers, the media, and the public consult experts at large explain and advise on numerous issues. Nonetheless, many recent cases have shown, paradoxically, that while expertise is increasingly sought after, it is also increasingly contested.

Nowadays, a consensus exists that problems belonging to the second and third level cannot be tackled with traditional management tools. Required solutions should be able to face the complexity, describe the interrelationships and the side effects. To confront this complexity, a new paradigm is needed and its adoption will require that we deal with new intellectual challenges. We need tools allowing integrating data and experience to include results from different fields, different experts, different levels of description; to retrieve all the information and knowl-edge collected in an easy way, as different alternatives will be evaluated; and to justify the proposals, indicating what and who is supporting each one and what are the environmental effects. The environmental decision support systems (EDSS) are examples of the tools required by this new paradigm.

#### 2 EDSS: A Promising Tool

EDSSs have generated high expectations as a tool to tackle problems belonging to the second and third levels of complexity. From the seminal work done by Guariso [1], Rizzoli [2], and Soncini-Sessa [3], there has been an impressive increase of relevant literature in the topic. The range of environmental problems to which EDSSs have been applied is wide and varied, with water management at the top (25% of references), followed by aspects of risk assessment (11.5%), and forest management (11.0%). Equally varied are the tasks to which EDSSs have been applied, ranging from monitoring and data storage to prediction, decision analysis, control planning, remediation, management, and communication with society.

Like any new methodology, there is a wide range of opinions about what constitutes an EDSS. As this approach is relatively recent and integrates multiple tools means, there is not a single, consensual definition of EDSS. However, even though one may argue that a database management system could be used as a decision support system (DSS), today's consensus is that EDSSs must adopt a knowledge-based approach, which includes the steps of knowledge acquisition, representation, and management. Furthermore, the fact that different tools can be integrated under different architectures makes EDSSs difficult to define. It also means that different approaches to design and implementation coexist.

According to Fox and Das [4], a DSS is a computer system that assists decision makers in choosing between alternative beliefs or actions by applying knowledge
about the decision domain to arrive at recommendations for the various options. It incorporates an explicit decision procedure based on a set of theoretical principles that justify the *rationality* of this procedure.

Thus, an EDSS is an intelligent information system that reduces the time in which decisions are made in an environmental domain and improves the consistency and quality of those decisions. Decisions are made when a deviation from an expected, desired state of a system is observed or predicted. This implies a problem awareness that in turn must be based on information, experience, and knowledge about the process. Those systems are built by integrating several numerical models (linear or nonlinear, including or not differential equations) with artificial intelligence (AI) techniques, which emulate the reasoning processes of experts, geographical information system components, and environmental ontologies [5].

# 2.1 A Procedure for EDSS Development

How a particular EDSS is constructed depends on the type of environmental problem and the type of information and knowledge that can be acquired. Keeping these constraints in mind and after an analysis of the available information, a set of tools can be selected. This applies not only to numerical models, but also to AI methodologies, such as knowledge management tools. The use of AI tools and models provides direct access to expertise, and their flexibility makes them capable of supporting learning and decision-making processes. Their integration with numerical and/or statistical models in a single system provides higher accuracy, reliability, and utility. This confers EDSSs the ability to confront complex problems, in which the experience of experts provides valuable help for finding a solution to the problem. It also provides ways to automatically accelerate identification of the problem and to focus the attention of decision-makers on its evaluation. Once implemented an EDSS (like any knowledge-based system), it has to be evaluated for what it knows, for how it uses what it knows, for how fast it can learn something new, and finally, for its overall performance. Figure 1 shows schematically the methodology proposed by our research group, which has been successfully applied to different water management problems (see, e.g., [6-12]).

The methodology illustrated in Fig. 1 involves five phases: (1) environmental problem analysis, (2) data collection and knowledge acquisition, where different sources are consulted and a plurality of views are integrated, (3) model selection, among different mathematical, statistical, and AI techniques, (4) model implementation and integration, including the knowledge representation and knowledge codification steps, and (5) validation process, an iterative process carried out along all the development phases to verify robustness, accuracy, usefulness, and usability of the EDSS.

The existing tools to carry out an IWRM may include hydraulic and hydrological models, water quality models as well as knowledge bases containing the necessary knowledge for the optimal management of water resources. Besides, these tools



Fig. 1 Flow diagram for the development of an EDSS

have usually GIS functionalities, connectivity with databases, supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) systems, monitoring and forecasting systems, etc. Those tools including only mathematical models or GIS information have been classified as "classical DSS" and explained in Sect. 3, while others including at least a combination of mathematical models, GIS data, and AI techniques will be called EDSS and summarized in Sect. 4.

# **3** Classical DSS for IWRM

Classical DSS to carry out IWRM are based on numerical or mathematical models and GIS functionalities.

# 3.1 DSS for the WRM Based on Quantity Criteria

Koutsoyannis et al. [13] describe a tool composed of a hydrologic model and an optimization module for the WRM in Athens. Schlüter et al. [14] developed a mathematical model that provides the optimal distribution of water resources among users with different interests. It is based on the EPIC (from Environmental Policy and Institutions of Central Asia) modeling system. Kunstman et al. [15] demonstrates that a DSS integrating atmospheric and hydrologic models supports the decision making in catchments where meteorological data is scarce. Their tool provides spatial and temporal information of the water fluxes at quasi real time at the Volta River Basin.

# 3.2 DSS for the WRM Based on Quality Criteria

Maia and Silva [16] developed and applied to the Algarve region (Portugal) a DSS tool having as major purpose the sustainable management of the water resources existing in the whole region. Different strategies (combinations of water management options) were defined and evaluated using the DSS tool, aiming at minimizing the existing and foreseen water deficits in the region, having in mind the requirements specified by the Water Framework Directive. A performance assessment of strategies and an economic analysis embracing direct and environmental costs computed by the tool do enable selection of strategies. Six main modules form the main core of the program: the water availability module (based on time series of aquifers and reservoirs inflows), the water demand module (which generate hypothetical demand scenarios), the allocation module, the water quality module, the comparison of the different strategies simulated.

CatchMODS integrates different sub-models to estimate hydrological parameters, nutrient transport, and algal blooms together with spatial data [17]. Minciardi et al. [18] proposes a decision support model based on mathematical and optimization techniques for the integrated water resources management, specifically for the planning and management of groundwater.

The Elbe-DSS enables to perform an integrated management of the Elbe River Basin with different tools to carry out water policy at different temporal and spatial scales. The specific objectives of this tool are to get a good chemical, hydro morphological, and ecological status of the water surface and evaluate the flooding risks. The Elbe-DSS integrates existing mathematical models such as MONERIS for nutrient diffuse and point source pollution and GREAT-ER for more problematic compounds [19].

A DSS tool for the dissolved oxygen real time monitoring integrating the HIDRO (for hydrodynamics) and QUAL (for the description of conservative and nonconservative parameters) has been developed for the river San Joaquín in

California [20]. It is used to improve the coordination among the different institutions that are directly benefited from the water resources of the fluvial system. Vandenberghe et al. [21] presents a tool based on complex models for the description of river water quality.

Other generic tools for the efficient management of water resources, some of them commercial, include MIKE BASIN (from DHI), Infoworks WS (Walllingford Software), WASP (EPA), Aquatool (from the Technical University of Valencia), or MODFLOW for 3D modeling of groundwater. Devesa et al. [9] present an integrated model for the management of sanitation infrastructures based on Infoworks WS, GPS-X (software simulator for WWTPs), and Infoworks RS.

The work of Matthies et al. [22] collects the current issues, methods, and tools for DSS, and that of Argent et al. [23] describes a DSS generator within which users are able to select and link models, data, analysis tools, and reporting tools to create specific DSS for particular problems, and for which new models and tools can be created and, through software reflection (introspection), discovered to provide expanded capability where required. This system offers a new approach within which environmental systems can be described in the form of specific DSS at a scale and level of complexity suited to the problems and needs of decision makers.

### 4 Existing or Proposed EDSS for IWRM

Chen et al. [24] provide a good review of AI techniques used for modeling environmental systems. Pongracz et al. [25] presents the application of a fuzzy-rule based modeling technique to predict regional drought. Artificial neural networks model have been applied for mountainous water-resources management in Cyprus [26] and to forecast raw-water quality parameters for the North Saskatchewan River [27].

Genetic algorithms have been applied for optimization and calibration, for example, optimization to explore water management options in irrigated agriculture [28] and in a framework for modeling water quality in streams and rivers using QUAL2Kw [29].

A multiagent system (MAS) comprises a network of agents interacting to achieve goals. In the last years they are becoming more popular, for example, Pahl-Wostl [30] proposes a MAS for information, public empowerment, and management of urban watersheds, and Becu et al. [31] introduce an agent-based simulation of a small catchment water management in northern Thailand (the CATCHSCAPE model).

Any colony optimization (ACO) and swarm intelligence are forms of agent-based modeling inspired by colonies of social animals such as ants and bees [32]. ACO has become popular in engineering for optimal routing in water distribution systems [33, 34]. Particle swarm optimization has been successfully used to train ANNs, for instance, ANNs to predict river water levels [35], for parameter estimation, for example, in hydrology [36].

Rizzoli et al. [37] propose the application of neuro-dynamic programming for the integrated water resources management. This approach, although faster than stochastic models, is still under study for real applications.

Bayesian networks can be very useful to reproduce reasoning under uncertainty conditions in a consistent and efficient way. These networks provide a graphical representation of the relationship among variables and quantify these relationships by means of probabilities. Castelleti and Soncini-Sessa [38] provide an example of integrated and participative management of water resources by means of Bayesian networks. Aiming at facilitating public participation and discussion among participants, Giordano et al. [39] also propose the development of an *Integrated Decision Support System for Consensus*. Besides mathematical models, they use cognitive maps, fuzzy logic, and other natural language-based knowledge representation techniques.

Regarding specific applications, the MULINO (Multisectorial, integrated, and operational DSS for the sustainable use of water resources at catchment scale) is a DSS that integrates hydrological models and algorithms for decision support within the DPSIR (driving forces-pressure-state-impact-response) framework, enabling the cause–effect relationship among the different components of the environmental, economical, and social systems to be evaluated, and supports in organizing the information flows [40]. The model RIBASIM is the central part of the tool developed to manage water resources and water demand at the Heihe river basin (China). The model includes information from water infrastructures, users, hydrological models, and optimization rule-based models for water resources assignment [41].

There are some examples of EDSS tools combining two AI techniques, for example, genetic algorithms and neural networks for water-quality management [42], rainfall–runoff modeling [43], fuzzy systems and neural networks for predicting groundwater vulnerability [44]. Others describe optimizing water allocation [45], case-based reasoning systems and rule-based systems for wastewater management of conventional systems [6, 8, 10, 11, 46–50], and natural systems [12, 51] or fuzzy systems and genetic algorithms for modeling rainfall [52] and calibrating a rainfall–runoff model [53]. Different AI techniques such as neural networks, genetic algorithms, and intelligent control are also used recently for the modeling and management of rain water reservoirs in real time [54].

### 4.1 EDSS for IWRM in Catalonia

The management water plan of the Catalan Water Agency and previous works [7, 55, 56] have been used to develop an EDSS for integrated water resources management (EDSS-4IWRM). Its objective is to integrate a set of measures of the different specific plans to show that all the proposed measures are able to achieve the water quality objectives. The general scheme of this EDSS is showed in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 General scheme of the EDSS under construction for water resources management

Problem analysis step has enabled to identify three levels for the building process of the EDSS-4IWRM:

- Level 1: For each River Basin, identification of the existing problems and their possible causes (the same problem can be originated for more than one cause). For example, the problem "*No demand satisfaction*" can be caused by water transfers, surface water and groundwater extraction, agricultural and farm activities (water pollution), a lack of urban and industrial wastewater treatment, Combined Sewer Overflows (CSOs), etc.
  - Base documents/Studies: DPSIR document (for general problems) and participatory processes (for very local problems).
- Level 2: Identification of the programme of measures to solve each problem or to regulate the responsible activities. It should be looked for the broad relationships among problems-causes-measures. A justification of how each measure can solve a problem should be provided.
  - Base documents/Studies: Guide document to write the water management plan, other plans and programmes being executed/under revision and planned/pending by the Catalan Water Agency (e.g., urban and industrial WWT programmes, drought management plan, water reuse plan, water distribution plan, surface and groundwater quality control programme, etc.), and related regulations.
- Level 3: Quantification of the improvements experienced by each of the water bodies, after the application of the planned measures within the programme and plans.
  - Planned tools/methodologies: Computer programs to simulate the evolution of the water resources and the water quality and interviews with experts to represent/quantify relationships.

# 5 Discussion

Water scarcity management is one of the critical domains where wrong management decisions may have important social, economic, and ecological consequences. What an EDSS contributes is not only an efficient mechanism to find an optimal or suboptimal solution, given any set of whimsical preferences, but also a mechanism to make the entire process more open and transparent. In this context, EDSSs can play a key role in water scarcity management, as they are tools designed to cope with the multidisciplinary nature and high complexity of environmental problems. EDSS can be useful to cope with the complexity and multidisciplinary nature of Integrated Water Resource Management because of the following:

- Reduce the time in which decisions are made
- Improve the consistency and quality of the decisions
- Allow integration of different modeling techniques and different type of knowledge
- Provide direct access to experience, expertise, and human-kind reasoning
- Capability of supporting learning capabilities and decision making processes in complex situations
- Allow the evaluation of different management strategies

As has been illustrated previously, the number of DSS references has increased considerably during the last years (154 references found in Scopus). Among those only a limited but increasing number of references include AI techniques, that is, can be considered EDSS. Besides, the number of DSS references related to IWRM under water scarcity situations is even lower, thus, indicating that there is still a clear need for decision support tool under water shortage periods. Figure 3 illustrates the number of references appearing related to DSS and EDSS during the last years.

Another significant point raised in Fig. 3 is that the number of references related to the development of DSS to carry out an *integrated* water resources management is very scarce before 2000s, that is, when the WFD, which emphasizes integrated management as one of the key concerns in river basin management, was launched.

In recent years, the needs for integrated approaches to water resources management and linking of water management to land uses have been stressed in many international and national fora. As water sustains life, effective management of water resources demands a holistic approach, linking to social and economic development focusing on the protection of natural ecosystems and the environment in general. An integrated water management is necessary to consider all the aspects related to water resources in their full complexity and mutual interaction, including activities such as economic development, flood control, water conservation, pollution control, conservation and restoration of ecosystems. A special issue of *Desalination* on water resources management [57] contains a number of selected papers that cover a wide range of applications including risk assessment, economics, management, and modeling.



Fig. 3 References related to DSS and EDSS for water resources management

It is also important to emphasize that the risk for the development of DSS unsuccessful to solve problems of the real word is quite high. Some aspects that have to be considered when looking for DSS successful include the following [58]:

- The involvement of the final users in the conceptual design phase and during the whole development phase is crucial [40]. Users are often not able to specify all their expectations and requirements during the first stages of the system development, but periodic and continuous revisions of evolved prototypes allow them to evaluate and contribute to the improvement
- The easiness of the DSS to explore the problem at hand, to derive possible solutions, and discover and analyse the cause–effect relationships
- A user-friendly interface
- Other aspects such as the quality of the data, the model precision, and the number of possible alternatives presented to the user as possible solutions of the problem or the degree of confidence of the final user on the DSS

# 6 Further Research in EDSS for Integrated Water Resources Management

The *Drought Management Plan Report* written by the Water Scarcity and Droughts Expert Network (November 2007) recommends "Development of DSS for the best exploitation of all information available, including drought forecasts, to optimize

drought management and mitigation measures" and "Improvement of the monitoring, modeling, and prediction capacities" as two of the most important needs for advances in drought research.

Despite the fact that EDSS have been successfully used to solve complex environmental problems, it seems clear that more research is needed in this area. From our experience during last years, we have identified the still open questions in the development and application of EDSS. It can be foreseen that the research bottlenecks for EDSS for water scarcity and integrated water resources management should be focused on the following issues:

# 6.1 Integration of Several Sources of Data and Knowledge (Numerical Models and AI Techniques, Both in Simulation and Real Applications)

Integration of various sources of knowledge, intelligent techniques, and numerical tools is the key step to develop successful EDSS for environmental problems. Intelligent decision-making requires, either implicitly or explicitly, a model of the world that embodies both prior knowledge and measured data. At the level of data and background-information, numerous and often incompatible bits of information from disparate sources have to be brought together. At the level of tools, there are several levels of integration, ranging from simple file transfer between different methods and programs to fully integrated systems. Typical examples of different methods that lend themselves to integration include geographical information systems and models as well as rule-based systems, models, and databases, algorithmic models and intelligent reasoning systems, simulation and optimization models.

# 6.2 Improvement of Data and Knowledge Acquisition and Knowledge Implementation Methods

EDSSs use different knowledge sources and this usually implies different ways of representing, extracting, and combining information. The nature of the problems that EDSSs try to solve makes the knowledge acquisition step a crucial one. For most of the problems there exist huge quantities of data coming from the process, but the information about the causal or dependence relations among variables is not well known. In many cases, AI tools are used to discover those relationships.

A possible solution to integrate and share information about knowledge structures is to build and use ontologies. This task is only starting to be generally recognized as a key issue in environmental fields. Ontologies could be used to assess and evaluate the knowledge about a certain topic or situation with the goal of informing decision-makers. Ontologies can give answers to some of the following questions: What is known and with what degree of certainty? What is not known? What is the relevance of that knowledge to decision-makers? Construction of specific ontologies or equivalent paradigms could represent better the *know-how* and *know-what* in environmental systems.

# 6.3 Elaborate Protocols to Facilitate Sharing and Reuse of Knowledge

Once an EDSS has acquired information about a complex environmental process, which are the available ways to share that information with other systems? If EDSSs are designed to be cooperative, under which conditions does this cooperation occur? What happens if cooperation fails? Who will assess the quality of the exchanged information? Who will harmonize indicators and exchange protocols?

Solutions for sharing knowledge in environmental processes are far from being fully developed, but one has to consider the great variety of data and the strong dependencies of environmental processes to local constraints, such as weather conditions, climatic aspects, geographical positions, environmental or health law regulations, etc. If specific models are to be developed for environmental problems, greater generality, precision (when possible), and realism will be required.

# 6.4 Involvement of End-Users in EDSS Development

In general, the role of the user in EDSS development is still poorly defined. These systems are developed to support users' decision-making activities in highly complex problems.

The following questions are still to be answered: to what extent can an EDSS be modified directly by *any* user? Who should decide that an EDSS has to start a learning process? Who has to validate the results of such process? Why should an EDSS start a learning process? Who is legally responsible for the decisions made by an EDSS?

We propose, as a first approach, the creation of user profiles with different privileges and responsibilities in the interaction with the EDSS. This will lead to the definition of different levels of interaction between the user and the EDSS.

On the other hand, users must be involved in the whole process of EDSS design and development to ensure the usability of the final system. The degree to which users become involved in EDSS development will determine their level of confidence in the final system. In the worst case, the system might remain unused.

### 6.5 Development of Benchmarks for the Validation of EDSS

One of the most promising research lines in EDSS development is the definition of benchmarks to assess and evaluate the performance of EDSSs in a set of welldefined circumstances and their capacity to react to new situations. This will also allow the creation of a better framework for comparison between EDSSs. This validation of an EDSS in the appropriate context may simplify the tuning tasks and help to enhance the system's performance.

# References

- 1. Guariso G, Werthner H (1989) Environmental decision support systems. Ellis Horwood-Wiley, New York
- Rizzoli AE, Young WY (1997) Delivering environmental decision support systems: software tools and techniques. Environ Modell Softw 12(2–3):237–249
- Soncini-Sessa R, Villa L, Weber E, Rizzoli AE (1999) TwoLe: a software tool for planning and management of water reservoir networks. Hydrol Sci J 44(4):619–631
- 4. Fox J, Das S (2000) Safe and sound. In Artificial Intelligence in Hazardous Applications. AAAI Press/The MIT Press, Cambridge, UK
- Poch M, Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I, Sànchez-Marrè M, Cortés U (2004) Designing and building real environmental decision support systems. Environ Modell Softw 19(9):857–873
- Ceccaroni L, Cortes U, Sànchez-Marrè M (2004) OntoWEDSS: augmenting environmental decision-support systems with ontologies. Environ Modell Softw 19:785–797
- Comas J, Alemany J, Poch M, Torrens A, Salgot MA, Bou J (2003) Development of a knowledge-based decision support system for identifying adequate wastewater treatment for small communities. Water Sci Technol 48(11–12):393–400
- Comas J, Llorens E, Martí E, Puig MA, Riera JL, Sabater F, Poch M (2003) Knowledge acquisition in the STREAMES Project: the Key Process in the Environmental Decision Support System development. AI Commun 16(4):253–265
- Devesa F, Comas J, Turon C, Freixó A, Carrasco F, Poch M (2009) Scenario analysis for the role of sanitation infrastructures in integrated urban wastewater management. Environ Modell Softw 24(3):371–380
- Martínez M, Rodriguez-Roda I, Poch M, Cortés U, Comas J (2006) Dynamic reasoning to solve complex problems in activated sludge processes: a step further in decision support systems. Water Sci Technol 53(1):191–198
- Rodriguez-Roda I, Comas J, Colprim J, Poch M, Sànchez-Marrè M, Cortés U, Baeza J, Lafuente J (2002) A hybrid supervisory system to support wastewater treatment plant operation: implementation and validation. Water Sci Technol 45(4–5):289–297
- Turon C, Comas J, Alemany J, Cortés U, Poch M (2007) Environmental decision support systems: a new approach to support the operation and maintenance of horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetlands. Ecol Eng 30(4):362–372
- Koutsoyannis D, Karavokiros G, Efstratiadis A, Mamassis N, Koukouvinos A, Christofides A (2003) A decision support system for the management of the water resource system of Athens. Phys Chem Earth 28:599–609
- Schlüter M, Savitsky AG, McKinney DC, Lieth H (2005) Optimizing long-term water allocation in the Amudarya River delta: a water management model for ecological impact assessment. Environ Modell Softw 20:529–545
- Kunstman H, Jung G, Wagner S, Clottey H (2007) Integration of atmospheric sciences and hydrology for the development of decision support systems in sustainable water management. Phys Chem Earth 33:165–174
- Maia R, Silva C (2009) DSS application at a river basin scale, taking into account water resources exploitation risks and associated costs: The Algarve Region. Desalination 237:81–89

- Newham LTH, Letcher RA, Jakeman AJ, Kobayashi T (2004) A framework for integrated hydrologic, sediment and nutrient export modelling for catchment-scale management. Environ Modell Softw 19(11):1029–1038
- Minciardi R, Robba M, Sacile R (2007) Decision models for sustainable groundwater planning and control. Control Eng Pract 15:1013–1029
- 19. Matthies M, Berlekamp J, Lautenbach S, Graf N, Reimer S (2006) System analysis of water quality management for the Elbe river basin. Environ Modell Softw 21:1309–1318
- Quinn NWT, Jacobs KC, Chen CW, Stringfellow WT (2005) Elements of a decision support system for real time management of dissolved oxygen in the San Joaquin River Deep Ship Channel. Environ Modell Softw 20:1495–1504
- Vandenberghe V, Goethals PLM, Van Griensven A, Meirlaen J, Pauw N, Vanrolleghem P, Bauwens W (2005) Application of automated measurement stations for continuous water quality monitoring of the dender river in Flanders, Belgium. Environ Monit Assess 108:85–98
- 22. Matthies M, Giupponi C, Ostendorf B (2007) Environmental decision support systems: Current issues, methods and tools. Environ Modell Softw 22:123–127
- Argent RM, Perraud J-M, Rahman JM, Grayson RB, Podger GM (2009) A new approach to water quality modelling and environmental decision support systems. Environ Modell Softw 24:809–818
- 24. Chen SH, Jakeman AJ, Norton J-P (2008) Artificial Intelligence techniques: an introduction to their use for modelling environmental systems. Math Comput Simul 78:379–400
- Pongracz R, Bogardi I, Duckstein L (1999) Application of fuzzy rule-based modelling technique to regional drought. J Hydrol 224:100–114
- Iliadis LS, Maris F (2007) An artificial neural network model for mountainous waterresources management: the case of Cyprus mountainous watersheds. Environ Modell Softw 22:1066–1072
- Zhang Q, Stanley SJ (1997) Forecasting raw-water quality parameters for the North Saskatchewan River by neural network modelling. Water Res 31:2340–2350
- Ines AVM, Honda K, Das Gupta A, Droogers P, Clemente RS (2006) Combining remote sensing-simulation modeling and genetic algorithm optimization to explore water management options in irrigated agriculture. Agric Water Manage 83:221–232
- Pelletier GJ, Chapra SC, Tao H (2006) QUAL2Kw a framework for modelling water quality in streams and rivers using a genetic algorithm for calibration. Environ Modell Softw 21:419–425
- Pahl-Wostl C (2005) Information, public empowerment, and the management of urban watersheds. Environ Modell Softw 20:457–467
- Becu N, Perez P, Walker A, Barreteau O, Le Page C (2003) Agent based simulation of a small catchment water management in northern Thailand. Description of the CATCHSCAPE model. Ecol Model 170:319–331
- 32. Bonabeau E, Dorigo M, Theraulaz G (2000) Inspiration for optimization from social insect behavior. Nature 406(6791):39–42
- Maier HR, Simpson AR, Zecchin AC, Foong WK, Phang KY, Seah HY, Tan CL (2003) Ant colony optimization for design of water distribution systems. J Water Resour Plan Manage 129:200–209
- Zecchin AC, Simpson AR, Maier HR, Nixon JB (2005) Parametric study for an ant algorithm applied to water distribution system optimization, *IEEE Trans.* Evol Comput 9:175–190
- Chau KW (2006) Particle swarm optimization training algorithm for ANNs in stage prediction of Shing Mun River. J Hydrol 329:363–367
- Gill MK, Kaheil YH, Khalil A, McKee M, Bastidas L (2006) Multiobjective particle swarm optimization for parameter estimation in hydrology. Water Resour Res 42:W07417
- 37. Rizzoli A, Castelletti A, Rigo D (2007) Neuro-dynamic programming for designing water reservoir network management policies. Control Eng Pract 15:1031–1038
- Castelleti A, Soncini-Sessa R (2007) Bayesian Networks and participatory modelling in water resource management. Environ Modell Softw 22:1075–1088

- Giordano R, Passarella G, Uricchio VF, Vurro M (2007) Integrating conflict analysis and consensus reaching in a decision support system for water resource management. J Environ Manage 84:213–228
- 40. Giupponi C, Mysiak J, Fassio A, Cogan V (2004) MULINO-DSS: A computer tool for sustainable use of water resources at the catchment scale. Math Comput Simul 64(1):13–24
- 41. Chen Y, Zhang D, Sun Y, Liu X, Wang N, Savenije HHG (2005) Water demand management: A case study of the Heihe River Basin in China. Phys Chem Earth 30 (6–7 spec. iss.) 408–419
- 42. Kuo JT, Wang YY, Lung WS (2006) A hybrid neural-genetic algorithm for reservoir water quality management. Water Res 40:1367–1376
- Srinivasula S, Jain A (2006) A comparative analysis of training methods for artificial neural network rainfall-runoff models. Appl Soft Comput 6:295–306
- 44. Dixon B (2005) Applicability of neuro-fuzzy techniques in predicting ground-water vulnerability: a GIS-based sensitivity analysis. J Hydrol 309:17–38
- 45. Abolpour B, Javan M, Karamouz M (2007) Water allocation improvement in river basin using Adaptive Neural Fuzzy Reinforcement Learning approach. Appl Soft Comput 7:265–285
- 46. Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I, Sànchez-Marrè M, Cortés U, Freixó A, Arráez J, Poch M (2003) A knowledge-based approach to the deflocculation problem: integrating on-line, off-line, and heuristic information. Water Res 37(10):2377–2387
- 47. Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I, Poch M, Gernaey KV, Rosen C, Jeppsson U (2006) Demonstration of a tool for automatic learning and re-use of knowledge in the activated sludge process. Water Sci Technol 53(4–5):303–311
- Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I, Poch M, Gernaey KV, Rosen C, Jeppsson U (2006) Extension of the IWA/COST simulation benchmark to include expert reasoning for system performance evaluation. Water Sci Technol 53(4–5):331–339
- Flores X, Rodriguez-Roda I, Poch M, Jimenez L, Bañares-Alcántara R (2007) Systematic procedure to handle critical decisions during the conceptual design of activated sludge plants. Ind Eng Chem Res 46(17):5600–5613
- Rodriguez-Roda I, Comas J, Poch M, Sànchez-Marrè M, Cortés U (2001) Automatic knowledge acquisition from complex processes for the development of knowledge-based systems. Ind Eng Chem Res 40(15):3353–3360
- Turon C, Comas J, Torrens A, Molle P, Poch M (2008) Improvement of sand filter and constructed wetland design using an environmental decision suport system. J Environ Qual 37 (4):1644–1647
- Chang CL, Lo SL, Yu SL (2005) Applying fuzzy theory and genetic algorithm to interpolate precipitation. J Hydrol 314:92–104
- Cheng CT, Ou CP, Chau KW (2002) Combining a fuzzy optimal model with a genetic algorithm to solve multi-objective rainfall-runoff model calibration. J Hydrol 268:72–86
- Chang L-C, Chang F-J (2001) Intelligent control for modelling or real-time reservoir operation. Hydrol Processes 15(9):1621–1634
- 55. Alemany J, Comas J, Turon C, Balaguer MD, Poch M, Puig MA, Bou J (2005) Evaluating the application of a decision support system in identifying adequate wastewater treatment for small communities. Water Sci Technol 51(10):179–186
- Turon C, Alemany J, Bou J, Comas J, Poch M (2005) Optimal maintenance of constructed wetlands using an environmental decision support system. Water Sci Technol 51(10):109–117
- Desalination (237) Special issue on "Water Resources Management". Symposium "Water Resources Management: New Approaches and Technologies", Technical University of Crete, Chania, Greece, 14–16 June 2007
- 58. Mysiak J, Giupponi C, Rosato P (2005) Towards the development of a decision support system for water resource management. Environ Modell Softw 20(2):203–214

# Water-Borne Infectious Disease Outbreaks Associated with Water Scarcity and Rainfall Events

Juan Jofre, Anicet R. Blanch, and Francisco Lucena

**Abstract** An important number of major infectious diseases are related to water. The greatest consequences for the human population are the faecal-oral water-borne infectious diseases, which are transmitted by ingestion of the causal agents that are released into water through faeces. The occurrence of outbreaks of water-borne infectious diseases could be affected by water scarcity at different degrees depending on the level of water scarcity, density of population, degree of economical development, presence in the area of wild and farmed animals, etc. Still, at least in developed countries the laws and regulatory programmes regarding water quality cope with most of the problems and generally protect the population, even when scarcity obliges use of non-conventional water resources. Weather conditions influence the fate of pathogens in the water environment. Indeed rainfall favours their dissemination, and natural stressors – such as temperature and solar irradiation among others - determine their persistence. At present, heavy rain events rather than water scarcity are the main cause of failure of protective measures in developed countries. This situation is likely due to an increased dissemination of the pathogens that have survived the deleterious effects of natural stressors. Higher frequency of drought followed by heavy rains, as forecasted in Mediterranean climate areas, will likely increase deficiencies in watershed protection, infrastructure and storm drainage. Consequently, the risk of contamination events of the water resources will be greater than before. This combination of factors might also increase the failures in the drinking water treatments, and subsequently the occurrence of water-borne infectious disease outbreaks. A better knowledge about the origin, survival and transport of water-borne pathogens in the water environment is a key factor for predicting risks and taking measures to minimize them. Unfortunately in many developing countries, the quality of water for consumption is still very poor independently of whether there is scarcity or abundance of water.

Department of Microbiology, School of Biology, University of Barcelona, Avinguda Diagonal 645, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

J. Jofre (🖂), A.R. Blanch, and F. Lucena

e-mail: jjofre@ub.edu

Measures to improve the present situation are urgently needed. These measures could be optimized by considering the influence of weather conditions on survival and transport of the microorganisms of faecal origin.

Keywords Indicators, Infectious diseases, Pathogens, Rain, Water scarcity

### Contents

1	Introduction	148
2	Water-Related Diseases	149
3	Origin of the Water-Borne Pathogens and Faecal Indicators Present	
	in Water Resources	152
4	Rain and Densities of Faecal Pathogens and Indicators in Water Sources	154
5	Rain and Water-Borne Infectious Disease Outbreaks	154
6	Conclusions and Future Prospects	156
Refei	ences	156

# 1 Introduction

The available water resources are linked to human health in several ways: water for drinking, hygiene, recreational activities and food production. As water resources decrease as a consequence of droughts or increased demand, the need to use water sources of poor quality appears, and consequently the risk of an increase in the occurrence of outbreaks of infectious diseases related to water can be higher.

However, the laws and regulatory programmes regarding water quality cope with most of the problems and legislation generally protects the population in developed countries, even when scarcity forces the use of non-conventional water resources. Outbreaks of water-borne diseases in these countries are more linked to intense rainfall events, mostly to those that follow drought periods, rather than to drought itself [1-4].

In contrast, the situation is potentially different in developing countries [5-8] including those of the Southern and Eastern Mediterranean Regions [9-12] where water scarcity leads to a clear effect on the occurrence of water-associated infectious diseases. Intermittent and insufficient water supplies, which are common conditions in most developing areas with water shortages, result in decreased household water security and compromised drinking water quality that have serious effects on health including water-related infectious diseases. Insufficient water supply for domestic use will compromise not only the quality of drinking water (water-borne diseases), but also hygiene (water-washed diseases). Also, because of water scarcity, wastewater is widely used for agricultural production, often without proper management and health controls. In the absence of proper treatment and

monitoring, wastewater reuse exposes farmers, their families, communities and consumers of food to water-borne pathogens.

This review mostly summarizes the scientific information available in developed countries, where the prevalence of diseases associated with water use is kept under very acceptable levels. However, there are reasons to think that the situation might worsen as a consequence of the effects of the climatic change, the increase of population in certain areas and the deterioration of sanitation infrastructures. It may be necessary to take new measures to maintain the present situation. Better knowledge of the water-borne pathogens, where they originate, how they persist or replicate in the environment, how they survive water treatments, and how they are transported in water and soil, will allow us to take the necessary measures to prevent the effects of water scarcity as well as the effects of extreme climatic events foreseen for the future by the experts in climatic change [13].

### 2 Water-Related Diseases

The water-related or water-associated infectious diseases are typically arranged in four classes from the environmental engineering point of view, although more complex categorizations have also been proposed [14]. These categories are: faecal-oral water-borne diseases, water-washed diseases, water-based diseases and diseases transmitted by water-associated insect vectors. Each type has different causes and potential solutions. Too often the term water-borne disease is errone-ously used to name all of them without distinction.

The *faecal-oral water-borne* diseases are those caused by the ingestion of pathogens released through faeces from infected individuals. Their transmission is through ingestion of contaminated water (drinking or recreational activities) and food, as well as through person to person contact. The *water-washed* infections are caused by sharing and reusing for washing hands and face water contaminated with pathogens specific of skin and eyes. The best known example is trachoma, an eye infection causing blindness, which is clearly related to water scarcity. The *water-based* diseases are mostly caused by parasites multiplying in intermediate organisms living in contaminated water. The best known example of this group is schistosomiasis. Finally, there is the group of diseases *transmitted by water-related-insects*, mostly mosquitoes breeding in water, including malaria, dengue and yellow fever among others. Table 1 shows a summarized outlook of the contribution of the different groups of diseases to the burden of diseases in the world and in the two verges of the Mediterranean Sea.

The faecal-oral water-borne diseases, though with very different intensity, affect both developed and developing countries. These are the most important by number of affected people worldwide (Table 1). The other three categories affect basically developing countries. The water-washed affects those with water scarcity, whereas

Table 1 Estimated burden of water-reithe most prevalent of each of the four	lated infectious disea groups of water-relat	ses in the world and the ted diseases	he Mediterranean reg	gion according to the	WHO 2004 update	[8]. It includes
Water-related (associated)	Mo	orld	Northern M	editerranean	Eastern and	Southern
infectious diseases			European	countries	Mediterranear	i countries
	Mortality (%)	Prevalence	Mortality (%)	Prevalence	Mortality (%)	Prevalence
Water-borne						
Diarrhoea	2,163,000 (3.7)	$4,000,000,000^{a}$	<1,000 (<0.1)	$\cong$ 50,000,000 <sup>a</sup>	75,000 (4.6)	I
Intestinal helmints infections	I	150,000,000	I	$LP^{b}$	I	$\approx 240,000$
Water-washed						
Trachoma	I	6,000,000	I	0	I	$\cong 250,000$
Water-based						
Schistosomiasis	41,000(0.1)	260,000,000	I	$0^{c}$	<1,000 (<0.1)	$\cong 10,000^{a}$
Transmitted by water-borne vectors						
Malaria	900,000 (1.5)	300,000,000	Ι	$0^{c}$	$\cong 10,000 \ (0.6)^{a}$	
<sup>a</sup> Estimated						
<sup>b</sup> Estimated low prevalence						
<sup>c</sup> Values approaching 0, some imported	l cases					

150

Disease	Causal agent (pathogen)
Acute arthritis	Giardia, Salmonella, Campylobacter
Aseptic meningitis	Echovirus, Coxsakievirus
Cancer, gastric ulcer	Helicobacter pylori
Cholera	Vibrio cholerae
Acute gastroenteritis	Norovirus and Sapovirus, Rotavirus, Astrovirus some
(diarrhoea and	enteroviruses, Adenovirus 40, 41, Giardia, Cryptosporidium
vomiting)	Salmonella, Shigella, Campylobacter, Enteropathogenic
	E. coli, Aeromonas
Heart problems	Coxsakievirus B
(myocarditis)	
Insulin-dependent diabetes	Coxsakievirus B
Kidney problems	E. coli O157:H7 Cyclospora
Viral hepatitis	Hepatitis A virus
	Hepatitis E virus
Poliomyelitis (being	Poliovirus
eradicated)	

Table 2 Most important faecal-oral water-borne infectious diseases with their causal agents

the other two groups affect those countries with abundant water resources. This review concentrates on the faecal-oral water-borne diseases.

The most important pathogens causing faecal-oral water-borne diseases, with the exception of helmints (*Ascaris, Trichurus, Taenia*, etc.) are compiled in Table 2. These, virtually absent in the developed countries, are still highly prevalent in developing countries, though without causing serious illness [8].

Acute gastroenteritis, whose main manifestations are diarrhoea and vomiting are by far the faecal-oral diseases affecting the greater number of people. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that about 4,000,000,000 episodes of diarrhoea occur yearly in the world, yet unevenly distributed. Thus, whereas the citizens of the United States and Europe [15] have an average of about 0.5 episodes per year, some infants in developing countries have more than 3.0 episodes per year [6]. Whereas mortality in developed countries approaches 0, still 2,163,000 persons, mostly infants, were estimated to die of diarrhoea in 2004 in developing countries (Table 1). Diarrhoea accounts for 3.7% of all mortality in the globe and 4.7% of all disability adjusted life years (DALLYs), which is a procedure used by the WHO to estimate the contribution of a disease or groups of diseases to the total burden of diseases. DALLYs besides mortality include the age of dead persons and the disability caused by the disease [8].

Some of the pathogens in Table 2, infect only humans (e.g., *Vibrio cholerae*, *Salmonella typhi*, *Shigella dysenteriae*, poliovirus, hepatitis A virus), whereas others, known as zoonotic, infect both humans and animals (*Salmonella* no *thypi*, *Shigella* no *dysenteriae*, *Campylobacter*, enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* such as for example the biotype O157:H7, *Cryptosporidium*, etc.). The control of those that only infect humans is easier than the control of the zoonotic ones. Thus, some of them (*S. typhi*, *S. dysenteriae*, poliovirus, etc.) have practically been eradicated in many developed countries, whereas the eradication, and even the control below certain levels, of the zoonotic ones is a very difficult task.

# **3** Origin of the Water-Borne Pathogens and Faecal Indicators Present in Water Resources

What is the origin of water-borne pathogens found in water? Perhaps with the exception of V. cholerae, none of the most important pathogens causing water-borne infectious diseases grow in extra-intestinal environments (water, soil, sediments, sludges, etc.). Very few of them, such as for example Salmonella spp., can also grow in foods. The great majority only grow in infected hosts, some only in the gut, and others in the gut and other organs or tissues. They survive more or less successfully once outside the gut. They reach the extra-intestinal environments through faeces, where they go along with a usually much greater number of commensal microorganisms. As the pathogens, the great majority of gut commensals are not able to grow outside the gut. So, they are only found in environments contaminated with faecal wastes and this is the reason why they are considered as faecal contaminants. Certain of these commensal microorganisms are used as indicator organisms of faecal contamination (coliform bacteria, E. coli, enterococci, spores of clostridium, coliphages, etc.). Since they are more abundant and also are easier, faster and more cost effective to detect and count than the pathogens, they are used to assess the microbiological quality of water and to evaluate the functioning of water-treatment processes. The enormous progress made in water quality in developed countries has followed quality regulations based on levels of indicator microorganisms in waters for different uses.

The faecal contaminants, either of human or animal origin, reach the surface or ground water bodies through point or diffuse pollution. The point faecal contamination reaches the water through sewer outfalls that contribute raw or depurated wastewater. Mostly, these are either municipal (mostly domestic) or arriving from food industries (abattoirs and meat-processing industries). The diffuse pollution usually reaches the water through the soil by sewer leakage, septic tank overflow, small sewers, residues of agro-food activity (dispersion of slurries, faecal residues from farmed animals, etc.) and wild fauna. Those microorganisms contributed to the soil may reach the groundwater by horizontal and vertical transport and superficial water bodies by surface runoff and soil leakage. Generally speaking, it is easier to restrain point pollution than to bring under control diffuse pollution.

Only a small fraction of faecal contaminants contributed to the environment through human and animal faeces reach new hosts to infect them. Many of the defecated microorganisms never reach the soil and/or water bodies, since faecal wastes are submitted to purification (water) and hygienization (solids) processes, which remove a fraction of the pathogens and indicators. An important fraction of those that reach either the soil or water are removed (adsorption to soil particles and suspended solids, followed by sedimentation) and/or inactivated by natural stressors (physical, chemical and biological) in soil and water bodies. And even a fraction, ideally all, of those that survive are removed and/or inactivated in the drinking water treatment facilities or by cooking the contaminated food.

In theory, during droughts, if there is less water and similar numbers of faecal microorganisms reach the environment, their concentrations in water bodies should increase. But, this is not exactly what occurs. The lack of rain enlarges the zones of unsaturated porous soils that lie between the surface, which is the zone reached by faecal pollution, and the saturated porous zones. Therefore, there is no transport to the aquifers used as water sources for human consumption. On the other hand, low river flows increase sedimentation of particles and adsorbed microorganisms. And those still in the water and/or soil surface are exposed to major inactivation, since droughts are associated with natural stressors like high temperatures, irradiation, etc. Thus, droughts are typically periods of great immobilization and inactivation of microorganisms of faecal origin.

In contrast, during the rainy periods many factors contribute to an increase in the numbers of faecal pathogens and indicators in the water bodies. These factors are: (1) many communities still have combined sewer systems designed to carry both storm water and sanitary water to the sewage treatment plants; when excess water reaches the plant the systems are designed to discharge the excess wastewater into surface water; (2) additionally heavy rain resuspends sediments in sewers where faecal microorganisms accumulate; (3) increase in the leaking of sewers and septic tanks; (4) surface runoff and leaching of faecally contaminated soils to both surface water bodies (rivers and lakes) and karst aquifers; (5) resuspension of sediments in water courses; (6) saturation of porous soils favours rapid vertical and horizontal transport of microorganisms; (7) rain water, with low concentration of divalent ions, favours elution of microorganisms from sediment particles and also from soil particles.

All these facts can lead to increases in the amounts of faecal pathogens and faecal indicator microorganisms such as *E. coli* and enterococci reaching: (1) surface and subterranean water bodies used as drinking water sources; (2) fresh and sea water bathing areas; (3) shellfish growing areas; and (4) water used to irrigate vegetables consumed raw. These increases in faecal contaminant loads, which are of short duration, may escape the routine water quality controls included in the regulations available for water quality of drinking, bathing and shellfish growing areas and reclaimed water used for agricultural purposes. In addition, these boosts in the densities of microorganisms are associated with increases in water turbidity. This is known to impair drinking water treatment. Recently, an association between increases in turbidity in drinking water and infectious illness has been shown [16, 17].

Abundant literature on the increase of the densities of faecal pathogens and indicators in water sources during dry and rainy periods and the significant effect of rain in water-borne infectious disease outbreaks exist and prove all these assertions.

# 4 Rain and Densities of Faecal Pathogens and Indicators in Water Sources

First evidences of the impact of heavy rainfall on the epidemiology of enteric pathogens were obtained from studies on the presence of various faecal organisms, both pathogens and indicators in water. Increased numbers of pathogens and indicators in different water bodies, including drinking water, had been reported after heavy rains.

Increased amounts of faecal-oral water-borne pathogens (virus, bacteria and protozoa) and microbial indicators (bacterial and viral) have been reported in groundwater bodies [18], karst springs [19, 20], surface freshwater [21–26], marine waters used for bathing [27–29] and shellfish growing [30] as well as tap water [31].

In contrast, in developing countries published information on this topic is scarce, though existing information indicates that rain levels above background values also increase the amounts of indicators in fresh water bodies. Blum et al. [32] described in Nigeria a peak period of faecal pollution of water sources in the transition between the dry and the wet seasons. Gasana et al. [33] described boosts of faecal contaminants in water supplies in Rwanda after heavy rain episodes.

# 5 Rain and Water-Borne Infectious Disease Outbreaks

Very little evidence associating water scarcity and an increase in outbreaks of faecal-oral water-borne infectious diseases exists in developed countries. A recent retrospective study performed in England provides some evidence that both low rainfall and heavy rain precede many drinking water outbreaks [3]. Yet, as stated earlier in this review, the situation is potentially different in developing countries [5–7, 9–12], where water scarcity, including droughts, leads to different circumstances that have a clear incidence in the occurrence of both water-borne and waterwashed infectious diseases.

On the contrary, there are numerous reports of outbreaks of faecal-oral waterborne infectious diseases following heavy rain episodes.

There are some descriptions of water-borne outbreaks, or even small epidemics of acute gastroenteritis (diarrhoea), cholera and hepatitis E associated with catastrophic floods that occurred in developing countries, such as Sudan [34, 35], Nicaragua [36], Mozambique [37] and West Bengal [37]. On the contrary, no changes in the base-line outbreak incidence have been reported in developed countries after major floods [37, 38]. When infrastructures and water management are adequate, outbreaks of faecal-oral water-borne infectious diseases do not follow flood events, even in the case where water flooding has compromised the security of water facilities [37].

In developed countries heavy rain events not followed by floods have frequently been associated with outbreaks linked to drinking water supplies derived from either surface water [39–42] or groundwater [43–48], non-treated well water [49], bathing waters [50] and shellfish consumption [51]. Viruses [41, 47, 51], bacteria [39, 49] and protozoa [40, 42, 44, 45, 48] were the causal agent of these outbreaks. Outbreaks associated with heavy rains have also been described in countries of the Northern Mediterranean [39, 47, 51]. A significant percentage of these outbreaks worldwide were linked to rainfall events that followed periods of dry weather.

Three of these outbreaks deserve further discussion as they are very informative about the topic reviewed here. Firstly, the largest reported water-borne disease outbreak ever documented occurred in Milwaukee (USA) in 1993, with an estimated 403,000 cases of intestinal disease (cryptosporidiosis). The outbreak was preceded by a period of heavy rainfall and surface runoff with a subsequent turbidity boost in the surface source water that compromised the efficiency of the drinking water treatment plant [40]. Secondly, a water-borne outbreak with a high morbidity and mortality following heavy rainfall was the Walkerton outbreak of E. coli O157:H7 in Canada. This outbreak affected over 1,000 people of whom 60 were admitted to hospital and six died [43]. This outbreak was preceded by an extreme rainfall episode with a prevalence of once in 60 years [52]; this rainfall episode caused a contamination of the well used to provide water to the town, but no extra treatment was given to the water. Somehow this outbreak and the increase in extreme water events foreseen by experts in Climatic Change set off renewed interest in retrospective studies on the association of weather events and waterborne infectious disease. Worth noting is that this was the first water-borne outbreak that had a website to inform the public. Finally, the report of Laursen et al. [46] describes a correlation between precipitation and the onset of gastrointestinal symptoms (no agent was identified) in Denmark. The intrusion of sewage into a well was associated with rain and was followed within a few days by an increase in cases of diarrhoea. The same sequence of events repeated itself three times from December 1991 to February 1992.

In addition to these and other case-reports, some retrospective studies using data from water-borne disease and precipitation databases have been carried out in the United States, Canada, and England and Wales, where complete databases allow these studies. In a study with data from 1948 to 1994 corresponding to the United States, Curriero et al. [1] found a statistically significant association between rainfall and faecal-oral infectious water-borne diseases. Indeed, 51% of the water-borne outbreaks were preceded by precipitation events above the 90th percentile and 69% by events over the 80th percentile. The study performed in Canada also shows a significant association between heavy rainfall events and warm temperatures during the snow melting period with outbreaks of water-borne infectious diseases. For rainfall events greater than the 93% percentile, the relative odds of an outbreak increased by a factor greater than 2,200 [4]. A study of drinking water related outbreaks in England and Wales during almost the whole twentieth century found a significant association between excess rainfall over the previous week and low rainfall in the 3 weeks before the week of the outbreak [3].

# 6 Conclusions and Future Prospects

Water scarcity does not seem to have evident effects on the prevalence of waterborne infectious diseases in developed countries, including those in the Northern Mediterranean. In contrast, heavy rain episodes and particularly those following dry periods are associated with outbreaks of those diseases. In spite of the occurrence of a base-line of cases of diarrhoea as well as the occurrence of a certain number of outbreaks yearly the situation regarding these diseases is quite satisfactory. However, the water stress in many developed countries, including those in the Northern Mediterranean, is foreseen to intensify as a consequence of increasing demand, rainfall decrease and increase of extreme weather events, including droughts followed by heavy rains. This will lead to a deterioration of existing water sources and to the need to use non-conventional water sources. Ensuring water microbiological safety is essential during the adaptation to these changing circumstances. Mitigation measures could include:

Establishing disease surveillance and outbreak detection.

- Regulating the use of non-conventional water resources and speeding up modifications according to changing knowledge and circumstances.
- Establishing predictive models of water quality and early warning systems.
- Reinforce safety in water treatment and supply by implementing Water Safety Plans.
- Improving education programmes for water professionals in potential climate change impacts and the effect of extreme rain events.

Regarding developing countries, including those of the Eastern and Southern Mediterranean, the situation at present is far from satisfactory and circumstances reported in the previous paragraphs regarding climatic change will not help to reach the Millennium Development Goals set by the United Nations [53]. Forecasts far less optimistic than those of the United Nations and the WHO [8, 12] already exist [54]. Unfortunately, the new difficulties arising from the recent global economic/financial crisis make the worst-case scenario thinkable. A greater technical, economical and political commitment by the developed countries will be needed to avoid a catastrophic situation.

# References

- Curriero FC, Patz JA, Rose JB, Lele S (2001) The association between extreme precipitation and waterborne disease outbreaks in the United States, 1948–1994. Am J Public Health 91:1194–1999
- Hunter PR (2003) Climate change and waterborne and vector-borne diseases. J Appl Microbiol 94:37S–46S
- 3. Nichols G, Lane C, Asgari N et al (2009) Rainfall and outbreaks of drinking water related disease in England and Wales. J Water Health 7:1–8

- 4. Thomas KM, Charron DF, Waltner-Toews D et al (2006) A role of high impact weather events in waterborne disease outbreaks in Canada, 1975–2001. Int J Environ Health Res 16:168–180
- 5. Huttly SR, Blum D, Kirkwood BR et al (1987) The epidemiology of acute diarrhoea in a rural community in Imo State, Nigeria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 81:865–870
- Pokhrel D, Viraraghavan T (2004) Diarrhoeal diseases in Nepal vis-à-vis water supply and sanitation status. J Water Health 2:71–81
- World Health Organization (2006) Report on the Regional Consultation on health and environment linkages initiative (HELI) and children's environmental health indicators. Report WHO-EM/CEH/131/E, World Health Organization, Geneva. www.who.int/entity/ ceh/cehi\_heliconsult.pdf
- 8. World Health Organization (2008) The global burden of disease: 2004 update, Geneva. www. who.int/healthinfo/global\_burden\_disease/2004\_report\_update/en/index.html
- 9. Bellisar A (1994) Public health and the water crisis in the occupied Palestinian territories. J Palest Stud 23:52–63
- Ceylan A, Ertem M, Ilcin E, Ozekinci T (2003) A special risk group for hepatitis E infection: Turkish agricultural workers who use untreated waste water for irrigation. Epidemiol Infect 131:753–756
- Mellou AA, Hassani L (1999) Antibiotic resistance of Salmonella strains isolated from children living in the wastewater-spreading field of Marrakesh city (Morocco). World J Microbiol Biotechnol 15:81–85
- World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean (2008) Technical discussion on climate change and health security. EM/RC55/Tech. Disc.1, World Health Organization, Geneva. www.emro.who.int/RC55/media/pdf/EMRC55TECHDISC01en.pdf
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climatic Change (2007) Climatic change 2007. The physical science basis: summary for policy-makers, United Nations. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ IPCC\_Fourth\_Assessment\_Report
- Mara DD, Feachem RGA (1999) Water and excreta-related diseases: unitary environmental classification. J Environ Eng 125:334–339
- Roy S, Scallan E, Beach M (2006) The rate of acute gastrointestinal illness in developed countries. J Water Health 4:31–71
- Morris RD, Naumova EN, Levin R, Munasinghe RL (1996) Temporal variation in drinking water turbidity and diagnosed gastroenteritis in Milwaukee. Am J Public Health 86:237–239
- Schwartz J, Levin R, Hodge K (1997) Drinking water turbidity and paediatric hospital use for gastrointestinal illness in Philadelphia. Epidemiology 8:615–620
- Wellings FM, Lewis AL, Mountain CW, Pierce V (1975) Demonstration of virus in groundwater after effluent discharge onto soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 29:751–757
- Mendez J, Audicana A, Cancer M et al (2004) Assessment of drinking water quality using indicator bacteria and bacteriophages. J Water Health 2:201–214
- Stadler H, Skritek P, Sommer R et al (2008) Microbiological monitoring and automated event sampling at karst springs using LEO-satellites. Water Sci Technol 58:899–909
- Atherbolt TB, LeChevalier MW, Norton WD, Rosen JS (1998) Effect of rainfall on Giardia and Cryptosporidium. J Am Water Works Assoc 90:66–80
- Doran JW, Linn DM (1979) Bacteriological quality of runoff water from pastureland. Appl Environ Microbiol 37:985–991
- 23. Gaertner JP, Garres T, Becker JC et al (2009) Temporal analyses of Salmonellae in a headwater spring ecosystem reveals the effects of precipitation and runoff events. J Water Health 7:115–121
- 24. Haley BJ, Cole DJ, Lipp EK (2009) Distribution, diversity and seasonality of waterborne *Salmonellae* in a rural watershed. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:1248–1255
- 25. Kistemann T, Claβen T, Koch C et al (2002) Microbial load of drinking water reservoir tributaries during extreme rainfall and runoff. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2188–2197
- O'Shea ML, Field R (1992) Detection and disinfection of pathogens in storm-generated flows. Can J Microbiol 38:267–276

- Crowther J, Kay D, Wyer MD (2001) Relationships between microbial water quality and environmental conditions in coastal recreational waters: the Fylde coast, UK. Water Res 17:4029–4038
- Sercu B, Van De Werfhorst LC, Murray J, Holden PA (2009) Storm drains are sources of human fecal pollution during dry weather in three urban southern California watersheds. Environ Sci Technol 43:293–298
- 29. Vidal JR, Lucena F (1997) Effects of the rain on microbiological quality of bathing waters in the Mediterranean areas. In: Maier EA, Lightfoot NF, Ramaekers DA (eds) Technical feasibility of an a priori measurement approach for managing bathing water quality Report EUR 17801 EN. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg
- Moissec L, Le Guyader F, Haugareau L, Pommepuy M (2000) Magnitude of rainfall on viral contamination of the marine environment during gastroenteritis epidemics in human coastal population. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 48:62–71
- LeChevalier MS, Norton WD (1995) Giardia and Cryptosporidium in raw and finished water. J Am Water Works Assoc 87:54–68
- 32. Blum D, Huttly SRA, Okoro JI et al (1987) The bacteriological quality of traditional water sources in north-eastern Imo State, Nigeria. Epidemiol Infect 99:429–437
- 33. Gasana J, Morin J, Ndikuyeze A, Kamoso P (2001) Impact of water supply and sanitation on diarrheal morbidity among young children in the socioeconomic and cultural context of Rwanda (Africa). Environ Res 90:76–88
- 34. McCarthy MC, He J, Hyams KC et al (1994) Acute hepatitis E infection during the 1988 floods in Khartoum, Sudan. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 88:177
- 35. Shears P (1988) The Khartoum floods and diarrhoeal diseases. Lancet 2:517
- 36. Campanella N (1999) Infectious diseases and natural disasters: the effects of Hurricane Mitch over Villanueva municipal area, Nicaragua. Public Health Rev 27:311–319
- 37. World Health Organization (2007) Flooding and communicable diseases. Fact sheet, World Health Organisation, Geneva. www.who.int/hac/techguidance/ems/flood\_cds/en/
- 38. Greenough G, McGeehin M, Bernard SM et al (2001) The potential impacts of climate variability and change on health impacts of extreme weather events in the United States. Environ Health Perspect 109:191–198
- 39. Arias C, Sala MR, Dominguez A et al (2006) Waterborne epidemic outbreak of *Shigella sonnei* gastroenteritis in Santa Maria de Palautordera, Catalonia, Spain. Epidemiol Infect 134:598–604
- 40. McKenzie WR, Hoxie NJ, Proctor ME et al (1994) Massive waterborne outbreak of *Cryptosporidium* infection associated with a filtered public water supply. N Eng J Med 331:161–167
- Miettinen IT, Zacheus O, von Bonsdorff CH, Vartiainen T (2001) Waterborne epidemics in Finland in 1998–1999. Water Sci Technol 43:67–71
- 42. Weniger BG, Blaser MJ, Gedrose J et al (1983) An outbreak of waterborne giardiasis associated with heavy water runoff due to warm weather and volcanic ashfall. Am J Public Health 73:862–872
- Anonymous (2000) Waterborne outbreak of gastroenteritis associated with a contaminated municipal water supply. Canada Communicable Disease Report, vol 26. Walkerton, ON, pp 170–173, May–June 2000
- 44. Bridgman S, Robertson RMP, Syed Q et al (1995) Outbreak of cryptosporidiosis associated with a disinfected groundwater supply. Epidemiol Infect 115:555–566
- 45. Joseph C, Hamilton G, O'Connor M et al (1991) Cryptosporidiosis in the Isle of Thanet: an outbreak associated with local drinking water. Epidemiol Infect 107:509–519
- Laursen E, Mygind O, Rasmussen B, Ronne T (1994) Gastroenteritis: a waterborne outbreak affecting 1600 people in a small Danish town. J Epidemiol Community Health 49:453–458
- Papadopoulos VP, Vlachos O, Efterpi I et al (2006) A gastroenteritis outbreak due to norovirus infection in Xanthi, Northern Greece: management and public health consequences. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 15:27–30

- 48. Willocks L, Crampin A, Milne L et al (1998) A large outbreak of cryptosporidiosis associated with a public water supply from a deep chalk borehole. Commun Dis Public Health 1:239–243
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention (1999) Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Camylobacter* among attendees of the Washington County Fair – New York. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 48:803–805
- 50. Kramer MH, Sorhage FE, Goldstein ST et al (1998) First reported outbreak in the United States of cryptosporidiosis associated with a recreational lake. Clin Infect Dis 26:27–33
- Le Guyader FS, Bon F, deMedici D et al (2006) Detection of a multiple noroviruses associated with an international gastroenteritis outbreak linked to oyster consumption. J Clin Microbiol 44:3878–3882
- 52. Auld H, Maclver D, Klaassen J (2004) Heavy rainfall and waterborne disease outbreaks: the Walkerton example. J Toxicol Environ Health A 67:1879–1887
- United Nations (2000) The millennium goals. United Nations Millennium Declaration. United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/millennium/declaration/ares552e.htm
- 54. Gleick PH (2002) Dirty water: estimated deaths from water-related diseases 2000–2020. Pacific Institute for Studies in Development, Environment and Security. www.pacinst.org/ reports/ water\_related\_deaths /water\_related\_deaths\_report.pdf
- United Nations (2000). The Millenium Goals. United Nations Millenium Declaration A/RES/ 55/2.8. United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/millennium/declaration/ares552e.htm

# **Implications of Water Quality on Irrigation Practices Under Water Scarcity**

**Faycel Chenini** 

Abstract Extensive regions of the Mediterranean Region are currently facing serious problems regarding the supply of sufficient water resources to cover their increasing water supply demands. In the year 2025, several countries will have less than 200 cubic meters per capita per year. This problem of water scarcity in the region is continuously aggravating: while the renewable water resources decrease, the demand for potable water is increasing due to population growth and increasing economic activities. One of the most important future options for a sustainable management of water resources in affected countries is the use of poor quality water. Irrigation and water resources management under water scarcity is one of the challenges all these countries will have to deal with in the coming decades. Therefore, these countries need irrigation management for water quality control. The importance of water quality for irrigation is of particular importance in arid climates where water is scarce. On the other hand, as water resources become more limited, increased use is being made of marginal/inferior irrigation water, with high sodium or total salt content, or both. Without sound management based on knowledge of the possible harmful effects and environmental impacts, prolonged application of such resource of water may become impossible.

Keywords Irrigation, Management, Quality, Resources, Scarcity, Water

### Contents

1	Introduction	. 162
2	Evaluation of Chemical Characteristics of Irrigation Water Under Water Scarcity	. 163
	2.1 Salinity/Total Concentration of Soluble Salts	164

#### F. Chenini

National Institute of Rural Engineering Water and Forestry (INRGREF), BP 10, 2080 Ariana, Tunisia

e-mail: Chenini.faycel@iresa.agrinet.tn

	2.2	Sodicity	164			
	2.3	Anionic Composition	166			
	2.4	Concentration of Boron	166			
	2.5	Turbidity	167			
3	Repe	ercussions of Soil Properties and Irrigation Water Quality on Crop Growth Under				
	Wate	er Scarcity	. 167			
4	Irrig	ation Management: Implication of Irrigation Methods in Relation				
	to Water Quality					
5	Spec	ific Examples of Implication of Irrigation Water Quality Under Water Scarcity	. 168			
	5.1	Syria	168			
	5.2	Tunisia	169			
	5.3	Egypt	169			
	5.4	Morocco	170			
	5.5	Cyprus	170			
6	Cond	clusion	. 171			
Ref	erenc	es	172			

# Abbreviations

СМ	Cubic meter
EC	Electrical conductivity
ESP	Exchangeable sodium percentage
FAO	Food and agriculture organization
MENA	Middle East and North Africa
ppm	Parts per million
SAR	Sodium adsorption ratio
TDS	Total dissolved solids

# 1 Introduction

The Mediterranean region is one of the most water-scarce regions of the world, where good water management matters even more than it does elsewhere. Several countries have already reached or even gone beyond water scarcity levels (Cyprus, Egypt, Israel, Morocco, Tunisia...). Increase in water demand, as a result of population growth and development plans, are putting serious burdens and pressure on the existing conventional water resources, including stressed water supply and deterioration of water quality. Water management problems are already apparent in these countries [1]. Indeed, water management has been a concern throughout history in countries of the region, and societies have grown in ways that adapt to water scarcity and variability [2]. For millennia, societies developed elaborate institutions and conventions governing individual behavior, and developed technologies to manage their water effectively. In the process, the region spawned some of the world's oldest and most accomplished civilizations, based on both farming

and trade [1]. These communities reduced the risks of scarcity and irregular rainfall through water diversion, flood protection, exploitation of aquifers, and elaborate conveyance systems. Some of the ancient water management systems remain, still governed by traditional structures. In many cases, these systems are well operating [2].

Many publications use an absolute measure that denotes "water security," frequently referring to an index that identifies a threshold of 1,700 CM per capita per year of renewable water, based on estimates of water requirements in the household, agricultural, industrial, and energy sectors as well as the needs of the environment. Countries whose renewable water supplies cannot sustain this figure experience *water stress*. When supply falls below 1,000 m<sup>3</sup> per capita per year, a country is said to experience *water scarcity*, and below 500 m<sup>3</sup> per capita per year, *absolute scarcity*. However, these terms are easy to misinterpret, because they do not take into account possibilities for trade in agricultural products, efficiency of water use in agriculture, and other variables, and thus obscure the primacy of economic demand rather than physical need in determining water use [3–5].

The ratio of total water use to water availability under water stress can be defined as *Water scarcity* (in % = total water use/water availability). It will generally range between 0 and 100%, but can in exceptional cases (e.g. groundwater mining) be above a 100%. For example, this ratio is in Algeria 39.8%, in Egypt 105.8%, in Jordan 114.5%, in Lebanon 33.4%, in Morocco 42.2%, in Syria 75.3%, and in Tunisia 56.6 [6].

With a growing scarcity of freshwater available for irrigation, other sources of lower quality like brackish water, saline water, and treated wastewater become more important as additional or substituting inputs for the agricultural sector. At the same time, it is clear that a sophisticated treatment like desalination or nanofiltration under current conditions is still far too expensive to be a major solution to future irrigation water needs. Hence adaptation of farming and irrigation practices to the particular water qualities constitutes a more viable approach.

As a result of the experience drawn from several countries of the region, special emphasis has to be given to the practical approaches that have been successful in the past [17]. Success, viability and acceptance of marginal water use in agriculture depends on locally adapted water and soil management practices, with appropriate selection of cropping pattern and farming practices.

# 2 Evaluation of Chemical Characteristics of Irrigation Water Under Water Scarcity

Irrigation has been practiced from the ancient time; it is only in the twentieth century that the importance of the irrigation water quality was recognized [7]. The use of saline water may result in the reduction of crop yields. A high sodicity of water for irrigation may cause the deterioration in the physical properties of soils

with consequent reduction in crop yield. Presently, considerable attention is being given to environmental and human health aspects of irrigation water quality, including the probable presence of potentially harmful elements [8].

Water quality for irrigation is of particular importance in a water scarcity condition and especially in arid climates. Salts formed by deposition from irrigation tend to accumulate in the soil profile. Irrigation water may contain up to 1000 g of salt per cubic meter (the general case in Mediterranean region [9]. The application of 100 mm irrigation of high saline waters will introduce one ton of salt to a hectare of irrigated area. Consequently, it is necessary to include leaching and drainage as an integral part of the irrigation program. Unfortunately, this practice is not well applied in several countries in the Mediterranean region. On the other hand, mixing different water resources to decrease salinity is becoming a common practice in different countries such as Morocco, Egypt, Tunisia, Jordan and Israel. Interconnection of reservoirs and dams is also applied to improve water quality and facing local drought periods.

The following chemical characteristics determine the quality of irrigation water under scarcity of water.

### 2.1 Salinity/Total Concentration of Soluble Salts

The effect of water salinity on crop growth is largely of osmotic nature. Osmotic pressure is related to the total salt concentration rather than the concentration of individual ionic elements. Salinity is commonly expressed as the electric conductivity of the irrigation water. Salt concentration can be determined by Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) or by Electrical Conductivity (EC). Under a water scarcity condition, salt tolerance of agricultural crops will be the primordial parameter when the quality of irrigation water is implicated for the integrated water resources management [10].

Table 1 shows the relative salt tolerances of agricultural crops. These data serve as a guide to the relative tolerance among crops to adapt the quality of water to crops patterns under water scarcity. It is important to highlight that absolute tolerances vary with climate, soil conditions, and cultural practices.

### 2.2 Sodicity

This is defined as the relative concentration of sodium to calcium plus magnesium, and is represented by a parameter known as the sodium adsorption ratio (SAR). The absolute concentration values of the different cations in irrigation water are not adequate for estimating probable hazards. An important consideration is the extent to which the exchangeable sodium percentage (ESP) of the soil will increase as a result of adsorption of sodium from the irrigation water. The higher the ratio, the 
 Table 1 Relative salt tolerance of agricultural crops [12]

Tolerant

Barley, cotton, jojoba, sugarbeet

Alkali grass, alkali sacaton, bermuda grass, kallar grass, salt grass, weatgrass, wildrye

Asparagus, date palm

Moderately tolerant

Cowpea, oats, rye, safflower, sorghum, soybean, triticale, wheat

Barley (farage), brome (mountain), canary grass (reed), clover (hubam), clover (sweet), fescue (meadow), fescue (tall), harding grass, panic grass (blue), rape, rescue grass, rhodes grass, ryegrass (Italian), ryegrass (perennial), sudan grass, trefoil (narrowleaf, birdfoot), wheat (forage), wheatgrass (standard crested), wheatgrass (intermediate), wheatgrass (slender), wheatgrass (western), wild rye (beardless), wild rye (Canadian), artichoke, red beet, squash (zucchini), fig, jujube, olive, papaya, pineapple, pomegranate

Moderately sensitive

Broadbean, castorbean, maize, flax, millet, peanut, rice, sugarcane, sunflower

Alfalfa, bent grass, bluestem, brome (smooth), bumet, clover (alsike), clover (strawberry), clover (white dutch), corn (forage, maize), cowpea (forage), dahlia grass, foxtail (meadow), grama (blue), love grass, milkvetech (cicer), oat grass (tall), oats (forage), orchard grass, reye (forage), sesbania, siratro, sphaerphasa, timothy, trefoil (big), vetch (common), broccoli, brussels sprouts, cabbage, cauliflower, celery, corn (sweet), cucumber, eggplant, kale, kohlrabi, lettuce, muskmelon, pepper, potato, pumpkin, radish, spinach, squash (scallop), sweet potato, tomato, turnip, watermelon, grape

Sensitive

Bean, guayule, sesame,

Bean (VC), carrot, okra, onion, parsnip

Almond, apple, apricot, avocado, blackberry, boysenberry, cherimoya, cherry (sweet), cherry (sand), currant, gooseberry, grapefruit, lemon, lime, loquat, mango, orange, passion fruit, peach, pear, persimmon, plum (prune), pommel, raspberry, rose apple, sapote (white), strawberry, tangerine

Table 2	Relative	tolerance	of	selected	crops to	exchangeable	sodium	[12	21
						6			

#### Sensitive (ESP<15)

Avocado, deciduous fruits, nuts, bean (green), cotton (at germination), maize, peas, grapefruit, orange, peach, tangerine, mung, mash, lentil, groundnut (peanut), gram, cowpeas

Semi-tolerant (15 < ESP < 40)

Carrot, clover (ladino), dallisgrass, fescue (tall), lettuce, bajara, sugarcane, berseem, benji, raya, oat, onion, radish, rice, rye, ryegrass (italian), sorghum, spinach, tomato, vetch, wheat *Tolerant* (*ESP* > 40)

Alfalfa, barley, beet (garden), beet (sugar), bermuda grass, cotton, para grass, rhodes grass, wheatgrass (crested), wheatgrass (fairway), wheatgrass (tall)

higher the sodicity hazard. When bicarbonate ions are present, the sodicity hazard increases.

Relative tolerance of selected crops to exchangeable sodium is presented in the following Table 2.

Under water scarcity, the two factors, salinity and sodicity of the irrigation water must be considered together for a proper evaluation of the ultimate effect of the water on the infiltration rate that generally increases with increasing salinity of the irrigation water and decreases with either decreasing salinity or increasing sodicity. The infiltration problem caused by water quality is also related to the structural stability of the surface soil (see below).

### 2.3 Anionic Composition

The principal cations and anions in irrigation water are calcium, magnesium, sodium, bicarbonate, sulfate, chloride, and nitrate. The total cation and anion concentrations must be equal. If the pH exceeds 8.3, carbonate concentrations can become significant. Potassium concentrations are usually less than 1 meq liter<sup>-1</sup>. On the other hand, the pH of irrigation water is not an accepted criterion of water quality because it tends to be buffered by the soil and most crops can tolerate a wide range of pH. Calcium carbonates are sparingly soluble. The calcium concentration is very low in water of high pH, and is never high in the presence of a high concentration of bicarbonate [11].

# 2.4 Concentration of Boron

For all natural waters, boron is one of their constituents with varying concentrations from minute traces to several ppm (parts per million). It is essential for plant growth but is exceedingly toxic at concentration slightly above optimum. Boron tolerances vary depending upon climate, and crop varieties. Relative boron tolerances of agricultural crops are presented in Table 3 [12].

 Table 3 Relative boron tolerances of agricultural crops [12]

Tuble 5 Relative boton tolerances of agricultural crops [12]
Very sensitive (<0.5 ppm)
Lemon, blackberry
Sensitive (0.5–0.75 ppm)
Avocado, grapefruit, orange, apricot, peach, cherry, plum, persimmon, grape, walnut, pecan, cowpea, onion
Sensitive (0.75–1.0 ppm)
Garlic, sweet potato, wheat, barley, sunflower, bean (mung), sesame, lupine, strawberry, artichke (jerusalem), bean (kidney), bean (lima), groundnut/peanut
Moderately sensitive (1.0–2.0 ppm)
Pepper (red), pea, carrot, radish, potato, cucumber
Moderately tolerant (2.0–4.0 ppm)
Lettuce, cabbage, celery, turnip, bluegrass (kentucky), oats, maize, artichoke, tobacco, mustard, clover (sweet), squash, muskmelon
<i>Tolerant</i> (4.0–6.0 ppm)
Sorghum, tomato, alfalfa, vetch (purple), parsley, beet (red), beet (sugar)
Very tolerant (6.0–15.0 ppm)
Cotton, asparagus
Above indicated concentrations are maximum tolerated values in soil-water without yield or vegetative growth reduction
Maximum concentrations in the irrigation water are approximately equal to above listed values or

Boron tolerances vary depending upon climate, and crop varieties

slightly less

# 2.5 Turbidity

Turbidity, due to solid particles in suspension, is a parameter generally neglected. However, under water scarcity, it is very important to be controlled because it may restrict the use of water for irrigation. Solid particles may clog the water distribution systems as drippers or sprinklers. They may also affect the soil permeability. This is why in different countries in the Mediterranean region special devices for the removal of sediments especially are used when marginal waters are only available for irrigation.

# **3** Repercussions of Soil Properties and Irrigation Water Quality on Crop Growth Under Water Scarcity

In arid regions and under water scarcity, calcium and magnesium are the most prevalent cations in soil solutions and in exchange complexes of irrigated soils. Applying irrigation, sodium becomes the main cation in the soil solution. The salt concentration and the SAR tend to increase, and a part of the exchangeable calcium and magnesium is replaced by sodium.

Soils properties are very sensitive to the type of exchangeable ions. Calcium imparts favorable physical properties to the soil, while adsorbed sodium causes clay dispersion and swelling. It is generally recognized that an exchangeable sodium percentage of 10 is sufficient to cause soil dispersion, reduction of soil permeability and impaired growth of some crop plants. On the other hand, excess salt concentration prevents the dispersive effect of adsorbed sodium.

Applying irrigation water can be tolerated under water scarcity though it produces swelling, since swelling is a reversible process. Indeed reduction in permeability can be reversed by adding electrolytes to the system. On the other hand, dispersion is an irreversible process and must be seriously controlled because of the formation of impermeable clay pans. When high sodium water is used for irrigation, difficulties may not appear during the irrigation season. When winter rains leach the salts from the upper soil layers, the soil disperses, the surface crusts, and the permeability is significantly reduced [10].

# 4 Irrigation Management: Implication of Irrigation Methods in Relation to Water Quality

Under water scarcity conditions, the usability of poor water quality for irrigation is conditioned by the irrigation method employed.

With surface irrigation, water quality control procedures include careful land leveling and controlled water application to ensure adequate and rapid watering of

border strip, basin or furrow with a minimum of runoff. Inadequate water quality control (salinity) is mostly due to inherent variability of intake rates and unsatisfactory land leveling. The application of additional water to assure adequate watering everywhere can result in an excessively high water table. Artificial drainage is often required to control this situation. The water table should be sufficiently low to prevent the rise of ground water into the root zone. Hence, the desirable water table level is dependent on the unsaturated conductivity of the soils. A relatively high water table of about 100 cm can be tolerated in coarse textured soils. A water table depth of about 180 cm is generally recommended for soils of medium texture. A lower table is required for perennial crops than for annuals [13]. Inadequate watering and soil salinization may occur on fine textured soils because of insufficient infiltration rates. This is particularly true of crops with high water requirements, such as alfalfa. If soil permeability is insufficient to meet the leaching requirement, a crop with a lower water requirement or higher salt tolerance should be grown.

With sprinkler irrigation, efficiencies are easier to obtain than with surface irrigation. Land leveling is not necessary and the need of artificial drainage is reduced. Therefore, in countries under water scarcity, sprinkler irrigation will save water and provides an effective means of reducing the salt concentration at the soil surface; it is therefore increasingly used for salt-sensitive row crops. Surface irrigation can then be used for the remainder of the growing season.

With micro irrigation, special management practices such as high irrigation frequency or humid strips are required to maintain soil salinity in the root zone within the tolerance range of the crop. Zones of high concentration are developed at the wetting front during the growing season and may have to be leached before a new plantation.

# 5 Specific Examples of Implication of Irrigation Water Quality Under Water Scarcity

# 5.1 Syria

To promote the use of poor quality water for irrigation, a field research study was conducted in three semi-arid regions with water scarceness in Syria in order to define, under field conditions, the wheat yield response function to irrigation water salinity, the effect of soil texture and structural characteristics on the irrigation water salinity threshold, and to compare this value with the conventional threshold value.

There was a discrepancy between water salinity limits for the three locations, which may be attributed to factors related to difference in soil texture and structure. This affects soil infiltration capacity and water retention. These soil hydrologic characteristics influence salt development in the soil profile, which affects plant growth and yield. Analysis of the obtained soil salinity profiles indicate that these differences in soil properties influence:

- Salt accumulation in the soil profile.
- The level of seedbed salinity present at sowing time.
- The extent of "natural leaching" of the soil profile.

The results of this research study indicate that wheat tolerance for irrigation with saline water is affected by various real "in-field" conditions, including soil texture and structure, climate, irrigation water management and agricultural practices.

These results underline the necessity of establishing regional water quality criteria when planning the use of saline water sources for irrigation. These criteria are of primary importance for establishing suitable strategies for the safe use of saline aquifers in Syria and other arid and semi-arid regions.

### 5.2 Tunisia

Despite the scarcity of water resources, Tunisia has adopted a water demand management program based on water quality monitoring. This has permitted the development of the reuse of nonconventional water resources in irrigated agriculture as treated wastewater and brackish water. This reuse is one of the main assizes of the national strategy of water resources mobilization. Tunisia has adopted an intermediate way where wastewater is mainly processed up to a secondary treatment stage and it is used for restrictive irrigation. The strategy of reusing treated wastewater has suggested some suitable answers to the national context of water resources and notably to the local specificities. The main objective is to increase the rate of reuse. The actual rate stands at about 20% and with the above mentioned national strategy, the rate is expected to reach 40–60% in 2015.

Treated wastewater salinity and the high cost of hydraulic facilities are other constraints in the development of the sector and limit project profitability. Improving quality of treated wastewater is still one important challenge for the government that could improve the reuse rate. While any quality of treated wastewater can be produced, the degree of treatment must be addressed: what constituents have to be removed and what quality will be acceptable? [14].

### 5.3 Egypt

According to the NRI study [15], the Nile is the main source of drinking water in Egypt. Over 85% of the country's water is consumed annually by irrigation. Hence, safe water will provide pollutant-free agricultural products and production will increase as well. The concentration of organic material decreased 15–69% in the main course, dissolved salts decreased 1.5–2.0%, while phosphate concentration decreased 14%. The total water quality was improved by an average of 14%. The

water was tested just after the excess discharge period, which took place in October and November. Surplus water was discharged from Aswan High Dam into the river in a process called "Washing the Nile". This helps decrease the concentration of pollutants like organic material, excessive salts and bacteria. The main industrial pollutants in the Nile are pesticides [15], organic material, heavy metals, ammonia, nitrate, and phosphate, but these pollutants are concentrated in limited areas where factories and industrial workshops discharge their liquid waste.

Treated wastewater also finds its way into the Nile. The government is managing this arrival by deriving a large quantity of treated sewage water to tree plantations instead of diverting it into water channels. Over 4,620 ha of land were planted with trees in 24 areas across 16 provinces for this purpose and 2.4 billion cubic meters are being used for irrigation.Water quality awareness is still the new challenge for the Egyptian government, which is more important in solving environmental problems. This should begin with the people's recognition that a problem of water quality exists [15].

### 5.4 Morocco

In Morocco, the chronic water scarcity is thus becoming a permanent situation that can no longer be ignored to draw on the strategies and policies concerning the management of water resources. The quality of these resources has undergone a considerable degradation during the last decades due to the different sources of pollution (domestic, industrial, agricultural wastewaters). On the basis of the climatic and geographic context, the resort to nonconventional waters constitutes an alternative, especially in areas suffering from droughts. The treated wastewater constitutes a national development factor through extending irrigated areas, exploiting arid lands, improving public health, controlling environment pollution and managing the quality of water resources at the level of hydrographic basins.

A total of 7000 ha is directly irrigated with raw wastewater discharged by towns, i.e., about 70 million  $m^3$  of wastewater is used every year in agriculture with no application of health control (according to WHO standards). Many crops are irrigated in this manner (fodder, market gardening, major crops, arboriculture...). The irrigation of market garden crops with raw wastewaters is forbidden in Morocco, but this ban is not respected. This makes the consumer of agricultural products and the farmer face risks of bacteria or parasite disease. The promotion of treated wastewater reuse cannot materialize without taking quality as the mean parameter for saving human health and agriculture production [5].

### 5.5 Cyprus

The island of Cyprus suffers from a chronic water shortage. Droughts and insufficient rainfall are commonplace. The growing demand for sweet water and the
decline of Cyprus's nonpolluted water sources place an additional heavy burden on the island's already inadequate water supplies.

The severe drought in Cyprus has led both the Greek and Turkish sides toward alternative projects to meet the growing freshwater demands. The reuse of total treated wastewater for irrigated agriculture that is continuously increasing was adopted in the water management strategy. Nowadays, about 6 Mm<sup>3</sup> is treated and used mainly for irrigation purposes. With the completion of the central collection and treatment plants in the cities and villages, it is expected that 30 Mm<sup>3</sup> of treated wastewater will be available and reused [16].

## 6 Conclusion

In arid and semi arid areas, due to conventional water scarcity and growing water demands, water of poor quality is increasingly used, including treated wastewater, saline aquifers and reused drainage water. Different strategies have been developed for the safe use of treated wastewater, or even saline waters. These are mainly mixing saline and nonsaline water after plant establishment, using saline and nonsaline water sequentially over the growing season. Another strategy is introducing supplemental irrigation with saline water in areas of high seasonal rainfall, and applying agricultural rotations with crops of different water quality tolerances, or managing irrigation (by operating the irrigation frequency and amount), as well as by managing soil (including tillage and fertilizer application). The application of one or more of these strategies necessitates accurate definition of crop water quality tolerance parameters.

Available reports from a variety of agro-climatic regions in the world indicate that crop water quality response is greatly influenced by prevailing local factors, including field practices and conditions. These factors differ widely among agricultural regions. Therefore, it is of primary importance to establish locally specific criteria when defining suitable strategies for quality of irrigation water use. These criteria have to take into consideration local irrigation and agricultural practices (including irrigation method and timing, practical leaching fraction values and fertilizer use), and in-situ field conditions, including soil texture and structure, as well as the local climatic conditions.

What is needed for the region's permanent water scarcity is a simple approach which takes into account the needs of both, water users (using irrigation water) and water consumers (using potable water). Properly treated wastewater and slightly saline water can provide a major share of the irrigation water demand on the farms. It is obvious that handling these water qualities requires some preparation of the farmers and eventually also assistance in developing appropriate irrigation management practices [1].

## References

- World Bank (2007) Making the most of scarcity: accountability for better water management results in the Middle East and North Africa. MENA development report on water. IBRD 2007, 266 p
- Bazza M (2006) History of irrigation and non-conventional water resources use in the near east region. Food an agriculture organization of the United Nations. Regional Office for the Near East – 2006
- Shiklomanov I (1993) World fresh water resources. In: Gleick P (ed) Water in crisis. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 13–24
- 4. Gleick P (ed) (1993) Water in crisis. Oxford University Press, New York
- Choukrallah R (2009) Practices for wastewater treatment and re-use in the mediterranean: case of Morocco. INNOVA-MED: innovative processes and practices for wastewater treatment and re-use in the Mediterranean region. FP 6
- Chapagain AK, Hoekstra AY (2003) Virtual water flows between nations in relation to trade in livestock and livestock products. Value of water research report series No. 13, IHE, Delft, the Netherlands
- 7. Ayers RS, Branson RL (1975) Guideline for interpretation of water quality for agriculture. University of California, 13 pp
- 8. FAO (2000) Water quality management and pollution control in the near east: an overview. Paper presented at the regional workshop on water quality management and pollution control in the Near East, Cairo, Egypt
- Falkenmark M, Lundquist J, Widstrand C (1989) Macro-scale water scarcity requires microscale approaches: aspects of vulnerability in semi-arid development. Nat Resour Forum 13 (4):258–67
- 10. Shainberg I, Oster JD (1978) Quality of irrigation water. International Information Center. IIIC Publication No. 2
- Ayers RS, Branson RL (1978) In: Reisenauer HM (ed) Quality for irrigation water. In soil and plant-tissue testing in California. Bulletin No. 1879, Division of Agricutural Sciences, University of California
- 12. FAO AQUASTAT Database (1985). http://www.fao.org/ag/agl/aglw/aquastat/dbase/index. stm
- Shalhevet J (1973) Irrigation with saline water. Chapter VI.I, Arid zone irrigation. Springer, Berlin, 433p
- 14. Chenini F (2009) Critical overview of new practices in the re-use of treated wastewater and sludge in the Mediterranean region. INNOVA-MED: innovative processes and practices for wastewater treatment and re-use in the Mediterranean region. FP 6
- 15. Tawfik M (2009) Practices for wastewater treatment and re-use in the mediterranean: case of Egypt. INNOVA-MED: innovative processes and practices for wastewater treatment and re-use in the Mediterranean region. FP 6
- Bazza M (2005) Expert consultation for launching the regional network on wastewater re-use in the Near East – WHO/FAO, 2003 – Proceedings
- 17. Angelakis AN, Marecos Do Monte MHF, Bontoux L, Asano T (1999) The status of wastewater reuse practice in the mediterranean basin. Water Res 33(10):2201–2217

# Effects of Wastewater Treatment Plants on Stream Nutrient Dynamics Under Water Scarcity Conditions

Eugènia Martí, Joan Lluís Riera, and Francesc Sabater

Abstract Despite an array of significant technological advances, effluents from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) generate abrupt physical and chemical discontinuities along the fluvial continuum. These discontinuities not only alter the water quality, but also significantly affect fluvial ecosystem structure and function. In particular, WWTP effluents increase nutrient concentrations and introduce toxic substances, including emergent pollutants, to the fluvial ecosystems. There is abundant evidence that these changes affect stream communities. Fewer studies, however, have examined the influence of WWTP inputs on the hydrologic and nutrient availability regimes. Yet, shifts in these regimes can have clear implications for the stream ecosystem function. This knowledge is of critical relevance for stream management as it provides insights on integrative properties of trophic state, energy transfer, and material cycling at the ecosystem level. WWTP effects on fluvial ecosystems are expected to become more exacerbated under water scarcity conditions, which are characteristic of arid and semiarid regions such as the Mediterranean region. Under these conditions, streams receiving point source inputs may turn into islands of permanent flow within a highly intermittent fluvial network. This has implications not only locally at the reach scale but also at the catchment scale. Within this context, both plant operation and fluvial management may be critical to preserve the ecological integrity of these aquatic ecosystems at the same time that a balance is met with societal demand for high quality water resources. This chapter aims to review current knowledge on this topic, with major emphasis on nutrient loads and in-stream nutrient retention, and to discuss its implications within the context of actual and future scenarios of water scarcity conditions.

E. Martí (🖂)

e-mail: eugenia@ceab.csic.es

J.L. Riera and F. Sabater

Departament d'Ecologia, Universitat de Barcelona, Diagonal 645, Barcelona 08028, Spain

S. Sabater and D. Barceló (eds.), *Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean:* 173 *Perspectives Under Global Change*, Hdb Env Chem (2010) 8: 173–195, DOI 10.1007/698\_2009\_33, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, Published online: 26 November 2009

Limnology group, Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes (CSIC), Accés a la Cala St. Francesc 14, Blanes 17300, Girona, Spain

**Keywords** Nitrogen, Nutrient retention, Phosphorus, Point sources, River, Stream, Wastewater treatment plants, Water scarcity

#### Contents

<ol> <li>Nutrient Inputs from Urban Wastewaters and Global Change in Semiarid Regions</li></ol>	174
<ul> <li>Change in Semiarid Regions</li></ul>	
<ol> <li>Nutrient Dynamics in WWTP-Dominated Streams</li></ol>	175
<ul> <li>3.1 Effects of WWTP Inputs on Water and Nutrient Loads</li></ul>	178
<ul> <li>3.2 Effects of WWTP Inputs on In-Stream Nutrient Retention</li></ul>	178
<ul> <li>3.3 Effects of Water Scarcity on In-Stream Nutrient Retention in WWTP-Dominated Streams</li> <li>4 Point Sources Under Water Scarcity: Managing the Stream Network</li> <li>5 Outlook: What Science Do We Need to Do?</li> </ul>	179
<ul> <li>WWTP-Dominated Streams</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>4 Point Sources Under Water Scarcity: Managing the Stream Network</li> <li>5 Outlook: What Science Do We Need to Do?</li> </ul>	185
the Stream Network         5       Outlook: What Science Do We Need to Do?	
5 Outlook: What Science Do We Need to Do?	186
	189
References	191

## 1 Introduction

Eutrophication of freshwater ecosystems is one of the major environmental problems worldwide [1, 2]. This problem is caused by an excessive enrichment of inland and marine waters with nutrients (i.e., nitrogen and phosphorus) mostly derived from human activities [3–5]. Eutrophication alters the ecological integrity of freshwater ecosystems and causes severe reductions in water quality. While nutrients at low concentrations can limit ecosystem production, in excess they enhance the growth of primary producers (algae, cyanobacteria, macrophytes) and eventual decay of organic matter, altering the trophic state of the ecosystems and modifying both community composition and ecosystem functioning. Eutrophication also has negative impacts on the human society, compromising the quality of water resources for human consumption and other uses and reducing the recreational and aesthetical services provided by aquatic ecosystems. In addition, health-related problems, associated with both high nutrient (nitrate) concentrations and excess algal growth causing taste, odor, and toxicity problems, can occur where eutrophic conditions interfere with drinking water treatment.

This chapter aims to review current knowledge on the effects of wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) inputs (as major nutrient point sources) on stream nutrient dynamics, with major emphasis on nutrient loads and in-stream nutrient retention, and to discuss its implications within the context of actual and future scenarios of water scarcity conditions. Following this introduction, the second section of this chapter describes water quality problems associated with wastewater inputs from urban areas and how they are faced within the context of increasing urbanization across the world and its higher impact on water availability. In the third section, we

review existing knowledge on the effects of WWTP inputs on stream nutrient dynamics at the local scale, and hypothesize potential directions that these effects may take under water scarcity conditions. The fourth section scales up these local effects to the catchment scale within a water scarcity context and offers a perspective on sound management aimed at balancing the demand for high water quality resources and the maintenance of fluvial ecosystem integrity. Finally, the last section points at gaps in our knowledge and indicates future prospects for research and management.

## 2 Nutrient Inputs from Urban Wastewaters and Global Change in Semiarid Regions

Wastewaters are one of the major sources of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) to freshwater ecosystems, especially in urban areas ([6, 7] and references therein). These inputs together with urban stormwater runoff caused by impervious surfaces [8] are among the major stressors of streams and rivers draining urban landscapes and the cause of their degradation. Collectively, this is referred to as the "urban stream syndrome" [9, 10]. During the last century, distribution of human population has increasingly concentrated in cities and urban areas. In 2008, for the first time in human history, half of the human population lived in urban areas [11]. This percentage, however, is not homogenously distributed among the different countries. Forecasts of population growth indicate that the urbanization trend will continue to increase up to 60% by 2030 [12]. As more people concentrate in cities, the load of urban wastewater will increase as well. In addition, in developing countries, urbanization has increasingly moved towards a metropolitan-area sprawl configuration [13]. This has resulted in an increase in the proportion of streams and rivers within the catchments being subjected to the urban stream syndrome [13, 14]. There is no doubt that current urbanization trends pose a real challenge for environmental managers and policy-makers who are trying to develop and implement sustainable wastewater collection and treatment strategies. They also constitute a scientific challenge to develop most efficient and cost-effective technologies and to increase our ecological understanding of urban freshwater ecosystems as well as the effects that urbanization causes on them [15].

In developed countries, implementation of environmental directives together with significant technological advances in wastewater treatment over the past ca. 40 years has clearly reduced the impact of urban activities on stream nutrient loads and contributed to improve water quality. For instance, in European countries there has been a significant increase in the proportion of population connected to WWTP since the implementation of the Urban Waste Water Treatment directive (Council Directive 91/27/EEC). The current percentage of population connected to WWTP ranges from 35% to over 80% depending on the country [16]. In addition, there has been an increasing trend to include tertiary treatment (i.e., chemical and biological removal of nutrients) in WWTPs in most European countries. Nowadays, tertiary

treatment accounts for 20-80% of wastewater treatment in these countries [16]. As a result of this technological effort, nutrient inputs from point sources (e.g., WWTP effluents) have decreased significantly in Europe over the past 30 years, especially for P [17], contributing to a general decrease in stream and river concentrations of both P and N [18]. Similar trends have been observed in the United States of America after the implementation of the Clean Water Act (Public law 92-500 and further amendments of it), with >70% of population connected to WWTP and an increasing proportion of wastewater tertiary treatment [7]. It is also notable that improved effects of wastewater treatments have been more effective for P than for N, because agriculture and atmospheric deposition are major additional anthropogenic sources of N reaching fluvial ecosystems through diffuse pathways [17, 19]. For instance, an evaluation of source apportionment of N and P inputs to European freshwater ecosystems indicated that while point sources can still account for >60% of P loads in highly populated regions, inputs from agriculture and other diffuse sources account for >60% of N loads [17]. As a consequence, N/P ratios as well as nitrate/ammonium ratios in streams vary according to the proportion of different land uses within the catchment (Fig. 1). Therefore, the implementation of management strategies targeting particular sources may cause shifts in the relative availability of N and P, which may result in stoichiometric imbalances in stream and river ecosystems. Unfortunately, the ecological implications of these imbalances are still poorly understood.



Fig. 1 Results from a redundancy analysis of stream nutrient concentrations vs. catchment characteristics in 31 headwater catchments in Catalonia (Spain). Note how phosphorus (SRP) and ammonium ( $NH_4$ ) appear associated with urban point and diffuse sources (Urban: percent urban land use, Inhabs: number of inhabitants, eq. inhab: inhabitant equivalents), whereas nitrate ( $NO_3$ ) concentration is positively associated with irrigated agriculture (IrrAg) and bovine cattle units (BCU), and negatively with mean catchment slope (slope) and percent forest land (Forest). The other variables are Area: log area, P: precipitation, NonIrrAg: non irrigated agriculture. Data are from the Catalan water agency (http://ww.gencat.cat/ac)

The improvements in water quality described earlier clearly contrast with the current status in developing countries. Two thirds of the urban wastewater in the world still receives no treatment before being dumped to streams and rivers. Indicators of the degree of treatment of wastewaters, such as the percentage of population connected to WWTP and level of water treatment, are far from being optimal in these countries. For instance, less than 15% of the population in China (which constitutes 20% of world population) was connected to WWTP in 2007 [20]. In South America, despite the fact that 51% of the population has access to sewers, only 15% of the collected waters are delivered to WWTP [21]; however, these numbers vary depending on the South American country under consideration. Lack of information or very low percentages are also reported for other developing countries [22]. Despite the urgent sanitary need to reduce delivery of wastewater loads into the streams and rivers in these countries, implementation of conventional treatment systems and technologies is constrained by its high economic cost. Water management in these countries should seek alternative, less-costly, and more sustainable strategies that may rely on the natural services that ecosystems potentially provide [23, 24]. Among these services, removal of nutrients and organic matter by fluvial stream communities is paramount. Nevertheless, N and P retention efficiency decreases as the proportion or the pressure of urban land use in the catchment increases [14, 25, 26]. For this reason, management strategies for these urban-stressed streams should also include restoration tasks addressed to maximize this ecosystem service [25, 27].

It is expected that the ecological effects of urban growth on stream ecosystems will be exacerbated under water scarcity conditions [9]. Under these conditions, while wastewater loads (either treated or not) are maintained or even increased, the natural base flow of recipient streams is reduced. It is obvious that the effluent release criteria developed in humid regions should be revised to account for the low dilution effect in regions under water scarcity [28, 29]. The prevalence of conditions imposed by wastewater inputs is already common in urban areas of semiarid or arid climate regions, including the Mediterranean region [28, 30] and the southwestern of USA [13, 31]. This is favored by the hydrology of streams and rivers of these regions, which are often characterized by high seasonal variability with periods of low or intermittent flow disrupted by acute floods [28, 32, 33]. The influence of wastewater inputs on river nutrient loads may be aggravated in densely populated areas of these regions due to a higher water demand for consumption or irrigation, compounded by the longer drought periods expected under climate change scenarios in semiarid areas [34]. Currently, 44% of the world population already lives in catchments with high water stress, mostly due to the arid and semiarid climate of these regions, and it is expected that by 2050 there will be nine billion people in the world, of which 2.3 billion will live under water stress. The combination of shifts in hydrologic regime due to climate change and increased water demand in expanding urban areas may also spread the problems associated with low flows to regions with temperate climates, which are not currently subjected to water scarcity conditions [11, 13, 35]. As a result of current or anticipated escalation in water demand, water reclamation and reuse programs are increasingly being implemented [7, 36].

#### **3** Nutrient Dynamics in WWTP-Dominated Streams

#### 3.1 Effects of WWTP Inputs on Water and Nutrient Loads

Despite continued technological advances [37-39], effluents from WWTP still account for >50% of stream and river N and P loads regardless of the climatic region where streams are located [7, 30, 40–43]. Commonly, these inputs reach the recipient streams at discrete locations, generating abrupt physical and chemical discontinuities along the fluvial continuum. The magnitude of these discontinuities depends on the water and solute load of the WWTP effluents relative to the loads of the recipient streams. Small size streams (e.g., headwater streams) or streams with highly intermittent flow regimes, such as those in arid and semiarid regions, are the most vulnerable to these inputs because of their lower capacity to dilute the effluents. For instance, Martí et al. [30] showed that WWTP effluent inputs to 15 Mediterranean streams of the NE of Spain could account for up to 100% of the stream flow, especially during summer. Similarly, contributions of WWTP to stream flow greater than 50% have been reported for other intermittent streams during low flows and severe drought conditions [7, 44]. The WWTP effect is also subjected to the existence of other anthropogenic nutrient sources in the catchment upstream of the effluent input [45]. It is worth noting that during drought conditions, the influence of WWTP inputs on stream chemistry may increase while that of diffuse nutrient sources (e.g., from agricultural activities) may decrease. While the inputs of WWTP loads are relatively constant regardless of hydrologic conditions [42], inputs from diffuse sources increase with precipitation and runoff.

Inputs from WWTP effluents can also affect the hydrologic and nutrient concentration regimes of recipient streams at different temporal scales. Daily variations of these parameters may be exacerbated in streams below the WWTP input by the diel patterns of the effluent discharge associated with plant operation [46]. In contrast, at the annual scale, seasonal variations of physical and chemical parameters upstream of the WWTP may be dampened by the constant input of additional water and nutrients from the WWTP. At its extreme, naturally intermittent or ephemeral streams may turn into permanent streams downstream of WWTPs [28, 30]. In these effluent-dominated streams, the relative contribution of WWTP inputs may vary widely on an annual basis, as shown by the 3–100% range measured in a Mediterranean stream [47]. Finally, WWTP inputs also cause shifts in the relative availability of N and P as well as in the relative importance of reduced and oxidized forms of N in the stream [30, 47]. The magnitude of these shifts depends on the level of wastewater treatment (i.e., primary, secondary, or tertiary treatment), the type of WWTP infrastructure (e.g., activated sludge reactor, membrane bioreactors, rotating biological contactors), and its degree of optimal operation.

## 3.2 Effects of WWTP Inputs on In-Stream Nutrient Retention

Many studies over the past 30 years have shown that streams under relatively pristine conditions have a high capacity to transform and retain nutrients [48]. These studies also demonstrate that water discharge and nutrient concentration are key factors controlling this in-stream capacity. In general, nutrient retention efficiency (i.e., nutrient uptake relative to nutrient flux) decreases as discharge or nutrient concentration increases [49–53]. The most plausible explanations for these controls are that high discharge reduces the contact between biologically reactive benthic zones and the nutrients in the water column. In addition, high nutrient concentrations may exceed or saturate the nutrient demand of benthic microbial communities. Within this context, alteration in the magnitude and regime of physical and chemical parameters caused by the WWTP inputs should have profound ecological effects, including changes in nutrient uptake and transformation of WWTP-dominated streams (see for instance [54]).

Despite the fact that inputs from WWTP into streams and rivers are widely spread, relatively few studies [45, 54, 55] have directly examined the effect of WWTP inputs on stream nutrient retention. These studies had a common experimental setting in which they compared nutrient retention between reaches located upstream and downstream of WWTPs, and they were all conducted within the European project STREAMES (see more details in www.streames.org). Nutrient retention metrics from the nutrient spiraling theory [56, 57] were measured using the short-term nutrient addition technique [58]. Collectively, results from these studies showed either no significant effect or a decrease in nutrient retention efficiency (i.e., longer nutrient uptake lengths) downstream of the WWTP, except for one stream where nitrate retention efficiency increased downstream of the WWTP (Table 1). Among the study streams, a negative effect of WWTPs on retention efficiency of P was the most common result. Lack of significant differences between upstream and downstream reaches were attributed to high temporal variation in nutrient retention within each reach. Alternatively, it can be attributed to the fact that average nutrient uptake lengths (which is the average distance traveled downstream by a nutrient molecule before it is removed from the water column, Table 1) at all streams and for all nutrients were in the order of kilometers at the upstream reaches, which indicates that retention efficiency was already low above the WWTP inputs. Four out of the five streams studied drained catchments dominated by agricultural land use; thus, nutrient concentrations, especially nitrate, were relatively high upstream of the WWTP inputs. These additional nutrient sources may have confounded the effect of the WWTP. Despite the fact that these studies found relatively high areal nutrient uptake rates, especially at downstream reaches, they were not high enough to counterbalance the high nutrient

downstream (DW)	of wwife	tfluent inputs	in five Europe	ean streams						
	Tordera	(n = 8)	Gurri (,	n = 9	Fosso Bagn	atore $(n = 6)$	Demnitzer	Mill Brook	Erpe ()	i = 5)
	Spi	ain	Spi	ain	It	aly	(n = 5)	Germany	Gem	lany
	UP	DW	UP	DW	UP	DW	UP	DW	UP	DW
Discharge (L/s)	2-406	15 - 505	0 - 117	9 - 395	3-27	NA	13 - 40	12 - 42	130 - 195	468 - 607
NH <sub>4</sub> -N (mg N/L)	0.01 - 0.08	0.15 - 2.21	0.01 - 0.15	0.01 - 0.21	0.01 - 0.26	5.8 - 17.6	0.08 - 0.24	0.08 - 0.30	0.03 - 0.14	0.08 - 0.20
NO <sub>3</sub> -N (mg N/L)	0.7 - 2.2	1.6 - 6.4	2.7 - 13.4	4.5 - 10.9	2.3 - 5.4	0.1 - 17.1	3.8 - 16.4	5.4 - 15.7	0.8 - 6.5	5.7 - 11.0
SRP (mg P/L)	0.01 - 0.04	0.05 - 3.78	0.02 - 0.38	0.12 - 0.69	0.25 - 0.53	0.14 - 1.59	0.03 - 0.14	0.05 - 0.18	0.01 - 0.05	0.10 - 0.27
Sw-NH <sub>4</sub> (km)	$0.7\pm0.3$	$\textbf{2.6} \pm \textbf{0.5}$	$1.7\pm0.4$	$2.0\pm0.6$	$0.9\pm0.3$	$2.1\pm0.4$	$3.4\pm1.3$	$3.7\pm0.7$	$\textbf{2.9} \pm \textbf{0.8}$	$9.6\pm5.4$
Sw-NO <sub>3</sub> (km)	$3.0\pm1.1$	$4.1\pm1.2$	$1.9\pm0.3$	$\textbf{7.5} \pm \textbf{4.2}$	$6.1 \pm 4.1$	$7.1\pm0.4$	$49.6\pm29.7$	$47.5\pm19.3$	$\textbf{20.5} \pm \textbf{5.3}$	$11.9\pm3.8$
Sw-PO <sub>4</sub> (km)	$1.0\pm0.4$	$\textbf{4.6} \pm \textbf{1.2}$	$1.8\pm0.5$	$\textbf{4.3} \pm \textbf{1.2}$	$6.4\pm3.6$	$3.5\pm1.2$	$4.2 \pm 1.6$	$4.1\pm1.2$	$2.2 \pm 0.7$	$5.5\pm1.0$
Data for la Tordera	and Gurri an	re from [45], i	for Fosso Bag	inatore are fr	om [55], and	for Demnitzer	Mill Brook and	1 Erpe are from	n [54, 88]. Nut	rient uptake
length (S <sub>w</sub> ) is the ;	werage distar	nce traveled d	ownstream by	y a nutrient r	nolecule befor	re it is remove	ed from the wat	er column and	is an indicato	r of nutrient
retention efficiency	$'$ . Shorter $S_{\rm w}$	values indicat	te higher nutr.	ient retention	t efficiencies.	Note that all 5	5w values are in	the range of ki	ilometer, rega	dless of the
stream and nutrien	t considered.	The table prc	vides the ran	ige of variatic	on for dischar	ge and nutrier	it concentration	s and the avera	ige (±1SEM)	for S <sub>w</sub> from
measurements don	e on several s	ampling dates	S. Number of s	sampling date	es for each stru	eam is shown i	n brackets next	to its name. Nu	umbers highlig	hted in bold
indicate significant	differences i	in Sw between	the two react	hes. SRP solt	ible reactive f	phosphorus, N <sub>1</sub>	4 not available	data		

ī **Table 1** Discharge, nutrient concentrations, and nutrient uptake lengths for ammonium, nitrate, and phosphate measured at reaches located upstream (UP) and

loads; thus, nutrients were exported over much longer distances than they would have been in less human-stressed environments. No clear seasonal trends in nutrient retention were found in any of these studies. However, Merseburger [45] showed that the upstream–downstream difference in the retention efficiency of ammonium increased as the point source contribution to dissolved inorganic N (DIN) and dissolved organic carbon (DOC) load increased. This suggests higher vulnerability of recipient streams in terms of nutrient retention under drought conditions. Nevertheless, more studies are needed to draw general conclusions about this hypothesis.

A larger number of studies have evaluated nutrient retention in WWTP-dominated streams by examining longitudinal patterns in ambient nutrient concentrations along reaches below effluent inputs (see Table 2). These longitudinal changes reflect the net result of physical, chemical, and biological uptake and release processes occurring within the stream. Nutrient concentration changes are usually weighted by those of a conservative tracer (e.g., chloride concentration) to correct for dilution and effluent mixing along the reach [59]. Declines in corrected nutrient concentrations along the reach indicate that streams are acting as net sinks for nutrients. Longitudinal increases indicate that streams are acting as sources or transformers (see later discussion about nitrification). Finally, lack of a significant change indicates that uptake and release processes may be balanced or that uptake is extremely small relative to load, and so it is not detectable. Some of these studies have quantified the longitudinal changes in nutrient concentration using a similar approach as that used in the short-term nutrient addition technique [58]. This allows estimating net nutrient uptake length (i.e., from net decline of nutrients at ambient concentrations), which can then be used for comparison among streams or within streams over time or even to compare this type of streams with less polluted ones (for instance, see [30]). Unfortunately, not all the studies examining longitudinal changes downstream of WWTP consistently calculate the net nutrient uptake length. This reduces the number of comparable data that can be used to draw more general conclusions.

Considering results from all the studies together, we observe that WWTPdominated streams show high variability both in time and space in terms of nutrient uptake, acting either as net sinks or net sources, or having no effect on nutrient concentrations exported to downstream ecosystems (Table 2). The longitudinal patterns range from being highly variable and sporadic over time, such as in the case of a large river in the Atlanta (GA, USA) metropolitan area for nitrate [60], to being relatively consistent over the study period (Fig. 2). Different responses among nutrients are also observed when P and N (either as nitrate, ammonium or both) were simultaneously studied within the same study (Table 2, Fig. 2). This suggests that the WWTP inputs exert differential pressures on the processing of these elements, and thus, mechanisms controlling them may not be the same. One remarkable finding that all studies share is a significant longitudinal decline in nutrient concentrations. However, most resulting net uptake length values are in the order of kilometer, although few values are <1 km. These values are in the same range of those observed in the experimental studies indicated earlier (Table 1) and are much longer than in pristine rivers of similar size [30]. This suggests that as

Table 2 Compilation (	of studies aimed to examine longi	itudinal trends in nutrient co	incentration downstream of	f WWTP effluent inputs	
Study stream	Extent of the study	NH4-N	NO <sub>3</sub> -N	PO <sub>4</sub> -P	Reference
15 streams Catalonia, Spain	2 sampling dates, spring and summer	ns 11% $\uparrow 27\%$ $\downarrow 62\%$ Net $S_{w}$ : 0.08–26.9 km	ns 22% ↑ 35% ↓ 43% Net S <sub>w</sub> : 0.14–31.9 km	ns 4% ↑ 29% ↓ 67% Net Sw: 0.14–14.3 km	[30]*
La Tordera Catalonia, Spain	12 sampling dates, monthly over a year	ns ↑ ↓ 100% Net Sw: 0.2–2.9 km	ns 33% ↑ 67% ↓ Net S <sub>w</sub> : ∞ km	ns 92% 1 1 8% Net Sw: 0.5 km	[47]
Gurri Catalonia, Spain	6 sampling dates over a year	ns 66% † 17% ↓ 17% Net S <sub>w</sub> :0.5 km	ns 33% ↑ 67% ↓ Net Sw: ∞ km	ns 33% ↑ 50% ↓ 17% Net Sw: 1.4 km	[47]
River Wey UK	4 sampling dates over a year	NA	ns 75% † ↓ 25% Net Sw: 10.6 km	ns 50% ↑ ↓ 50% Net S <sub>w</sub> : 12.8–14.8 km	[67]*
Columbia Hollow Arkansas, USA	8 sampling dates over a year	ns ↑ ↓ 100% Net S <sub>w</sub> : 0.4–1.4 km	$ \begin{array}{c} ns \\ \uparrow 100\% \\ \downarrow \\ Net S_w; \infty \text{ km} \end{array} $	ns ↑ 25% ↓ 75% Net Sw: 7.5–13.4 km	[61]*
Spavinaw Creek Arkansas, USA	6 sampling dates in summer of 2 years	NA	ns ↑ ↓ 100% Net S <sub>w</sub> : 3.1–12 km	ns ↑ ↓100% Net S <sub>w</sub> : 9–31 km	[66]*

182

Otter Creek Florida, USA	Several dates over a year	NA	NA	ns ↑ ↓ 100% Net Sw: 3.4–11.1 km	[89]*
Sand and Caddo Creeks Oklahoma, USA	Sampling on 3 time frames	ns ↑ ↓ 100% Net Sw: 3–29 km	$\begin{array}{c} \text{ns 100\%} \\ \uparrow \\ \downarrow \\ \text{Net } S_w; \infty \text{ km} \end{array}$	ns 33% ↑ ↓ 67% Net Sw: 46–51 km	<sub>\$*</sub> [06]
Chattahoochee River Georgia, USA	10 sampling dates from summer to fall, in two reaches	ns 31% ↑ 44% ↓ 25% Net <i>S</i> w: 7–20 km	ns 65% ↑ ↓ 35% Net S <sub>w</sub> : 13–60 km	ns 12% ↑ 29% ↓ 59% Net <i>S</i> w: 11–85 km	[60]
Reedy River South Carolina, USA	4 sampling dates in spring of four consecutive years	NA	ns $\uparrow 50\%$ $\downarrow 50\%$ Net $S_w$ : NA	ΝΑ	[44]
Bow River Alberta, Canada	2 sampling dates	ns $\uparrow$ $\downarrow 100\%$ Net $S_w$ : NA, but bdl concentration was measured at 4-7 km	ns ↑ ↓ 100% Net <i>S</i> <sub>w</sub> : 20–52 km	ns ↑ ↓ 100% Net <i>S</i> <sub>w</sub> : NA, but bdl concentration was measured at 4–7 km	[39]
Mankyung River Korea	2 sampling dates	NA	ns 50% $\uparrow$ $\downarrow$ 50% Net $S_w$ : NA	NA	[16]
Table shows the number of showed no significant trem concentrations of a conser obtained only from signific [61]; "indicates that the stu	data available (i.e., sampling dat d (ns), a significant increase ( $\uparrow$ ), vative tracer (exceptions to this ant declines in concentrations is dy was already included in the	tes) and the percentage of c. , or a significant decrease ( s are indicated with §). W1 : included. NA indicates the original table	ases that nutrient (i.e., amm J). All trends are examine ben available, the range o at data is not available. Thi	ionium, nitrate, and phosphate) ci d after correcting nutrient concei f net nutrient uptake length (Ne s table is modified and expanded	concentration entrations for et <i>S</i> <sub>w</sub> ) values I from that in

Effects of Wastewater Treatment Plants



Fig. 2 Longitudinal changes in nutrient concentrations below the effluent input of a WWTP without tertiary treatment in La Tordera Stream. Values are the average ( $\pm$ SEM) of monthly measurements done over a year (see more details in [47]). In the left panel, note the net decline of ammonium concentration with concomitant net increases in nitrate concentration, suggesting a potential hot spot for nitrification. However, in the latest meters downstream, dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) tends to decrease, which indicates net lost of DIN possibly due to denitrification. The right panel shows net changes in phosphate and dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations. While phosphate does not exhibit any clear trend on an annual basis, DOC seems to decline similarly to DIN, which supports the relative dominance of denitrification

nutrient loading is elevated by the effluent inputs, nutrient removal efficiency is greatly reduced. The limited in-stream retention emphasizes that WWTP inputs may have long-term and large-scale effects on water quality. This result illustrates the strong effect that WWTP inputs exert on the streams and provides additional support to one of the symptoms considered within the urban stream syndrome [10].

Declines observed for P are generally attributed to the buffer capacity of stream sediments to adsorb this element [61]. This mechanism also helps explain the net increases in P observed when P input from the WWTP decreases [61]. Complementary measurements of sediment equilibrium P concentrations and sediment exchangeable P show a positive effect of WWTP inputs on these parameters and corroborate the sediment sorption control on P below WWTP inputs [41]. Another common finding among the studies is that net declines of ammonium concentration are usually coupled with concomitant net increases in nitrate concentrations in streams receiving ammonium-rich effluents [30, 47, 61], (Fig. 2). This suggests that these sites are acting as hot spots for nitrification. Under these conditions, DIN is basically being transformed rather than retained. However, this biogeochemical process plays an important role as it reduces ammonium below potentially lethal concentrations for stream biota and also generates nitrate that can potentially be eliminated from the stream through denitrification, provided the necessary conditions are met. WWTP effluents can represent a significant source of nitrifying bacteria from the biological sludge to recipient streams [62], and thus, could account for the observed nitrification patterns. It is worth noting that, in cases where the effluent is ammonium-rich, concentration of nitrite (an intermediate product of nitrification and denitrification) in the stream can be high if dissolved oxygen concentration is low. Similar to ammonium concentration, elevated concentration of nitrite can be very toxic to stream biota [63].

In contrast to these patterns, some studies show declines in nitrate (see Table 2) or DIN concentrations [47], which indicate that the streams are net sinks, especially in the case of loss of DIN, for this N form. This pattern, however, is less evident and consistent both among and within streams. Explanatory mechanisms for this trend point at N being either stored through biotic assimilation, or lost through denitrification, or adsorbed onto sediments (in the case of ammonium) as dominant processes in front of release processes or additional sources. As denitrification represents a loss of N from the ecosystem, approaches to estimating the relevance of this process at the whole-reach scale are valuable for understanding the fate of N below point sources. Longitudinal changes in natural abundance of stable isotopes (<sup>15</sup>N) have been used for such estimates because denitrification causes considerable isotope fractionation [64]. For instance, results from Lofton et al. [64] showed that, despite the observed declines in nitrate concentration, denitrification did not play a major role on N transport along a WWTP-influenced reach, but some spots of the reach were particularly active on this process. This approach provides a promising springboard toward a mechanistic understanding of the fate of N added to streams from WWTPs. Together, all these results seem to be quite conclusive about the fact that WWTP-dominated streams can be active biogeochemical sites able to transform, store, and even remove a fraction of the nutrient load delivered by the effluent, even if the overall relevance of these processes compared to the stream loads may not be high. In addition, these results demonstrate that the biogeochemical relevance of WWTP-dominated streams varies according to the nutrient under consideration both within a single stream and among streams and that this variability can be influenced by the chemical composition of the WWTP effluent. For instance, in the case of N, the nitrate/ammonium ratio of the effluent, which ultimately depends on the type and effectiveness of the wastewater treatment, may play an important role in determining longitudinal patterns of both N forms. This is supported by contrasting results found by Merseburger et al. [47] between two streams differing in this ratio.

## 3.3 Effects of Water Scarcity on In-Stream Nutrient Retention in WWTP-Dominated Streams

The effect of water scarcity on nutrient retention in WWTP-dominated streams has hardly been explicitly addressed in studies of WWTP impacts (but see [44, 65]). It is also worth noting that a large number of studies have been done in relatively temperate zones (Table 2), although they may not be exempt from water scarcity conditions. Trends observed from the compilation of results provide controversial insights on the potential directions of the influence of water scarcity. For instance,

the longitudinal patterns in nutrient concentration are less consistent over time and net uptake lengths tend to be longest in the stream with the highest discharge (i.e., in the order of  $m^3/s$ , [60]). In addition, studies done in two Ozark rivers (Arkansas, USA) showed relatively longer net uptake lengths in the stream with higher discharge [61, 66]. In general, studies that have included variability over time on these measurements do not reveal any clear seasonal pattern, but it should be noted that none of the studies extended for more than a year. Nevertheless, House and Denison [67] indicated net storage of P during spring and summer and net release in autumn and winter. Similarly, Demars et al. [40] showed that most of the P retention in their study stream occurred during the dry season. Merseburger et al. [47] also found that, in one of the streams (La Tordera), larger retention and transformation of N forms coincided with summer low flow (and thus, higher influence of the WWTP). Finally, Andersen et al. [65] found that higher declines in P and N were associated with very low flow conditions. Together, these results point towards an increase of in-stream nutrient retention control on nutrient fluxes under low flows, which would be enhanced under water scarcity conditions. However, other studies provide basis to draw the opposite conclusions. For instance, Martí et al. [30] showed no relationship between net nutrient uptake lengths and stream discharge among several WWTP-dominated streams, which were mostly fully driven by the point source. In addition, Hur et al. [44] reported that the stream acted as a source of nitrate during the spring of years with drought, while it acted as a net sink during the spring of years subjected to normal or above normal precipitation. Haggard et al. [66] also reported that efficiency to retain nitrate decreased as discharge decreased. In these cases, the positive effect on nutrient uptake of reduced flows may be counterbalanced by the negative effect of increased nutrient concentrations due to saturation or toxicity.

## 4 Point Sources Under Water Scarcity: Managing the Stream Network

In addition to their local impacts on receiving streams, WWTP effluents arguably affect stream networks, as they modify the configuration and the temporal and spatial dynamics of water discharge and materials transport. We can expect that global change (both climate and land use change) will aggravate the WWTP effects on stream networks in semiarid regions and extend them to catchments that are currently more humid and sustain permanent flows. What these effects will be in the future will depend strongly on how we decide to manage catchments under escalating water demands.

Stream networks are increasingly being viewed as spatially heterogeneous and temporally variable landscapes [68, 69]. In semiarid regions, streams compose fluvial landscapes whose configuration and dynamics are driven by the gradual process of flow reduction and drying and the opposing process of rewetting, which

can be sudden or slow. The balance between these processes, which depends on the climate regime, results in river network contraction and fragmentation, followed by expansion and reconnection [70]. During low flow conditions, low order streams often stop flowing, but also other reaches along the network may dry, depending on the channel hydrogeology and water demand by riparian vegetation (e.g., [71]), leaving a patchwork of dry reaches interspersed with islands of flowing surface water or standing pools. The hydrologic longitudinal connectivity that dominates stream network dynamics during high flows is reduced during low flow to subsurface flowpaths, or severed altogether. At the network scale, stream functioning, and in particular organic matter processing and nutrient dynamics, including retention, may be enhanced during low flows at the same time that the transport of matter and nutrients downstream becomes severely limited [65, 70, 72].

Water demand and wastewater disposal by land uses in the catchment strongly modify these patterns and dynamics [31]. On the one hand, water scarcity is exacerbated due to water interception, abstraction, and diversion for forestry, agricultural, industrial, and urban uses, reducing base flow and generating intermittent reaches where flow used to be permanent or dried only occasionally. On the other hand, industrial and urban wastewater effluents sustain permanent flow in stream reaches that would otherwise stop flowing during the dry season. Altogether, the result is a strongly modified hydrologic temporal regime that is also spatially altered, exacerbating the discontinuum in the fluvial landscape that is natural to stream networks in semiarid regions, or generating discontinuities in previously permanent stream networks.

While it is generally true that characteristics of a stream reflect land uses in its catchment, in semiarid regions, and especially in WWTP-dominated streams, water flow and chemical characteristics actually depend directly on effluent characteristics. In particular, nutrient concentrations and stoichiometric ratios will depend on waste provenance and treatment at WWTP. In catchments with mixed land uses, nutrient flow will be strongly heterogeneous both spatially and temporally, reflecting distinct inputs from agricultural and urban diffuse sources during high flows and industrial and urban point sources during low flows. Stream biogeochemistry will vary accordingly. As the stream dries, urban influences on stream biogeochemistry rise to prominence, often with relative increases in ammonia, soluble phosphorus, and particulate organic matter [26], while rain events wash through soils and dry channels and produce peaks in nitrate, particulate phosphorus, and inorganic suspended solids. Based on existing evidences, stream nutrient retention may be enhanced under low flows, perhaps even below effluent outfalls, with climate variability accounting for interannual and annual variability in nutrient retention at the catchment scale (Fig. 3).

Inputs of organic matter and nutrients, benthic metabolism, and nutrient retention at each stream section depend on diffuse and point sources. Yet, under low flow conditions, water and matter transport downstream becomes impeded or discontinued due to stream contraction and fragmentation during dry periods. Therefore, nutrient export from rivers in semiarid regions will depend, more so than in more humid regions, on the interplay between the spatial configuration of organic matter



Fig. 3 Nitrogen retention (as a fraction of inputs per subcatchment) on a dry year (2000, 670 mm rainfall) and a wet year (2001, 727 mm rainfall) for La Tordera catchment (NE Spain). From [87]

and nutrient inputs, on the one hand, and the anthropogenically impacted patchwork of intermittent and permanent reaches, on the other hand. Under these conditions, river networks will be less "controlled by their valleys" (*sensu* [73]) and more by the valley's population.

How will all this be affected by global change? Climate change scenarios for the Mediterranean region and, in general, for semiarid regions suggest higher mean temperatures and lower precipitation during the dry season [74], aggravating the problems of water scarcity, as well as higher intra- and interannual climate variability [75]. Scenarios for stream networks under climate change are a matter of informed speculation and are naturally dependent on current land uses at each particular catchment and on expected socioeconomic drivers in the future. As an example, Caille et al. [76] used a participatory process to develop scenarios for a small catchment just north of Barcelona (La Tordera, 877 km<sup>2</sup>). Stakeholders envisioned four futures for La Tordera that differed in the modes of governance and models of management but shared a number of trends. These included the abandonment of marginal agricultural lands, the intensification of productive agricultural lands, an increasing or stabilizing urbanization trend, improvements in urban runoff and wastewater management, changes in the industrial makeup (from primary industry to logistics and services), as well as an increased awareness of environmental issues and of the need to protect and enhance the ecosystem services provided by the river. In the end, this translates into an increase in water demand for both consumptive uses and stream protection under a scenario of reduced precipitation. In this situation, business-as-usual would exacerbate the fragmentation of the stream network during the dry season into sections with low or no flow due to water abstraction and diversion and effluent-dominated reaches. Preservation or rehabilitation of ecological flows and stream ecosystem services will require changes in watershed management, where WWTPs will play a crucial role [77].

Aside from sorely needed improvements in the water use efficiency of agricultural irrigation, industrial processes, and urban uses, the resolution of the water demand conflict will often require managers to resort to water importation (e.g., through interbasin transfers or from desalination plants) and the implementation of water reuse schemes. Water importation potentially provides stream flow through WWTP effluents, while water reuse may decrease the availability of effluents for maintaining stream flow, especially if treated wastewater is reused for irrigation and therefore largely lost through evapotranspiration [78]. Water quality in effluents will also depend on technological improvements and management decisions. Roach and Grimm [79], for example, showed that nutrient limitation of urban streams was driven as much by management decisions as by natural hydrologic variation in an artificially created chain-lake system in Arizona (USA). Under a scenario of increased vulnerability of receiving streams to pollution from WWTP effluents, there is a clear need to implement tertiary treatments. Finally, preserving ecological flows throughout the stream network (i.e., counteracting the fluvial landscape fragmentation) might require changes in how WWTP effluents are returned to the stream channel, moving from a localized to a more spatially distributed return of flows, for example, through groundwater recharge [80].

Severely impacted streams are not uncommon in small and heavily used semiarid catchments and can only be expected to become more frequent, given current trends in population growth, urbanization, land use change, and climate change. Increasingly, these streams cannot and will not be restored to reference pristine conditions and depend on ecological engineering techniques and smart integrated catchment management to evolve towards stream systems that provide recovered, enhanced, or artificially promoted ecosystem services. These include flood control, nutrient retention, habitat for stream and riparian biota, and aesthetic and recreational services. These streams, which truly qualify as designer ecosystems [81], depend heavily on the use of treated WWTP effluents to sustain flow and fulfill those services. A case in point is the management of the Yarqon River in Israel [82, 83]. The Yarqon was a permanent stream in historical times, thanks to the groundwater springs that fed the river's base flow. But water abstraction for irrigation and for water supply to Tel Aviv lowered the groundwater table enough that in the 1980s the Yarqon could aptly be described as a free-flowing wastewater stream (sensu [84]). Starting in 1988, a restoration plan developed by the newly created Yarqon River Authority with stakeholder involvement led to a river with rehabilitated services, but quite different (in terms of water chemistry and hydrologic regime) from the river of yore. It is now a managed functioning ecosystem sustained by treated wastewater effluents.

#### 5 Outlook: What Science Do We Need to Do?

The issues discussed in this chapter fall at the intersection of several disciplines, and suffer from the usual lack of interaction that plagues transdisciplinary research. The field falls at the intersection between basic natural sciences (ecology of fluvial

ecosystems, hydrology, biogeochemistry), social and policy science, environmental management, and technology and engineering (wastewater treatment technology). Thus, much of the progress in facing the challenges posed by the management of point sources under water scarcity will come from enhanced interactions among theses disciplines.

In particular, more knowledge is needed on the factors controlling the biogeochemical processes within WWTP reactors and within receiving streams and rivers, and on how WWTP management interacts with the stream flow regime to determine patterns of physical and biological nutrient retention downstream of a WWTP. Management at the local scale will certainly benefit from effectively integrating models of stream functioning, urban runoff, and WWTP operation [85].

Nutrient retention is an important ecosystem service provided by streams, and there has been significant progress in our understanding of the biogeochemical processes, mechanisms, and controls responsible for the physical, chemical, and biological retention of N and P in running waters at the local and short-term (less than 2 years) scales. Yet there are still large gaps in our knowledge of withincatchment spatial and temporal variation over larger time frames in retention, which seriously hinder our capacity to effectively manage and restore streams in a way that maximizes the benefits of retention processes. The reason for these gaps have more to do with the cost (in terms of time, logistics, man-power, and money) of doing large-scale or long-term research than with our ignorance of the importance of processes acting on these scales.

These limitations are especially felt when trying to scale local effects of WWTPs up to the catchment scale. Modeling remains the primary tool to address upscaling issues, fluvial landscape dynamics, and upstream–downstream linkages in the fragmented stream networks which are becoming common in populated catchments of semiarid regions. While significant progress is being made in catchment and stream network modeling (e.g., [86]), better analytical and observational tools are still needed, including denser measurement networks and more widespread use of automatic sensors and sample collection, at least at the scale necessary for adequate model calibration and verification.

Good spatially explicit models of, at the very least, stream hydrology are needed before the evaluation of climate change scenarios can be undertaken. Unfortunately, semiarid and arid areas are among the least studied and more poorly monitored in the world, even if the ecosystem services that the streams in these regions provide are highly vulnerable to population growth, urbanization, and climate change.

Finally, research alone will not suffice to solve the challenges posed by water management under water scarcity scenarios. If technology can help us secure the water supply for a growing population, political will and societal commitment will be imperative to set and enforce environmental goals and to satisfy the water demands of our stream ecosystems. An environmentally sensitive use of WWTP management and wastewater recycling and a commitment to restore the services provided by streams can go a long way towards the preservation of flowing waters of acceptable ecological quality in the future.

## References

- 1. Hynes HBN (1969) The enrichment of streams. Eutrophication: causes, consequences, correctives. National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC, USA, pp 188–196
- Smith VH, Schindler DW (2009) Eutrophication science: where do we go from here? Trends Ecol Evol 24:201–207
- Meybeck M (1982) Carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus transport by World Rivers. Am J Sci 282:401–450
- Carpenter SR, Caraco NF, Correll DL, Howarth RW, Sharpley AN, Smith VH (1998) Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecol Appl 8:559–568
- 5. Rabalais NN, Turner RE, Scavia D (2002) Beyond Science into Policy: Gulf of Mexico Hypoxia and the Mississippi River. BioScience 52:129–142
- EEA- European Environmental Agency (2000) Nutrients in European ecosystems. Environmental Assessment report No 4. Available at http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/ ENVIASSRP04 (June 2009)
- Carey RO, Migliaccio KW (2009) Contribution of wastewater treatment plant effluents to nutrient dynamics in aquatic systems: a review. Environ Manage. doi:10.1007/s00267-009-9309-5
- Hatt BE, Fletcher TD, Walsh CJ, Taylor SL (2004) The influence of urban density and drainage infrastructure on the concentrations and loads of pollutants in small streams. Environ Manage 34:112–124
- 9. Paul MJ, Meyer JL (2001) Streams in the urban landscape. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 32:333-365
- Walsh CJ, Roy AH, Feminella JW, Cottingham PD, Groffman PM, Morgan RP II (2005) The urban stream syndrome: current knowledge and the search for a cure. J N Am Benthol Soc 24:706–723
- 11. Grimm NB, Faeth SH, Golubiewski NE, Redman CL, Wu J, Bai X, Briggs JM (2008) Global change and the ecology of cities. Science 319:756–760
- 12. United Nations (2008) World urbanization prospects: the 2007 revision. United Nations Population Division, New York, USA
- Grimm NB, Foster D, Groffman P, Grove JM, Hopkinson CS, Nadelhoffer KJ, Pataki DE (2008) Peters DPC (2008b) The changing landscape: ecosystem responses to urbanization and pollution across climatic and societal gradients. Front Ecol Environ 6:264–272
- Meyer JL, Paul MJ, Taulbee WK (2005) Stream ecosystem function in urbanizing landscapes. J N Am Benthol Soc 24:602–612
- 15. Wenger SJ, Roy AH, Jackson CR, Bernhardt ES, Carter TL, Filoso S, Gibson CA, Hession WC, Kaushal SS, Martí E, Meyer JL, Palmer MA, Paul MJ, Purcell AH, Ramirez A, Rosemond AD, Schofield KA, Sudduth EB, Walsh CJ (2009) Twenty-six key research questions in urban stream ecology: an assessment of the state of the science. J N Am Benthol Soc 28:1080–1098
- EEA- European Environmental Agency (2009a) Assessment on Urban Waste Water Treatment Indicators, ref: CSI 024. Available at http://themes.eea.europa.eu/IMS/ISpecs/ISpecification20041007132045/IAssessment1196343193294/view\_content (June 2009)
- 17. EEA- European Environmental Agency (2005) Source apportionment of nitrogen and phosphorus inputs into the aquatic environment. Environmental Assessment report No 7. Available at http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/eea\_report\_2005\_7 (June 2009)
- EEA- European Environmental Agency (2009b) Assessment on nutrients in freshwaters, ref CSI 020. Available at http://themes.eea.europa.eu/IMS/ISpecs/ISpecification20041007 131957/IAssessment1202382187208/view\_content (June 2009)
- Vitousek PM, Aber JD, Howarth RW, Likens GE, Matson PA, Schindler DW, Schlesinger WH, Tilman DG (1997) Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences. Ecol Appl 7:737–750
- Martinot E, Junfeng L (2007) Powering china's development: the role of renewable energy. World Watch Institute Report (ISBN 13: 978-1-878071-83-5)

- WHO/UNICEF (2008) Progress in drinking-water and sanitation: special focus on sanitation. Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation update report. Available at: http://www.wssinfo.org/en/40\_MDG2008.html (June 2009)
- United Nations (2007) Population connected to wastewater treatment plants. United Nations Statistics Division, Environmental Indicators, Wastewater. Available at: http://unstats.un.org/ unsd/ENVIRONMENT/wastewater.htm (June 2009)
- 23. Constanza R, d'Arge R, de Groot R, Farber S, Grasso M, Hannon B, Limburg K, Naeem S, O'Neill RV, Paruelo J, Raskin RG, Sutton P, Van deen Belt M (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387:253–260
- Baron JS, Poff NL, Angermeier PL, Dahm CN, Gleick PH, Hairston NG Jr, Jackson RB, Johnston CA, Richter BD, Steinman AD (2002) Meeting ecological and societal needs for freshwater. Ecol Appl 12:1247–1260
- 25. Grimm NB, Sheibley RW, Crenshaw CL, Dahm CN, Roach WJ, Zeglin LH (2005) N retention and transformation in urban streams. J N Am Benthol Soc 24:626–642
- von Schiller D, Martí E, Riera JL, Mibot M, Marks JC, Sabater F (2008) Influence of land use on stream ecosystem function in a mediterranean catchment. Freshw Biol 53:2600–2612
- 27. Palmer MA, Bernhardt ES, Allan JD, Lake PS, Alexander G, Brooks S, Carr J, Clayton S, Dahm CN, Follstad Shah J, Galat DL, Loss SG, Goodwin P, Hart DD, Hassett B, Jenkinson R, Kondolf GM, Lave R, Meyer JL, O'donnell TK, Pagano L, Sudduth E (2005) Standards for ecolologically successful river restoration. J Appl Ecol 42:208–217
- Gasith A, Resh VH (1999) Streams in Mediterranean climate regions: abiotic influences and biotic responses to predictable seasonal events. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 30:51–81
- Dodds WK, Welch EB (2000) Establishing nutrient criteria in streams. J N Am Benthol Soc 19:186–196
- Martí E, Aumatell J, Godé L, Poch M, Sabater F (2004) Nutrient retention efficiency in streams receiving inputs from wastewater treatment plants. J Environ Qual 33:285–293
- Brooks BW, Riley TM, Taylor RD (2006) Water quality of effluent-dominated ecosystems: ecotoxicological, hydrological, and management considerations. Hydrobiologia 556:365–379
- Poff NL, Allan JD, Bain MB, Karr JR, Prestegaard KL, Richter BD, Sparks RE, Stromberg JC (1997) The natural flow regime: a paradigm for river conservation and restoration. BioScience 47:769–784
- Liquete C, Canals M, Ludwig W, Arnau P (2009) Sediment discharge of the rivers of Catalonia, NE Spain, and the influence of human impacts. J Hydrol 366:76–88
- Malmqvist B, Rundle S (2002) Threats to the running water ecosystems of the world. Environ Conserv 29:134–153
- 35. Gibson CA, Meyer JL, Poff NL, Hayc LE, Georgakakos A (2005) Flow regime alterations under changing climate in two river basins: implications for freshwater ecosystems. River Res Appl 21:849–864
- 36. Brissaud F (2009) Technologies for water regeneration and integrated management of water resources. In: Sabater S, Barceló D (eds) Water scarcity in the Mediterranean area. Springer, Heidelberg
- 37. Tchobanoglous G, Burton FL, Stensel HD (2003) Wastewater engineering: treatment and reuse, 4th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA
- Henze M, van Loosdrecht MCM, Ekama GA, Brdjanovic D (2008) Biological wastewater treatment: principles, modelling and design. IWA Publishing (ISBN: 9781843391883), pp 528
- Cervantes FJ (2009) Environmental technologies to treat nitrogen pollution. Water Intelligence Online © IWA Publishing 2009 (ISSN Online: 1476-1777)
- Demars BOL, Harper DM, Pitt JA, Slaughter R (2005) Impact of phosphorus control measures on in-river phosphorus retention associated with point source pollution. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 9:43–55
- 41. Ekka SA, Haggard BE, Matlock MD, Chaubey I (2006) Dissolved phosphorus concentrations and sediment interactions in effluent dominated Ozark streams. Ecol Eng 26:375–391
- Oelsner GP, Brooks PD, Hogan JF (2007) Nitrogen sources and sinks within the Middle Rio Grande, New Mexico. J Am Water Resour Assoc 43:850–863

- Withers PJA, Jarvie HP (2008) Delivery and cycling of phosphorus in rivers: a review. Sci Total Environ 400:379–395
- 44. Hur J, Schlautman MA, Karanfil T, Smink J, Song H, Klaine SJ, Hayes JC (2007) Influence of drought and municipal sewage effluents on the baseflow water chemistry of an upper Piedmont River. Environ Monit Assess 132:171–187
- 45. Merseburger GC (2006) Nutrient dynamics and metabolism in Mediterranean streams affected by nutrient inputs from human activities. PhD Thesis, Universitat de Barcelona (Spain)
- 46. Tolosana R (2005) Geostatistics for constrained variables: positive data, compositions and probabilities. Application to environmental hazard monitoring. PhD Thesis, Universitat de Girona, Spain
- 47. Merseburger GC, Martí E, Sabater F (2005) Net changes in nutrient concentrations below a point source input in two streams draining catchments with contrasting land uses. Sci Total Environ 347:217–229
- Ensign SH, Doyle MW (2006) Nutrient spiraling in streams and river networks. J Geophys Res 111:G04009. doi:10.1029/2005JG000114
- 49. Butturini A, Sabater F (1998) Ammonium and phosphate retention in a Mediterranean stream: hydrological versus temperature control. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 55:1938–1945
- Peterson BJ, Wollheim WM, Mulholland PJ, Webster JR, Meyer JL, Tank JL, Martí E, Bowden WB, Valett HM, Hershey AE, McDowell WH, Dodds WK, Hamilton SK, Gregory SV, Morral DD (2001) Control of nitrogen export from watersheds by headwater streams. Science 292:86–90
- 51. Dodds WK, López AJ, Bowden WB, Gregory SV, Grimm NB, Hamilton SK, Hershey AE, Martí E, McDowell WH, Meyer JL, Morrall D, Mulholland PJ, Peterson BJ, Tank JL, Valett HM, Webster JR, Wollheim WM (2002) N uptake as a function of concentration in streams. J N Am Benthol Soc 21:206–220
- 52. Newbold JD, Bott TL, Kaplan LA, Dow CL, Jackson JK, Aufdenkampe AK, Martin LA, Van Horn DJ, de Long AA (2006) Uptake of nutrients and organic C in streams in New York City drinking-water-supply watersheds. J N Am Benthol Soc 25:998–1017
- 53. Mulholland PJ, Helton AM, Poole GC, Hall RO Jr, Hamilton SK, Peterson BJ, Tank JL, Ashkenas LR, Cooper LW, Dahm CN, Dodds WK, Findlay SEG, Gregory SV, Grimm NB, Johnson SL, McDowell WH, Meyer JL, Valett HM, Webster JR, Arango CP, Beaulieu JJ, Bernot MJ, Burgin AJ, Crenshaw CL, Johnson LT, Niederlehner BR, O'Brien JM, Potter JD, Sheibley RW, Sobota DJ, Thomas SM (2008) Stream denitrification across biomes and its response to anthropogenic nitrogen loading. Nature 452:202–206
- 54. Gücker B, Brauns M, Pusch M (2006) Effects of wastewater treatment plant discharge on ecosystem structure and function of lowland streams. J N Am Benthol Soc 25:313–329
- 55. Ruggiero A, Solimini AG, Carchini G (2006) Effects of a waste water treatment plant on organic matter dynamics and ecosystem functioning in a Mediterranean stream. Annales de Limnologie 42:97–107
- Webster JR, Patten BC (1979) Effects of watershed perturbation on stream potassium and calcium dynamics. Ecol Monogr 49:51–72
- Newbold JD, Elwood JW, O'Neill RV, van Winkle W (1981) Measuring nutrient spiralling in streams. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 38:860–863
- Webster JR, Valett HM (2006) Solute dynamics. In: Hauer FR, Lamberti GA (eds) Methods in stream ecology. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 169–185
- Vandenberg JA, Ryan MC, Nuell DD, Chu A (2005) Field evaluation of mixing length and attenuation of nutrients and fecal coliform in a wastewater effluent plume. Environ Monit Assess 107:45–57
- Gibson CA, Meyer JL (2007) Nutrient uptake in a large urban river. J Am Water Resour Assoc 43:576–587
- Haggard BE, Stanley EH, Storm DE (2005) Nutrient retention in a point-source-enriched stream. J N Am Benthol Soc 24:29–47
- 62. Brion N, Billen G (2000) Wastewater as a source of nitrifying bacteria in river systems: the case of the River Seine downstream from Paris. Water Res 34:3213–3221

- Camargo JA, Alonso A (2006) Ecological and toxicological effects of inorganic nitrogen pollution in aquatic ecosystems: a global assessment. Environ Int 32:831–849
- Lofton DD, Hershey AE, Whalen SC (2007) Evaluation of denitrification in an urban stream receiving wastewater effluent. Biogeochemistry 86:77–90
- 65. Andersen CB, Lewis GP, Sargent KA, Sarkar D (2004) Influence of wastewater-treatment effluent on concentrations and fluxes of solutes in the Bush River, South Carolina, during extreme drought conditions. Environ Geosci 11:28–41
- Haggard BE, Storm DE, Stanley EH (2001) Effect of a point source input on stream nutrient retention. J Am Water Resour Assoc 37:1291–1299
- 67. House WA, Denison FH (1998) Phosphorus dynamics in a lowland river. Water Res 32:1819–1839
- Poole GC (2002) Fluvial landscape ecology: addressing uniqueness within the river discontinuum. Freshw Biol 47:641–660
- 69. Fisher SG, Sponseller RA, Heffernan JB (2004) Horizons in stream biogeochemistry: flowpaths to progress. Ecology 85:2369–2379
- Stanley EH, Fisher SG, Grimm NB (1997) Ecosystem expansion and contraction in streams. BioScience 47:427–435
- 71. Butturini A, Bernal S, Sabater S, Sabater F (2002) The influence of riparian-hyporheic zone on the hydrological responses in an intermittent stream. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 6:515–526
- Lake PS (2003) Ecological effects of perturbation by drought in flowing waters. Freshw Biol 48:1161–1172
- 73. Hynes HBN (1975) The stream and its valley. Verhandlungen der Internationale Vereinigung für Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie 19:1–15
- Giorgi F, Lionello P (2008) Climate change projections for the Mediterranean region. Global Planet Change 63:90–104
- 75. Calbó J (2009) Possible climate change scenarios with specific reference to Mediterranean regions. In: Sabater S, Barceló D (eds) Water scarcity in the Mediterranean area. Springer, Heidelberg
- Caille F, Riera JL, Rodríguez-Labajos B, Middelkoop H, Rosell-Melé A (2007) Participatory scenario development for integrated assessment of nutrient flows in a Catalan river catchment. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci Discuss 4:1265–1299
- Nilsson C, Renöfält BM (2008) Linking flow regime and water quality in rivers: a challenge to adaptive catchment management. Ecol Soc 13(2):18. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol13/iss2/art18/
- 78. Sala L, Serra M (2004) Towards sustainability in water recycling. Water Sci Technol 50:1-7
- Roach WJ, Grimm NB (2009) Nutrient variation in an urban lake chain and its consequences for phytoplankton production. J Environ Qual 38:1429–1440
- 80. Dillon P (2005) Future management of aquifer recharge. Hydrogeol J 13:313-316
- 81. Pimm SL (1996) Designer ecosystems. Nature 379:217-218
- Pargament D, Henkin E, Gasith A (2005) Integrated watershed management: the Yarqon river authority as a model. Options Méditerranéennes. Série A: Séminaires Méditerranéens (CIHEAM) 65:199–206
- 83. Pargament D, Laster R, Livney D (2009) The Public's role as a Stakeholder in the Yarqon River Authority, Israel. In: Berry KA, Mollard E (eds) Social participation in water governance and management. Critical and global perspectives. Earthscan, London
- Dor I, Schechter H, Shuval HI (1976) Biological and chemical succession in Nahal Soreq: a free-flowing wastewater stream. J Appl Ecol 13:475–489
- Lewis DB, Grimm NB (2007) Hierarchical regulation of nitrogen export from urban catchments: interactions of storms and landscapes. Ecol Appl 17:2347–2364
- Wollheim WM, Peterson BJ, Thomas SM, Hopkinson CH, Vörösmarty CJ (2008) Dynamics of N removal over annual time periods in a suburban river network. J Geophys Res 113: G03038. doi:10.1029/2007JG000660

- 87. Caille F (2009) Integrated environmental assessment of nutrient emissions in a mediterranean catchment: a case study in La Tordera, Catalonia. Ph.D. Thesis, Autonomous University of Barcelona, Spain
- Gücker B, Pusch M (2006) Regulation of nutrient uptake in eutrophic lowland streams. Limnol Oceanogr 51:1443–1453
- Reddy KR, Flaig E, Scinto LJ, Diaz O, Debusk TA (1996) Phosphorus assimilation in a stream system of the Lake Okeechobee. J Am Water Resour Assoc 32:901–915
- Wesolowski EA (1999) Simulation of effects of wastewater discharges on Sand Creek and lower Caddo Creek near Ardmore, Oklahoma. Investigations Report 99-4022. US Geological Survey, Denver, Colorado
- Kim K, Lee JS, Oh CW, Hwang GS, Kim J, Yeo S, Kim Y, Park S (2002) Inorganic chemicals in an effluent-dominated stream as indicators for chemical reactions and streamflows. J Hydrol 264:147–156

# Occurrence and Fate of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs Under Water Scarcity

Mira Petrovic, Cristina Postigo, Miren Lopez de Alda, Antoni Ginebreda, Meritxell Gros, Jelena Radjenovic, and Damià Barceló

Abstract Occurrence of emerging contaminants in environmental waters is directly related to their removal in wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) and the flow rate of the receiving waters. Mediterranean rivers are characterized by important fluctuations in the flow rates and heavy contamination pressures from extensive urban, industrial, and agricultural activities. This translates in contamination levels most often higher than in other European basins. This paper reviews the data regarding the levels of pharmaceuticals and illicit drugs detected in wastewaters and gives an overview of their removal by conventional treatment technologies applying activated sludge. Pharmaceutically active compounds and illicit drugs are selected as two important groups of emerging environmental contaminants that have raised an increasing interest in the scientific community. Their removal in WWTP, the influence of hydrological conditions in the receiving rivers, and dilution factors are described and examples are provided for selected WWTP and rivers in Catalonia (NE Spain).

**Keywords** Emerging contaminants, Illicit drugs, Occurrence, Pharmaceuticals, Wastewater treatment

M. Petrovic (🖂), C. Postigo, M.L. de Alda, A. Ginebreda, M. Gros, and J. Radjenovic

Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Studies (IDAEA), Spanish Council of Scientific Research (CSIC), Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

e-mail: mpeqam@cid.csic.es

Catalan Institution for Research and Advanced Studies (ICREA), Barcelona, Spain D. Barceló

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Girona, Spain

S. Sabater and D. Barceló (eds.), *Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean:* 197 *Perspectives Under Global Change*, Hdb Env Chem (2010) 8: 197–228, DOI 10.1007/698\_2009\_27, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, Published online: 30 October 2009

#### Contents

1	Introduction	198
2	Emerging Contaminants	199
3	Sources and Occurrence of Emerging Pollutants in Wastewaters	200
	3.1 Pharmaceutically Active Compounds	200
	3.2 Illicit Drugs	202
4	Ecotoxicological Effects of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs	203
5	Elimination and Fate During Wastewater Treatment	204
	5.1 Pharmaceuticals	204
	5.2 Illicit Drugs	211
6	Occurrence of Emerging Contaminants in Surface Waters	212
7	Influence of Hydrological Conditions on the Occurrence of Emerging Contaminants i	in
	Surface Waters	213
	7.1 Case Study: Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs in the Ebro	
	River Basin	213
	7.2 Case Study: Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals in the Llobregat River (NE Spain)	218
Re	ferences	223

## **1** Introduction

Only less than 1% of the world's fresh water resources are readily available for human use, and even this resource is very unevenly distributed among and within the countries. A lack of water to meet daily needs is a reality for many people around the world, and water scarcity already affects every continent. World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that by the year 2025, nearly two billion people will be living in countries or regions with absolute water shortage, where water resources per person fall below the recommended level of 500 m<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. In the underdeveloped countries water scarcity forces people to rely on unsafe sources of drinking water, which leads to diseases such as cholera, typhoid fever, salmonellosis, other gastrointestinal viruses, and dysentery. In the developed countries, this problem is much less critical, where contamination of drinking water is the adverse outcome of incomplete wastewater treatment and improper disposal of sewage. The partial or complete closing of water cycles is an essential part of sustainable water resources management. The increasing scarcity of pristine waters for drinking water supply and increasing consumption of water by industry and agriculture can be countered by the efficient and rational utilization of resources. One of the options is increasing reuse of effluents for various purposes, especially in industrial and agro/food production activities. However, due to high cost of end-of-pipe approach (drinking water treatment) the future of indirect potable reuse requires a planned protection of surface waters through efficient treatment of wastewaters prior to their discharge. Therefore, the key to future water treatment are environmentally friendly, efficient, and reliable technologies that will be a part of an integrated approach to the aggravating problem of water contamination.

Presence of emerging contaminants in environmental waters is directly related to their removal in wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) and the flow rate of the receiving waters. Mediterranean rivers are characterized by important fluctuations in the flow rates and heavy contamination pressures from extensive urban, industrial, and agricultural activities. This translates in contamination levels in these rivers most often higher than in other larger European basins. For instance, the Llobregat river basin (Catalonia, NE Spain), suffers from extreme and frequent flow (1–100 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) fluctuations and receives the effluent discharges of more than 55 WWTPs, and at some points especially in drought periods, the effluents may represent almost 100% of the total flow of the river. Thus, it is not strange to find considerably high levels of organic contaminants along the river and increasing concentrations when moving downstream due to the also increasing number of WWTPs and population pressure [1, 2].

This chapter gives a general introduction on emerging contaminants and an overview of occurrence data in WWTP effluents and receiving surface waters focusing on two classes of emerging contaminants, namely pharmaceuticals and illicit drugs. The issue of water scarcity and contamination of surface waters is discussed with respect to discharge of emerging contaminants by WWTP effluents into the surface waters, influence of hydrological conditions, and dilution factors, giving examples for selected WWTP and rivers in Catalonia (NE Spain).

## 2 Emerging Contaminants

Persistent organic pollutants (POP) and heavy metals were in the focus of interest until the beginning of the 1990s and intensive monitoring programs and ecotoxicological studies had been conducted. As a result, due to adoption of appropriate measures and elimination of the dominant pollution sources a drastic reduction of emission of these nonpolar hazardous compounds have been achieved and today these compounds are less relevant for the industrialized countries.

However, the emission of so-called "emerging" or "new" unregulated contaminants has emerged as an environmental problem and there is a widespread consensus that this kind of contamination may require legislative intervention.

A wide range of man-made chemicals, designed for use in industry, agriculture, and as consumer goods and chemicals unintentionally formed or produced as byproducts of industrial processes or combustion, are potentially of environmental concern. Beside recognized pollutants, numerous new chemicals are synthesized each year and released into the environment with unforeseen consequences. However, the term "emerging contaminants" does not necessarily correspond to "new substances," i.e., newly introduced chemicals and their degradation products/metabolites or by-products, but refers also to compounds with previously unrecognized adverse effects on the ecosystems, including naturally occurring compounds. Therefore, "emerging contaminants" can be defined as contaminants that are currently not included in routine monitoring programs and which may be candidates for future regulation, depending on research on their (eco)toxicity, potential health effects, public perception and on monitoring data regarding their occurrence in the various environmental compartments [3]. Today, there are several groups of compounds that emerged as particularly relevant:

- · Algal and cyanobacterial toxins
- Brominated flame retardants
- Disinfection by-products
- Gasoline additives
- · Hormones and other endocrine disrupting compounds
- Illicit drugs and their human metabolic byproducts
- Organometallics
- Organophosphate flame retardants and plasticisers
- Perfluorinated compounds
- · Pharmaceuticals and personal care products
- Polar pesticides and their degradation/transformation products
- Surfactants and their metabolites

This chapter covers two groups of emerging contaminants: pharmaceutically active substances (PhACs) and illicit drugs. Their significance as trace environmental pollutants in waterways is due to several facts: (1) continuous introduction via effluents from sewage treatment facilities and from septic tanks, (2) they are developed with the intention of performing a biological effect, (3) often have the same type of physico-chemical behavior as other harmful xenobiotics (persistence in order to avoid the substance to be inactive before having a curing effect and lipophilicity in order to be able to pass membranes), (4) some pharmaceutical substances are used by man in rather large quantities (i.e., similar to those of many pesticides). Numerous studies revealed their presence in wastewaters, as well as surface, ground, and drinking water. This is mainly due to the fact that some compounds are not efficiently removed during wastewater treatment processes, being able to reach surface and groundwater and subsequently, drinking waters.

# **3** Sources and Occurrence of Emerging Pollutants in Wastewaters

## 3.1 Pharmaceutically Active Compounds

In a vast array of contaminants of anthropogenic origin reaching our water supplies, PhACs are among the ones with the most continuous input into the environment, especially the over-the-counter (OTC) drugs, which is raising scientific concerns of long-term consequences on human health. PhACs are a group of chemical substances that have medicinal properties, and they are produced worldwide on a 100,000 t scale.

Most of modern drugs are small organic compounds with a molecular weight (MW) below 500 Da, which are moderately water soluble as well as lipophilic, in order to be bioavailable and biologically active. After the oral, parenteral, and/or topical administration, PhACs are excreted via liver and/or kidneys as a mixture of parent compound and metabolites that are usually more polar and hydrophilic than the original drug. In the European Union (EU), around 3,000 different PhACs are used in human medicine (i.e., analgesics and anti-inflammatory drugs,  $\beta$ -blockers, lipid regulators, antibiotics, etc); thus, their main route into the aquatic environment is ingestion following excretion and disposal via wastewater. After administration, pharmaceutical can be excreted as an unchanged parent compound, in the form of metabolites or as conjugates of glucuronic and sulphuric acid, primarily via urine and feces. After their usage for the intended purpose, a large fraction of these substances will be discharged into the wastewater unchanged or in the form of degradation products that are often hardly eliminable in conventional WWTPs. Depending on the efficiency of the treatment and chemical nature of a compound, they can reach surface and ground waters. In the worst-case scenario, they are encountered in the drinking water, in spite of the expensive treatment steps. Besides WWTP discharges that are usually a consequence of the incomplete removal of PhACs, other environmental exposure pathways are manufacturing and hospital effluents, land applications (e.g., biosolids and water reuse), concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs), and direct disposal/introduction to environment. For example, a survey conducted in the US reported that a vast majority of people disposed expired medications via municipal garbage or domestic sewage [4].

The highest concentrations in raw wastewater are commonly reported for nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), which could be attributed to their wide consumption because they can be purchased without medical prescription (i.e., OTC drugs). For example, ibuprofen is usually detected at very high concentrations (in  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) [5–7]. Other very popular pain killers, often found at  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>levels, are acetaminophen (paracetamol) and aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid). Besides these OTC drugs, pharmaceuticals ubiquitous in raw sewage are also prescription drugs  $\beta$ -blockers [8, 9]. Atenolol seems to be the most frequently found  $\beta$ -blocker worldwide in WWTP influents [10–12]. Atenolol, metoprolol and propranolol were detected at high influent concentrations in a study by Nikolai et al. [12] (i.e., 110–1,200, 170–520 and 20–92 ng L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively).

Numerous studies confirmed ubiquity of several antibiotics (i.e., ofloxacin, trimethoprim, roxythromycin, and sulfamethoxazole) in sewage influent, though at low ng  $L^{-1}$  level [8, 13, 14]. However, even at very low concentrations they can have significant ecotoxicological effects in the aquatic and terrestrial compartment [15, 16]. Indiscriminate or excessive use of antibiotics has been widely blamed for the appearance of so-called "super-bugs" that are antibiotic-resistant. It is of crucial importance to control their emissions into the environment through more cautious utilization and monitoring outbreaks of drug-resistant infections.

Antiepileptic drug carbamazepine is one of the most prominent drugs with a long history of clinical usage, and it is frequently found in the environment [8, 17, 18].

This drug has proved to be very recalcitrant, as it by-passes sewage treatment. Common WWTP influent concentrations are in the order of magnitude of several hundreds of nanograms per liter [5, 8, 13, 19, 20].

Lipid regulators are ordinarily applied drugs in clinical practice, and they are used to lower the level of cholesterol and regulate the metabolism of lipids. Clara et al. [13] detected a lipid regulator bezafibrate at concentrations up to 7.6  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>, although normally they are found at lower nanograms per liter range [8, 18, 21, 22].

In all countries with developed medical care, X-ray contrast media can be expected to be present at appreciable quantities in sewage water. Clara et al [13] detected iopromide at a mean concentration of 3.84  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> in the influent of a WWTP receiving hospital wastewater, while in WWTPs without a hospital within their drainage area this contrast media was not present. Iodinated X-ray contrast media are proved to contribute significantly to total absorbable organic iodine in clinical wastewaters; up to 130  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> of iodine in the influent of municipal WWTP in Berlin and 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> in hospital sewage was detected [23].

## 3.2 Illicit Drugs

In recent years, drugs of abuse and their metabolites have been highlighted as a group of environmental emerging contaminants [24], becoming pseudo-persistent in the environment mainly as a result of their extended use. Although drug consumption trends now seem to be stabilized, around 208 million people (5% of the world's population) still make use of these substances [25]. Like pharmaceuticals, after their administration, drugs are metabolized to a different extent in the human body and subsequently eliminated in their original form or as metabolic by-products via urine and feces. They are flushed together with house-hold sewage water towards municipal WWTPs, where they undergo several treatment processes to get biodegraded. However, most of them are only partly removed during sewage treatment, and thus released into the environmental systems via WWTPs effluents, which constitutes the main source of this type of compounds to the aquatic media, as direct disposal represents a minor route of entry to the environment.

Different drugs of abuse and metabolites belonging to the chemical classes of cocainics, opioids, cannabinoids, amphetamine-like compounds and drugs of design, and lysergics have been the subject of different research works regarding their environmental occurrence [2, 10, 11, 26–38]. Drugs of abuse residues commonly present in natural waters are the cocainic compounds cocaine and its main human metabolite, benzoylecgonine; the opioids morphine, methadone, and its main metabolite, 2-ethylidene-1,5-dimethyl-3,3-diphenylpyrrolidine (EDDP); the amphetamine-like compounds 3,4-methylendioxyamphetamine (MDMA or "ecstasy") and ephedrine; and the cannabinoid 11-nor-9-carboxy-THC (THC-COOH), which is one of the main human metabolites of the psycho active constituent of the cannabis,  $\Delta$ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC).

#### 4 Ecotoxicological Effects of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs

Numerous studies have been undertaken to evaluate the risk of other potentially harmful chemicals. Many of which have, eventually, either been banned completely, or had their use severely restricted (i.e., tributyltin, alkylphenolic surfactants, penta and octa PBDEs, etc.). However, compared to other pollutants the sources of pharmaceuticals are likely to be much more difficult to control and it is highly unlikely that they will be replaced or banned. This fact is of concern from the ecotoxicological point of view, as pharmaceuticals are designed to target specific metabolic and molecular pathways in humans and animals, and when introduced into the environment they may affect the same pathways in animals having the identical or similar target organs, tissues, cells, or biomolecules [39]. However, the potential ecological effects associated with the presence of pharmaceuticals in the environment have been largely ignored and their toxicity to organisms is still not well documented in the scientific literature. Based on the available information [39], acute toxicity to aquatic organisms is unlikely to occur at measured concentrations in surface waters, as levels reported to cause such effects are typically from 100 to 1,000 times higher than the concentrations found in the surveyed sampling sites (i.e., rivers receiving WWTP effluents). However, for some compounds the margin seems to be quite narrow. For example, diclofenac seems to be the compound having the highest acute toxicity within the class of analgesics and NSAIDs, since tests performed in phytoplankton and zooplankton showed  $EC_{50}$  (96 h) values of 14.5 mg  $L^{-1}$  and 22.43 mg  $L^{-1}$ , respectively [40], nearly two orders of magnitude higher than the levels detected in the WWTP effluents studied (low  $\mu g L^{-1}$ range). Among β-blockers, propranolol is the one showing higher acute toxicity with EC<sub>50</sub> (48 h) values of 0.8 mg  $L^{-1}$  [40] and 1.6 mg  $L^{-1}$  [41] for Ceriodaphnia dubia and Daphnia magna, respectively, which are approximately 1,000 times higher than the levels detected. For blood lipid lowering agents, EC<sub>50</sub> values reported for bezafibrate and gemfibrozil, the most ubiquitous compounds detected in the sites studied, were higher than 100 mg  $L^{-1}$  [39]. Among the neuroactive compounds, fluoxetine is the one showing higher acute toxicity, with  $EC_{50}$  (48 h, alga) of 0.024 mg  $L^{-1}$  [42] and LC<sub>50</sub> (48 h) of 2 mg  $L^{-1}$  [43]. For antibiotics erythromycin, sulfamethoxazole, and ofloxacin, the EC<sub>50</sub> values for Vibrio fischeri were higher than 100 mg  $L^{-1}$ , from 16.9 to 32.2 and 100 mg  $L^{-1}$  [44], respectively, being all these levels much higher than the ones found in surface waters (ng  $L^{-1}$  to low  $\mu g L^{-1}$  range).

Concerning to chronic effects, lowest observed effect concentration (LOEC) and no observed effect concentration (NOEC) values for pharmaceuticals, reported in the literature, are about one to two orders and two orders of magnitude, respectively, higher than maximal concentration detected in majority of WWTP effluents. However, in some studies [8] for diclofenac, propranolol, fluoxetine, and carbamazepine, the levels found in environmental waters were in the range of values causing chronic effects. It was reported that for diclofenac, the LOEC for fish toxicity was in the range of wastewater concentrations, showing renal lesions and alterations of the gills in rainbow trout at the LOEC of 5  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> [45], as well as subtle subcellular effects even at 1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>. Moreover, impairment of renal and gill function is likely to occur after long-term exposure. The kidney was also found to be a target of diclofenac in vultures [46] and side effects have also been observed in human liver with degenerative and inflammatory alterations. LOEC of propranolol and fluoxetine for zooplankton and benthic organisms were near to maximal measured WWTP [8]. LOEC of propranolol affecting reproduction in *C. dubia* were 125 and 250  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>, and reproduction was affected after 27 days of exposure in *Hyalella azteca* at 100  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> [41]. For fluoxetine, stimulation was also found in *D. magna* exposed to 36  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> fluoxetine for 30 days, and in *C. dubia* fecundity was increased at 56  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> [47]. For carbamazepine, sublethal effects occurred in *D. magna* at 92  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> and the lethal concentration in zebra fish was 43  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> [48]. For the antibiotics erythromycin, sulfamethoxazole, and ofloxacin, the LC<sub>50</sub> values observed showing chronic toxicity were 20, 520, and 1,440  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.

The toxicological or cumulative effect of illicit drugs on the ecosystems has not been studied yet. Moreover, their fate and transport in the environment is to a big extent still unknown. Due to their physical–chemical properties (octanol–water partition coefficient, solubility, etc.) some of them, such as cannabinoids, are likely to bioaccumulate in organisms or concentrate in sediments; whereas the rest, much more polar compounds, will tend to stay in aqueous environmental matrices. However, continuous exposure of aquatic organisms to low aquatic concentrations of these substances, some of them still biologically active (e.g., cocaine (CO), morphine (MOR) and MDMA) may cause undesirable effects on the biota.

#### 5 Elimination and Fate During Wastewater Treatment

It is well documented that WWTP are major contributors of pharmaceuticals and illicit drugs in the aquatic environment, due to their incomplete removal in conventional activated sludge (CAS) treatment, resulting in important loads discharged into river waters through effluent wastewaters (Tables 1 and 2).

## 5.1 Pharmaceuticals

The most important removal pathways of PhACs during wastewater treatment are biotransformation/biodegradation and abiotic removal by adsorption to the sludge. The efficiency of their removal at WWTP depends on their physico-chemical properties, especially hydrophobicity and biodegradability, and process operating parameters (i.e., HRT, SRT, and temperature). For certain NSAIDs (e.g., ibuprofen, acetaminophen), high removals (>90%) are consistently reported in literature

Pharmaceuticals	Concentrations (ng $L^{-1}$ )	References
Analgesics /Anti-inflammatories		
Diclofenac	900-2,200	[20]
	270–598	[73]
	194–748	[21]
	123	[34, 67]
	210.7-486.4	[74]
Ibuprofen	7,100-28,000	[20]
1	50-320	[75]
	348–773	[21]
	227	[34, 67]
	17.7-219.0	[74]
Naproxen	1,840-4,200	76]
<u>i</u>	300-3.200	[75]
	452–1.189	[21]
	42.1-289.1	[74]
Acetaminophen	59–164	[76]
rrr	<20-<20	[73]
	10-19	[77]
Ketoprofen	340-1 070	[77]
netoprotein	125-210	[2]
	400	[21]
	21 8-1 080 6	[34, 07]
Acetylsalicylic acid	220-1 500	[77]
Acceptsancyne actu	23.5.51.5	[70]
Salicylic acid	5 190 13 000	[74]
(aspirin matabolita)	3,600, 50,600	[79]
(aspirin metabolile)	200	[34]
Codeine	209	[34, 07]
Codellie	2 048	[20]
	3,948	[54, 07]
Antibiotics		
trimethoprim	331–1,264	[76]
	271–322	[73]
	550-1,900	[75]
	320-660	[78]
	1,004	[34, 67]
Ciprofloxacin	923–3,353	[76]
	239–514	[80]
	170-860	[75]
Ofloxacin	4,422–13,426	[76]
	652-1,081	[80]
Erythromycin	519–973	[76]
	89–353	[80]
	130–294	[77]
	270-300	
Sulfamethoxazole	275–794	[76]
	400-2,000	[78]
Clarithromycin	140–260	[78]
-	31–73	[80]
Roxithromycin	680–1,000	[78]

 Table 1 Occurrence of pharmaceutical residues in WWTPs effluents

(continued)

Pharmaceuticals	Concentrations (ng $L^{-1}$ )	References
β-blockers		
Metoprolol	61–154	[76]
	730–2,200	[78]
	68	[34, 67]
	150-650	[81]
Propranolol	44–100	[76]
-	291-373	[73]
	20-50	[75]
	388	[34, 67]
	32-64	[81]
Atenolol	1.720-4.850	[76]
	2.702	[34, 67]
	120-960	[81]
Sotalol	<1.0D-1.008	[82]
	<lod-1,000< td=""><td>[02]</td></lod-1,000<>	[02]
Lipid regulators	222 484	[7/]
Bezafibrate	233-484	[76]
	418	[34, 67]
Gemfibrozil	2,337–5,428	[76]
	246-436	[21]
	47–1,220	[81]
	13.3–17.2	[74]
Clofíbric acid (metabolite)	27-81	[76]
	360-1,600	[78]
Antidepressants		
diazenam	16-87	[76]
diazopuni	30-40	[78]
Fluovetine	308_020	[76]
Tuoxetine	40.73	[70]
	40-75	[01]
Antiepileptic		
Carbamazepine	130–230	[20]
	290–550	[7]
	3,117	[34, 67]
	157.3–293.4	[74]
X-ray agents		
Iopamidol	660-15.000	[78]
Iopromide	2 630-4 030	[77]
Diatrizoate	80-8 700	[78]
Iomenrol	370-3 800	[78]
	570 5,000	[/0]
Antiulcer agents	(0.4. <b>0.700</b>	
Ranifidine	684-2,722	[76]
	298-610	[80]
	<lod-550< td=""><td>[81]</td></lod-550<>	[81]
Broncodilatators		
Salbutamol	15-60	[76]
	8.5-18	[80]
	66	[34, 67]
	<lod-60< td=""><td>[81]</td></lod-60<>	[81]
Terbutaline	15-30	[76]
	<lod-4 15<="" td=""><td>[74]</td></lod-4>	[74]
		L' 'J

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Pharmaceuticals	Concentrations (ng $L^{-1}$ )	References
Diuretics		
Furosemide	1,050-2,957	[76]
	749–2,102	[80]
	1,144	[34, 67]
Hydrochlorothiazide	3,683-14,857	[76]
-	598-1,253	[80]

 Table 1 (continued)

[8, 13, 18]. Many studies have confirmed a complete biodegradation of ibuprofen to hydroxy-ibuprofen and carboxy-ibuprofen in biological wastewater treatment, whereas removals higher than 95% have been reached [17, 49, 50]. For diclofenac, contradictory results have been reported for its removal during CAS wastewater treatment. In some WWTPs, attenuation of 50–70% of diclofenac was reported [6, 10, 11, 51, 52], whereas some studies showed extremely low efficiency of conventional treatment (only 10–30% removal) [49, 53].

Lipid regulators gemfibrozil and bezafibrate frequently detected in wastewaters are reported to be eliminated in WWTPs with 46–69% [51] and 36–54% [13]. On the other side, clofibric acid was reported to be refractory pollutant for municipal WWTPs [22].

Many authors reported poor elimination of antiepileptic drug carbamazepine [6, 13, 17, 49, 54]. Pharmacokinetic data indicate that only 1-2% of carbamazepine is excreted unmetabolized. However, glucuronide conjugates of carbamazepine can presumably be cleaved in the sewage, and thus increase its environmental concentrations [51]. This is confirmed by its high ubiquity in the environment at concentration levels of several hundred nanograms per liter in different surface waters. Due to its recalcitrant nature, it can be used as anthropogenic marker for the contamination of aquatic environment.

Macrolide antibiotics are metabolized to a minor extent (10–20% for clarithromycin, 30% roxithromycin, 10–20% for spiramycin, 6–12% for azithromycin, and 5–10% for erythromycin), except for erythromycin that is converted into antibacterially inactive product (erythromycin-H<sub>2</sub>O) [55]. Mass balance studies have demonstrated sewage sludge as the main reservoir for fluoroquinolone antibiotics, with ~80% elimination frequently reported for the CAS treatment [56, 57]. For sulfonamide antibiotics, unexplained variations of concentration over time are frequently observed, also possibly because of unknown conjugation and deconjugation processes that may occur during contact with activated sludge. The reported removals of sulfamethoxazole in CAS treatment vary from 60 to 94% [35, 58]. For example, significant amount of sulfametoxazole enters WWTP in metabolized form as  $N_4$ -acetyl-sulfamethoxazole that can be converted back to the original compound [59].

The removal of X-ray contrast media iopromide was reported to be negligible in conventional WWTP [58]. However, similar to antibiotic trimethoprim, negligible removal in CAS treatment was meliorated to 61% removal by employing nitrifying activated sludge [60].
Compound	WWTP	Effluent Conc.	Removal	References
	location	$(ngL^{-1})$	(%)	
Cocainics				
Cocaine	Castellón (Spain)	$<30^{a}-560$	4->99	[26]
cotunit	Ringsend (Dublin)	$138(20)^{b}$	72	[28]
	Milan-Nosedo	$< 0.9^{a}$	>99	[10] 11]
	(Italy)	<b>NO.</b> 2	~ ) )	[10, 11]
	Lugano	$11(3)^{b}$	05	[10] 11]
	(Switzerland)	11(3)	95	[10, 11]
	Catalonia (Spain)	1 100	88 00	[62]
	Catalonia (Spani)	1-100	> 00	[05]
	South Wales $(UK)^d$	<1	299	[35]
	South wales (UK)	48-324	25	[35]
	Belgium	<1 <sup></sup> -8	93-100	[68]
	Barcelona (Spain)	6(4) <sup>6</sup>	>98	[36]
	A.C. Valencia	33–105	37-95	[36]
	(Spain)			
Cocaethylene	Castellón (Spain)	<30 <sup>a</sup> -80	>99	[26]
	Milan-Nosedo	<0.7 <sup>a</sup>	>94	[10, 11]
	(Italy)			
	Lugano	$0.2(0.5)^{b}$	97	[10, 11]
	(Switzerland)			
	Barcelona (Spain)	$2(1)^{b}$	>94	[36]
	A.C. Valencia	2–7	66–93	[36]
	(Spain)			
Benzoylecgonine	Castellón (Spain)	<30 <sup>a</sup> 6,790	35->99	[26]
	Ringsend (Dublin)	$22(4)^{b}$	93	[28]
	Milan-Nosedo	<0.9 <sup>a</sup>	>99	[10, 11]
	(Italy)			
	Lugano	$100(29)^{b}$	83	[10, 11]
	(Switzerland)			
	Catalonia (Spain)	1-1.500	88-98	[63]
	Germany	490	N/A	[32]
	South Wales (UK)	$<1^{a}_{-20}$	100	[32]
	South Wales $(UK)^d$	202 3 275	NP	[35]
	Bolgium	1 22	03 00	[55]
	Bergalona (Spain)	4-23 $30(18)^{b}$	>08	[06]
	A C Valancia	50 219	290 60.07	[30]
	A.C. valencia	30-318	69–97	[30]
NT	(Spain)	-208 170	(5 . 00	[26]
Norbenzöylecgönine	Castellon (Spain)	< 30 - 1/0	03->99	[20]
	Milan-Nosedo	<0.6	>98	[10, 11]
	(Italy)	o (o) h	07	[10] 11]
	Lugano	8(3)	97	[10, 11]
	(Switzerland)			
Nor-cocaine	Castellón (Spain)	<30 <sup>a</sup> -30	NR	[26]
	Milan-Nosedo	<0.7 <sup>a</sup>	>95	[10, 11]
	(Italy)	,		
	Lugano	$0.7(0.5)^{b}$	83	[10, 11]
	(Switzerland)			
Amphetamine-like				
compounds				
Amphetamine	Castellón (Spain)	110-210	85->99	[26]
	Milan-Nosedo	<3 <sup>a</sup>	80	[10, 11]
	(Italy)			

Table 2 Effluent levels of drugs of abuse and metabolites and removal efficiencies of the WWTP

(continued)

Compound	WWTP	Effluent Conc.	Removal	References
	location	$(ngL^{-1})$	(%)	
	Lugano	<3 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[10, 11]
	(Switzerland)			
	Catalonia (Spain)	4-210	52->99	[63]
	South Wales (UK)	<3 <sup>a</sup> -11	100	[35]
	South Wales (UK) <sup>d</sup>	19–739	95	[35]
	Catalonia (Spain)	$0.5(0.1)^{b}$	>98	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	1–3	49–97	[36]
3,4-methylenedioxy- amphetamine (MDA)	Castellón (Spain)	410-680	60–>99	[26]
	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	$1(2)^{b}$	80	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	$1(2)^{b}$	89	[10, 11]
	Catalonia (Spain)	1-200	NR->99	[63]
3,4-methylenedioxyeth- amphetamine (MDEA)	Castellón (Spain)	<100 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[26]
	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	<2 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	<2 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[10, 11]
3,4-methylenedioxy- methamphetamine (MDMA)	Castellón (Spain)	<100 <sup>a</sup> -21,200	25->99	[26]
(	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	$4(4)^{b}$	71	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	5(3) <sup>b</sup>	64	[10, 11]
	Catalonia (Spain)	2–267	46->99	[63]
	South Carolina (USA)	0.5	N/A	[33]
	Barcelona (Spain))	$82(22)^{b}$	NR – 64	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	30–376	NR – 66	[36]
Methamphetamine	Castellón (Spain)	<100 <sup>a</sup>	NR	[26]
Ĩ	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	4(2) <sup>b</sup>	75	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	<1 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[10, 11]
	Catalonia (Spain)	3–90	44->99	[63]
	Kentucky (USA)	n.d<10 <sup>b</sup>	N/A	[83]
	Nevada (USA)	1.3	N/A	[33]
	Nebraska (USA)	350(78) <sup>b</sup>	N/A	[62]
	Barcelona (Spain)	$6(0.6)^{b}$	26-80	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	2–3	48–66	[36]
Ephedrine	Barcelona (Spain)	118(17) <sup>b</sup>	70-86	[36]
-	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	138–266	33–69	[36]

(continued)

Table 2 (continued)

Compound	WWTP	Effluent Conc.	Removal	References
	location	(ngL <sup>-1</sup> )	(%)	
LSD and metabolites Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD)	Barcelona (Spain)	0.3(0.2) <sup>b</sup>	NR->99	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	0.2–2	67–84	[36]
2-oxo-3-hydroxy-LSD (O-H-LSD)	Barcelona (Spain)	$0.7(0.3)^{b}$	69–97	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	0.8	68–>99	[36]
N-desmethy-LSD (Nor-LSD)	Barcelona (Spain)	0.6(0.5) <sup>b</sup>	26->99	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	1-4	75–88	[36]
Cannabinoids 11-nor-9-carboxy- $\Delta^9$ THC (THC-COOH)	Castellón (Spain)	<800 <sup>a</sup>	NR	[26]
	Catalonia (Spain)	15-72	NR - 71	[27]
	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	<0.9 <sup>a</sup>	>98	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	7(4) <sup>b</sup>	92	[10, 11]
	Barcelona (Spain)	$8(4)^{b}$	NR – 81	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	4–19	36–72	[36]
11-hydroxy-THC (OH-THC)	Barcelona (Spain)	5(2) <sup>b</sup>	NR – 83	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	8–23	38-82	[36]
THC	Catalonia (Spain)	<8 <sup>a</sup>	NA->73	[27]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	13–21	8–67	[36]
Opioids				
Morphine	Ringsend (Dublin)	<856 <sup>b</sup>	NR	[28]
	Catalonia (Spain)	<7 <sup>a</sup> -81	16->84	[27]
	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	<3 <sup>a</sup>	>96	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	55(11) <sup>b</sup>	73	[10, 11]
	Germany	40 <sup>c</sup>	N/A	[32]
	Barcelona (Spain)	$22(3)^{b}$	83-92	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	12–30	53-82	[36]
Nor-morphine	Catalonia (Spain)	<25 <sup>a</sup> -31	NR	[27]
Morphine 3-glucuronide	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	<0.5 <sup>a</sup>	>83	[10, 11]
	Lugano	<0.5 <sup>a</sup>	>97	[10, 11]

(Switzerland)

Catalonia (Spain)

Milan-Nosedo

(Italy)

<3<sup>a</sup>

<3<sup>a</sup>

#### Table 2 (continued)

(continued)

[27]

[10, 11]

N/A

>75

6-acetyl morphine

Compound	WWTP	Effluent Conc.	Removal	References
	location	$(ngL^{-1})$	(%)	
	Lugano (Switzerland)	<3 <sup>a</sup>	>70	[10, 11]
	Barcelona (Spain)	$4(0.5)^{b}$	60-89	[36]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	2–3	59–77	[36]
Heroin	Catalonia (Spain)	<20 <sup>a</sup>	N/A	[27]
	A.C. Valencia (Spain)	n.d1	48->99	[36]
Methadone	Catalonia (Spain)	4–25	NR – 53	[27]
	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	9(0.5) <sup>b</sup>	25	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	36(3) <sup>b</sup>	28	[10, 11]
2-ethylidene-1, 5-dimethyl-3, 3-diphenylpyrrolidine (EDDP)	Ringsend (Dublin)	48(1) <sup>b</sup>	NR	[28]
· · · ·	Catalonia (Spain)	5–57	NR – 15	[27]
	Milan-Nosedo (Italy)	23(1) <sup>b</sup>	NR	[10, 11]
	Lugano (Switzerland)	72(9) <sup>b</sup>	21	[10, 11]

Table 2	(continued)
---------	-------------

NR: analyte not removed or appearing at higher concentrations in effluent compared to influent waters

N/A: data not available

<sup>a</sup>Analyte present but below the method limit of quantitation

<sup>b</sup>Average concentration of several samples (standard deviation)

<sup>c</sup>Median concentration

<sup>d</sup>Trickling filter beds used as secondary treatment

### 5.2 Illicit Drugs

Since 2004, several authors have developed analytical methodologies based on liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) to evaluate the occurrence of drugs of abuse in sewage and surface waters [10, 11, 26–34, 36–38, 61]. Removal of drugs of abuse residues in sewage water treatment processes has been studied so far mainly under biological treatments based on conventional activated sludge (CAS) processes. Only two peer-reviewed works investigate the elimination of these compounds under different secondary treatment techniques, such as trickling filters, biological nutrients and a mix system based on activated sludge and trickling filters [35, 62]. Concentrations of drugs of abuse and metabolites in effluent sewage waters reported in the literature and also the removal of these analytes in the studied WWTPs are summarized in Table 2.

Overall, elimination of cocainic compounds has been observed to be the most efficient under CAS treatment (above 90% in most cases), compared to the rest of the investigated drugs of abuse and metabolites. However, they are not or

deficiently removed by means of trickling filters [35]. On the other hand, removal efficiency of CAS treatments for these compounds drastically decreases when high levels of these compounds are present in the influent sewage waters [26].

Regarding removal of amphetamine-like compounds, very different elimination values have been reported in the peer-reviewed literature. Higher loads of methamphetamine [26], 3,4-methylenedioxyamphetamine or MDA [63] and MDMA [36] have been occasionally observed in effluent waters compared to those present in raw sewage water. Huerta-Fontela et al. [63] indicated that an increase of MDA during the water treatment may be related to an *N*-demethylation of MDMA. On the other hand, high levels of amphetamine-like substances in treated waters may be the result of desorption processes during sewage water treatments was also evaluated by Kasprzyk-Hordern et al. [35], and similar removal efficiencies were observed with both processes, yielding 100 and 95% of amphetamine elimination, respectively; however, higher concentrations of methamphetamine were detected in WWTP effluents after treatment by means of trickling filters [62].

The elimination of all investigated cannabinoids has been observed to be very poor; finding occasionally higher concentrations of these compounds in effluent than in influent waters, which may be related to deconjugation of excreted conjugated forms not yet investigated. The same phenomenon may be attributed to the persistence of LSD in some of the investigated effluent samples.

Opioids have shown different behaviors during CAS treatment. The most persistent compounds are the opioid antagonist methadone and its metabolite EDDP, as none or a deficient elimination (up to 53% the highest one reported) of these analytes has been observed in the different studies performed [10, 11, 27, 28]. Morphine has also shown different elimination profiles, and also higher concentrations in effluent waters compared to influent waters. According to the study carried out by Castiglioni et al. that included a glucuronide conjugate of morphine (morphine 3β-D glucuronide) [10, 11], the high morphine loads in effluent samples may be attributed to the cleavage of conjugated molecules, as morphine is excreted in urine mainly as glucuronide metabolites and the presence of this compound in the investigated sewage waters was not very relevant.

### 6 Occurrence of Emerging Contaminants in Surface Waters

At present, numerous studies have made evident the presence of drugs in the aquatic environment identifying more than 150 PhACs in different aqueous matrices such as surface, ground, and drinking water, as well as WWTP effluents. While in case of WWTP effluents the levels detected can reach several tens of micrograms per liter [64], in river and groundwater the levels are much lower, generally in the nanograms per liter range. Within the framework of the European project KNAPPE an exhaustive bibliographical revision of 112 publications and national reports has been made regarding the presence of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment [65, 66]. The results showed that the compounds studied with more frequency in the aquatic environment, and of which, logically, there is more information, are the antibiotics, analgesics and anti-inflammatories (like diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen, acetylsalicylic acid, and paracetamol), as well as the  $\beta$ -blocker atenolol. In the category of antibiotics, several families are included, like the macrolides (erythromycin), the fluoroquinolones (ofloxacin and ciprofloxacin), sulfonamides (sulfamethoxazole), penicillins (amoxicillin), the metronidazol, and trimethoprim. Other therapeutic groups also widely studied and frequently found in the environmental waters are the lipid regulators (gemfibrozil and bezafibrat), antiepileptic carbamazepine, and antidepressants (diazepam, fluoxetine, paroxetine) (see Table 3).

Although a lack of data on the residues of drugs of abuse in environmental water is still remarkable, some works have been carried out to cover this gap, especially in Europe [2, 27, 28, 30, 32, 33, 38, 61, 62, 67–69]. Cocaine and benzoylecgonine are the chemicals most thoroughly studied so far, followed by morphine, amphetamine, methamphetamine and MDMA, whereas the occurrence of other illicit drugs and metabolites constituted only the scope of a few works. Figures 1–3 summarize the levels of these compounds found in surface waters of different countries, which are in the picograms per liter to nanograms per liter range.

Although cocainic compounds are removed to a high extent in WWTPs (see Table 2), these compounds, especially cocaine and benzoylecgonine, are the most abundant and ubiquitous in surface water, presenting levels up to 115 and 520 ng  $L^{-1}$ , respectively (see Fig. 2). As it is shown in Figs. 1 and 3, morphine and amphetamine-like compounds, such as amphetamine, methamphetamine, and MDMA, also have a relevant presence in surface waters; however, concentrations have not surpassed 100 ng  $L^{-1}$  in any case. The rest of the investigated drugs of abuse and metabolites have been found at the picograms per liter level or at few nanograms per liter.

Overall, levels detected in surface waters are lower than those determined in treated effluents, which suggests dilution of these chemicals in the receiving waters. A direct impact of effluent discharges regarding an increase of drugs of abuse and metabolites in natural streams has been shown in several works [62, 70]. Drugs of abuse and metabolites levels have also been reported to decrease significantly with increasing distance from the WWTP discharge point [28].

# 7 Influence of Hydrological Conditions on the Occurrence of Emerging Contaminants in Surface Waters

# 7.1 Case Study: Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs in the Ebro River Basin

Wastewater from seven WWTPs, located in the main cities in the Ebro river basin (Pamplona, Logroño, Miranda de Ebro, Zaragoza, Tudela, Lleida, Tortosa), as well as the receiving river waters downstream the plants were monitored for the presence

Pharmaceuticals	Concentrations (ng $L^{-1}$ )	References
Analgesics /Anti-inflammatories		
Diclofenac	( <lod-195) estuary<="" td=""><td>[84]</td></lod-195)>	[84]
	2.2 ( <lod-3.3) river<="" td=""><td>[5]</td></lod-3.3)>	[5]
	27 ( <lod-69) river<="" td=""><td>[85]</td></lod-69)>	[85]
	9–28 River	[34, 67]
	1.36–33.2 River	[74]
Ibuprofen	70 River	[51]
L	( <lod-928) estuary<="" td=""><td>[84]</td></lod-928)>	[84]
	13 ( <lod-17) river<="" td=""><td>[37]</td></lod-17)>	[37]
	<lod-200 td="" well<=""><td>[86]</td></lod-200>	[86]
	<lod-4.5 river<="" td=""><td>[74]</td></lod-4.5>	[74]
Naproxen	( <lod-380) river<="" td=""><td>[87]</td></lod-380)>	[87]
1	( <lod-145) canals<="" td=""><td>[88]</td></lod-145)>	[88]
	5( <lod-32) rivers<="" td=""><td>[85]</td></lod-32)>	[85]
	<lod-91.5 river<="" td=""><td>[74]</td></lod-91.5>	[74]
Acetaminophen	110 Rivers	[64]
-	20 ( <lod-110) river<="" td=""><td>[5]</td></lod-110)>	[5]
	13 ( <lod-66) river<="" td=""><td>[85]</td></lod-66)>	[85]
	62–388 River	[34, 67]
Ketoprofen	2–3 River	[34, 67]
1	25 <sup>a</sup> River	[89]
	<lod-14.5 river<="" td=""><td>[74]</td></lod-14.5>	[74]
Salicylic acid (aspirin metabolite)	25–62 River	[34, 67]
Codeine	40 ( <lod-54) river<="" td=""><td>[90]</td></lod-54)>	[90]
	27–224 River	[34, 67]
Antibiotics		
trimethoprim	( <lod-569) estuary<="" td=""><td>[84]</td></lod-569)>	[84]
	4 (3–5) Lake	[77]
	<lod-108 river<="" td=""><td>[34, 67]</td></lod-108>	[34, 67]
Ciprofloxacin	360 River	[91]
Erythromycin	3 ( <lod-1.6) river<="" td=""><td>[92]</td></lod-1.6)>	[92]
	3 (2–5) Lake	[77]
Sulfamethoxazole	38 ( <lod-160) river<="" td=""><td>[5]</td></lod-160)>	[5]
	20 (2-36) River	[77]
	< LOD-1 River	[34, 67]
Roxithromycin	180 <sup>a</sup> River	[64]
-	50 <sup>b</sup> River	
β-blockers		
Metoprolol	7–10 River	[34, 67]
-	12 River	[81]
Propranolol	7–22 River	[34, 67]
-	23	[81]
Atenolol	8 ( <lod-46) river<="" td=""><td>[5]</td></lod-46)>	[5]
	17 ( <lod-41) river<="" td=""><td>[37]</td></lod-41)>	[37]
	17–487 River	[34, 67]
	35 River	[81]
Bezafibrate	26 ( <lod-170) river<="" td=""><td>[5]</td></lod-170)>	[5]
	2 ( <lod-3) river<="" td=""><td>[37]</td></lod-3)>	[37]
	41-60 River	[34, 67]
Gemfibrozil	8 ( <lod-27) river<="" td=""><td>[85]</td></lod-27)>	[85]
	7 (2–9) Lake	[77]

 Table 3 Occurrence of pharmaceutical residues in surface waters

(continued)

Pharmaceuticals	Concentrations (ng $L^{-1}$ )	References
	78 <sup>a</sup> River	[89]
	<lod-2.3 river<="" td=""><td>[74]</td></lod-2.3>	[74]
Clofíbric acid	( <lod-30) river<="" td=""><td>[87]</td></lod-30)>	[87]
(metabolite)	<lod-101 river<="" td=""><td>[34, 67]</td></lod-101>	[34, 67]
Antidepressant		
Diazepam	31 ( <lod-34) river<="" td=""><td>[90]</td></lod-34)>	[90]
	( <lod-111) estuary<="" td=""><td>[84]</td></lod-111)>	[84]
Fluoxetine	12–20 River	[93]
Antiepileptic		
Carbamazepine	(10–320) River	[87]
I I	(30–55) Lake	[87]
	7–251 River	[34, 67]
	<lod-56.3 river<="" td=""><td>[74]</td></lod-56.3>	[74]
X-ray agents		
Iopamidol	( <lod-300) groundwater<="" td=""><td>[94]</td></lod-300)>	[94]
Iopromide	134 (20361) Lake	[77]
Diatrizoate	(1,600–9,600) Groundwater	[95]
Antiulcer agent		
Ranitidine	1.3 ( <lod-4) river<="" td=""><td>[37]</td></lod-4)>	[37]
	<lod-32 river<="" td=""><td>[34, 67]</td></lod-32>	[34, 67]
Broncodilatators		
Salbutamol	<lod-1 river<="" td=""><td>[34, 67]</td></lod-1>	[34, 67]
Diuretics		
Furosemide	15 ( <lod-21) river<="" td=""><td>[5]</td></lod-21)>	[5]
	4 ( <lod-67) river<="" td=""><td>[37]</td></lod-67)>	[37]
	<lod-117 river<="" td=""><td>[34, 67]</td></lod-117>	[34, 67]

<LOD – below limit of detecion <sup>a</sup>Max concentration detected <sup>b</sup>Median



**Fig. 1** Concentrations reported for opiods and cannabinoids in surface water of different European countries. *MOR* morphine; *Nor-MOR* nor-morphine; *6ACM* 6-monoacetyl morphine; *HER* heroin; *MET* methadone; *EDDP* 2-ethylidene-1,5-dimethyl-3,3 diphenylpyrrolidine; *THC* Δ9-tetrahydro-cannabinol; *THC-COOH* 11-nor 9-carboxy-THC N/A: Values not availabe, not measured



Fig. 2 Concentrations reported for cocainic compounds in surface water of different European countries. *CO* cocaine; *BE* benzoylecgonine; *CE* cocaethylene; *Nor-BE* nor-benzoylecgonine; *Nor-CO* nor-cocaine

N/A: Values not availabe, not measured





N/A: Values not availabe, not measured

\* Just one value reported (Corresponding to either one sample or to the mean of various samples)

of 29 most common pharmaceuticals. Samples collected were analysed according to the analytical methodology reported in Gros et al. 2006. Table 4 summarizes the characteristics of the WWTP studied, as well as the rivers where their effluents are discharged. Effluents from WWTP2, WWTP5, and WWTP7 are discharged in the

Table 4 Chara	cteristics of the WW	TP monitored	and the receiving wat	ters where their effluents	are discharged		
WWTP	Population	Flow fin3 h-1	Receiving river	Type of wastewater	Hydraulic retention	Primary	Secondary
	equivalent	( u m)	water	ureated	time	ureaument	ureaument
<b>WWTP1</b>	52,700	533	Vallas	Urban	32	I	Activated sludge
Miranda del Ebro							
WWTP2	90,000	833	Ebro	Urban	18	Primary	Biologic filters
Tudela						settling	
WWTP3	4,66,560	2,500	Iregua	Urban and industrial	8	Primary	Activated sludge
Logroño						settling	
WWTP4	7,73,312	4,313	Arga	Urban and industrial	25	Primary	Activated sludge
Pamplona						settling	
WWTP5	8,35,000	6,833	Ebro	Urban	10	Primary	Activated sludge
Zaragoza						settling	
WWTP6	18,000	2,917	Segre	Urban	6-10	Primary	Activated sludge
Lleida						settling	
WWTP7	36,625	305	Ebro	Urban	33	Ι	Activated sludge
Tortosa							

Ebro river, whereas effluents from WWTP1, WWTP6, WWTP4, and WWTP3 go to tributaries, which consist in the Vallas, Segre, Arga, and Iregua, respectively. The dilution factor in the Ebro river averages 70 in Zaragoza, the area surrounding WWTP5 (1.9 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of WWTP effluent is mixed with 150 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of river flow). A similar situation occurs in Lleida (WWTP6), as  $0.8 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$  of effluent wastewater are mixed with 50 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of river water, showing a dilution factor of approximately 63. Nevertheless, in the Arga river, which receives the effluent from WWTP4, the dilution factor was much lower, averaging a value of 10. Such factors could not be estimated for Tudela (WWTP2), Miranda de Ebro (WWTP1), and Logroño (WWTP3), since no data referring to the river flows in these points were available. Even though pharmaceuticals present in effluent wastewaters are generally diluted when entering river waters, the same spectrum of compounds found in the first ones are also detected in the former, but generally at one order of magnitude lower than in effluent wastewaters, ranging the nanograms per liter range. This fact states that the dilution of pharmaceuticals when they enter river waters may reduce environmental risks posed by these compounds to aquatic organisms. Figure 4 shows the most ubiquitous pharmaceuticals of each therapeutic group detected in both effluent waste and river waters in relationship to the dilution factor. The highest levels of pharmaceuticals found were attributed to Pamplona and the area around Zaragoza, which are two of the most populated cities, where the most ubiquitous compounds were the analgesics and anti-inflammatories ibuprofen, diclofenac, naproxen; the lipid regulators bezafibrate and gemfibrozil; and the antibiotics erythromycin, azythromycin, sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim.

The presence of 17 drugs of abuse and metabolites has been investigated in the same sampling points of the Ebro river basin where pharmaceuticals have been monitored. Drug monitoring was done at the beginning of the hydrological year and 3 months before its end; this is October 2007 and July 2008, respectively. Despite the removal of these compounds in the WWTPs and the dilution of effluent loads in receiving surface waters, the presence of cocainic (benzoylecgonine and cocaine) and amphetamine-like compounds (ephedrine and MDMA) in the investigated river sampling locations was noticeable in both sampling campaigns. The second part of the hydrological year 2007–2008 was the end of a drought period in Spain. As a result, total drug loads discharged to the river through effluent sewage waters were diluted up to 17 times in receiving waters in October 2007, whereas the dilution factor raised almost to 50 in July 2008. This explains how, despite the drug levels found in the WWTP effluents were in general larger in 2008 than in 2007, the concentrations in the receiving river waters were in many cases lower in 2008 than in 2007 (see Fig. 5).

### 7.2 Case Study: Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals in the Llobregat River (NE Spain)

The Llobregat River (NE Spain) is 156 km long and covers a catchment area of about 4,957 km<sup>2</sup>. Its watershed is heavily populated (more than three million inhabitants).



**Fig. 4** Concentrations (ng L<sup>-1</sup>) of the most ubiquitous analgesics and anti-inflammatories, lipid regulators, psychiatric drugs and  $\beta$ -blockers detected in (**a**) wastewater effluents and (**b**) river water downstream of the three WWTP in the Ebro river basin in relationship to the dilution factor



**Fig. 5** Concentrations of drugs of abuse and metabolites determined in: (**a**) wastewater effluents and (**b**) river water downstream of the WWTP monitored in the Ebro river basin N/A: Values not availabe, not measured

Together with its two main tributaries, River Cardener and River Anoia, the Llobregat is subjected to a heavy anthropogenic pressure, receiving extensive urban and industrial wastewater discharges (137  $\text{Hm}^3 \text{ yr}^{-1}$ ; 92% coming from the wastewater treatment plants), which constitutes a significant part of its natural flow. The Llobregat basin is thus an illustrative example of overexploited river.

Hydrologically, the Llobregat is a typical Mediterranean river, its flow being characterized by a high variability, which is controlled by seasonal rainfall. The mean annual precipitation is  $3,330 \text{ Hm}^3$  and it has an annual average discharge of  $693 \text{ Hm}^3$ . The average monthly flow registered since year 2000, shows peaks of ca.  $100 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ , together with minimum values of  $1 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$  percent (relative standard error of 124%). These fluctuations can be considered intrinsic to the Mediterranean climatology. However, the scenarios foreseen by the IPCC [71] for this area seem to point not only to a general reduction of precipitation, but to an increase of

seasonality. Therefore, rain will become more irregularly distributed along the year and a more frequent production of extreme hydrologic events, such as floods and droughts, is to be expected to take place in the near to medium future.

How these extreme events can affect the presence of pollutants in the water systems is unclear. A flow decrease may have an obvious direct effect on the dilution factor, giving rise to an increase in the concentration of pollutants and thus to a corresponding increase of risk towards the aquatic ecosystems. On the other hand, floods can give rise to sediment resuspension and transport, and thus to the subsequent remobilization of retained pollutants. While the second issue is a priori more likely to affect hydrophobic pollutants adsorbed on sediments, direct dilution by flow may be of greater relevance for the more soluble ones, such as those released from WWTPs. In the previous section (case study in the Ebro river basin), it has already been emphasized how the dilution factor varies depending on the receiving river, and how crucial it is acting as a dilution buffer in relation to emerging contaminants such as pharmaceuticals. However, the variability *within* the same river is also relevant. Due to the foregoing reasons, the Llobregat provides, in that respect, a representative case that is worth studying.

Figure 6 shows the concentration ranges of 72 pharmaceutical compounds belonging to different therapeutical classes detected in the Llobregat at Sant Joan Despí. These were analyzed along seven sampling campaigns carried out between June and August 2008, under different flow conditions. The comparison between flow and some of the most representative compounds analyzed shows that pharmaceuticals exhibit a variability (expressed as percent relative standard error) of the same order as river flow (about 100%). On the other hand, comparison of time profiles for daily flow and the sum of all pharmaceuticals again indicates a partial opposite tendency, as it would be expected if dilution is the governing factor (Fig. 7).

The correlation analysis between the 30 most representative pharmaceutical compounds and the daily measured flow (Fig. 8) shows a variable behavior and



**Fig. 6** Concentration range (ng  $L^{-1}$ ) of some of the most representative pharmaceutical compounds measured in the Llobregat river at Sant Joan Despí (Barcelona), between June and August 2008



Fig. 7 Comparison between daily flow ( $m^3 s^{-1}$ ) and sum of pharmaceutical compounds ( $ng L^{-1}$ ) measured in the Llobregat river at Sant Joan Despí (Barcelona), between June and August 2008



**Fig. 8** Correlation between daily flow  $(m^3 s^{-1})$  and of pharmaceutical compounds  $(ng L^{-1})$  measured in the Llobregat river at Sant Joan Despí (Barcelona), between June and August 2008

both negative and positive correlations. Clarythromycin (r = -0.964) and sulfamethoxazole (r = -0.899) are good examples of negative correlation, easily interpretable in terms of dilution factor, while ibuprofen (r = 0.908), atenolol (r = 0.869), and enrofloxacin (r = 0.924) show reasonably good positive correlation. Considering the whole set of pharmaceutical products (sum of all compounds), the prevailing tendency seems to be the inverse (correlation coefficient r = -0.639). Therefore, we can conclude from the data presented that dilution flow is relevant but not the unique factor governing the concentration levels of pharmaceuticals in the receiving water bodies. Sources of variability are diverse [72] and dilution (flow) is only one among many others. Thus, for instance, analytical error, compound environmental variability due changes of temperature, sediment remobilization, seasonal use of certain drugs, etc., are just a few to be taken into account as contributors to the overall uncertainty.

Acknowledgments This work has been supported by the EU projects MODELKEY (GOCE 511237), AQUATERRA (GOCE 505428), and INNOVA-MED (INCO-2006-517728) and by the Spanish Ministry of Education and Science (CTM2006-26227-E/TECNO, CTM2005-25168-E/TECNO, CTM2007-30524-E, and CGL2007-64551/HID) and reflects the author's view. Cristina Postigo acknowledges the European Social Fund and AGAUR (Generalitat de Catalunya, Spain) for their economical support through the FI pre-doctoral grant.

### References

- Céspedes R, Lacorte S, Raldúa D, Ginebreda A, Barceló D, Piña B (2005) Distribution of endocrine disruptors in the Llobregat River basin (Catalonia, NE Spain). Chemosphere 61 (11):1710–1719
- Huerta-Fontela M, Galcerán MT, Ventura F (2008) Stimulatory drugs of abuse in surface waters and their removal in a conventional drinking water treatment plant. Environ Sci Technol 42(18):6809–6816
- NORMAN (2009) 6th EU framework programme project (Network of reference laboratories and related organisations for monitoring and bio-monitoring of emerging environmental pollutants). http://www.norman-network.net
- Kotchen M, Kallaos J, Wheeler K, Wong C, Zahller M (2009) Pharmaceuticals in wastewater: behavior, preferences, and willingness to pay for a disposal program. J Environ Manage 90:1476–1482
- Nakada N, Shinohara H, Murata A, Kiri K, Managaki S, Sato N, Takada H (2007) Removal of selected pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) and endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs) during sand filtration and ozonation at a municipal sewage treatment plant. Water Res 41:4373–4382
- 6. Radjenovic J, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2007) Analysis of pharmaceuticals in wastewater and removal using a membrane bioreactor. Anal Bioanal Chem 387:1365–1377
- Santos JL, Aparicio I, Alonso E (2007) Occurrence and risk assessment of pharmaceutically active compounds in wastewater treatment plants. A case study: Seville city (Spain). Environ Int 33:596–601
- Gros M, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2007) Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for aquatic contamination by pharmaceuticals in the ebro river basin (northeast Spain). Environ Toxicol Chem 26(8):1553–1562
- 9. Vieno NM, Tuhkanen T, Kronberg L (2006) Analysis of neutral and basic pharmaceuticals in sewage treatment plants and in recipient rivers using solid phase extraction and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry detection. J Chromatogr A 1134:101–111
- Castiglioni S, Zuccato E, Crisci E, Chiabrando C, Fanelly R, Bagnati R (2006) Identification and measurement of illicit drugs and their metabolites in urban wastewater by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 78:8421–8429
- 11. Castiglioni S, Bagnati R, Fanelli R, Pomati F, Calamari D, Zuccato E (2006) Removal of pharmaceuticals in sewage treatment plants in Italy. Environ Sci Technol 40:357–363
- Nikolai LN, McClure EL, MacLeod SL, Wong CS (2006) Stereoisomer quantification of the Beta-blocker drugs atenolol, metoprolol, and propranolol in wastewaters by chiral high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1131:103–109

- Clara M, Strenn B, Gans O, Martinez E, Kreuzinger N, Kroiss H (2005) Removal of selected pharmaceuticals, fragrances and endocrine disrupting compounds in a membrane bioreactor and conventional wastewater treatment plants. Water Res 39:4797–4807
- Watkinson AJ, Murby EJ, Costanzo SD (2007) Removal of antibiotics in conventional and advanced wastewater treatment: Implications for environmental discharge and wastewater recycling. Water Res 41:4164–4176
- 15. Jjemba PK (2002) The potential impact of veterinary and human therapeutic agents in manure and biosolids on plants grown on arable land: a review. Agric Ecosyst Environ 93:267–278
- Jones OAH, Voulvoulis N, Lester JN (2001) Human pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment a review. Environ Technol 22:1383–1394
- Clara M, Strenn B, Ausserleitner M, Kreuzinger N (2004) Comparison of the behaviour of selected micropollutants in a membrane bioreactor and a conventional wastewater treatment plant. Water Sci Technol 50:29–36
- Vieno NM, Tuhkanen T, Kronberg L (2005) Seasonal variation in the occurrence of pharmaceuticals in effluents from a sewage treatment plant and in the recipient water. Environ Sci Technol 39:8220–8226
- Gómez MJ, Martínez Bueno MJ, Lacorte S, Fernández-Alba AR, Agüera A (2007) Pilot survey monitoring pharmaceuticals and related compounds in a sewage treatment plant located on the Mediterranean coast. Chemosphere 66:993–1002
- 20. Gómez MJ, Agüera A, Mezcua M, Hurtado J, Mocholí F, Fernández-Alba AR (2007) Simultaneous analysis of neutral and acidic pharmaceuticals as well as related compounds by gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry in wastewater. Talanta 73:314–320
- Lishman L, Smyth SA, Sarafin K, Kleywegt S, Toito J, Peart T, Lee B, Servos M, Beland M, Seto P (2006) Occurrence and reductions of pharmaceuticals and personal care products and estrogens by municipal wastewater treatment plants in Ontario, Canada. Sci Total Environ 367:544–558
- 22. Tauxe-Wuersch A, De Alencastro LF, Grandjean D, Tarradellas J (2005) Occurrence of several acidic drugs in sewage treatment plants in Switzerland and risk assessment. Water Res 39:1761–1772
- Oleksy-Frenzel J, Wischnack S, Jekel M (2000) Application of ion-chromatography for the determination of the organic-group parameters AOCI, AOBr and AOI in water. Fresenius J Anal Chem 366:89–94
- Richardson SD (2008) Environmental mass spectrometry: emerging contaminants and current issues. Anal Chem 80(12):4373–4402
- 25. United Nations on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) (2008) World Drug Report 2008
- 26. Bijlsma L, Sancho JV, Pitarch E, Ibáñez M, Hernández F (2009) Simultaneous ultra-highpressure liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry determination of amphetamine and amphetamine-like stimulants, cocaine and its metabolites, and a cannabis metabolite in surface water and urban wastewater. J Chromatogr A 1216(15):3078–3089
- Boleda MR, Galcerán MT, Ventura F (2007) Trace determination of cannabinoids and opiates in wastewater and surface waters by ultra-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1175:38–48
- Bones J, Thomas KV, Paull B (2007) Using environmental analytical data to estimate levels of community consumption of illicit drugs and abused pharmaceuticals. J Environ Monit 9 (7):701–707
- Chiaia AC, Banta-Green C, Field J (2008) Eliminating solid phase extraction with largevolume injection LC/MS/MS: analysis of illicit and legal drugs and human urine indicators in US wastewaters. Environ Sci Technol 42(23):8841–8848
- 30. Gheorghe A, Van Nuijs A, Pecceu B, Bervoets L, Jorens PG, Blust R, Neels H, Covaci A (2008) Analysis of cocaine and its principal metabolites in waste and surface water using

solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-ion trap tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 391(4):1309–1319

- Huerta-Fontela M, Galcerán MT, Ventura F (2007) Ultraperformance liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry analysis of stimulatory drugs of abuse in wastewater and surface waters. Anal Chem 79:3821–3829
- Hummel D, Löffler D, Fink G, Ternes TA (2006) Simultaneous determination of psychoactive drugs and their metabolites in aqueous matrices by liquid chromatography mass spectrometry. Environ Sci Technol 40:7321–7328
- 33. Jones-Lepp TL, Alvarez DA, Petty JD, Huckins JN (2004) Polar organic chemical integrative sampling and liquid chromatography–electrospray/ion-trap mass spectrometry for assessing selected prescription and illicit drugs in treated sewage effluents. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 47:427–439
- 34. Kasprzyk-Hordern B, Dinsdale RM, Guwy AJ (2008) Multiresidue methods for the analysis of pharmaceuticals, personal care products and illicit drugs in surface water and wastewater by solid-phase extraction and ultra performance liquid chromatography-electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 391(4):1293–1308
- 35. Kasprzyk-Hordern B, Dinsdale RM, Guwy AJ (2009) The removal of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, endocrine disruptors and illicit drugs during wastewater treatment and its impact on the quality of receiving waters. Water Res 43(2):363–380
- 36. Postigo C, Lopez De Alda MJ, Barcelo D (2008) Fully automated determination in the low nanogram per liter level of different classes of drugs of abuse in sewage water by on-line solidphase extraction-liquid chromatography-electrospray-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 80(9):3123–3134
- 37. Zuccato E, Chiabrando C, Castiglioni S, Calamari D, Bagnati R, Schiarea S, Fanelli R (2005) Cocaine in surface water: a new evidence-based tool to monitor community drug abuse. Environ Health 4:1–7
- Zuccato E, Castiglioni S, Bagnati R, Chiabrando C, Grassi P, Fanelli R (2008) Illicit drugs, a novel group of environmental contaminants. Water Res 42(4–5):961–968
- Fent K, Weston AA, Caminada D (2006) Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals. Aquat Toxicol 76:122–159
- 40. Ferrari B, Mons R, Vollat B, Fraysse B, Paxeus N, Lo Giudice R, Pollio A, Garric J (2004) Environmental risk assessment of six human pharmaceuticals: are the current environmental risk assessment procedures sufficient for the protection of the aquatic environment? Environ Toxicol Chem 23:1344–1354
- Hugget D, Brook B, Peterson B, Foran CM, Schlenk D (2002) Toxicity of selected beta adrenergic receptor-blocking pharmaceuticals (B-blockers) on aquatic organisms. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 43:229–235
- 42. Brooks BW, Foran CM, Richards SM, Weston J, Turner PK, Stanley JK, Solomon KR, Slattery M, LaPoint TW (2003) Aquatic ecotoxicology of luoxetine. Toxicol Lett 142:169–183
- 43. Kümmerer K (2004) Pharmaceuticals in the environment, 2nd edn. Springer, Heidelberg
- 44. Isidori M, Lavorgna M, Nardelli A, Pascarella L, Parella A (2005) Toxic and genotoxic evaluation of six antibiotics on non-target organisms. Sci Total Environ 346:87–98
- 45. Schwaiger J, Ferling H, Mallow U, Wintermayr H, Negele R (2004) Toxic effects of nonsteroideal anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac. Part I. Histopathological alterations and bioaccumulation in rainbow trout. Aquat Toxicol 68:141–150
- 46. Oaks J, Gilbert M, Virani M, Watson R, Meteyer C, Rideout B, Shivaprasad H, Ahmed S, Chaudhry M, Arshad M, Mahmood S, Ali A, Khan A (2004) Diclofenac residues as the cause of vulture population decline in Pakistan. Nature 427:630–633
- 47. Flaherty B, Paxeus N, Lo Giudice R, Pollio A, Garric J (2003) Ecotoxicological impact of pharmaceuticals found in treated wastewaters: study of carbamazepine, clofibric acid, and diclofenac. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 55:359–370
- Thaker PD (2005) Pharmaceutical data elude researchers. Environ Sci Technol 139:193A– 194A

- Joss A, Keller E, Alder AC, Göbel A, McArdell CS, Ternes T, Siegrist H (2005) Removal of pharmaceuticals and fragrances in biological wastewater treatment. Water Res 39(14): 3139–3152
- Quintana JB, Weiss S, Reemtsma T (2005) Pathways and metabolites of microbial degradation of selected acidic pharmaceutical and their occurrence in municipal wastewater treated by a membrane bioreactor. Water Res 39:2654–2664
- Ternes TA (1998) Occurrence of drugs in German sewage treatment plants and rivers. Water Res 32:3245–3260
- 52. Thomas PM, Foster GD (2005) Tracking acidic pharmaceuticals, caffeine, and triclosan through THE wastewater treatment process. Environ Toxicol Chem 24(1):25–30
- 53. Lindqvist N, Tuhkanen T, Kronberg L (2005) Occurrence of acidic pharmaceuticals in raw and treated sewages and in receiving waters. Water Res 39(11):2219–2228
- Metcalfe CD, Miao XS, Koenig BG, Struger J (2003) Distribution of acidic and neutral drugs in surface waters near sewage treatment plants in the lower Great Lakes, Canada. Environ Toxicol Chem 222:881–2889
- 55. McArdell CS, Molnar E, Suter MJF, Giger W (2003) Occurrence and fate of macrolide antibiotics in wastewater treatment plants and in the Glatt Valley watershed, Switzerland. Environ Sci Technol 37(24):5479–5486
- 56. Giger W, Alder AC, Golet EM, Kohler HPE, McArdell CS, Molnar E, Siegrist H, Suter MJF (2003) Occurrence and fate of antibiotics as trace contaminants in wastewaters, sewage sludges, and surface waters. Chimia 59:485–491
- 57. Golet EM, Strehler A, Alder AC, Giger W (2002) Determination of fluoroquinolone antibacterial agents in sewage sludge and sludge-treated soil using accelerated solvent extraction followed by solid-phase extraction. Anal Chem 74:5455–5462
- Carballa M, Omil F, Lema JM, Llompart M, García-Jares C, Rodríguez I, Gómez M, Ternes T (2004) Behavior of pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and hormones in a sewage treatment plant. Water Res 38:2918–2926
- 59. Gobel A, McArdell CS, Joss A, Siegrist H, Giger W (2007) Fate of sulfonamides, macrolides, and trimethoprim in different wastewater treatment technologies. Sci Total Environ 372:361–371
- Batt AL, Kim S, Aga DS (2006) Enhanced biodegradation of lopromide and trimethoprim in nitrifying activated sludge. Environ Sci Technol 40:7367–7373
- 61. Kasprzyk-Hordern B, Dinsdale RM, Guwy AJ (2007) Multi-residue method for the determination of basic/neutral pharmaceuticals and illicit drugs in surface water by solid-phase extraction and ultra performance liquid chromatography–positive electrospray ionisation tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1161:132–145
- Bartelt-Hunt SL, Snow DD, Damon T, Shockley J, Hoagland K (2009) The occurrence of illicit and therapeutic pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluent and surface waters in Nebraska. Environ Pollut 157(3):786–791
- Huerta-Fontela M, Galcerán MT, Martin-Alonso J, Ventura F (2008) Occurrence of psychoactive stimulatory drugs in wastewaters in north-eastern Spain. Sci Total Environ 397(1–3):31–40
- 64. Kolpin DW, Furlong ET, Meyer MT, Thurman EM, Zaugg SD, Barber LB, Buxton HT (2002) Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999–2000: a national reconnaissance. Environ Sci Technol 36:1202–1211
- 65. Sadezky A, Löffler D, Ternes T (2008) Proposal of an environmental indicator and classification system of pharmaceutical product residues for environmental management KNAPPE project "Knowledge and need assessment on pharmaceutical products in environmental waters". Contract n° 036864. Deliverable 1.2. http://www.knappe-eu.org/
- 66. Schlüsener MP, Löffler D, Ternes T (2008) List of relevant PPs. KNAPPE project knowledge and need assessment on pharmaceutical products in environmental waters. Contract n° 036864. Deliverable 1.1. http://www.knappe-eu.org/
- Kasprzyk-Hordern B, Dinsdale RM, Guwy AJ (2008) The occurrence of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, endocrine disruptors and illicit drugs in surface water in South Wales, UK. Water Res 42(13):3498–3518

- 68. Van Nuijs ALN, Pecceu B, Theunis L, Dubois N, Charlier C, Jorens PG, Bervoets L, Blust R, Neels H, Covaci A (2009) Spatial and temporal variations in the occurrence of cocaine and benzoylecgonine in waste- and surface water from Belgium and removal during wastewater treatment. Water Res 43(5):1341–1349
- Van Nuijs ALN, Pecceu B, Theunis L, Dubois N, Charlier C, Jorens PG, Bervoets L, Blust R, Neels H, Covaci A (2009) Cocaine and metabolites in waste and surface water across Belgium. Environ Pollut 157(1):123–129
- Kasprzyk-Hordern B, Dinsdale RM, Guwy AJ (2009) Illicit drugs and pharmaceuticals in the environment – forensic applications of environmental data, Part 2: Pharmaceuticals as chemical markers of faecal water contamination. Environ Pollut 157(6):1778–1786
- 71. Christensen JH, Hewitson B, Busuioc A, Chen A, Gao X, Held I, Jones R, Kolli RK, Kwon WT, Laprise R, Magaña Rueda V, Mearns L, Menéndez CG, Räisänen J, Rinke A, Sarr A, Whetton P (2007) Regional climate projections. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (eds) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- Matthies M, Berding V, Beyer A (2004) Probabilistic uncertainty analysis of the European union system for the evaluation of substances multimedia regional distribution model. Environ Toxicol Chem 3(10):2494–2502
- Roberts PH, Thomas KV (2006) The occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluent and surface waters of the lower Tyne catchment. Sci Total Environ 356:143–153
- 74. Togola A, Budzinski H (2008) Multi-residue analysis of pharmaceutical compounds in aqueous samples. J Chromatogr A 1117:150–158
- 75. Sedlak DL, Pinkston K, Huang CH (2005) Occurrence survey of pharmaceutically active compounds. Awwa Reserch Foundation, Denver, CO
- 76. Martínez Bueno MJM, Agüera A, Gómez MJ, Hernando MD, García JF, Fernández-Alba AR (2007) Application of liquid chromatography/quadrupole-linear ion trap mass spectrometry and time-of-flight mass spectrometry to the determination of pharmaceuticals and related contaminants in wastewaters. Anal Chem 79:9372–9384
- 77. Kim SD, Cho J, Kim IS, Vanderford BJ, Snyder SA (2007) Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disruptors in South Korean surface, drinking, and waste waters. Water Res 41:1013–1021
- Ternes TA (2001) Analytical methods for the determination of pharmaceuticals in aqueous environmental samples. Trends Analyt Chem 20:419–434
- 79. Farré M, Ferrer I, Ginebreda A, Figueras M, Olivella L, Tirapu L, Vilanova M, Barceló D (2001) Determination of drugs in surface water and wastewater samples by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry: methods and preliminary results including toxicity studies with *Vibrio fischeri*. J Chromatogr A 938:187–197
- Castiglioni S, Bagnati R, Calamari D, Fanelli R, Zuccato E (2005) A multiresidue analytical method using solid-phase extraction and high-pressure liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry to measure pharmaceuticals of different therapeutic classes in urban wastewaters. J Chromatogr A 1092:206–215
- Batt AL, Kostich MS, Lazorchak JM (2008) Analysis of ecologically relevant pharmaceuticals in wastewater and surface water using selective solid-phase extraction and UPLC-MS/ MS. Anal Chem 80:5021–5030
- 82. Terzić S, Senta I, Ahel M, Gros M, Petrović M, Barceló D, Müller J, Knepper T, Martí I, Ventura F, Jovancić P, Jabucar D (2008) Occurrence and fate of emerging wastewater contaminants in Western Balkan Region. Sci Total Environ 399:66–77
- Loganathan B, Phillips M, Mowery H, Jones-Lepp TL (2009) Contamination profiles and mass loadings of macrolide antibiotics and illicit drugs from a small urban wastewater treatment plant. Chemosphere 75(1):70–77
- Thomas KV, Hilton MJ (2004) The occurrence of selected human pharmaceutical compounds in UK estuaries. Mar Pollut Bull 49:436–444

- 85. Wiegel S, Aulinger A, Brockmeyer R, Harms H, Löffler J, Reincke H, Schmidt R, Stachel B, Von Tämpling W, Wanke A (2004) Pharmaceuticals in the river Elbe and its tributaries. Chemosphere 57:107–126
- Heberer T (2002) Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. Toxicol Lett 131:5–17
- Tixier C, Singer HP, Oellers S, Müller SR (2003) Occurrence and fate of carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, and naproxen in surface waters. Environ Sci Technol 37:1061–1068
- 88. Boyd GR, Palmeri JM, Zhang S, Grimm DA (2004) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) and endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) in stormwater canals and Bayou St. John in New Orleans, Louisiana, USA. Sci Total Environ 333:137–148
- 89. Sacher F, Ehmann F, Gabriel S, Graf C, Brauch HJ (2008) Pharmaceutical residues in the river Rhine-results of one-decade monitoring programme. J Environ Monit 10(5):664–670
- Moldovan Z (2006) Occurrence of pharmaceuticals and personal care products as micropollutants in rivers from Romania. Chemosphere 64:1808–1817
- Batt AL, Aga DS (2005) Simultaneous analysis of multiple-classes of antibiotics by ion trap LC/MS/MS for assessing surface water and groundwater contamination. Anal Chem 77:2940–2947
- Zuccato E, Castiglioni S, Fanelli R, Reitano G, Bagnati R, Chiabrando C, Pomati F, Rossetti C, Calamari D (2006) Pharmaceuticals in the environment in Italy: causes, occurrence, effects and control. Environ Sci Pollut Res 13:15–21
- Schultz MM, Furlong ET (2008) Trace analysis of antidepressant pharmaceuticals and their select degradates in aquatic matrixes by LC/ESI/MS/MS. Anal Chem 80:1756–1762
- Sacher F, Lange FT, Brauch HJ, Blankenhorn I (2001) Pharmaceuticals in groundwaters: analytical methods and results of a monitoring program in Baden-WÃ<sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>rttemberg, Germany. J Chromatogr A 938:199–210
- 95. Ternes TA, Bonerz M, Herrmann N, Teiser B, Andersen HR (2007) Irrigation of treated wastewater in Braunschweig, Germany: an option to remove pharmaceuticals and musk fragrances. Chemosphere 66:894–904
- 96. Gros M, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2006) Development of a multi-residue analytical method based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS-MS) for screening and trace level determination of pharmaceuticals in surface and wastewaters. Talanta 70 (4):678–690

# Index

#### A

Acetylsalicylic acid, 213 Acid mine drainage, 43 Acipenser medirostris, 62 Adaptive management, 55, 64 Advanced oxidation processes (AOP), 112 Aerosols, 2 Agriculture, 21, 57, 66 irrigation, 97, 102, 109, 137 water reuse, 100, 148 Ain River (France), 33 Alps. 22 Alternative water sources, 66 Ammonification, 26 Ammonium-nitrogen, 62 Amoxicillin, 213 Amphetamine, 213 Analgesics, 213 Anionic composition, 166 Anoxia, 73 Anoxic factor, 73, 81 Antibiotics, 213 resistance, 201 Antidepressants, 213 Antiepileptics, 213 Anti-inflammatories, 213 AOGCM, 8 Aquatic ecosystems, 55, 62 Aquatic-terrestrial linkages, water interruption, 30 Arctic Oscillation (AO), 7 Arid/semi-arid regions, 20 Atenolol, 213

Atlantic climate, 19 Atmospheric Oceanic General Circulation Models (AOGCM), 2 Axios, 21 Azythromycin, 218

#### B

Barcelona, 77 BDOC, 24 Benzoylecgonine, 202, 213 Bezafibrat, 202, 213 Biodiversity, 15 Biofilms, 43 ecotoxicology, 45 metals, 44 Biogeochemical processes, 15, 24 in-stream, temporality, 24 Biological community structure, 27  $\beta$ -Blockers, 203, 213 Bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*), 63 Boron, concentration, 166 Brownlee Reservoir (USA), 81

### С

Caddisflies, 29 Cadmium, 47 Calcium, 116, 168 California, 57 water conservation, 66 California aqueduct, 60 Cannabinoids, 202 Carbamazepine, 201, 207, 213 Carbon dioxide, 3 Carp (Cyprinus carpio), 63 Central Valley, California, 57 Central Valley steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss), 62 Chemically enhanced backwash (CEB), 121 Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha), 62 Chloramination, 112 Chlorination, 100, 112 Cholera, 152 Chromium, 116 Ciprofloxacin, 213 Climate adaptation, 67 Climate change/projections, 1, 67 Europe, 8 Climate variability, 67 Coarse particulate organic matter (CPOM), 30 Cocaine, 202, 204, 213 Colorado, 20 Common carp (Cyprinus carpio), 63 Community ecotoxicology, 41 Concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs), 201 Copper, 43, 44, 46 Corbicula fluminea, 29, 63 Corbula amurensis, 63 Crop growth, irrigation water quality, 167 Cryptosporidiosis, Milwaukee (USA), 155 Cyprinus carpio, 63 Cyprus, 170

#### D

Decision support system (DSS), 129, 133 Decomposition, 30 Deep drought, 28 Delta (Central California), 59 salinity, 68 Denitrification, 26 Desalination, 55, 66, 67, 96, 103, 113, 163, 189 Diarrhoea, 151 Diazepam, 213 Diclofenac, 203, 213 Diseases, water-related, 149 Disinfection, 61, 100, 107, 112 Dissolved organic matter (DOC), 24 Dorosoma pretense, 62 Downscaling, 1 techniques, 7 Dreissena polymorpha, 29 Droughts, 15ff, 18, 28 lag effect, 30 Dry period, extension, 30 Dry river beds, 31 DSS for IWRM, 135 quality/quantity criteria, 136

### Е

E. coli, 97, 117, 153 Ebro River, 22 pharmaceuticals/illicit drugs, 213 Ecosystem respiration (ER), 32 Ecstasv. 202 **EDSS 133** development, 134 end-users, 143 integrated water resources management, 141 **IWRM**, 137 Catalonia, 138 validation, development of benchmarks, 143 Egypt, 169 El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO), 7 Elbe, 136 Electrical conductivity (EC), 164 Emerging pollutants, 112, 197, 199 illicit drugs, 202 pharmaceutically active compounds, 200 sources/occurrence in wastewaters, 200 surface waters, 213 Endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs), 112 ENSEMBLES, 8 **ENSO**, 73 Erythromycin, 203, 218 Europe, climate projections, 8 water withdrawal, 21 Eutrophication, 25 Evrotas, 21 Exchangeable sodium percentage (ESP), 164 Index

#### F

Faecal indicators/pathogens, 149, 152ff
Fluoroquinolones, 213
Fluoxetine, 203, 213
Fluvial biofilms (phytobenthos/periphyton), 41, 44
Foix Reservoir, 81
Fouling, 113
Freshwater, alternative water sources, 66 communities, 24 tidal marshes, 65

### G

Gemfibrozil, 203, 212, 213 Global mean temperatures, 3, 6 Gold mining, 43 Golf course irrigation, 102 Green sturgeon (*Acipenser medirostris*), 62 Greenhouse gases, 2 Groundwater recharge, 67

#### H

HadCM3, 8 Heavy metals, 43, 113 Heroin, 211 *Hypomesus transpacificus*, 62 Hyporheos, nutrient cycling, 25

### I

Iberian Peninsula, 19 Ibuprofen, 207, 213 Illicit drugs, 197, 202, 211 wastewater treatment (elimination/fate), 204 Implementation, 142 Indicators, 147 Industry, 107 Infectious diseases, 147 Insects, 149 Integrated assessments/monitoring, 63 Integrated Decision Support System for Consensus, 138 Integrated water management, 95, 103, 129 Interagency Ecological Program (IEP), 63 Intermittent, 15 Invasive species, 29

Iopromide, 202, 207 IPCC AR4, global projections, 3 Irrigation management, 161 water quality, 167 Irrigation water, chemical characteristics, 163 quality, water scarcity, 168

### L

La Mancha, 20 Lake Geneva, 22 Lakes, climate change, 78 Largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides), 63 Legionella, 96, 117 Lentification, 24 Lepomis macrochirus, 63 Lepomis microlophus, 63 Limnoithona tetraspina, 63 Lipid regulators, 202, 213 Llobregat River (NE Spain), pharmaceuticals, 218 water flow dynamics, 17 Local climate, 8 Lowest observed effect concentration (LOEC), 203 LSD, 210

#### M

Macrolides, 213 Magnesium, 116, 168 Mallorca, 103 MDMA, 213 Mediterranean, 1, 8 downscaling projections, 7 ecosystems, 22 illegal groundwater pumping, 23 reservoirs, scarcity conditions, 86 Membrane bioreactors, 100 filtration. 100 separation processes, water regeneration, 113 technology, 107 Menidea beryllina, 63 Mercury (Hg), 61 Metals, bioavailability, 45

exposure scenarios, 48 fate, 48 pollution, 41 retention, 45, 48 toxicity, 45, 46 Methadone, 211 Methamphetamine, 212, 213 3,4-Methylenedioxyamphetamine (MDA), 212 Metronidazol, 213 Micro irrigation, 168 Microbial decontamination, 100 Microfiltration/ultrafiltration, 100, 113, 118 Micropterus salmoides, 63 Mine drainage, 43 Minimum flow (ecological flow), 19 Monochloramines, 112 Morocco, 170 Morone saxtilis, 62 Morphine, 204, 213 MULINO, 138 Multimodel data set (MMD), 4

#### Ν

Nanofiltration, 116, 118 Naproxen, 213 Naturalized flow, 23 Nile, 170 Nitrate, 174, 179 Nitrification-denitrification, wetting-drying, 26 Nitrogen, 173 No observed effect concentration (NOEC), 203 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), 201 North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), 7 Nutrients, 41 dynamics, WWTP-dominated streams, 178 inputs, 175 metal availability/toxicity, 48 retention, 173

#### 0

Ofloxacin, 201, 203, 213 Oncorhynchus mykiss, 62 *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*, 62 Opioids, 210 Oria River (N Spain), 26 Ozonation, 100

### P

Palma de Mallorca, 103 Paracetamol, 213 Paroxetine, 213 Pathogens, 147 water-borne, 152 Penicillins, 213 Peracetic acid, 100 Persistent organic pollutants (POP), 199 Pesticides, 61 Pharmaceutically active substances (PhACs), 200 Pharmaceuticals, 197 Phosphate, 44, 48 Phosphorus, 26, 173, 176 Phyllodistomum folium, 29 Phytobenthos/periphyton, 44 Point sources, 173 water scarcity, 186 Populus alba, 26 Precipitation, increase, 3, 6 Program for climate models diagnostic and intercomparison (PCMDI), 4 Propranolol, 203 PRUDENCE, 8 Public acceptance, 95, 102 Pueblo Reservoir (USA), 81 Pyrethroids, 62

### R

Rain, 147
Rainfall–runoff modeling, 138
Reclamation, 66
technology, 95, 98
Redear sunfish (*Lepomis microlophus*), 63
Regenerated waters, 107
industrial reuse, 116
reuse, 111
Regulations, 95, 96
Reservoirs, climate change effects,
detection, 82
global context, 75

#### Index

limnology, 74 profiling, 78 Resources, 161 Reverse osmosis (RO), 67, 113, 120 Rewetting, 25 Rhine River, 21 Rhone River, 21 RIBASIM, 138 Rio Grande, 20 Rivers, 173 ecosystems, change, 16 functional alterations, 31 metals, 43 Rotifers, 63 Roxythromycin, 201

#### S

Sacramento River, 57 Salinity, 25, 26, 61, 164 Salmonella, 97, 151 Salts, soluble, 164 San Joaquin River, 57 Sau Reservoir, 73, 77 Sea level, rising, 68 Secondary treatment wastewaters, reuse, 111 Segura basin, 19 Selenium (Se), 61 Semiarid regions, 175 Sharing/reuse of knowledge, 143 Siltation, 25 Sodicity, 164 Sodium adsorption ratio (SAR), 164 Soil properties, 167 Solutes, export, 25 Spatial scale variability, 131 Sperchios, 21 Spirinchus thaleichthys, 62 Spree River, 21 Sprinkler irrigation, 168 Stratification, reservoirs, 79 Streamflow, 73 Streams, 15, 173 networks, management, 186 Subsurface drought, 28 Sulfamethoxazole, 201, 203, 213, 218 Sulfonamides, 213 Sulphides, 25

Superficial drought, 28 Surface temperature evolution, 4 Surface waters, emerging contaminants, 212 residence time, 24 Suspended sediment, 61 Sustainable management, 132 Switzerland, 22 Syria, 168

### Т

Tablas de Daimiel (Spain), 20, 26 Tagliamento River, 30 *Tamarix canariensis*, 26 Temperate systems, 21 Temperatures, global mean, 3, 6 Ter River (NE Spain), 23 Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), 202 Tidal marshes, 65 Tordera (NE Spain), 23 Total dissolved solids (TDS), 61, 164 Treatment, 100 Trimethoprim, 201, 207, 213, 218 Tunisia, 169 Turbidity, 167 Turkey, 21

#### U

Ultrafiltration, 113, 120 Uncertainties, 1, 131 Urban runoff, metals, 43 Urban stream syndrome, 175 Urban wastewaters, nutrient inputs, 175 UV irradiation/disinfection, 100, 112, 118

#### V

Volga River, 21

#### W

Washing the Nile, 170 Wastewater reuse, 66 Wastewater treatment, 197 illicit drugs, 211 pharmaceuticals, 204 Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), 112, 173, 197 Water, regenerated for industrial activities, 109 Water-borne infectious disease outbreaks, 154 Water conservation, 66 Water flows, alterations, 18 Water management, complexity, 130 Water quality, 55, 60, 161 Water regeneration, membrane separation, 113 Water reuse, 107, 109 agricultural irrigation, 97 applications, 95ff Water scarcity, 16, 18, 25, 41, 108, 129, 147, 161, 173 in-stream nutrient retention, 185 Water stress, 16, 163 Water supply, 55, 59

Water temporality, 18
Water vapor feedback, 11
Western Mediterranean Oscillation (WeMO), 7
WWTPs, 112, 173, 197
inputs, in-stream nutrient retention, 179
water/nutrient loads, 178
water source, evaluation, 117
WWTP-dominated streams, in-stream nutrient retention, 185

#### Y

Yellow River, 20

### Z

Zebra mussels, 29 Zinc, 43, 47